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PREFACE.

10 vms little history the name has been given
of “The Rulers of Baroda.”” It deals with the
political carcers of those men and classes who
bave exercised authority over the people of a large
portion of Gujardt during, now, more than a
century and a half : namely, the Gaikvdd R4jés,
their rclations, their ministers, the military nobles,
the money-lenders, the farmers of revenue, and the
sacerdotal or clerkly classes. It says something, too,
of the Péshvés, the British Residents, their Native
Agents, and others who at one time or another have
shared in the authority of the Gdikvids and the
Mardthé party that followed them. Of the physical
aspect of the country of Gujarat, of its people, their
customs and manners, of the cities and holy places,
little or nothing has been said.

The book has been written with the double view
of serving as a slight work of reference for public
servants, and of affording information to young men
who are about to pass from school or college into
public life. It is chiefly that the latter may not be
puzzled or bored with too minute details that
certain lists of accounts, of expenses and receipts,
and other matters, have been placed among notes
to which the curious only need turn. In the same
way, short biographies of some prominent men,
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doubtful or conjectural facts, and occasional disserta-
tions, have been relegated to small print at the end
of the chapter.

hy vhief reasons for writing the book are very
simple. It seems a pity that there should be no
consecutive account of the main events in the history
of so important a State as that of Baroda. The
nearest approach to such an account is Colounol
Wallace’s “ GéikvAd and his relations with the Bri-
tish Government,” and there will probably appear
before long a “Baroda Gazetteer.” But neitherwork
is likely to be within the reach of the persons for
whom this book is principally designed. Again,
bowever faulty the attempt here made may be, the
present moment seems to be a fit one for its under-
taking, for old things are now rapidly making way
for new, and a record of the former should be plainly
given before their memory becomes dimmed.

The main sources from which information has
been derived are English : Tod’s Réjasthin, Forbes
Rés M4al4, Major Watson’s contribution to the
Gazetteer of Gujarat, Grant Duff’s History of the
Marathds, Forbes’ Oriental Memoirs, Major Wal-
lace’s History ; and a large number of records in the
Baroda Residency, a pile of Blue Books, and two
or three MS. Précis of Histories, with some dozer
other works, have been drawn upon. If Mr
Baine’s portion of the Gujart Gazetteer had
appeared early enough, it would have been laid under
contribution to supplement soffie omissions. Noi
has it been thought necessary to acknowledge the
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use made of Standard or Government works, as this
book does not pretend to possess any literary merit.
It is true that advantage has also been taken of the
few obtainable Mar4th4d MSS. and of some‘fe;rds
in the State Daftar, while the opinions on certain
points of some native gentlemen have been collect-
ed : but for the most part the sources from which
information has been derived are English. If some
day a native of the country were to compile a History
of the State from, say, Mardthd Records regarded
from a Mar4th4 point of view, the result would be
more valuable than the one now obtained.

As tho ground gone over is in many parts new,
important facts may have been omitted and inaccu-
racies have been suffered to creep in. Should any
reader kindly take notice of such shortcomings and
point them out to the author, he will eontribute to
the improvement of the next edition. There are
portions of the history which require elucidation or
amplification, and they require it because materials
have been wanting to the writer. The history of
the Girésids, of the slow conquest of the tributary
States not included in Kathidv4d, of the Bréhmans
of Gujardt and of the Deccan and Concan, and of
many other matters, has been slurred over,






CHAPTER L

HINDU KINGS OF GUJARAT—THE CHAVADS, CHALUKYA, OR
SOLANKI AND WAGHELA DYNASTIES.

Kuisana, of the line of Y4dava of the Lunar race,
king of Kusasthali Dvdrika (Dvérk4), aided the
glorious sons of Pandu in the Great War, and after
the sons of Kuru had been exterminated he returned
with Yudhishthira and Baldeva to his capital, where
he died fighting the Bhils.

On the shores of the peninsula of Saurfshtra, at
the extremity of which is Dvark4, there is a town
called Devabandar, which was the abode of the
Sauras or Chdvadds, who worshipped the sun, and
probably founded the temple of Somandtha, as well as
other temples dedicated to Balnitha or the Sun-
god. They connected themselves with the Solar
race of princes, who ruled in the ancient city of
Vallabhipira. When evil days befell its great king
S'iladitya, some there were who fled to Panchésir,
and of their line came the Chévadé prince Jayashe-
khara. Happy and glorious was his reign and that
of his consort Ripa Sundari, strengthened by the
devotion of the queen’s brother Surpéla, till the
fame of his greatness drew on him the jealdusy of

1
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R4ja Bhuvar, the Solanki king of Kalyédna. Pan-
chfsir fell after Jayashe-
V8. 762, 4.p. 656. khara had bravely given up
“Bis Yiten its defonce, and the Chévadé family would
have been extinguished had not Surpala given up
his wish to die by his sovereign’s side, that he might
accompany his sister, then big with child, into the
desert. There, in the wild woods, Ripa Sundafi
gave birth to a son, whom she consequently named
Vana Réjé.

Vana Réjé by his high qualities became the founder

of a kingdom and a dyn-

The Ohévadd dynasty. asty. In Samvat 802 (a.p.
746) his servant Anahila selected the spot. where
be built his capital, Anahilavddd or Apahilaptra
(Patan), and his minister J4mba or Chémpa erected
the town of Chémpéner.

The house of Vana Rajd ruled over Gujardt during
184 years, and the last of
the line was the foolish
Simanta Sing, whose sister married R4jd, the son of
a .descendant of Bhivar the Solanki king of
Kalyéna. The princess died in giving birth to
Mila Ré4j4, whom his uncle adopted.!

But when he grew up the ungrateful Mdla R4
deposed and slew the king,
and murdered the whole of
his mother’s race. Still his reign was prosperous,
and he became the founder of the greatest family
that ever ruled in the country. He avoided or beat
off the’combined attacks of the Réjés of Ajmir and

A.D. 942,

The Solanki dynasty.
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of Telingana, and when peace was restored he built
the imposing Rddra M4l4 at S'risthala (Sidhpdra),
in return for which S'iva gave him the kingdom of
Sorath, and to this conquest he afterwards addes That”
of Léth, south of the Narmadé. In hisold age Mila
Réjé repented ofhis early sins, and retired toS'risthala,
after bestowing its lands and villages near Cambay
on the Brahmans, and Sihor on the Audich Bréhmans.

In a.p. 997 his son Chémunda succeeded him, and
all would have gone fairly and prosperously for him
too had not the dread Sult4n Mahmid of Ghazni
one day fallen suddenly on Nehrvélé, as the Musal-
méns termed Anahilavdd4, and taken it, The in-
vader did not then stay his progress, for his object
was to spoil the rich and ancient temple of Soma-
nftha ; but the capture of this holy place was delayed
by the desperate assault made on his camp by the
heir-apparent of Gujarét, Vallabha, and his nephew
Bhima Deva. For a time it seemed as if the Sul-
tén’s army would have been crushed, but at length
fortune declared for him and Somanatha became his
prey. He was, however, forced to dislodge Bhima
Deva from his stronghold of Gandaba, to return to
Anahilavddd, and stay there for a length of time
till he had made Vallabha his prisoner, and placed
on the throne a more compliant brother, Durlabha.
And finally, when he wished to return to Ghazni
with his booty, Bhima Deva, aided by the R4j of
Ajmir, compelled him to change his route and cross
the deserts of Sind, where famine and fatigue deci-
mated his army.
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After this invasion Gujarét enjoyed a long period
of tranquil prosperity, and the magnificence of
Anahilav4d4 increased; though Bhima Deva, for re-
fusimmetg join a confederacy against the Musalméns,

. suffered punishment at the hands of Visal, the
Chohén king of Ajmir, who, in token of his superiority,
founded in Gujarat the town of Visalnagar.?2 For he
conquered a portion of the dominions of Bhoja,
king of Dhar, and his successor Kdran subdued the
mewds lands of Gujardt held by the Bhils and Mhairs
or Kolis, after a conquest over one of whose chiefs
he founded a city where Ahmadfbid now stands,
Kiran Sing also built tho great reservoir called the
Kiran Ségar (Kdndsdgar), which lasted till the time
of Anand Rd4v Mahdriji, and a beautiful temple
near Modherpur (Modhera), whence the Modh Bréh-
mans come,

As a reward for this last act of piety the gods
granted that his wife, the munificent Mainal Devi,
should bear him a son destined to be the most
famous of all the old Hindu kings of Gujardt—=Sidh
Raja, the builder of the Sahasra Ling Tank at
Anahilavdd4, the restorer of S'risthéla (hence called
Sidhpur), the conqueror of Malwa, of Wadhwén
and Girnfr—nay, of all Sorath. During his reign
the kingdom reached its acme of glory and pros-
perity. Achalgadh and Chandrévati to the north,
Modhera and Janjawérd to the west, Chdmpéner and
Dabhai to the east, were the pillars of the king’s
throne. Then Apahilavdda was the richest town in
the whole of India, and marvellous stories are told
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of its markets and mints, its palace, its schools, and
its gardens, where, amidst sweet-scented trees, the
learned studied and taught philcsophy and religion.
The kingdom included not only Sorath andedilwé,”
but Kachh, and lands beyond, which perhaps touched
the Indus, the Dakhan to the confines of the Kolhdpur
State, and, in the north, territories which may have
extended to the Ganges itself, and the Himélayas.

Sidh Réja the Magnificent left no son to succeed
him. When he died, in a.n. 1143, a distant rela-
tive, a Chohdn, Kuméra P4la, was adopted, and he
and his heirs ascended the throne in succession, till
at last Bhima Deva the Mad closed the line. Like
his predecessor, Kumira Péla upheld the Buddhist
religion, but unlike him he suffered defeat from the
Réja of Ajmir. In fact the two kingdoms main-
tained a foolish bitter war till their common cnemy
ended their divided counsels. Bhima Deva in A.D.
1178 repelled with great success an invasion made
by Mubammad Ghori, but he fell a victim to the
revenge of that monarch’s general Kutb-ud-din, who
in A.p. 1194 drove him from his capital after having
conquered his old rival. Bhima Deva did not fall
without a struggle, and
Anahilavddd had to be
retaken a second time by the Musalméns, who then
garrisoned the town. But as years passed on we
find that the tide of invasion receded, and once
again, though shorn of its glory, Anahilavddd was
the capital of a Hindu kingdom, ruled by the
Wighelés, )

A.D. 1228,
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Visal Deva, the first of the Wagheld line, was
. an obscure descendant of
The Whgheld line. i3} Réja, and the last was
»Ghelg Kiran, on whom came the stroke of fate
through the armies of Ala-ud-dfn Khilji, surnamed
the Bloody, The year after he had murdered his
fond uncle Jalgl-ud-din, he sent his general Alaf
Khén into Gujarft. Kdran’s
resistance was brave but
ineffectnal ; the Musalméns this time occupied the
country and held it, till after many years the Hindu
cause was avenged by the Mardthés. For the time
the royal line of Réjpdt kings was destroyed or
driven into dark corners; the wife and daughter of
Kdran became the wives of the Dehli emperor and
his son; the fair cities were ruined; the ancient
temples were pulled down, that of their stones
mosques might be built ; and a new order of things
took place.

A.p. 1297,

Note 1, p.2.—~Acoording to Briggs. In Samvat 987 (1.p. 931)
Bhoja B4jé, the last of the Chévadds, was set aside for Mila
R4jé, the son of Jai Sing Solarki.

Note %, p. 4— Perhaps it was founded by Visal Deva, a Wégheld
prinoe, or restored by Visal Deva Mandaleévara of Chandrivati.
The Bréhmans of Vadanagar originally inbabited Visaluagar, but
when summoned to do so by Visal Deva they refused to saccept
dakshind from him, and, creating a new seot, withdrew to the
town from which they now take their name,
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CHAPTER I1. -

MUSALMAN PERIOD.
EARLY GOVERNORS —KINGS OF AHMADABAD.

Tris portion of the history of Gujarat divides itself
into three periods. (1) For little more than a century
Gujarft formed a province of the Dehli empire, which
during that time, under the houses of Khilji and
Tughlak, reached a point of high prosperity, and
then collapsed. (2) The last two or three viceroys
showed great signs of impatience of any control
from the central authority, and at the commencemerit
of the 15th century an able ruler asserted his
independence and founded the house of the Ah.
mad4dbéd kings. Under sevoral eminent rulers this
kingdom increased in power and riches till it became
the most important state outside of the empire.
(3) An untimely contest with the second of the
Moghul emperors, however, brought ruin on the
kingdom, which was easily annexed by Akbar in the
latter half of the 16th century. The rule of the
Moghul viceroys was on the whole prosperous till the
overgrown empire broke up in the latter years of
the reign of Aurangzeb, at the commencement of the
18th century; and soon after the death of this
monarch those Mar§thds began to invade Gujardt
to whose party the Gaikvéd belonged. .
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(1) - Alaf Khén, the invader of Gujarét, continued
. for twenty years (1297-1317) to be the governor of
- the province which comprised the large towns of
"Anahiav4da, Surat, Broach, and Cambay, when he
was recalled by Ala-ud-din and murdered. He was
succeeded by men who had not his vigour and ability,
and for several years the country was a scene of re-
bellions, of combinations among the powerful nobles
against the emperor or his viceroy, of distrust at
Dehli and disloyalty at Patan. During this period
some of the neighbouring Hindu princes regained
a portion of their independence, and others, driven
towards Gujardt from outside by the conquerors,
settled there : such were the Réithods of Idar; the
Gohils from the north, who occupied Perim; the
Parmdrs, and the Kathis from Sindh. At the
same time the hill tribes, whom the Anahilavédd
kings had never quite subdued, the Bhils and the
Kolis, kept up a constant revolt. Still during this
period of history some parts of the country were
well cultivated, and both trade and manufactures
began to flonrish. -

(1347.) On one occagion some confederate Amirs
defeated Auziz, the governorof Mglw4, who had been
sent by Muhammad Tughlak to quell their disturb-
unces, whereupon the emperor himself marched into
Gujardt and sacked the towns of Surat and Cambay,
at the same timo driving the Gohils out of Gogo,
But when he left for Daulatdbdd, the nobles rose
again, under the leadership of one Malik Toghén,
and the emperor was forced to return and meet the
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rebels in battle near Kadi. He gained a complete
victory, but afterwards, while pursuing his conquests
in and beyond Kathidvdd, he died therc of fever in
1351. - :

The next governor who rose to prominence was
named Farhat-ul-Milk,--who ruled almost inde-
pendently till 1891, owing to the distracted state of
the empire, and the power he himself had acquired
by conciliating the Hindus, of whom his army was
chiefly composed. TFinally, howcover, a very able
man named Zafir Khdn, who was himself a converted
Réjpidt,! was sent to displace him. Zafir Khan not
only defeated his opponent, but exacted tribute from
some of the principal Hindu réjds—Jundgad, Delvids,
and Jhéldvdd—and spoiled the temple of Somandtha.
His attempts against [dar werc, however, frustrated
by circumstances, and the narrow tract in the plain
over which he ruled was bounded and inconvenienced
not only by Idar on the east, and the Bhils and the
Kolis all along the mountains southward, but by the
Rijas of Jhélorand Sirohi on the north-west, and
in the peninsula of Sorath by at least nine or ten
Hindu tribes.

(2) In 1403 Zafir Khén’s son took thetitle of king,
and reigned as an independent sovereign over Guja-
rét, and a few years after his death Zafir Khén
himself, as Miizafar, ruled the country from Ahmadé-
béd, then called Asédwal, though he lived much at
Patan, and was finally buried there, as was his son.
It was his successor the vigorous Ahmad Shdh who
gave the capital his name, after he bhad defeated
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his relations but rivals the governors of Baroda and
Surat. As Alaf Khén had spread his religion
through Gujarit proper from Patan to Broach, so
Ahmad Shéh extended it to K4thidvédd, after render-
ing the Rév of Junfgad and the Sorath chiefs
tributary. He also increased the influence of
Ahmadabdd over the Hindu kings of Chidmpéner,
Nandod, Idar, and Jhéldvad. Again and again he
harried the country round Chémpéner, and to settle
{dar he built the fort of Ahmadunagar, and subjected
the Rav to a heavy tribute. Besides these he de-
feated their ally the Musalmén king of Malwé, and
repulsed the Bdhmani king of the Dakhan at Mahim,
in the Northern Konkana, which belonged to him,
and in Béglina, of which he held some portion.
This rapid increase of the kingdom was the result of
two measures, by one of which he assigned lands in
Jéhdgir for the support of regular troops, and by
the other conciliated the Hindu land-owners by
granting them the wdntd, or fourth-share in their
villages.

Eight years after his death—thatis,in 1459—began
the reign of the most famous of the kings of thig:
house, Mahmid Begada (“the two forts’), who in 14
captured Girnér and Junagad, annexing Sorath;
who afterwards destroyed the temple of Jagat
(Dvérk4), and who in 1484 took the fort of Chém-
péner—a mighty conqueror of Hindu réjés and up-
holder of the Musalmén religion

Mahmid Begada died in 1518, and his son? conti-
nued the ancestral contest with Méslws, fdar, and
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Chitor, but no marked change took place till the
accession of the next ambitious king Bahddur (1526-
1536), who to increase his conquedts ruined his
finances in supporting an enormous army, and
vexed his people by introducing the system of letting
out the revenues of the districts to contractors.
King Bahé4dur extended the boundaries of Hhis
domain to the furthest limits it ever reached. Be-
sides the nine districts of Gujar4t proper, which
included Ahmad4dbdd, Patan, Baroda, Broach, R4j-
pipld (Nandod), Surat, and Chémpéner, there be-
longed to him Jodhpir, Jhalod, Nagor, and Sirohi
in Rajpdténa; Dongarpir and Bansvddd in M4lwi;
a portion of Khéndesh and Bégléna; Janjira,
Bombay, Bassein, and Damén in the Konkana ;in
the western peninsula Somandtha, Sorath, Navéna-
gar; and finally beyond these Kachh.

The rulers of Ahmadnagar, Bijipir, Berér, Goval-
konda, and Burh4npdr at times were his tributaries
—surely it was the most powerful kingdom in the
south of India. Then was the glory seen of Ahma-
dabdd and its neighbour Mahmuddbad, of Cham-
péner, but above and beyond all, of the harbours of
Surat and Cambay; for the Musalmans obtained
from commerce such riches and prosperity as the
ignorant Mar4thds could only destroy, but not bring
to life again.

After capturing Mé4ndu, the capital of Malw4,
and taking by storm Chitor, king Bahddur drew
destruction on his head by daring to cross swords
with the hardy men of the north, the soldiers of the
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Moghul Humdydn. Gujardt was overrun by the
imperial armies in 1535 ; but the following year
Bah4dur recovered his kingdom, to enjoy it for one
brief year only ; for he died in 1536 at Did, fighting
the Portuguese, then the masters of the seas which
wash the Gujarft coast. His death revealed the
unhealthy condition of the kingdom ; the succeed-
ing kings retained only a nominal power, while the
country was divided between the parties of a few
great nobles, who werc constantly plotting against
each other. Tinally one of their number was driven
to adopt the only course left open—he called in the
great emperor of Dehli, Akbar, who annexed and
settled the distracted province in the year 1578,
though for some time peace was not firmly
esta.bhshed within the boundaries of GUJax'

Notc L p. 9 ——Bngg,s —/‘aﬁx was tl\o son of Se]\\ in, a Tﬁk
R4jpit, and an apostate. He was assassinated by h s grandson
Ahmad. ‘

Note 3, p. 10.—This king often resided at Baroda, the name of
which town he changed to Daulatibid, Briggs gives as its more
anciont names—Chandanavati, when Chandan, of the Dor tribe of
Rijpits, wrosted it from the Jainas ; thon, some centuries later,
Varavati ; then Birputra, ¢ the city of sandalwood, of warr 10rs,&
the leaf of the Bhar tree.’
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CHAPTER IT11.

THE MOGHUL VICEROYS.

{8) After his usual fashion, Akbar aimed less
at innovating, than at retaining what was best
worth preserving. The country still continued to
be divided into two parts—that directly adminis-
tered by the viceroy, who took the place of the Ah-
madébad king, and that part which was merely
tributary.

The tributes of the subject states were fixed
according to the terms made at the time of conquest,
. and bore no relation to the means of the state.
They were not regularly levied, but were in general
extracted either by main force, or at least by mili-
tary display, under the system called mulukgiri,
subsequently adopted and amplified by the Mardthés.
As under the old Hindu kings of Anahilavdda, in the
feudatory states the revenue consisted of, 1st, a share
in the crops, levied either directly on the cultivator
by agents, or collected through the superior land-
holders ; and, 2ndly, of certain cesses on trade and of
transit duties.

In the Sarkér districts, as at the best time of the
Ahmadabdd kings, Akbar to each governor asso-
ciated an accountant, who kept a check dn the

2
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internal management, and who'corresponded with a
head accountant at Ahmadabdd, answering to the
divén, an officer second only to the viceroy.

King Bahddur introduced the custom of letting
out the collection of revenue to contractors, and the
military lords followed his example in their estates.
It was this innovation which, although for a time it
greatly increased the revenues, brought about the
disorganization of the kingdom ; and it is needless to
say that Akbar swept away this evil, which was des-
tined to see life again under the wretched Mardthd
administration.

Under the Ahmad4bdd kings certain lands
assigned in jéhdgir came by degrees wholly to be
made over to powerful military lords, who under
strong administrations were kept under some super-
vision. But in the time of the ambitious Bahddur
the army was increased to an immense extent, and.
the military chiefs became virtually independent.
Under the Moghul emperors these jaih4girdars were
again gradually brought under check, till, after
Aurangzeb’s death and during the Marath4 invasion,
they once more became independent, as we shall see
further on, in the cases of the B4bi family and the
Nawiébs of Surat and Cambay.

Besides the Sarkér lands and those held by the
great jAhfgirdars, which composed the larger portion,
there were the estates of the zamindérs, as were
then termed the semi-independent Hindu landhold-
ers, the Réjds, Révs, and Révals. Akbar not only
sought to conciliate these by personal intercourse
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and by courteous treatment, but he did not in the
least disturb them. The lesser Hindu land-owners
he allowed to retain their wint4, as Ahmad Shéh had
directed to be done, though the custom had been
changed in later times. Besides all these, when the
Musalmén power was on the wane, and the Maréthds
were gradually annexing territory, the more tur-
- bulent of the small land-owners, called girdsids, by
threats of oppression and plunder, levied on their
more peaceable neighbours a species of black-mail,
which had no existence during the continuance of a
regular administration in the country.

The province of Gujar4t under the Moghul empire
did not embrace so large a territory as that over
which the most powerful of the Ahmad4b4d kings
ruled, but its importance may be estimated by the
high rank of many of its viceroys.

The second of the officers appointed by Akbar was
a son of the great minister Behrém Khén, who, it is
interesting to notice, died by the blow of an assassin
at Patan while travelling to Mecca on a pilgrimage.
During this young man’s administration a portion of
Central Gujardt received the blessing of a revenue
settlement, made by the famous Raja Todar Mal,
which lasted till the Mardthds swept away every
trace, good and bad, of Musalmén rule; and where
no measurement took place a fixed paymeut for the
year was instituted, in money or in kind, after the
test called pdhdni had been applied.

The struggle to regain Gujardt made by the last
of the Ahmad4b4d kings and his son lasted till the
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beginning of the 17th century, and they were aided
by the Hindu prince of Réjpipl4 and by several of the
Kathidvad chiefs. And shortly after 1609 Baroda,
which had then been the scene of a struggle be-
tween the exiled king and the Moghul viceroy, was,
together with Surat, invaded by Malik Ambar, a
noble of the Nizém Shéh’s court and governor of
Danlatdbéd ; but even this passing event yields in
interest to the fact that a few years later the rival
traders of England and Holland were allowed to
establish factories at Surat, till then open only- to
the Portuguese.

Prince Shah Jahén was viceroy in 1616, and made
an ineffectual attempt to become independent of his
father, Jahéngir. Unlike the latter, Shah Jahan
fancied the climate of Ahmad4b4d, where he built
the beautiful palace called the Shéhi Béigh, which he
revigited when he became emperor in 1627. His
viceroy Azam Khén during a vigorous rule did much
to keep in order the Kolis of Gujardt and the Kéthis,
and his successor introduced the bhdgavatai system
of levying revenue into Gujarét.

But these competent officers were succeeded in
1644 by Prince Aurangaeb, who in two years by his
religious intolerance threw the whole country into
confusion. In 1654 Prince Muréd Baksh was
viceroy ; and three years after, he left Gujardt to
join Aurangzeb in their united struggle for empire.
It is well known that when Aurangzeb had used his
tool he cast the foolish Murdd into prison, but before
doing %o he had appointed his and Muréd’s father-in«
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law viceroy of Gujardt. This man, Shdh Navéz, to
rescue Murdd, struck a blow for the fugitive prince
Dé4rah, but was defeated, and Aurangzeb gave his post
to his former gallant rival the Mahér4jd Jasvant Sing.
During Aurangzeb’s reign the years 1664, 1666, and
1670 were marked by the repeated capture and
spoiling of Surat by Siviji, the signs of the coming
change. Four years after the last evont we hear of
the rise of the family destined to be the chief rival
of the Géikv4ds ; a son of Sher Khdn Bébi was then
appointed governor of Kadi, while a little later Safdar
Khén Bébi was made governor of Patan, and then
of Bijépdr.

In 1705 the Marfthds regularly invaded Gujarit
under Dhan4ji Jddbava, and at Ratanpdr defeated first
Safdar Khéin B4bi, whom they took prisoner, and
next tho army of the viceroy. These successes were
quickly followed by a victory at the Béb4 Piaradh
ford on the Narmad4, where the officiating viceroy
and the sons of Safdar Kh4n were put to flight or
taken prisoners. It was in vain that Aurangzeb
sent his own son Prince Muhammad to be viceroy ;
his own death was close at hand, the empire was fall-
ing to pieces, and the Mar4ithds were spreading over
India like a resistless wave. Thus was destined to
pass away an epoch duaring which, under the Dehli
emperors and the Ahmadabdd kings, Gujardt had
reached a high degree of material prosperity, and its
cities had become the talk and wonder of travellers
from distant countries. .

To account, therefore, for the existence of a Mar4-



18 [cmap. 1t.

th4 kingdom in Gujardt it is necessary not only to
recall, as we have briefly done, the long period during
which Hindu r4jds maintained the Jain and Bréhman
religions, rivetted old customs which suited the
climate and the temperament of the people, and
generally so conducted the fortunes of their subjects
along certain grooves that these could not be aban-
doned, however violent the wrench made to tear
them away ; but also to remember that for four more
centuries the Musalméns enforced on the land a
foreign supremacy which was distasteful to its in-
habitants, however imposing it may have been out-
wardly, and however civilized and refined when
compared with the dominion which was founded on
its ruins,

Though, however, the Musalmin rule lasted for
s0 long a period, it must be borne in mind that it
did not commence till three centuries after Mahmdd
of Ghazni invaded India, and only a short time before
the central authority at Dehli, arriving at its cul-
minating point, fell to pieces in order to make way
for the advent of the Moghul house.

The consequences of these events are evident. The
early viceroys frequently courted the support of the
Hindu zamindérs; the wiser kings of Ahmad4bdd
consulted their interests ; the less sagacious of them
folt themselves to be the rulers not of a portion of a
wider empire, but of a kingdom whose exclusive
welfare wastheiraim. The consequences of the rule
of Akbar and his two successors, who fostered the
Hindu interests of the empire, were not upset by the
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retrograde policy of Aurangzeb to the degree which
drove Southern India to shake off the alien yoke.
And, finally, ever on the point of breaking off
from the great system to which it belonged, Gu-
jardt was entrusted to men who, anxious to push
their own interests, were impclled to conciliate the
subject or semi-independent portion of the com-
munity, that they might by them be assisted in their
ambitious views.

The original inhabitants of Gujarat were driven by
the Hindu r4jés into the woods and hills, but were
never exterminated or wholly conquered. The Mu-
salmén kings and viceroys did not carry on the work
much further. So when the Marith4s appeared they
at once became the allies of the Bhils and Kolis,
who were always glad to side with any revolutionary
force which promised to create a state of confusion
suitable to their lawless habits.

The great Apahilavddd housecs had died out, but
adjoining the plains of Gujardt and in the distant
and mountainous peninsula small R4jpidt rulers had
established themselves and flourished. Betweeon
them and the Musalm4ns there could never be friend-
ship, and they hailed the Mardthds as avengers of
the down-trodden Hindu religion, and their coming
as the possible opportunity for complete indepen-
dence. The same spirit animated the lesser Hindu
land-owners.

When the empire was falling to picces about their
ears the Musalmin amirs lost all sense of cohesion.
Each, to defend or exalt himself, was ready at % pinch
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to join the Mar4thés, till the viceroy in person found
no other course left open to him but to solicit their
alliance.

Thus, amidst the universal breaking up of settled
rule, the invaders entered Gujart. To the Hindus
they could bring back old customs and & loved reli-
gion, but they had few other advantages to offer.
The new-comers had not attained any political wis-
dom, nor were they influenced by the high motives
which are the results of long and patient self-govern-
ment. They had not learnt to administer criminal
and civil justice, to construct public works for use or
ornament, to foster commerce and agriculture, regu-
larly to collect and wisely to dispense the revenues
of the State. Such arts could not be expected of a
nation which had by sheer physical daring and skill
suddenly found itself able to resist and then devour
a vast but rotten empire. To the poor and down-
trodden Margthds the moment of success seemed the
opportunity to be avenged, and to become rich by
plunder. First aiming at irregular, and next at
regular tribute, the onward tide of victory forced
them to establish themselves in the countries from
which they had driven the Musalméns. The leader
of a band of predatory horse became a prince, his
lieutenants nobles and land-owners. But it was not
easy for them, in their ignorance, immediately to turn
their fortune to a useful account. What they did do
will partly be gathered from the following pages,
which record a modern revolution still incomplete,
and wholly different from what it might have been,
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had not the great Mar4th4 nation itself come under
the influence of a race of conquerors wiser and
more powerful than they themselves were, and in
every way different,



CHAPTER IV.

THE EARLY INVASIONS OF GUJARAT MADE BY THE
SENAPATI AND GAIKVAD.

In order to account for the existence of a Mar4tha
kingdom in Gujarft, a brief account has been
given of the old Hindu kings of Anahilavdd{, and
of the Musalmén kings and viceroys of Ahmad4b4d.
It is necessary also, for the full comprehension of
our subject, to dwell on some of the events which
occurred during the rise of the Mardtha power
in India. It would otherwise be difficult to under-
stand how the conquest of Gujardt was cffected by a
single officer of the Mar4thd kingdom, acting almost
independently of the sovereign ; how, on this officer’s
death, his authority was, without risk, usurped by his
lieutenant ; how these two, the Senépati and the
Gaikvéd, withheld from Shahu the tribute he claimed ;
and finally how the Peshvd was engaged for many
long years in a struggle with the Gdikvdd, which
would have ended in the extinction of thelatter had
not the British interfered between the two.

Siv4ji, the favoured of Bhavéni, the supporter ofthe
God Bréhmans, had, during the thirty years which
preceded his death in 1680, endeavoured to form a
compact kingdom, a disciplined army, and a regular
civil administration ; and during this time he himself
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was animated by, and endeavoured to infuse into his
people, a spirit of religious hatred against the Mu-
salméns. His schemes were almost entirely unsuc-
cessful, but he taught the Mardthis how to avoid the
ponderous blows of the Moghul armies, how to take
advantage of their jealousies and untimely rivalries,
how to plunder the plains and rich towns after seiz-
ing the hill-forts.

Aurangzeb, who before Siv4ji’s death had for
twenty years exhausted every method to crush the
‘mouuntain-rat,” had meanwhile followed a policy
which hastened the dissolution of the empire. He
attempted to suppress the Hindu element when it had
already grown to be a vast but unfelt power. On his
own sabjects he imposed the jizya, and the great
Réjpat houses he for ever alienated by his treacher-
ous conduct—the house of Jasvant Sing, the R4ja
of the Jodhpar Rdthods, that of R4jd Sing, Rans of
Udepdr, and others. After thus cutting away
these supports to his throne, he, seven years after
Siv4ji’s death, widened the boundaries of the Moghul
empire, but effectually weakened the strength of the
Musalméns in India by annexing Bijdpdr and
Govalkonda. Consequently, though Sambidji did
not inherit his father’s genius, though the armies
of Siv4ji lost all discipline, though the Moghuls
reconquered a great number of the Marétha hill-
forts, though Sambéji himself was taken prisoner
and put to death, the Regent, R4j4 Réma, after los-
ing in 1690 Réigad and the guardianship of the late
king Sambaji’s son Siv4ji (Shéhu), who was brought
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up under Aurangzeb’s eye, was able once again to
create a centre of authority, far less despotic, it is
true, than Sivéji’s, at Ginji. Over the capture of
this place Aurangzeb wasted seven years, while the
rapid movements of Sant4ji Ghorapade, Dhandji J4-
dhava, and Ramchandra Pant disconcerted the un-
wieldy armies of the Moghuls, and a great number
of Maréth leaders were beginning to learn the pre-
datory system, of which the end was one, though the
efforts made to accomplish it were distinct. Just
before Ginji was taken R4j4 Réma moved to S&tér4,
and soon found himself at the head of larger armies
than Sivdji himself had commanded. His predatory
excursions took a wide range, till in 1700 the em-
peror struck a blow which deprived him of Satari
and hastened his death. Other important hill-forts
fell during the subsequent four years, when the
virtual ruler of the people was still in Aurangzeb’s
hands, but still the numerous Mar4thd excursions
grew more and more formidable. In 1702 Surat
was taxed by a marauding party. In 1705 fifteen
thousand Marathés invaded and devastated Gujarat.
Next, S4térd, Réjgad, Panhald, and for a time Son-
gad, again fell into the Mardthd’s power; and
Aurangzeb, distracted by wide-spreading predatory
forces he had not the power to restrain, died a
miserable death at Ahmadnagar in 1707,

Shéhu was then released, and with difficulty ob-
tained the allegiance which by right of birth was his.
Réja Rima’s family set up an independent kingdom
at Kolhépir, supported by many of the most power-
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ful Marithd chiefs. Rivalries of all sorts confirmed
the custom of separate action, and Sh{hu would have
lost even the semblance of paramount authority had
he not been supported first by the good understand-
ing which existed between him and D4ud Khén,
who was governor of the Dakhan till the Nizém was
appointed to that post, and then, by the counsel
of Bél§ji Vishvanith, who in 1714 was elevated to
the post of Peshvé or Mukhya Pradhén, and invested
with the charge of Purandhar. Soon after that
year Béldji instituted a new revenue policy, which
was designed to consolidate the State, and to
render the assistance of the Brahmans indispensable
to Shahu, who, though not devoid of ability, was
brought up in the indolent ways of a Muhammadan
noble. Besides the sovereign’s claims on the subhas
of the Dakhan,—that is, the chauth ard sardesh-
mukhi,~—he was held by the Peshvé to possess in all
other conquered districts the svardj, of which one-
fourth, termed the rdjé’s bdbti, came to him, while
the balance, called mokassa, fell to the military chiefs
as jégir. In addition to the jdgir, the most powerful
leaders, of course, had lands and villages bestowed
upon them in indm.

Khande Rév D4dbh4de, a Mardth4 leader who subse-
quently rose to eminence, was in the habit of levying
contributions in northern Gujarit and Kéthidvad
early in the 18th century. When Déud Khén, 8hébu’s
friend, was appointed governor of Gujardt, he with-
drew from Ahmadéb4d, and established himself be-
tween Nandod and Réjpipld. In 1712 Muhammad

3
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Tbrihim Tabrizi, who was escorting & rich caravan
of treasure from Surat to Aurangébéd, was attacked
by the Marithés, and the treasure carried off. This
exploit is supposed to have been the work of Khan-
de R4v D4bhédde, and it is certain that when the Syad
Husen A’li Khén, after de-
feating Déud, attempted to
open communication between Surat and Burhénpir,
and to suppress the depredations of Khande Rév, who
commanded the road and exacted a fourth of the
effects of all travellers who did not purchase his
passport, he failed. Not only was the expedition
of eight thousand men defeated, but their leader,
Zulfikar Beg, was killed. Subsequently joining the
Sar Lashkar, Khande R4v fought an indecisive battle
with Mavkub Sing, the Syad’s Divén, and Chandra-
gena J4dhava, at Ahmadnagar. He then returned to
Sétér4, and was made Senépati in the place of
Ménaji Moré.

Two years later, the Peshvd and Senépati went
together to Dehli in order
to support the Syad, who
had now come to terms with the Mar4thds ; and after
two years’ stay at the capital they obtained from the
newly risen emperor Muhammad Shéh many sanads
to levy tributes. The Mar4thds affirm, but not
truly, that from this date they received permission
to levy tribute in Gujardt. It is of little consequence
whether or not such permission was given, but of
more importance to note that shortly after this the
Senépati, who had to support a large portion of

A.p. 1716.

A.p. 1719.
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Shihn’s army, received authority from the R4jé of
S4t4r4 to realize the dues established by usage from
Gujarét and Béglénd. At about the same time, or
a little later, B4ji Rév, who had succeeded to the
post of Peshv4 on his father’s death, which occurred
in 1720 after his return from Dehli, repeatedly
commissioned Ud4ji Powér to levy tribute in Gujarét
and M4lw4. These orders were as repeatedly carried
into effoct, and finally, as we shall see, Anand Rév
Powér settled at Dhér. From the beginning this
family was therival of the G4ikvAd, though it was
destined in later days to connect itself with him by
marriage, and to accept his assistance in its struggle
for existence.

At about the very time when the Sendpati and
Peshvi were returning from Dehli, where they had
got such good terms from the emperor through the
Syads, Asafdah, the founder of the Nizdm dynasty at
Haidaribdd, was moving to the Dakhan from Mélwa
to conquer a kingdom for himself. He was joined by
several Mardth4 chiefs who were discontented with
Shéahu, and with their aid defeated two armies of the
Syads, the first at Burhdnpdr, the second at Balépir
in Berfr. In this second engagement the Syads’
general, A'lam A’li Khén, was supported by several
of Shéhu’s first officers, and among others by
Khande Rv Débhéde. The Sendpatihad with him
on this occasion a soldier who, with others of his
family, stood high in his esteem. This was Dfméji
Géikvad, who, for his distinguished merit during
the engagement, obtained from Shéhu the title
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of Shamsher Babddur, and the post of second in
command.

Nizém-ul-Milk subsequently rejoined the Dehli
court as vazir, and was commissioned to reduce
the refractory subhedir of Gujarit, Haidar Kili
Khén. This he easily did, and, retaining the
province, he appointed his uncle Ahmad Khén his
deputy. But the same yearhe returned to the Dakhan
without the emperor’s permission, and with the full
intention of rupturing all connection with him.

Meanwhile, shortly after the battle of Bélapara,
both the Senépati and his lieutenant died; Khande
Rév Débhide was succeeded by his son Trimbak
Rév in May 1721, and Dém4ji by his nephew Pildji,
the son of Zingoji G4ikv4d, and the real founder of
the family.!

The Géikvdds had many years before left their
village of Dhévadi, near Poona, to follow Dabhéde’s
fortunes. Pildji was first given some forty or fifty
pbgd horse and stationed at Navépidra, whence he
proceeded to join the Senépati at Talegéin, Owing
to his energy and wisdem, he rose from the command
of two or three hundred horse, after a successful
raid on Surat, to be the leader of & pdgd. He was
however forced to move from Navfpira, as Powér
maintained that it was in his beat ; so he selected ““ a

hill in a wilderness difficult

a.p. 1719. of access,” belonging to the
Mewéssi Bhils, and there constructed Songad, the
cradle of the Gdikvdds’ house, and for many years
(till 1786) the capital of their dominion,? The same
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year he defeated an army sent against him by
Shéikh. ul-Islém, Mutasaddi of Surat, commanded by
Syad Akil and Muhammad Péngh, the latter of whom
was taken prisoner, and not released till he had paid
8 heavy ransom.

The Musalmén dominion over Gujarit was from
this moment doomed to perish. The Kolis of the
Mi4h{ Kdint4 rose ; the great Gujarit houses of Babis
and Jhéloris and the newly arrived Momin Khén
thought only of showing their independence; and-
the viceroy himself, Ajit Sing of Mérvdd, favoured
the Mardthds, hoping through their moeans to sub-
stitute his own authority over Gujardt for that of
the Musalméns.

Note 1, p. 28, Vide Appendiw I, Genealogical Table of the
Gaikvags.

Note 3, p. 28. That some idea may be gained of Songad and the
hill country from which the early Gaikvads issued to invade the
plains, a short extract from Mr. Willoughby’s précis (1845) is
here given :—*‘ The ascent to Songad is 1} miles, and the fort is
% mile in circumference. The walls are about 9 feet high and
built of sohid masonry. Songad is about 7 miles to the 8. of the
Tapti, and more than 40 to the E. of Surat. The two forts of
Salheir and Salkotah, both built on the same precipitous hill 14
miles to the 8. of the British fort of Miles, are ascended by
paths several miles in length. Between Songad and Salheir is
tho fort of Sadarveil or Rupgad, situated on a high hill. In the
town of Vehara or Beara, 11 miles to the 8W, of Songad, is a
fort 4 mile in circumference. Giindirdjptr is a fort situated on the
N. bank of the Tapti NE. of Songad, surrounded by jungle. 1t
is § mile in circumference with a wall of masonry 15 feet high, ”’



CHAPTER V.

STRUGGLE AMONG VARIOUS MARA!.‘HA CHIEFS TO OBTAIN
THE RIGHT OF LEVYING THE CHAUTH IN GUJARAT.

Amid the violent changes which generally attend
the revolutions of empires each man fights for his
own hand. He who has the clearest head or the
strongest arm goes far further than he could do in
quiet times, when the community of interests ecir-
cumscribes individual aggrandizement. But the dull
or the weak man must fall hopelessly out of the race,—
the deeds of his fathers in the past, on which men
have turned their backs, cannot aid him ; the present
or the immediate future alone commands attention
where all seems doubtful.

In the 18th century, when Asaf J4h, Aliverdi
Khén, and the N4ik Haidar Ali were found-
ing kingdoms ; when petty Musalmén amirs, like
the governors of Surat and Cambay, were becoming
navébs ; when the English traders were rapidly
changing into conquerors: among the Mardthds
also, and above all,—for their past history had been
brief, and their political union feeble,—surprising
turns of fortune took place. The ablest and most
adventurous men among them came rapidly to the
front, however humble their origin, and in cases
where their sons or relatives equalled them as mili-
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tary leaders they were able, almost without knowing
it, to found princely houses: such men were
B4l4ji Vishvandth, Malhérji Holkar, Rénoji Sindia,
Visvds Rav, Ud4ji Powér, Kantdji Kadam Bénde,
and Pil4ji Gaikv4d.!

The three last had for their task the invasion of
Gujarat, and they carried it out sometimes in com-
bination, sometimes independently of each other ; but
each knew that the prizecould fall to one of them only,
and each was the rival of the other two. The prize,
remark, was not the acquisition of territory,—for the
bare idea of settling down as rulers of conquered
lands had not then entered theirheads,—but the right,
to be extracted from the emperor’s viceroy, of levying
the chauth, ora fourth part of the revenues. This
then seemed enough to officers in command of a few
bodies of predatory horse. It is true that R4j4
Shahu had authorized the late Serdpati to levy tribute
in Gujarét, and that similar sanads had been issued to
Powér, but no doubt sanads had then less than their
nsual value: the chief who could force the Musal-
méns to allow him to levy the chauth would not lack
followers to aid him in the work, or sanctiom, if
necessary, from the Réj4 of S4térA.

Pilgji Géikvéd, following the instructions of the
Senéipati, turned his attention chiefly to the Surat
aththavisi, and strengthened himself by an alliance
with an old foe of the Moghuls, the R4jé of R4jpipl4.
In 1720, however, he made an excursion into
northern Gujarft, and obtained a portion of the
chauth of that part of the country, when he.estab-
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lished a gummdsthé or agent at the havelt of Ah-
madéb4d. But in 1723 he marched on Surat and
defeated the newly appointed governor of that place,
Momin Khén, after which his levy of tribute in
the aththévisi became more regular than ever. En.-
tering Gujarét by the Bévépierdh Pass, he made his
way to Karnéli, where he was joined by the Deséis
or Pitils of Padra, Chhani, and Bh4yali, in the
Baroda pargané, and the first of the three became
of great use to him by his knowledge of the country
south of the M4hi.?

It has been mentioned in the last chapter that
Nizém-ul-Milk, just before breaking wholly with
the emperor, had arranged affairs in Gujardt, and,
retaining the government of the province, had left
his uncle Ahmad Khén there as his deputy. The
imperial party, to regain its influence, now appointed
Sarbiland Khén , Mubdriz-ul-Milk governor of
Gujardt and Mélw4, and he in his turn made the
valiant Shujdt Khén his deputy. Ahmad Khén,
under orders from the Nizdm to hold his own,
summoned Bénde to his aid, by promising him the
chanth of Gujarét, and the two defeated and slew
Shujat Khin near Ahmedabdd. This happened in
1724, at a time when the latter’s brother Rustam
A'li Khén had just gained some advantages over
Pildji in the neighbourhood of Surat, and had
forced the Ré4jé of Réjpipld to abandon his alliance.
To avenge his brother’s death, however, Rustam
closed his campaign against Pildji, and induced
him %y promises to attack Ahmad Khén and
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Binde. They crossed the Mﬁhi,at Fazilpira, and
met the enemy on the plains of Arés, in the Petldd
pargané. But Piléji had secretly come to an under-
' standing with Ahmad Khén, and when the battle
commenced he not only did not support his ally,
but after obtaining the charge of the artillery he
turned it against Rustam A’li Khin. A series of
engagements took place, and the unfortunate Rustam
being worsted was forced to flee to Hasé (Vasé) near
Ahmad4b4ad, where, in order mnot to fall alive into
the hands of his enemy, he put an end to himself.
Then Ahmad Khén bestowed on Pildji Gaikvid
half the chauth, which he
had promised in its entirety
to Kantdji Kadam, Naturally the division of the
spoil led to quarrels between the two chiefs, which
finally culminated in open rupture and fight at Cam-
bay, when Pil4ji was worsted and forced to retire to
Mj4iar, near Khedd., But Ahmad Khénwas well aware
that he could not maintain himself in the coming
struggle with the viceroy without the aid of both
the Marath4s, so he interposed and apportioned the
chauth of the districts north of the Méhi to Kantji,
that of those south of that river to Pil4ji, viz. Baroda,
Nandod, Champéner, Broach, and Surat. At the
end of the campaign Kant4ji retired to Khéndesh,and
Pildji to Songad, while the Sendpati established
himself at Dabhai. Sarbdland Khén, however, was
determined to avenge the death of his deputy and to
eject Nizdm-ul-Milk’s relative, and he gained over
for that purpose the aid of the Bébi family end of

A.D. 1724,
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Abhi Sing, Réjé of Jodhpdr, Ashe was a singularly
able and active man, he carried out his purpose, and
for a time drove the Marithas out of Gujarét. His
son Khanéhz4d Khén met Ahmad Khén and his allies
Bénde and Géikvéad, first at Sojitrd, and then at
Kapadvanj, and both times routed them. Ahmad
Khén fled ; and, in spite of the continued struggle of
Bénde and the successes of Antdji Bhéskar, Pildji,
who after these defeats had made an attempt to
capture Baroda from its governor Hasan-ud-din,
fled to Cambay, and thence retired to Sorath.
But the following year his fortunes were again on
the mend ; Sarbdland Khén
a.0. 1726, .
could get no assistance from
Dehli, and he again allowed Pilji the right to levy
the chauth in the districts south of the M4hi. But
a new competitor in the struggle for the prize now
put in his appearance: the Peshva B4ji Riv was the
rival of the Senépati, who was Pildji’s immediate su-
perior, and he therefore urged his partizan Powér to
turn Pildji out. This Powér could not quite do,
though he gained several successes over him ; and
Bénde, who was as jealous as Pil4ji could be of the
Peshvé’s interference, again joined him in his cam-
paign, and with him attempted, but unsuccessfully,
to capture Baroda.
Sarbiland Khén at length was forced to come to
terms with one or other of
A.p. 1727, .
the two Marith4 parties, and
as the Peshvé was the stronger he agreed to grant
him tke Sardeshmukhi, or ten per cent, on the land
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revenues and customs, with the exception of Surat
and the adjoining districts, and the chauth of Guja-
r4t,—that is, one-fourth of the land revenues and
of the customs, excepting those of Surat,~and five
per cent. on the revenues of the city of Ahmadfbad.
The stipulation was that the Peshv4 should notassist
disaffected zamindfrs and other disturbers of the
public peace. Among the latter he numbered -
Piliji, the ally of the Bhfls and Kolis, who had
now captured both Baroda and Dabhai, while Kanté4ji
had seized Chémpéner.

This agreement did not come into effect till 1729,
by which time the Peshv4
had for a period crippled
Nizém-ul-Milk, afteralong and successful campaign.
Pil4ji had shown that the chauth granted to him
would not induce Lim to protect the country, and
Sarbiland Khén had felt the weight of the Peshv4’s
arm by the ravages committed in the Petldd pargané
by his brother Chimn4ji Appd; yet the measure
caused great displeasure and dismay in two quar-
ters. The Dehli court was unjustly wroth with
the viceroy, who had in vain asked for support, and
appointed in his stead the infamous Abhi Sing, the
Réthod Mahdraja of Jodhpdr. Abhi Sing, after
defeating, with the aid of the Bfbis, Sarbiland Khén
at Adalej, near Ahmad4b4d, and after winning a
second battle, entered the capital and assnmed the
government, when he made

4.0. 1730, Momin Khén governor of
Cambay. The anger of the Mar4th4 chiefs, who had

A.Dn. 1729,
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looked upon Gujarét as their prey, may be imagined,
and the feeling was carefully kept alive by the
Peshv4’s ‘enemy Nizédm-ul-Milk, who fostered a
confederacy against the Bréhman party composed of
Chimnaji Pant, Powdr, Kantéji Kadam, Pildji G4ik-
v4d, and the Senépati Trimbak R4v Débhdde.

In a.p. 1731 B4ji Riv at first resolved to seize
Baroda, but after invading Gujarét as the ally of
Abji Sing, who practically granted him the very
terms allowed by Sarbdland Khén, he was prevented
from carrying out his plan by the news that Nizdm-
ul-Milk was advancing against him. On his march
from Baroda he met with something like a repulse
from Pildji’s troops, but this did not dissuade him
from marching against the forces of Trimbak Rav
Débhéde, whose camp was at Bilapdra, between
Baroda and Dabhai, and who had been joined by
Kantdji and Pilaji. The Peshvd’s troops were less
numerous than their opponents, but more efficient,
and after a severe struggle, in which Trimbak Rév
behaved with great courage, B4ji Rdv obtained a
complete victory. Trimbak Rév himself and Pildji’s
eldest son, Say4ji,were slain ; Pilaji too wasgrievously
wounded, and with difficulty managed to escape to
Songad with his two remaining sons, Déméji and
Khande Rév. Jénoji D4bhide and M4loji Powér
were among the slain, Ud4ji Powdr and Chimnp4ji
Pant were taken prisoners, Anand Rav Powér was
wounded. :

Fortunately for the confederates, B4ji Rév was too
anxicus to meet Nizém-ul-Milk on equal terms
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to be harsh towards them. He bestowed the dead
Trimbak R4v’s post on his youthful son Yeshvant
Riv, and allowed him to collect the chauth of Gujardt
on the condition that in future half the revenues
were to go to R4j4 Shahu through the Peshvd, and
that additional conquests of tributary states were
likewiso to be accounted for. As Yeshvant R4v was
a mere child, Pildji was to carry on the work as
Mutalik, with the additional title of Send Khis Khel,
‘commander of the special band,” or ‘leader of the
sovereign’s band.’®> So ended the first of the three
struggles between the Peshvé and the Gédikv4d.

Note t, p. 31.—The standard of tho Géikvid is of rod and white
stripes.  Those wero the colours of the Binde house, and were
adopted by the Giikvad as a token of respect, for at first he
served Binde. Holkar for the samo reason carries theso colours.

Note 3, p. 32.—Popular storics tell of the insult offered by Imim
Mchdi, the Musalmén mumster of Baroda, to the daughter of
Dala, Desaf of Padra, who was also the wife of Waghyi, Patil of
Virsad, These two obtained tho assistance of tho influential
Sureévara, Desif of Baroda. Ddji, Pitil of Wasai, had also to
revenge the dishonour done to his daughter by Shujit Khén,
These four men, therefore, pretending to go on a pilgrimage to
Devaki Unai, noar Songad, sccretly met Pildji at that spot, and
wdvised him how to annoy and plunder tho Musalméns.

Note 3, p. 87.—This titlo belonged to the Senfpati originally,
and perhaps carried with it somo authority. It eventually came
to be the distinctive title of the reigning Géikvid, and its be-
stowal by the Peshvi on each successive prince had tobe pur-
chased by a nazarind, Vide Appendin V.
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CHAPTER VI.

DAMLI1 GAIRVAD GETS THE BETTER OF THE MOGHULS,
BUT IS SUBDUED BY THE PESHVA.

Fortunately, the last chapter concluded, B4ji Rav
Peshv4 was not inclined to be hard on Pilaji Géik-
vad and the young Scnipati, for their party was now
to pass through a crisis which would have brought
their history to an early close, if the Géikvéds had
not been led by resolute men who, when hard hit,
gathered fresh energy to face and conquer their foes.

Pilaji G4ikvdd had now the resources of the Send-
pati at his disposal, and was the master of Songad,
Baroda, and Dabhai, the ally of the Bhils and Kolis,
and the friend of the zamindérs, so that in spite of all
that the Mahér4jé Abhi Sing could do he gained
over him considerable advantages, and so distressed
‘him that the Mah4r4j4 determined to get rid of his
opponent by treachery as he could not do so by force.
He caused Pildji to be assassinated by a Marvédi in
his tent at Dékir, ! and,
taking advantage of the
moment, hurried out his troops, who, under Dhokal
Sing, took the fort and city of Baroda, which were
then made over to Sher Khén Bébi.

But the foul deed brought Abhi Sing no further
advadtage, Dabhai successfully sustained a siege ;

A.D. 1732,
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Pil4ji’s old friend, the p4til of Padra, raised the Bhils
and Kolis all over the country ; Déwm4ji, Pil4ji’s eldest
~ son and worthy successor, after burning his father’s
body at Sévali, at first retired to Songad, and then,
strongly supported by Umd B4f, the late Senépati’s
widow, who personally took part in the campaign,
made, in conjunction with
Kantdji Kadam, 2 an attack
on Ahmad4b4dd which was not wholly without result.
Next, Méloji or Mah4d4ji Gdikvdd, D4maji’s uncle,
acted against the Moghul forces which had crossed
the Mahi from Jambisar, and in 1734 retook Baroda
from Sher Khén Bibi, who,
when the sicge began, was
absent at Béldsinor, and was dcfeated when he
marched to the assistance of the town. It has ever
since been in the possession of the Gaikv4d. D4m4ji
himself, after taking many important places in the
cast of Gujarét, pushed on to the neighbourhood of
Jodhpir, and placed Abhi Sing’s ancestral domains
in such jeopardy, that the Mahdrijd was forced to
leave Gujar4t, after appointing a clever, shifty man,
Ratan Sing, his Uldnddrt.

But the Moghul power was not the only one with
which during these busy years Diméji had to con-
tend, for Powidr, Bande, and Holkar knew that now
or never was their opportunity to obtain a share of
Gujardt. T'hey made their venture and failed.

While Dém4ji was driving out the Mérvadis, his
agent Rangoji had to meet Bénde in the field at
Anand-Mogri, and there he defeated him with'severo

A.D. 1733.

A.D. 1734.
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loss. He then obtained from Momin Khén the chauth
of the revenues'north of the M4hi, was joined soon
after by Ddméji, and with him entered Viramgém,
after expelling the kasbdlis of that town. But when
his chief left him, to prosecute his plans of conquest:
in K§thidvdd, Rangoji’s further advance was arrested
by a defeat inflicted on him near Viramgé by Ratan
Sing Bhéndari, who would perhaps have done more
if Momin Khén had not failed to support him, for
reasons which are soon to be given,

Mecanwhile Kantéji Kadam Bande, who had now
thrown himsclf on the Peshvé’s side in the hope of
punishing Déméji, invaded northern Gujarit with
Malhdr Riv Holkar. But beyond plundering Vada-
nagar and Pélanpir these chiefs effected nothing,
perhaps becauso they feared to meet the army of
Pratdp Rév Gdikvdd, Daméji’s brother, and of Devéji
Té4kpir, which was then in the neighbourhood of
Dholka, and afterwards assisted Ddm4ji in settling
the tribute of the Sorath chiefs of K4thidvdd and
Gohilvad. Powér, too, made an attempt to seize
something out of the spoil of Gujardt, but he was
defeated in battle and lost his life.

In 1737 Abhi Sing, who had left Gujarat for
Jodhpiir, was removed, and the Dehli court bestowed
his post on Momin Khén, the governor of Cambay.
But, finding that he could not expel the Mérvadis
without D4méji’s aid, and anxious at any price to
become an independent ruler, Momin Khén purchased
the alliance of the Marathds by the cession of one-
half the produce of Gujardt excepting Ahmaddb4d
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some lands in its neighbourhood, and the port of
Cambay ; and to these grants he subsequently added
half the city of Ahmaddb4d and the entiro district
of Viramgdin. The strange alliance thus made was
faithfully kept, on the whole, till the day of Momin
Khén’s death, which took place in 1743 ; though
among many ups and downs there naturally arose
~uxpicions, and even clashings, between the Mardthds
and Musalméns. .

The first measure of the allies was to besiege Ah-
madébdd, and eject from it
Ratan Sing Bhéndéri, Abhi
Smg’s deputy, when Rangoji was placed in charge
of half the city and of several of its gates. Démdji
after this cxerted himsclf to increase his hold on
Norath, and to suppress the Kolis round Viramgér ;
he also took Béusa, and though he failed to capture
Broach, which still belonged to the Nizém, he suc-
ceeded in getting a portion of its revenues.

On the whole, however, Dingji at this time paid
little attention to his acquisitions in Gujardt, the
maintenance and increaso of which he left to the ac-
tive Rangoji. From his mountain fastness at Son-
gad he was watching the course of cvents in the
Dakhan, anxiously awaiting the time when he might
once more measure swords with the Peshv4 and the
Bréhman party. He was now no despicable oppo-
uent, but the master of a large territory, and the real
chief of his party; for Yeshvant Rév Débhéde, though
nominally the Senépati, was half-witted, and showed
himself' possessed of none of those qualities *which

A.p 1738,
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are requisite for a leader in dangerous times. He
had an ally, too, in Réghoji Bhonsla, who was then
the greatest rival the Peshv4 had ; but Baji Rév’s
power had of late increased to an incredible degree.
At the head of his, Sindia’s, and Holkar’s armies he
had reached the gates of Dehli; his old enemy the
Nizdm had been totally defeated and forced to come
to terms ; Nadir Sh4h’s invasion alone had checked
for a time his victorious carcer. When, however,
he was at tho height of his success, ho suddenly died,
in April 1740 ; and Dimdji
hoped that the moment he
had longed for was come.

He sided with Réghoji Bhonsla in pressing the
claims of a connection but an enemy of the late
Béji Rav to the post of Peshvd. This was Bépdji
Niik of Birfmati, a rich banker, and a disappointed
creditor of the Peshvd’s. In spite of all opposition,
Bal4ji, B4ji Riv’s son, succeeded to the vacant post,
and Dimdji consoled himself by making a most
successful raid into Mélw4.
This step, which Réghoji
Bhonsla induced him to take, led, however, eventu-
ally to a reconciliation between BAldji Peshvd and
Anand Rév Powir, the latter of whom was author-
ized by the former to permanently establish himself
in Dhér, and act there as & sentinel on the Gaikv4d’s
movements in Malw4.

The next year Righoji Bhonsla and Dém4ji entered
the Dakhan at the same time
from opposite directions

A.p. 1740.

A.p, 1742,

¢.D. 1743-4.
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while the Peshv dwas in Bengal, but his rapid
return and the defeat of Rdghoji’s troops speedily put
an end to the schemes of the two allies, and shortly
after the Peshv4 bought over the more formidable of
his opponents by allowing him to collect the revenues
of Lower Bengal. D&m4ji remained some time long-~
er in the Dakhan, without, however, effecting any-
thing,and his presence was much required at home.
Bipuji Néik, who lad also come to terms with
Bilgji, had invaded Gujardt and attacked and burnt
Songad, but had been forced to retire on the ap-
proach of Rangoji ; Momin Khdn, too, had died, and
Fid4-ud-din, appointed acting viceroy, had summon-
ed Muftakhir Khin and Sher Khin Bébi to his as-
sistance, had attacked and defeated Rangoji, and
had forced him to surrender Borsad and Viramgér.
Just previous to Ddmdji’s return matters took a
more favourable turn. I'id4-ud-din fled the country,
Rangoji captured Petlad, and Khande Rdv Géikvad
established his brother’s rights in the city of Ah-
madibdd. In 1744 Jawin Mard Khén B4bi, who
after Momin Khdn’s dcath had become the most
considerable noble in Gujarit, and had refused to ac-
knowledge Muftakhir Khén as viceroy, ventured to
oppose the Mardthdas. He called to his assistance
Abdul Aziz Khén, chief of Juner, who thereupon
invaded Gujarat with Fateh

A.p. 1744. Y4b Khdn, commander of

the fort of Malhdr, and Rastam R4v Marithd. But
Devéji T4kpir fell upon them at AnkleSvara and
put their army to rout, killing Abdul Aziz, Fakhr-
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ud-dauld was next appointed viceroy, but was de-
feated and made prisoner by Jaw4n Mard Khén Bébi,
who came to terms with Rangoji. What followedis
uncertain : D4méji on his return from the Dakhan
disgraced Rangoji, threw over an alliance made with
Fakhr-ud-daul4, continuced his old alliance with
Momin Khén’s house, and bestowed on his brother
Khande Rdv Gdikvdd, whose self-interested policy
probably descrved punishment rather than reward,
the fort of Borsad and the districts of Nadidd and
Borsad, which had been ceded by Fakhr-ud-daulé.
Of Rangoji it remains but to tell that in 1749 he
sided once again with Fakhr-ud-dauld, retook the
fort of Borsad, and was there besieged by the two
brothers Gdikvdd and made prisoner.

But cvents were about to ocenr in the Dakhan
which would induce Daméji
to enter into his contest with
the Peshvd. In A . 1749 numerous intrigues were
being planned and counterplanncd round the death-
bed of poor Shéhu at Satdrd. The Rén{ Sakvd
Bif Sake was the bitter enemy of Bdlgji, and de-
clared herself in favour of the Réji of Kolhdpur as
successor, so Ddm4ji sided with her. In a.p. 1750
when summoned to attend
at Poona as the representa-
tive of the imbecile Sendpati he rcfused point-blank
to go, but he could not hinder the formation of the
confederacy which made B4l4ji the hcad and Foona
the capital of the united
Maratha states. In 1751 the

A.D. 1749.

A.p. 1750,

s..n, 1751,
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Peshv4 demanded of Yeshvant Rav D4bhdde one-
half of his possessions in Gujardt, which of course
Démaji refused to surrender. The same year the
latter was called upon by the Réni Tard B4f to rescue
the young Réjé of Sdtird from the Peshvéd’s thraldom,
and the whole Marithd nation from the dominion of
the Brdhman party, and he quickly answered tho
call.

The next chapter will tell how Déméji became
the Peshvé’s prisoner, how he agreed to surrender
half his possessions provided he were aided in taking
Ahmadgbddand turning the Moghuls out of Gujarét,
how he deprived the Béabis of their possessions, and
how he carried on his rule prosperously till a great
misfortunc overtook him just bofore he died.

Note 1, p. 38.—Thoe popular account is that two Mirvalis sent
to Ditkar for thio purpose of kilhng Piliji pretendod to be engaged
1 2 violent quarrel at the moment tho Gaikvad was passing. He
naturally came up to part them, when the two turncd on lum and
killed him.

Note 2, p. 39.—Kintéjr still held his share in tho revenues of
(Gujardt at ting time.
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CHAPTER VII.

DAMAJI GAIEVAD GETS THE BETTER OF THE MOGHULS,
BUT IS SUBDUED BY THE PESHVA.

The Rénf T4rd Béi, after summoning Dém4ji to
her aid, seized the person
of her grandson R4j4 Réma,
who had been proclaimed Shéhu’s successor, and, tak-
ing advantage of the Peshv4’s absence at Aurangé-
béd, shut herself up in the fort of Satdrd. Diméji
hastened to her relief with an army of 15,000 men,
which he brought down from Songad through the
Sdlpi Pass. The Peshvd’s officers, though they had
assembled 20,000 men, fell back before him on
Nimb, where Ddm4ji caught them up and defeated
them. He afterwards joined the Réni, and the Prati-
nfdhf was won over to their cause. The Peshvi
Bél4ji, when he heard the news, hurried back from
Aurangdbdd, and arrived to find that the great
danger he had apprchended was passed. Nénh
Pirandhare had attacked and driven back the Guja-
rdt troops to Jore Khora, where they vainly waited
for the Pratinfdhf’s promised aid, and for reinforce-
ments from their own province. Alarmed at the
near approach of the subhedir of the Konkana,
Shapkardji Pant, Démdji offered to treat with the
Peshvé, who with fair promises enticed him into

A.D. 1751,
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his neighbourhood, and then contrived to effect his
arrest. DAmé4ji was at once called upon to pay up
the arrears due from Gujarét by the Sendpati, and
to cede a portion of his territory; and when he urged
that he could not do this, as he was merely the
mutdlik of Dibhéde, the Peshvd suddenly seized
several members of the DAabh4de and Géikvad
family then at Talegfm, and plundered Dim4ji’s
camp. The unfortunate chicf and his minister,
Ramachandra Baswant, were confined in Poona ; his
cldest son, Say4ji, was also sont to Mangalavadd ; but
Govind Riv and Fate Sing, the younger members
of the family, remained safe with T4rd B4f at Sat4r4.

Sinco the death of Pil4ji no such misfortune had
befallen the Gdikv4ds, but, as on that occasion, they
kept up a brave heart. The minister’s cousin
B4l4ji Yam4ji assembled the pdgds, poatkds, and
kumavisdars at Songad, and there placed Keddrji
Géikvad at their head.

The dues from Broach were collected; one-third
of the revenues of Surat was extracted from Safdar
Khén, who had become governor of the city through
the agsistance of the Mar4thds, though,to be sure, the
following year Rdghobd succeeded in diverting half
the proceeds to the Peshvd, and in 1759 the yearly
sum of which the unfortunate town was mulcted
had to be divided among the Peshvd, the Géikvad,
and the English; Shankar4ji Keshava Phadke, subha
of Bassein, who had invaded the Surat aththdvisi and
besieged Pérnerd, was driven back in ignominious
flight ; and finally the hearty attempt made dy the
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Peshvi’s brother Raghunéth Rdv! to annex Gujarit
was frustrated, though he did take possession of the
Revé and Mahi Kdnt4 districts. The conduct of one
G4ikvdd only, Démédji’s own brother Khande Riv
gave cause for uneasiness, and threw confusion into
the counsels of his party. He longed, therefore, for
release from his imprisonment, which .had become
very strict sinco the escape of his minister,
Ré4machandra, for since that time he had been laden
with irons; he recognized that there was real
danger in the Peshvé’s move when the latter had
granted the sanads for half Gujarit to the Sendpati,
whose claims if recognized by the R4j4 might upset
his own authority ; and he saw perhaps that alone
he could not win Gujarat from the Moghuls. The
Peshv4, too, was ready to come to terms after his
brother Réghobd’s partial
failure, so the two chiefs
made an agreement by which the whole of the
future history of Gujarat was to be influenced.
Before stating its terms, it must be explained that
though after the defeat of 1731 Pil4ji had promised
to pay half the rovenucs of his conquests to the
Raj4 through the Peshvd, neither he nor Dimdji
had ever dono so, even if perhaps, at irregular
intervals, certain sums had been paid. It should
also be noted that before coming to terms Diméji
had expended in bribes to various officials over a
l4kh of rupees. As arrears he now promised to pay
fifteen 14khs (the year after his release he did pay
7,90,000 rupees) ; he agreed to maintain 10,000 horse,

A.D. 1751-52.
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and to aid the Peshvd when called on to do so; his
yearly tribute was fixed at five ldkhs and twenty-
five thousand rupees, besides a sum for the main-
tenance of the Débhdde family, which, politically
speaking, was thrown over. Above all, he consented
to part with one-half his dominions, and to account
for all future conquests in money or in land at the
same rate. In return the Peshv4d bound himself to
assist Daméji in the captureof Ahmaddb4d, and in the
expulsion from Gujardt of the Moghul government.
In AppendixIV.alistisgiven of the territories which
fell to the Gdikv4d by this arrangement, territories
which exceeded in income the Peshvé’s half, because
the latter did not know the locality so well as the
Gaikvad did. From this date the G4ikv4d either paid
his tribute or fell into arrears, in which case a close
account was kept, though occasional remissions were
made for good causes. The subordination of the
Gdikvéd was thus strikingly asserted. But it needed
one more struggle and defeat to rivet it firmly; and
after this event, which occurred just before Ddm4ji’s
doath, the sanad for the appointment of each fresh
Géikvéd was practically granted by the Peshv4, who
enforced a varying nazaréna. (See Appendiz VI.)
Though they became subordinate and tributary,
the Gdikv4ds never heartily entered into the confe-
deracy of states of which the Poona court was the
centre, nor were they ever reconciled to the Peshvis.
Dim4ji and Fate Sing, as will be seen, sided with
Raghunéth R4v in opposing the legitimate Peshvas,
and the latter sided with the English when these
5
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entered into their course of rivalry with the Peshvé.
Govind Rév was saved by the British Government
from political annihilation, and the administration of
his successor delivered itself over to the same go-
vernment, rather than fall under the care of Sindia,
Holkar, or the Peshv4. This digression is necessary
in order that it may at once be ‘understood how
bitter the struggle was which has just been described,
and how great were its consequences.
The partition of Gujardt took place either during,
or immediately after, the
Gr:;nl::l% ';’f'?;_;?"lo;g;’_‘g t0  pelease of D4m4ji, and in
4.0, 1753 the combined Ma-
rith4 armies, led by Démd4ji, Raghunéth Rav, Hol-
kar, Jay4ji Sindia, Powér, and others, such as Vithal
Sivadev and N4rd Shankara, undertook the siege of
Ahmaddbéd. The 0ld capital of the Musalmdn kings
and Moghul viceroys was bravely defended by Jawan
Mard Khén B4bi; and Raghunéth Rdv, whose army
consisted of thirty or forty thousand horse, was
forced regularly to invest it, he on the south and
west sides, Gopdl Hari on the cast, and Ddmé4ji on
the north. In vain they endeavoured to prevent
Jawén Mard Khan, who was absent at the com-
mencement of the siege, from entering the town; in
vain to cut off his army which entered it in detach-
ments from Patan ; in vain they actually introduced
seven hundred Marith4ds within the walls, for these
were cut off ; in vain they destroyed a portion of the
fortifications by mining. But what arms could not
do, want of food and money effected ; and after a
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tedious siege of many months Jawin Magd Khén
B4bi surrendered Ahmadabdd, on condition that he
and his brothers should hold free of any tribute the
lands they then held. Mohobat Khén at that time
had Junfgad in Kathidvad, Khin Daurén Khén
Khed4, Sarddr Muhammad Khin Béldsinor, and
Jawén Mard Khén himself held in jégir the Panch
Mahdls, Patan, Visalnagar, Vadanagar, Vijépar, and
Sami Rédhanpdr, with other districts? north of Ah-
maddbdd. These all were solemnly guarantced to
the Bdbi family by the Mardthd chiefs, and on these
terms the last link between Gujardt and the Moghuls
was snapped, That portion of the country which
fell to the share of Ddméji was valued at Rs. 24,72,500
revenue, besides some lands which were assigned to
his family, worth Rs. 3,00,500, and half the tribute
arising from Kathidvad.

When the conquest of Ahmadib4d had been con-
cluded and the scttlement made, Righoba tnrned
away to a campaign in Hindustdn, leaving Ahmadd-
bad in the charge of an agent named Shripat Rév,
all but one gate, which Ddm4ji retained. The latter
soon took Kapadvanj from Sher Khdn Bibi, and was
vainly endeavouring to repress the Kolis in the
neighbourhood, when he was informed that Momin
Khan, the navéb of Cambay, had turned the Peshvd’s
agent out of Ahmaddb4d and occupied it himself. A
socond siege was found ne-
cessary, and Momin Khén’s
departure was, after all, bought rather than enforced.
It must not, however, be supposed from this inex.

A.D. 1755, or 1757,
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pected act of vigour that the Musalméns had any
longer the wish or the power to shake the Mar4th4
rule in Gujar4t.

In a.p. 1760 Dam4ji was one of the many Mar4th4d
chiefs who took part in the disastrous battle of P4ni-
pat, one of the few who returned from it uninjured
to his home. He played, notwithstanding, a credit-
able part in the final act of that bloody drama. Hedid

A.p. 1760. not leave the field till after

7th January 1761. Malhér Rév Holkar had
deserted it,and in the early part of the day his cavalry
and that of Ibrdhim Khdn had fallen on the Rohillas,
who formed theright wing of Ahmad Shéh’sarmy, and
left eight thousand of them dead on the scene of action.

Daméji returned to Gujarit as full of vigour as
ever, and for several years was engaged in ceaseless
wars, whichended in the expulsion of the Bibifamily—
who with others had risen against the Mardthds in
their time of trouble—from all their possessions ex-~
cept their ancestral property of Sami Rédhanpir,
First he aided the Peshvé’s agent in punishing Momin
Khén; next he made Visalnagar his head-quarters
and took Khed4; he then moved to Patan, out of
which he turned Jawdn Mard Khédn, and made of
this old seat of the Anshilavddé kings his
. capital, in the place of Son-

4.p. 1763, gad. In short, betweenthe
years 1768 and 1766 he dispossessed the children of
Kamél-ud-din B4bi of Patan, Visalnagar, Vadana-
gar, Kherélu, Bijapdr, and all they had. Subse-
quently, of the nine districts thus conquered there
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were granted in saranjém to the GAikvdd by the
Peshvé Khergla, Raozanpir, Bijdpir, Dhamni, and
Matjpir, he himself retaining Patan, Vadanagar, Vi~
salnagar, and Sidhpir. In this way were added to
the Gdikvdd’s territory some of the finest districts
he still possesses, but these wars do ot comprehend
all which Déméji waged. His conquests in Kéthié-
v4d will be noticed elsewhere ; his victory in 1751
over the Rhdtod Réjd of fdar, the relation of that
vile Abhi Sing who had murdered his father,
has been passed over, though it seems certain that
but for the jealousy of the Peshvd the country of
Idar might have been annexed.3

We are forced to leave these wars to consider what
Déméji did abroad between 1761 and 1768, and to
trace the growth of the alliance between Ddm4ji and
Raghundth Rdv, which had probably sprung up dur-
ing the siege of Ahmadédb4d, and which subsequently
resulted in the third great defeat inflicted by the
Peshvé on the G4ikv4d, and, worse than that, in the
friendship between the Géikv4ds and Raghundth Rév
and his son Baji R4v, which was to bear such evil
fruit for the former during many long years.

Bél4ji Peshvd, as is well known, did not long
survive the disaster at Pinipat, and was succeeded
by his son Médhav Rév, then a youth of seventeen,
but of sufficient vigour of mind to make him wish to
shake off the yoke of his uncle Raghundth Rév, the
regent. At first he was unsuccessful, but his very
failure laid the foundations of a lasting lll-wﬂl be-
tween Réghobé and his brother’s family.
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The Nizim attempted to make use of these dis-
sensions and the calamity which had overtaken the
Mardthds, but for the time the uncle and nephew
combined to oppose the invasion of the Musal-
méns.

The campaign of 1763 ended in the total defeat of
theNizdm at T4ndulz4, on the God4vari; and Dam4ji’s
horse, which had followed Raghundth Rév through
the vicissitudes of the war, and had aided in looting
the suburbs of Haidar4bdd, distinguished 1tself
greatly on this occasion, for one of the troopers killed
the Nizfm’s prime minister, Rajd Partdbvat. It was
for this service, some think, that the Rajié of
Satdrd bestowed on Dimdji the title of Sena Khiés
Khel.

When this danger was over, the gulf between the
Peshvé and his uncle grew wider than ever, as the
former insisted on himsclf conducting a great expe-
dition into the Karndtaka, and the latter was urged
to carry out all kinds of ambitious plans by the
counsels of his unscrupulous wife Anandi Bif.
Déamdji, according to his old policy, supported
Raghundth against the reigning Peshvi, and in the
battle of Ghodnadi greatly contributed to a victory
over the Peshvd’s troops, headed by Mirajkar (Pat-
vardhan) and Janoji Bhonsla. And, as time went
on, his open hostility to Midhav Rav brought on
him the heavy anger of the most able of all the
Peshvés, which was soon to result in severe punish-
ment. )

Meanwhile, on the grounds that the partition of
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Gujarft had been too favourable to the Gdikvid,
there were taken from him six mahdls (see Ap-
pendiz V.) worth two likhs and fifty-four thousand
rupees.

In 1768 Raghundth R4v, who was now at open
strife with his nephew, assembled a force of 15,000
men at Dhodap, in the Chandor range, and Déméji
sent & body of cavalry to his aid, under the com-
mand of Govind Riv, his cldest son.

The Peshvd moved his force against them, and
after driving them into the fort: of Dhodap compelled
them to surrender at discretion, and took both
Raghunith Rév and Govind Rdv prisoners to
Poona. :

This was the third and last great defeat tho
Gaikvdd suffercd at the hands of the Peshva, and
the terms exacted from him were severc. For his
rebellion he was fined 23,25,000 rupees, and his
arrears of tribute for three years preceding were
fixed at 15,75,000 rupecs. The six wmahdls lately
taken from him were restored, but for the future
this tribute was raised from 5,25,000 to 7,79,000
rupees—that is, by the rated value of the mahals,
His military service was indeed reduced to three or
four thousand cavalry, but in future it was to be
clearly understood that the service was to be a
reality, and the tribute to be regularly paid.

But a worse misfortune was now to befall the
Géikvdds, Before the a-
grecment had been finally
settled D4m4ji died in consequence, it is said, of an

A.D. 1768.



56 [oHAP. VIL

accident which happened in the course of some
chemical experiments, * and the State not only lost
an eminent, able, and ambitious ruler, but fell a
victim to all the evils of a disputed succession.

Note 1, p. 48.—Raghunéth Riév is in these pages sometimes
named Réghobs, by which term he is best known to the English
reader, and sometimes Didé Séheb,

Kote %, p. 51.—Such as Madjpur, Tharéd, Kherdlu, Tharwara.

Note 3, p. 53.— At the time of the taking of Ahmadébid, Rai Sing,
the R4j4 of idm‘, seems to have acknowledged the supremacy of
the Peshvé, and to have surrendered to Raghunfth Riv Parhantej,
Bijéptir, half of the Morfivd half of Bayer, and half of Harsol.
Previous to this, B4i Sing had combined with his old foe Jawin
Mard Khén B4bi in opposing the Marfithds, but in an advance upon
Borsad he fell inte an ambuscade and was made prisoner by Déméji.
Meanwhile his brother Aunand Sing fell fighting against the
Rehwir Réjpits of idar, and the State was reduced to a pitiable
condition, After a time R4i Sing escaped from Daméji’s keeping
and recovered idar in about .p. 1740. But after the return of
Déméji from Pénipat that chiof reduced the Rhftod princes of
Idar to the station of tributaries. A later partial conquest of the
State in A.D, 1788.9 is described in Ferbes’s Reds Mdld.

Note ¢, p. 56.—The popular and dramatic story is that Déméji
fell a viotim to the plotsof his enemies. These sent to him an
old man of reverend aspeet who promised to show him a way of
making gold. He then apparently induced the chief to shut
himself up ina room where a charcosl fire was burning, the
result being that he was asphyxiated.
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CHAPTER VIIL

GOVIND RAV AND FATE SING STRUGGLE FOR THE ‘GADI’
~—THE LATTER WINS, AND BECOMES THE ALLY OF THE
BRITISH AGAINST THE PESHVA.

With the death of Ddmé4ji ended for a period the
growth of the GAdikvAd’s power; no new provinces
were added to his territory; the Peshvds, though
themselves smitten by the internal disease which
almost extinguished the Baroda State, were able by
degrees to thrust it into an abjectly subordinate
position ; and though Fate Sing was a shifty, pru-
dent pringe, the opposition which he met neutralized
his powers to a very great extent, while the other
ruling Gdikvéds fell far short of the founders of the
family in resolution and mental abilities. The source
of the decline we have to trace was undoubtedly this,
that the G4ikvdd’s house was for the future to be
divided against itself, and its history to be a record
of family quarrels. But another evil must he taken
into consideration, the conquest of Gujardt was purely
the vesult of those military qualities in which the
Margdthés excelled, but those qualities were not sup-
plemented by others which might have led to the pros-
perous retention of the acquired territories. When
the stream of military adventurers from the Dakhan
dried up, the Mardth4 soldier was replaced by mer-
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cenarios of the worst possible type. The revenue
of the State were for the most part devoted to the
maintenance of the military class, but when that class
became effete the revenues were no longer applied to
the sole and not very exalted object the Marathés
had first in view. It is true that this led to the
increase of the hoad of the State, forinstead of being
a commanding officer the Gdikvad became a R4j4
with sovercign powers, but he was no longer sup-
ported by Mardthd warriors with the will and power
to widen boundaries and increase tributes. It is
also true that with Govind Rév Gdikv4d there proba-
bly came in an influx of Brdhman skill, but it is
questionable if even then there was made an approach
toa moderately good government, such as might foster
the well-being of tho masses. The collection of the
taxes within the boundarics of the State, and of the
tribute from the petty chiefs beyond, the expenditure
of the money so collected, the administration of civil»
and criminal justice, the furtherance of public works
of general utility—did the Gdikvdd government so
deal with these and cognate matters as to strengthen
theirr ule? This is what we must consider when
we pass on to the time when the English power
supplanted that of the Peshvd in Gujarit and
elsewhere.

Dém4ji’s eldest son, Say4ji, was born to him by his
second wife, Kdsi B, while Govind Rav was his off.
spring by his first wife, Man( R4{, so that both had
pretensions to the gadi, which might be recognized
at Poona, and M4dhay R4v Peshvé was quite capable
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of taking advauntage of this circumstance to make
his own terms for the nomination. Say4ji is repre-
sented to have been almost an imbecile ; and he was
therefore no match for Govind Rdv, though the
latter had a weak, vacillating miud. But his claims
weresupported, from interested motives, by ayounger
brother, named Fate Sing, a porson of a remarkably
ambitious turn of mind, a quick, crafty, decided
prince, who could carry out a campaign with as
much ability as he could hold his own in a political

" contest.!

At the moment of Dimiji’s death Fate Sing,
who was in Gujardt, hastened to secure Baroda, and
he never loosed his hold of this town, which, by
reason of the events soon to occur, became the centre
of interest to the two contending parties, and then—
perhaps  therefore—cventually the capital of the
State. Govind Rdv was still a prisoner at large in
Pooun, whither he had been taken after the defeat at
Dhodap, and owing to his timely presence he
obtained from the Peshvd his recognition to the
succession after promising to pay fifty and a half
ldkhs of money—that is, the fine for the rebellion,
the last year's tribute, twenty likhs as nazardng,
one lakh for the Bdbi maldls, and fifty thousand
rupees to be distributed among the officials.

But in 1771 Fate Sing, who had strengthened
himself at home, came to Poona and obtained a re-
versal of this decision. Say4ji Rév was named Sené
Khds Khel, and he himself Mutélik, on about the
same terms granted to Govind Rév. * ’
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The brothers thus became bitter enemies, and, to
add to the discord, another member of the family
became a partizan. Pilaji Géikvéd, as may be re-
membered, had a son called Khande Rév, who on
more than one occasion bad given Daméji trouble.
This person had been made jégfrdér of the dis-
trict of Kadi by his father, and from the Peshvé he
had received the title of Himmat Bahddur. By his
intrigues he had wrested from Ddm4ji the districts
of Nadi4d and Borsad, and now he resolved to side
with either of the two brothers as might best suit
his interests.

In 1772 Fate Sing returned from Poona to Gujarit,
but before doing so he made an agreement with the
Peshvd which absolved him from the necessity of
sending a contingent every year to Poona. Whenever
his troops were not called out for foreign service he
agreed to pay the Peshv4 six 14khs and three-quarters,
and after a time it became the custom of the Gdikvéd
not to furnish the Peshv4 with any troops, but to
pay (or owe) him a round sum of 14,54,000 rupees
for tribute and remission of service.

Though Fate Sing pretended to be pleased with
the terms allowed him by the Poona darbdr, in re-
ality he distrusted the Brahman party, as he called it,
and, foreseeing that some day the favour extended to
him might be transferred to his brother, he sought the
assistance of the English. His agent, B4pdji, ineffec-
tually for the present, endeavoured to persuade Mr.
Price, the chief of Surat, to get the Bombay
Goverament to farnish him with a small army, in
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Ireturn for which he promised to giveup the Bréhmans’
share of the Surat pargané. Though unsuccessful in
this matter, we find that soon after he made a treaty,
notable as the first between a G4ikv4d and the British.
On the 18th November 1772 the British took by
assaultthe fort of Broach, and disposgessed the navéb
of his city. Now Fate Sing was very anxious to get
Broach that he might use it as his head-quarters in
his contest with his brother, and its capture had
long becu the ambition of the Géikvdds. Pil4ji had
resigned some of the districts he had conquered to
get two-fifths of the Broach customs.? DAm4ji had
made a bold attempt to take it from the Nizdm, but
had been prevented from doing so by the resolute
defence of Nek Alam Khén, and by a rise of the
Narmad4 river, which put an end to the siege. He
would, however, have renewcd the attempt, if he
had not been bought off by a grant, (never paid for
more than a year ortwo,) of three-fifths of the customs
and revenues of Broaclh, and one-half those of
Jambusar and Ahmod. And finally, in the partition
of Gujardt, Broach and Koral had fallen to the
G4ikvdd’s share. Kor these reasons Fate Sing
offered the British six 14khs a year for Broach, and
revenues worth 60,000 rupees per annum out of his
share in Surat, but the British refused these terms,
and made the treaty above referred to, (12th January
1778,) according to which the G4ikv4d retained his
three-fifths share, which was estimated at between
six 14khs, (Mr. Elphinstone’s opinion,) and nine lékhs

(Captain Carnac’s).
A
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Meanwhile, during the years 1772 and 1778,
the brothers Géikviad fought for the gadi, both
unaided by the great powers who were goon to take
an active and disastrous interest in their affairs, and
Fate Sing was reduced to great straits, as his uncle
Khande Rév Géikvéd, the jagirddr of Kadi, who had
at first espoused his cause, deserted him to support
Govind Rév.

But great events were happening in the Dakhan.
In November 1772 the wise Peshvd Médhav Rdv
died, and very shortly after, his younger brother
Niérdyan Rév, who had succeeded him, was murdered,
at the instigation, or with the connivance, of his uncle
Raghundth Rav. If the latter hoped to win undis-
turbed possession of the post of Peshv4 he was doomed
to be disappointed, forin April 1774 the younger
Midhav Rév was born, and a strong coalition of
ministers supported the claims of the posthumous
child of the late Ndrdyan Rdv. At Poona, too, civil
war broke out, and, like the Gikv4ds, Peshv4 fought
against Peshvd. Raghundth Rév fled before the
coalition formed by the regent Gangd Baf, and
headed by the two ministers Sakhérdm Bépd and
Nénd Phadnévis; and on the 3rd January 1775 he
reached Baroda with a small army,—for he had been
deserted by the two great chiefs Sindia and Holkar,—
and there he joined Govind Rév, who, with the
Jigirddr, was occupied in besieging his brother.
Govind Rév bhad not only been his ally at the battle
of Dhodap, but had been recognized by him as Sen4
Khés Khel towards the end of 1773, while, still
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undisputed Peshvé, he was at Kulbarg4, planning
his foolish campaign into the Karndtaka.

When Govind Rév sided with the D4d4 Stheb, his
brother of course sought the aid of the ministers,
who were now sending some cavalry to his assistance ;
and Daulat Rév Sindia, who had at first promised
to aid Govind Rév, now abandoned his cause. It
was most important, therefore, that he should get
possession of Baroda before a general war began,
and to accomplish this purpose he had applied to the
English for support. Raghunéth Rév, too, willingly
turned to the same quarter for help, as he was now
a mere fugitive with a paltry army for him, and had all
the great Mardthd lords banded against him., It
was not, however, till the 6th of March 1775 that the
Bombay Government, who wished to make the terms
of the agreement quite clear, concluded the ¢reaty of
Surat, whereby they agreed to assist Raghundth Rév
on condition of acquiring Bassein, Salsette, and the
districts round Surat, and of obtaining, through
Raghunéth Rév’s persuasion, the Gdikv4d’s share of
Broach from Govind Rév.

It has already been noticed that both Peshvd and
Géikvdd attached great importance to the seaport
towns of Surat, Broach, and Cambay, and made large
sacrifices and efforts to get a share of their revenues,
This they did because these revenues were large,
and the towns imposing ; but it is not to be supposed
that their policy was dictated by a knowledge of
commerce, its value, or the means to foster angd in-
crease it. Europeans, on the other hand, had a very
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clear idea of the value of seaports, and the whole
history of the growth of their power in India had been
based on the acquisition of suitable ports on the
coast. The prize dandled before the eyes of the
Bombay Government by Righobd was a real one ; but
they did not sufficiently consider that this person
had not perhaps the nght or the power to grant it
them, that they were going to take part in a civil
war with which they had no concern, and that their
policy was as rash as it was immoral, and as foolish
as it was unjust. In no long time the step they
thus took placed the Bombay Government on bad
terms with Warren Hastings and the Council at
Calcutta, so that the British, the Peshv4s, and the
Gdikvdds were soon fighting and tearing each other
without any clearidea of the ends they had in view.
Such a war could not be other than one of the most
.foolish and most barren that had ever been waged.
Luckily it will not be necessary for us to study
any portion of this campaign except that in which
the brothers Gaikv4dd took an active share. The
Poona army under Haripant Phadke, joined by a
body of troops belonging to Sindia and Holkar,
forced Raghundth R4v and Govind R4v to raise the
siege of Baroda. He and Fate Sing then followed
the retreating army; and
one day when Righob4d was
encamped at Vasad, on the plains of Ards, at a little
distance from the M4hi, they crossed that river si-
multaneously at three several points, fell suddenly on
the flank and front of Raghundth Rév’s camp, and

17th February 1775.
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routed his army with loss. This victory was mainly
owing to the good generalship and local knowledge
of Fate Sing, whose prospects and reputation rose
immediately. Raghunith R4v’s army never re-
covered the panic of this defeat during the whole
campaign ; the leader himself fled to Cambay, and
thence joined the English at Surat, while Govind
R4v and Khapde Rév retreated in haste to the
latter’s stronghold at Kapadvanj, whence at last they
were able to ward off the quick-following blows Fate
Sing inflicted on them. So this astute chief con-
tented himself with thoroughly reducing his uncle’s
districts round Nadi4d, the possession of which was
of real importance to him, while towards the English
he behaved himself in a judiciously friendly way, as
though some day he might be on their side.

Colonel Keating with a small army joined Ré-
ghobd’s still large but disorderly, unpaid, and ill-
disciplined force near Cambay on the 19th April
1775, and Govind R4v also repaired to that place
with some eight hundred foot and a few horse. But
Fate Sing had forced the jigirdar of Kadi to side
with him, and the two joined Haripant Phadke’s
ministerial army, which was mainly composed of
cavalry, .

So late as the 8rd of May Colonel Keating was not
more than thirty miles distant from Cambay, when
the hostile armies met. There were several engage-
ments on the Sgbarmati, one on the Vitrak river,
and again another before the allies, as Raghupéth
Révand the English may be termed, entered Khed4,
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There followed a battle at Haidarfb4d. But the
nature of the campaign was now evident ; the British
infantry always behaved steadily and well, their
artillery was superior to that of their opponents, and
a sort of victory was generally obtained, but no re-
sults followed. The cavalry of the ministerial army
when driven off retreated with great rapidity, and
then kept hanging about in the neighbourhood, with
a view to devastate the country and cut off the sup-
plies of Raghunéth’s huge host ; and, however com-
pletely they might be thrown into disorder after a
resolute charge, Raghundth R4v’s horse never dared
to pursue them, or to act independently of the Bri-
tish guns.

On the 8th of May the allies entered Nadi4d, and
the Jagirdar’s capital was mulcted of 40,000 rupees,
so that Khande R4v met with the fate all turncoats
deserve. On the other hand, not only did Raghu-
ndth R4v commit the most awful cruelties to obtain
the money he wanted, but he lost a week in
collecting it.* As he had by this time abandoned his
pet scheme of capturing Ahmad4b4d, andhad given in
to Colonel Keating’s wish to march on Poona, of all
places in the world, with a force which could not cope
with a few horse in Gujardt, this delay was fatal.
March they did, however, to the M4hi, on whose
banks in the plains of Ards, on the 18th May, the
British troops, surprised among the close fields and
narrow hedge-bound roads common to Gujarét,
almost suffered a defeat with the loss of two guns.
Extricating himself from this difficulty, Colonel Kea-
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ting accompanied Raghungth Rév to Broach, whick
was reached on the 25th of May. Here the
Dé4dé Séheb’s troops mutinied for arrears of pay,
Govind Rév refused to leave Gujarét till Baroda had
been placed in his hands, and Colonel Keating
found it neeessary to give up his plan of a march on
Poona. With the little energy he had left, he at-
tempted on the 8th June to surprise the ministerial
army by crossing the Narmad4 at the Bavapierah
Pass, in the neighbourhood of which the enemy was
encamped. But Raghunath Rév’s troops so impeded
his movements that the surprise did not take place,
though Haripant was foreed to move off and leave
Gujarét for good and all. Then the half-drowned
British troops, amidst the torrents of an early mon-
soon, just managed to win their way to Dabhai, while
their Mardth4 allies settled down at Bil4pir, half-
way between that town and Baroda.

The ministerial army was nowhere ; the allies were
in the neighbourhood of the capital. Govind Rév
urged them to seize it after the first break in the
rains ; but Fate Sing, who was perfectly aware of the
danger of his position, now resolved to change sides,
and in policy as in war he was more than a match
for his feeble elder brother. He persuaded Colonel
Keating and Raghunéth R4v to throw over Govind
Rév’s interests in the most barefaced manner ; and
on the 8th of July he concluded a treaty with the
English officer, who fancied he had great diplomatic
abilities, promising to uphold Raghunith Rév’s
cause with 3,000 horse, to pay him a tribute of dight
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l4khs, and to cede to the English the parganés of
Broach, Chikli, Variav, and Koral, provided Govind
Rév had no claims on him. To this rejected friend
Réghobd promised a jigir of ten ldkhs in the
Dakhan—when he could grant it him. In addition
to other promises, Fate Sing pledged himself to pay
Réghobé twenty-six ldkhs in sixty- days, a sum he
very likely did not possess. Unfortunately, during
the war he had played an Fnglish officer a mischie-
vous trick,—he had induced him, under a false pre-
tence of the danger of its falling into his (Fate Sing’s)
ally’s hands, to tear up an engagement he himself had
privately signed, and had then laughed at a proposal
to sign a fresh one.> Now he must have repented of
his fault, for Colonel Keating, who wanted a portion
of the money due to him by Réghob4 for the pay of
hisown troops, disbelieved all his protests, and bullied
him from the Mustd Bégh with threats of bombard-
ing the town, till by the 80th of August ten 14khs
had been actually extorted, though even that fraction
of the promised payment was cked out by equivalents,
such as jewels, elephants, and piece-goods.

Note 1, p. 59.—Wallace says that Ki~f Bai was the mother of
Bayfji Rév and Fate Sing, and that a third wife Gangé B&{ bore
to Dim4ji three sons—Piliji Rfv, Méndji Rav, and Morr Rév.
Fotbes makes out that Fate Sing was full brother to Manéji.

Note 3, p. 59.—1It is sad to observe in these and subsequent trea-
ties made by the Gaikvid, who had succeeded in purchasing the
support of the Poona Qourt, that the Peshvii’s assistance is claimed
against persons who should have been friends, not enemies,—
that is, rivals of the Géikvid house, the jigirdér of Kadi, and
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State creditors,~—sure signs these that the weakness of the
Géikvad State sprang from internal disorders,

Note 3, p. 61.—The G4ikvad’s acquisition of a share in the
Broach revenues has been variously dated 1744, after the battle of
Ankleévara, and 1753. It may here be briefly noted that the
British had many years previous to this established factories at
Surat, Broach, and Cambay. A firman granting them privileges
at Surat was dated the 25th June 1667, and the infringement of
the rights granted by this firman led to quarrels with several
rulers, and espeoially the Sidis of Jinjira. The latter were entrust-
ed by the emperor with the protection of the sea trade, but in
reality were pirates. Mr. Bourchier, who became Governor of
Bombay in 1750, tried to gain the alliance of the Peshvé ina
war on the coast pirates. Except in the expedition against
Angria, however, no combination was effected, and on the 4th
March 1759 the British took for themselves the castle of Surat.

Note #, p. 66.—A lively account of this campaign is given of it
by a spectator, Mr. Forbes, in his Oriental Memodrs. The de-
seription of the steel-clad cavalry, of the wholesale self-immola-
tion (trdgd) of the Bhéts at Nadidd, and of many curious in-
cidents and personages, is well worth reading.

Note ®, p. 68.—The Lovibond incident is given at length in
Grant Duff’s History of the Mahrattas.
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CHAPTER IX

HOW THE GAIKVAD FARED DURING THE STRUGGLE
BETWEEN THE BRITISH AND THE MARATHAS—FATE
SING—MANAJI—GOVIND RAv.

It is sad to relate that while Colonel Keating was
thus holding Fate Sing by the throat and getting
ten more l4khs out of him, besides a bond for the
remaining portion of the promised sum as the price
of his alliance with Raghundth Rév, he was well
aware that orders had been issued by his Government
to break offall connection with the latter. But o it
was ; Warren Hastings had peremptorily bidden the
Bombay Government to bring to an immediate end
an “impolitic, dangerous, unauthorized, and unjust”
war, and to surrender all the territory that had been
acquired during its progress. His orders were re-
Iuctantly obeyed for the time being, and with respect
to the first portion of the instructions only. But
when the ball had once been set rolling, it was hard to
know when or where it would stop. The struggle be-
tween the Mardthds and the English was not ended,
but only deferred; and though for the present the
two brothers Gdikv4d were left to fight it out with
their small exhausted armies and empty treasunes,
both ‘“Marithés and English felt that in the coming
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contest the Gaikvdd would be a valuable ally.
Fate Sing, too, knew this, and made good use of his
' position.

Before Raghundth Rév and Colonel Keating left
Gujarét they tried to bring Govind Rév to terms, but
foolish advice led him to insist on receiving Ahmadé4-
b4d. He held six pargands, and refused to sur-
render them for one-third of the Baroda State and the
promise of a jigir in the Dakhan worth five l4khs.
In October he refused still better terms made him
by Fate Sing, and a desultory war was kept up in
the neighbourhood of the capital, which the allies
had now left. In 1776 we hear of Govind R4v’s
endeavours to annoy his brother from Ahmaddib4d ;
but in February 1778 his case must have indeed been
a bad one, for in that year the Poona court recog-
nized Fate Sing as Send Khés Khel.! In fact every
inducement was now held out to the latter to side
with the Peshv4, or more accurately Nan4 Phadnévis,
against the Bombay Government, and he willingly
accepted the favourable terms made him. His nazar
for the title conferred on him was far the smallest on
record, and did not exceed five 1dkhs. True, he paid
up ten and a half 14khs as arrears of tribute, and
spent one l§kh in distributing douceurs among the
Poona officials ; but it was agreed that he should not

pay indemnity for service,
SAgreementsbetwepn Fate and only four 18khs of tri-
1;%’&::;}?75;?““’ 778 bute as long as the British
were in Gujarét; and ‘this
was equivalent toan annual remission of ten likhs, The
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anfortunate Govind Rév by the year 1782 had gone
to Poona, where perhaps he did receive a jégir,
and, less probably, the two lfkhs promised to him
by Fate Sing in 1778. The Jfgirdir meanwhile
managed to evade paying his nephew anything.

But one loss Fate Sing could not recover. and that
was his share in the revenues of Broach ; for by the
treaty of Pdrandhar (1st March 1776), which ratified
the cessation of hostilities, the Honourable the East
India Company obtained the whole of the Marfth4
share in the city and pargané of Broach, and three
14khs’ worth of territory in its neighbourhood, while,
as pledges of the surrender, it retained till 1778 the
pargans of Chikli and Koral and the town of Variav.
It was certainly added that if the Gfikvdd could
prove that he had had no power to alienate any of
his territory without the Peshvd’s permission, the
country ceded by Say4ji or Fate Sing would be re-
stored. Fate Sing, however, was far too cunning to
make this plea, of which the Peshvé might subse-
quently make dangerous use; so he simply argued
that he had ceded Broach for aid from Réghob4,
which had not been given him, and on the same
ground he demanded the portion of the twenty-six
lkhs which had been extorted by Colonel Keating.
Naturally, he never was able to get one or the
other, though he got back Sévali, and was at one
time promised Pélanpidr, Tunmori, Bflasinor, and
Virpér. But the Peshvd never fulfilled this promise,
and neither Fate Sing, nor Mén4ji, nor Govind Rév
ceaséd claiming restitution, so that the discussion
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continued till the Peshvé’s fall, nearly forty years
later. _

On the 80th March 1779, after war had broken
out again between the Peshv4 and the Honourable
Company, and the Bombay Government had suffered
both defeat and disgrace, Governor Hornby pro-
posed to make use of Gujardt in the campaign, be-
cause it was accessible from the sea for British vessels,
and not divided from the Dakhan by precipitous
ghats. Unlike the other great Mardthd chiefs, the
Géikvdd would be a safe ally, because he was cubt off
from tho rest; and if the Peslkvd was boaten there
might be a partition of the country, the Peshv4’s
districts north of the Mahf going to an independent
G4ikv{d, those south of the Taptiriver to the English.
So early was forcshadowed in the minds of the two
allies, (for the original purpose had been Fate Sing’s,
in 1772,) what was eventnally to take place.  Warren
Hastings approved of the plan, and in the middle of
December Colonel Goddard, a very different person
from Colonel Keating, crossed the Tapti and took
Dabhai from the Peshva at the opening of 1780. Fate

; Sing was urged by Nuné

o Jenuary 180 Phaduivis to bold firm to

tho Peshvéd’s side ; but, what-

ever his secret wishes might have been, he was con~

strained by tho proximity of the English army to

sign a treaty at Kandila (Dabhai) on the 26th Jan-

uary 1780, which was both offensive and defensive.

He was to be independent of the Peshvi, to aid the

British with three thousand cavalry, and to divide
7



74 [cmaP. 1X,

Gujarst with the Honourable Company. He was
also to cede Sinnor and some territory m the Surat
aththdvisi on the day of the capture of Ahmadabad
from the Peshv4.?

No sooner were these terms agreed upon than God-
dard marched on Ahmaddb4d and took it by assault
(15th February 1780), whereupon it was handed
over to Fate Sing, who gave in exchange certain por-
tions of the Surat aflthdvisi, excepting Songad.
Goddard then turned to meet Sindia’s and Holkar’s
troops, which had crossed the Narmada towards the
end of February, ineffectually threatening Dabhai,
There followed some feints and manceuvres between
Sindia and Goddard in the immediate neighbourhood
of Baroda, and on the 2nd and the 19th April God-
dard made attempts, which were only partly suc-
cessful, to surprise Sindia by night attacks, while
the latter was encamped in the ncighbourhood of
Pévégad, tho hill-fort that from a distance of twenty
miles overlooks the plain in which Baroda is
situated.  Little elso of consequenco happened
before the rains of this year, if wo except the
taking of Parner4 and two other hill-forts near
Damén. When hostilities were renewed at their
close, Fate Sing proved himself an efficient and will-
ing ally in the defence of Gujardt ; for to the end of
the campaign he placed at the disposal of the British
a foree of five thousand cavalry, commanded by his
brother Mandji Gdikv4d.’

The year 1781 was marked by more than one
serious disaster to the British arms in the Konkana,
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and, though before the previous year had ended Bas-
sein had been captured, a great danger threatened
the Honourable Company. Haidar A’li, who had
lately gained a victory over a British detachment,
the Nizém and all the Mar&th4 chiefs were scheming
to effect & combination against the power of the
English. The latter consequently felt it imperative
on them to detach, if possible, the Marithds from
this confederacy, that they might meet the enemy
they most dreaded on more equal terms.

For some time they hoped to make a favourable
agreement with Nénd Phadndvis through the nego-
tiations of General Goddard, whose position in Guja-
rft, strengthened as it was by Fate Sing and Régho-
b4, was certainly a powerful one. But a siroke of for-
tune—the utter rout of Sindia’s army—afforded them
a still more eligible means of bringing their difficult
task to an end. Mahdddji Sindia after his defeat
made separate terms for himself with the British
Government, and then volunteered to mediate
between his late foes and tho Poona court, for he
saw the importance of acquiring, by the line he thus
took up, a position cqual or superior to that of the
central authority of the Marithds. The result was
the treaty of S4lbéf, concluded on the 17th May 1782,
though not ratified by both parties till some time
after, a treaty which brought no advantage to Fate
Bing. In justice it should be allowed that if one thing
more than another hindered the British from making
this to them most advantageous treaty, it was the ne-
cessity of cancelling their agreement with the Ga#kv4d
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by the surrender to the Peshv4 of the city of Ah-
maddbdd. The upshot of the whole, however, was
this, that after a five years’ war Fate Sing was to be
left in full possession of all the territory he pos-
sessed at its commencement, and of the territories
ceded by tho treaty of Purandhar, while the Peshvé
was not to claim from him any arrears of tribute
which had fallen due during the continuance of the
war, though for the future ho had a right to expect the
usual service. DBroach the Gdikv4d did nob recover,
for it was made over to Sindia by his new frierds, and
was placed under the management of Bhiskar Rév.

For the next few years Fate Sing was left in undis-
turbed cnjoyment of his territories; and during this
interval, though there is nothing special to note, we
may imagine him as conducting his affairs with his
usual cloverness and prudence. His administration
was marked by an almost sordid parsimony. But one
branch of expenditure must be noticed with regret—
tho establishment of a body of foreign mercenaries,
Arabs and others, who were shortly to bring on the
State disaster and ruin. There were perhaps dark
traits of jealousy and cruelty in his character which
have not been given in this history ; but in the main
he was one of the rulers to whom the Gdikv4d House
owes its continued life and prosperity, for he deftly
steered the bark of the State through a time of
great danger, and extricated it from its difficulties
with trifling loss.

Fate Sing died on the 21st December 1789, from
an accidental fall from the upper story of his palace,
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and it might be supposed that he would certainly be
succeeded by his brother Govind Rdv. Bui, in
spite of the loud remonstrances of this luckless and
rather foolish person, and of the support he for some
time received from Sindia, with whom he had long
had connection, the Poona darb4r favoured the
claims of Mdén4dji Géikv4d, who was accordingly
installed as regent for Say4ji. He did not, of course,
get the post without making certain promises—the
payment of a nazar of 33,13,000 rupecs and of Fate
Sing’s arrears, amounting to thirty-six ldkhs;—or,
according to some Mar4th4d manuscripts, the payment
of a sum of sixty ldkhs in four ycars, in instalments
of fifteen 14khs.

Though Sindia after a time abandoned Govind
Rév’s cause, tho latter kept on claiming his rights
txll on the Ist August 1793, Mdngji died. Even
then Govind Rav did not get to the gadi unopposed,
for the Poona people detained him till he had
agreed to the following monstrous terms:—Méndji
still owed twenty ldkhs, and ho was to take
up the debt ; his nazar was to be the largest om
record,—as Fate Sing’s had been the smallest,—thut
is, 56,38,000 rupees; during the past three years
neither tribute nor remission of service had been paid,
and the two, ashas been stated, amounted to14,54,000
rupees a year, so that 43,62,000 rupees were owing
on this score. He was therefore ordered to surren-
der all the jewels, money, and clothes he could find
in the Baroda palace; to restore S4vali, which had
been given to Fate Sing ; to give the Peshvé three
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elephants, fivehorses, and jewels worthone l8kh; and
—Ilet this be carefully noted—to part with all the
Gdikvad's territories south of the Tapti river, and
with Lis shore of the customs of the city of Surat.

In short, Ndnd Phadndvis had resolved to ruin
the Géikvdd family by tho dismemberment of the
Baroda State, and he would certainly have carried
out his purpose if the British had not interfered to
savo their old ally. They peremptorily informed
the Poona darbdr that, according to the terms of
the Sdlbd{ treaty, the possessions of the Géikvad
were to be left intact, and that all thoughts of an-
nexing any portion of his territory must be aban-
doned. The Peshvd never again found an opportu-
nity for doing his hereditary foe an injury, and the
British have rendered many a fresh service to the
Baroda State, thongh none perhaps has equalled the
one just described, for which no adequate retufn
ever has been or could be made.

Note t, p. 71.—Sayaji Riv was still alive at this time.

Note 9, p. 74.—No final exchange of this treaty was made
betwoen the Suprcme Government and Fate Sing, thongh it was
ratified by the former. It was cancelled by the treaty of SAlb4i.

Note 8, p.74.—Captain Earle was al this time appointed the first
Resident Agent at the Baroda Court. He was however recalled
after the treaty of Balbai was signed, and his brief term of office
was not distinguished by any particular merit.
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CHAPTER X.

GOVIND RAV’S REIGN.

Perhaps the strong and parsimonious rule of Fate
Sing might, if it had been prolonged, have preserved
the State from some of the terrible evils which it
was now to encounter; but his successors Govind
Rév, Anand Rév, and the youthful Fate Sing were
weak men, in whose times all real power passed into
the hands of ministers. The rivalvies and ambitions
of theso men were far more injurious to tho Stato
than even the narrow sclfishness of a determined ruler
like Say4ji Rdv, who succecded the three above-
mentioned princes. But the counsels of interested
advisers wrought less harin than the low and cruel
plots of the members of the Gaikvad family itself,
who gave too willing an ear to their suggestions.
D4am4ji and his brother did cach other injury, and, as
wo have seen, for years Fate Sing, Govind Rdy, and
Mingji by their internecine strifo played into the
hands of their enemy the Peshvd; but the evil was
intensified after their time—son strove against
father, brother against brother, cousin against
cousin, while wives and mothers pushed the interests
of their husbands and sons with an entire disregard
of justice or the common good of the family. The
story which has now to be told is therefore a
gloomy one. *
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Before passing on to some of the chief incidents of
Govind Rév’s reign, it must be clearly understood that
the change his succession brought with it amounted
almost to a revolution. Govind Rav and his brothers
had been fighting against each other for many years,
and when the deaths of Fate Sing and Mdndji de-
stroyed the hopes of their party the latter could
expect no mercy at the hands of the new ruler.
Govind Rév aceordingly not only turned out the old
ministers, but, as he was at first the humble servant
of the Poona court, he brought with him from the
Dakhan, where he had long resided, new servants, the
ancestors of several of the present Sarddrs, and among
others the Mozumdér and the Phadnévis. He also
opencd the way to greatness to a Parbhu family, of
whom the first and most conspicuous members were
Révji Appdji, the Divdn, and his brother Bibgji,
who in time becamo tho commander of the State
army. The Baroda State also became more ame-
nable to the dictates of the Peshv4 than it had ever
been, and this tendency towards passive obedience
would probably bave become still more marked, if in
the struggle between the British and the Peshv4 the
G4ikv4d had not been forced by circumstances to
side with the former, to his lasting gain. The State’s
continually increasing pecuniary embarrassments
during Govind Rév’s reign probably forced it into
this abject position, and these embarrassments were
mainly the result of the huge debt due to the Peshv4.
Forinstance, by an agreement made in 1797, we find
that ‘Govind Rév had paid the Peshv4 Rs. 78,38,212,

Iz
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that he had been excused from paying sixty 14khs,
and that he still owed Rs. 39,82,789.

For want of space no allusion can be made in this
history to the great wars which were being waged
in India during the latter portion of the 18th century.
Yet every event that took place influenced the fortunes
of the Gdikv4d; during the fit of non-interference
in British policy the influence of the Poona court
weighed heavily on him, and the thorough success
of British arms in Mysore alone enabled the Govern-
ment to fight the Peshvé4 with success, and to take
his place in Gujarft. In Mahdrdshtra itself much
depended on theresult of therivalry between Mahdd4ji
Sindia and N4ng Phadndvis, for the former aimed at
self-aggrandizement even at the cost of the disruption
of the Mardthd confederacy, while the latter was
exerting himself to keep up the central authority of
the Brdhman party in Poona. Mahdd4ji died in
1794, and N4n4 Phadnédvis was left to weaveo his
policy till the young Mddhava’s untimely death left
the throne vacant for his cousin B4ji Rdv, whose
hatred of the ministers and his party led, as we shall
see, to the lease of a large territory to the Géikvéad.
But of far greater interest to this history is the conflict
for sovereignty in Gujarit, and for suzerainty over
the Gdikvdd, which sprang up between the British
and the young Peshvi.

Govind Rév was at length invested with the title
of Send Khds Khel on the 19th December 1793, but
he did not enter his capital even then without op-
position. His own illegitimate son by a Réjpitri
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princess of Dharampir, named Kénoji, obtained some
troops from his mother and from Sindia’s agent in
Broach, and with two thousand Arabs and some six
hundred Path4n horse threw himself into Baroda.
There is a strange consistency in the selfish treachery
of these mercenary troops, and in this the first instance
of their interference in State quarrels they gave up
their leader to Govind Rdv. Kénoji was placed in
confinement, but managed to escape to the hills in
the disguise of a woman. Here he was joined by
the Bhfls, and with their assistance ravaged Sén-
kheda and Bhddarpir. He was subsequently joined
by Malhdr Rav, the son of the late Khande Ré4v
Gdikvdd, Jigirdar of Kadi—an ominous alliance,
destined for many years to work tho Baroda State
much injury and vexation.

Khande Rdv had died in 1785, and Malhdr Réiv’s
inheritance comprised Kadi, worth 3} ldkhs, and
Kapudvanj and Dehgdn, worth 14 14khs ; for Nadidd,
as has been stated, had beon annexed by Fate Sing.
By an arrangement with the latter rdj4, instead of
furnishing Baroda with 400 horse the Jigirdar was
to pay a yearly peshkash of one likh and twenty
thousand rupees. But because Khande R4v had sup-
ported Govind Rav against hisbrother, his son thought
that he was entitled to the remission of this sum.
His manner of asking for this favour was however so
displeasing to Govind Rdv that it was not granted,
and as a consequence of his disappointment the
Jégirddr joined Kinoji. A campaign ensued in
the deighbourhood of Kadi, and Govind R4v’s forces
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wero three times driven back, partly by the fiery
prowess of Kénoji, whose success rapidly made
him lose favour with his relation and ally. Govind
Rév cleverly turned this rivalry into an open
rupture by contriving to drop in the Jégirdér’s
way a forged letter which purported to be from
Kénoji and gave him cause to believe that the latter
meditated treachery, Once again the unfortunate
Kiénoji had to flee to the Sitpdrd hills, whence
he was decoyed by his father’s false promises,
and subscquently again placed in confinement. In
1794 the Jdgirddr purchased pcace by the pay-
ment of 5} 14khs of rupecs, when the peshkash was
fixed at 1,15,000 rupees. The terms of this agree-
ment were for a time faithfully preserved, for
we find that Malhdr Rdv took an active part in
the campaign against Ab4 Shelikar, of which,
with its momentous consequences, we shall now read
the account. There is little else of great interest in
this reign, if we except the facts that in 1794
Govind Rdv was ncar scizing Cambay, and was
only dissuaded from doing so by the remonstrances
of the British Government, and that the Géikvéd’s
force took part in the great victory of the Mardthés
over the Nizdm at Kurdld, whom SirJohn Shore, too
anxious to keep the peacc, had abandoned to their
common enemy.

When N4n4 Phadnivis was arrested in Sindia’s
camp, his partizan Ab4 Sheldkar, who was then
acting for Chimn4ji Pant, (Appa Séheb,) the nominee
of B4ji Rév, as subha of the Peshvé’s possessidns in
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Abmadéb4d, shared his fate. Govind Rév was
directed to farm the district, and Petldd was
actually occupied. But he and his servants Révji
Appbji and B4b4ji were at that time fairly well
disposed towards Ab& Shelikar. They interceded
for him, and he was permitted to return to Ahma-
déb4d on payment of ten ldkhs of rupees, a sum
which was raised by the Parbhu minister on condi-
tion that Petldd should be made over to his brother
Bébdji as security for the repayment of the money.
The transaction, however, early led to disputes, which
began indeed at Baroda, while Abé was on his way to
his province and was still the guest of the minister.
He also contrived to embitter the quarrel by making
an appeal to tho Mahdriji, so that it was not
long before the hidden anger of the two burst into
flame. It is difficult now to tell how the war com=
menced, but Ab4 was a erudl, unscrupulous man, and
one who was nover slow to give cause foranger, On
one occasion ho plundered a body of gosains travel-
ling through tho Baroda State, and refused to sur-
render his prize to the Mahdrdjd ; and whilo the latter
was preparing to avenge the insult, Ab4 attacked the
Gdikvid’s garrison at Ahmaddbdd. Govind Rév at
once prepared for war,! and deputed messengers to
inform the Peshva of his grievances. It so happened
that just as B4ji Rdv got this news Nind Phadngvis
died, and the young Peshvi felt himself at liberty to
tako his revenge on the partizans of the minister whom
he had so long hated. He made the quarrel his own,
direvted Govind Rév to eject Abéd, and himself to
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take the farm. One consequence of these orders was
that the Gaikvad obtained the adininistration of that
halfof northern Gujardt which belonged to the Peshvé;
another, that he charged the cost of the war to the
Peshvd, who probably thought that the prize to be
won, #.¢. the farm of the Almaddbdd districts, was
sufficient payment, for he disallowed the claim.
Mcanwhile the eampaign was procecding rapidly;
Bibdji, by a forced march with a detachment of his
troops, fell suddenly on Abd Sheldkar’s army at
Béntvd and routed 16, In a second engagement on
the following day he wonld, however, have probably
been worsted, i the remamder of ns force had not
opportuncly come up aud converted @ temporary
discomfiture into a victory. Ahmaddbdd was then
Lesieged in the ordinary incompetent way of Mardthi
troops, and Ab& was defeated in a sccond battle,
But four months after the commencement of oper-
ations Abd Sheldkar’s Arab mercenarics, acting as
Kinoji’s followers had done, delivered their leader
up to Bibidp, who forwarded him to Govind Rév.
s silly fractions behaviour forced the Mahdrdjd to
imprison bhim in Baroda, whence he was taken to
Borsad, and there ho remained many years in con-
finement, till the British obtainced lns relcasc long
after his existence had ccased to causo any one any
anxiety.

The Ahmaddbdd districts were nominally farmed
by a favourite but illegitimate son of the Mab4r4j4,
named Bhagavant Riv, for a term of five years at
five 14khs a year, and it unfortunately so happéncd

|
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that the proceeds of the first two years—that is, ten
14khs—were pledged, by the Peshv4’s orders, to Sin-
dia, The farm had hitherto fetched not more than
three and a half 14khs, but even at five l4khs it was
well worth taking up, for at one blow all those evils
were removed which arose from there being two
governments whose bouundarics wero not accurately
fixed, but were at many pointsinterlaced. The great
anxiety of the Gaikvdd to retain the farm, the in-
terest the Bombay Government had in maintaining
such an arrangement, and the policy of Béji Rév to
gain a hold upon Baroda by resnming the adminis-
vration of Ahmaddbdd, eventually led, as will bescen,
as much as anything else, to the rupture which ended
in tho fall of Bdji Riv, and the independence of the
Géikvad.

Note !, p. 84.—Mr, Forbes thus describes the efforts made by
Govind Rdv to obtmin the aid of the Biitish:—¢1In 1800
Mr. Duncan, the Governor of Bombay, having arrived at Surat,
received a visit from somo vakils despatched by Govind Rév,
whose real objeet it was to procure Bntish assistanco for the
reduction of Shelakar, Mr. Duncan wished tho Géikvdd Govern-
mont to cede the p irgand of Chauridsiand their sharoe of the chauth
of the revenues of Surat, but evaded the application for assistance
against Sheldkar.”” Tho Peshvd disapproved of the cession of
territory to the British, and so tho proposal fell through, 8till
in Art. 8 of the agreement made on the 15th March . 802 with the
minister Rivji it isexpressly stated : “ Chaudsi and the Ghikvid's
share of the chauth of Surat having been ceded to the Honourable
Company in pursuance of the engagement, by letters tothat
effect from the late Govind Rév, ” eto,
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CHAPTER XI.

ANAND RAV MARARAJA—THE EVENTS WHICH LED TO THE
INTERFERENCE OF THE BOMBAY GOVERNMENT.

Govind Rivwas busy in collecting the money to be
paid for the Ahmaddbdd farm,—had in fuct with diffi-
culty scraped together the full sum offive 1dkhs,—and,
in order to counterbalance the great power of Révji
Apidji, was negotiating for
the services of a brother to

Jidhav Rdv Bhdskar, then a favourite minister of Sin-
dia’s, who might adwninister for him his son Bhagvant
Riv’s farm, (though eventually the post was given to
Révji’scousin Raghungth Mahipat Rév, called K4k4ji,)
when he died on the 19th of September 1800.

Once again the State, impoverished by the pay-
ment to the Peshvi two years before this ofsixty 14khs
of rupees, was plunged into what may almost be
termed a civil war. From a perusal of this short
history it will be impossible to realize the miserable
condition into which the State rapidly fell, as a few
leading facts alone can be mentioned. Theo treasury
was empty ; almost ail the districts were mortgaged
to creditors, and the few remaining ones were farmed
to unscrupulous men who made haste only to extort
money ; the tributary states, accustomed to pay only
when compelled by military force, withheld theu' tri-
butes with impunity; the Géikvéds were split'into

A.p, 1800,
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factions; a foreigner whose chief anxiety was to enrich
his own family was nominally at the head of affairs;
the maintenance of the army alone exceeded the re-
ceipts of the State; no attention was given to the
administration of justice, the protection of the public,
and such matters; there was, properly speaking, no
government, for all real power lay in the hands of
the rapacious and overbearing Arab soldiery; in
public and private matters there was an amazing
disbelicf in the possibility of any man being honest
or true, and the government was distrusted most of
all. Meanwhile Sindia and the Peshvi—perhaps,
too, Holkar—were watching the dissolution with
interested views, and the only way out of the dan-
gers which encircled the State was a desperate one—
an appeal to British arbitration.

Mercenary troops had been introduced into the
State by Fate Sing, but with a sparing hand; before
Govind Rév’sdeath their numbers were doubled ; and
Révji Appéji, in the troubles now to come, augmented
their numbers and increased their power and pri-
vileges. Of these mercenaries 18,126 were foot, and
3,731 were cavalry, and they cost the State monthly
Rs. 2,99,642. The mostesteemed were the Arab ad-
venturers, or those who came from distant parts of
Asia, such as Baghdad and Abyssigia; for the de-
scendants of such men born in the country were
accounted less brave or less skilled, as also were the
Pathfins and others of the warlike nations to the
north of Hindustdn. Some Arabs came to India
alone and on foot, others brought horses and retainers,
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and according to their bravery was the amount of
their pay. It was not at Baroda alone that the ser-
vices of these foreigners were sought, for at this time
almost every native court in India entertained mer-
cenary troops, and even in this short history traces
of the mischief they made will be noticed not only
in Baroda, but at Dhdrand Pdhlanpdr. At this time
the Arabs held the fortsof Baroda, Borsad, Sankhed4,
and other strongholds. Thoy were generally split
into two factions, but in any crisis they were capable
of banding against any outsider who might threaten
their privileges. Naturally they were selfish and in-
dependent, amenable only to tho persuasions of their
paymasters, Mangal Pdrakh and Sdmal Bechar, each
of whom headed a party, and willing to support the
adwministration of any ruler who could pay them best.
In the darbdr their insolence disgusted the sarddrs;
abroad they were feared on account of their violence ;
and yet, strange to say, in the absence of all public
confidence, these men were trusted by the people to
keep the government to its promises. It is with
difficulty, in these orderly times, that we can realize
how then in Gujarft a savkar would not advance a
Réjpdt or Koli girdsia a loan without the guarantee
of a Bh4t or Chéran ; or how the GéikvAd’s subjects
refused to believe that a promise would be kept or
peaceable conduct be preserved by the government
unless the Arabs had received from it a promise to that
effect. This guarantee system was called bahdndari,
and it naturally invested the wmercenary troops,
or their leaders, with an almost unlimited power of
\
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interfering between the government and the chief
officers of the administration.

When Govind Riv died the minister happened to
be away, but Bébdji, Mir Kam4l-ud-din, and the two
paymasters, backed by the Arabs and Jamadérs, dis-
suaded the Rdinf{ Gahena Bif from becoming a sati,
by assurances that their support would be given her.
This lady during her late Lusband’s time had been
very powerful, and she did not intend to relinquish
her influence, nor was there much fear of this hap-
pening if Anand Rév, the legitimate and cldest son
of Govind Riv, wero placed on the gadt, for he was
of a naturally fecblo mind, rendered almost idiotic
from addiction to the use of opium. Anand Rév
was accordingly placed on the gadi, and Révji re-
turning to Baroda carried on for him the adminis-
tration of the State.

But Kénoji, who was still in confinement, now saw
a chance of gaining power. e cntered Baroda in
disguise, gained admittance to the presence of his
feeble but really good-natured elder brother, and by
degrees so won upon him that he was able to make
a show of being mutalik, and really to deprive Révji
of all authority.

Thus matters proceeded for a while ; but Kénoji,
however headstrong, was unable to bend the mer-
cenary troops to his will, and after spending the
money Govind Rdv had collected ho was no better
able to conciliate them than Révji had been. It is
possible that the Gdikvdd family hated the foreign
minister, but Kénoji’s conduct towards several of

Vi
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their number soon became unbearable, for to satisfy
his Arabs he had to squeeze money out of his relations
by violent methods. He confined the R4j4 himself,
nsed hisladies, relations,and servants with harshness,
and ill-treated the widow and daughter of Fate Sing
and the widow of Mdndji. The Arabs got tired of
him at last, and Révji’s promises to them werefair : so
one night they all came to an understanding, quietly
surrounded Kénoji’s house,
and after arresting him
delivered him to Anand R4v, who, after loading
him with well-descrved reproaches, caused him to be
confined in Rémpir Roteah.

Once again Rivji was in power, but the Arabs had
become more difficult to manage than ever, and on
one occasion when the minister was entering Baroda
afler a visit to Cambay, where he had been nego-
tiating with tho Bombay Government for armed
assistance, they fired on his palklii and killed or
wounded most of his pdlkhi-bearers. They probably
foresaw that the day the British were called in they
themselves would be turned out of the State. But
besides the Arabs Révji had on his hands all the
members of the Gdikvid family, each of whom ex-
pected something from him, while he had nothing
to give. First and foremost of course wasthe Jé-
girddr of Kadi, Malhdér Rév Géikvad, who loudly
demanded the entire remission of his peshkash, and
who, when his request was refused, found that Kénoji,
of whose arrest he had first fully approved, was heing
ill-treated by a foreigner. Gujrébdi, the daughter

27th January 1801.
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of Fate Sing urged him on, and he was soon joined by
Makund Rév, the younger and illegitimate brother
of the R4j4, who quitted Baroda with all his moveable
property under pretence of a pilgrimage to Dékur.

Then Malhir Rév took the field, ostensibly with
" the purpose of righting K4noji and of freeing Anand
Rév, whose orders he pretended he was carrying out.
Révji asserted with equal vehemence that all he did
was by the command of his sovereign ; and both he
and Malhar Rév applied to the Bombay Government
to arbitrate on their claims, both offering to surrender
the Chauridsf and the Surat chauth, which Govind
Rév, when preparing to fight Ab4 Sheldkar, had
ineffectually tendered to the English for their assist-
ance.

Gujré Bdf, in addition to these cessions, offered
Chikli. Mr. Duncan, Governor of Bombay, was in no
hurry to interfere, though he viewed the condition of
Baroda with anxiety, as in a possible war with Sindia,
or, ag seemed more probable, with B4ji Rav, the
G4ikvéad would inall likelihood again be the ally of the
British, and the diminution of his power would be as
disadvantageous as the consequent increase of either
of the two'other Marfithd chiefs. He finally deter-
mined to send Major Alexander Walker to Baroda
to arbitrate between Rdvji and Malhdr Rév accord-
ing to the apparent justice of their views and
the wishes of Anand R4v. To support Major
Walker’s decision, a small and, as it turned out,
an inadequate force of 2,000 troops was sent to
Cambay.
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By the end of 1801 matters had approached a
crisis ; Bdbdji’s troops were
on the move from Ahmad4-
béd ; the J4girddér had sent out a force from Kadi
under his brother Hanmant Rév and an old Gaikvédi
officer called Sivarfm, who had joined him against
the Divén ; some of the Gdikv4d’s territory had been
overrun, and a slight engagement with the enemy
had taken place. Rd4vji’s position was most critical,
for both he and his relatives were more or less at the
mercy of the Arabs, whom his conduct in applying
to the English had exasperated. Yet the minister
did not wholly rely on the Bombay Government for
assistance. It has beecn mentioned that Sindia had
been promised ten l4khs, or the proceeds of the Ah-
maddab4dd farm for the first two years, and that the
money accumulated by Govind Rdv had been
squandered By Kénoji. Now Sindia’s minister,
Yidhav Rav Bhiskar, for whose brother Govind Rév
had once made application, was an old friend of
Révji’s, owing to the following curious incidents.
Yddbav Rév in early life had been the clerk of a farmer
of revenue in the Baroda State, called Khandopant
Nér4; he had next risen to be Fate Sing’s divén, but
on that person’s death Méan4ji had persecuted both
him and his brothers Rémchandra and Lakshuman on
certain charges of embezzlement ;and finally, when
Govind Rdv succeeded to the gads, he had owed his
release from prison to the friendly offices of Révji.
At this moment he and his brothers were in high
favour with Sindia, and he was urging Révji to at

A.p. 1801.
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least pay his master the ten ldkhs, if not to ask him
for the protection which he was secking from the
English ; and Ravji was greatly led by his counsels.
Sindia’s position was really a threatening one, for,
with the consent of the Peshv4, he might wrest from
the Gdikvdd the Abmadibdd farm, just as the latter
had taken it from Ab4 Shelikar.

Major Walker reached Baroda on the 29th Janu-
ary 1802, and lost no time
in interviewing the Maha.
rhjé. By patient inquiry of Anand Rév in his sober
and more lucid moments he came to the conclusion
that the Géikv4d did not countenance the Jigirdér,
though he was reluctant Lo keep his brother in prison,
that he feared the Arabs, and that he did not look on
tho minister as an enemy. Major Walker also con-
cluded that the Jdgirdir was moved by a purely
gelfish policy; but he found that all arbitration was
impossible, as this ambitious man refused to sur-
render the towns of Visalnagar and Bijapdr which
he had taken.

No course was therefore left him but to side with
the minister in fighting against the Jégirddir, whose
army amounted to twelve or fifteen thousand men,
the best or perhaps only disciplined soldiers of
whom were Sivardm’s seven hundred Hindustdnis,
The British foroe did not move from Cambay till the
28rd of February, nor enter the Kadi territory till
the 10th of March, accompanied by Bdbdji. As
the Jévirdar falsely pretended to come to an aoc-
gommodation, Major Walker pushed on till he came

A.D. 1802,
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within sight of Kadi on the 16th. The following
day the small British army made an attack on the
enemy’s fortified camp, which lay below the walls of
the town; but its flanks, which were composed of
Bébgji’s and Kamdl-ud-dfn’s troops, moved forward
go slowly that Major Walker found his centre
alone on the field, and tho encmy was in such
strength that he was forced slowly to retire to some
neighbouring leights and so regain his camp.
Here he entrenched himself and sent to Bombay
for more troops, which rcached him, under the
command of Sir William Clarke, on the 24th of
April.  There were now six thousand British
troops in the ficld, and on the 30th the encmy’s
comp was carried by assault.! On the 3rd of
May, Malhdr Rdv surrendered himself to Major
Walker, and tho gates of his capital were thrown
open. The Jigirddr was afterwards permitted to
live at Nadidd on an allowance of a likh and a quar-
ter a year, till he ran away and began a fresh insur-
rection; but his territory was now finally annexed
to the Baroda State. In this way not only were the
Gdikv4d’s possessions incrcased by districts worth
five 1§khs, but, what was far more important, the
existence of an almost independent chief came to
an end, whose selfishness and duplicity had for
two generations worked an incalculable amount
of mischief to Baroda.

The next service rendered by the British troops
was of a similar description. Ganpatrdv Gﬁlkvéd a
descendant of Pﬂéy and Jdgirdér or Mémlatddr
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of Sankhedé and Bah4darpir, raised the standard of
revolt, in the following June or July; and on the 7th
of thelast mentioned month his fort, which had hither-
to resisted every attack of a Géikv4d army, capi-
tulated. Ganpatrdv and Murdr Rév Géikv4d then fled
to the court of Anand Rdv Powir of Dhdr, which
now became the centre of disaffection to the nmew
administration in Baroda.

The assistance afforded by the British to Anand
Rév was not gratuitously given. On the contrary,
though the scrvices rendered by the British arms
and policy were splendid, the payment they received
in return was, it must be admitted, equally great. It
may be remembered that the minister was nearly
shot by the Arabs on his return from a conference
.with the Governor of Bombay at Cambay. Thereit
was decided (15th March 1802) that in case the
Bombay Government interfered, it should bo pre-
sented with the Chaurids{ pargand and the Gdikv4d’s
portion of the chauth of Surat, the expenses of any
campaign against the Jigirdir were to be paid,
and the Surat aththdvisi, or such part of it as belonged
to the Gdikvdd, was to be mortgaged to them as
security for the sum due. Finally, after the Kadi
. war, and when the Arab mercenaries had been dis-
banded, a force of two thousand British sepoys,
with a battery of European artillery, was to be
subsidized by the Gé4ikvdd. The monthly cost
of these troops was estimated at 65,000 rupees,
and cessions in jaiddd were to be~made of that

15
value.

*
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These were the bases of the subsidiary treaty of
1802, but it should be

;hf‘?xfhﬁ3f°35§fe‘§uli§ added that, in addition to
1802. the grants promised by
Ravji, on the 4th of June the pargan4 of Chikli was
bestowed on the British as a free gift, and to this
Value of infms :— were added on the 3rd May
Chauridsi...... Rs, 90,000 1808 the fort and jigfr of
Surat Chauth ,, 80000  Kheds. The cession in jai-

1’3 W .00 , X
Pl e T6000 ddd was deferred till 1808,

owing to the mortgaged
Total...Rs. fﬁ’.‘ﬂ stutegof Baroda, but gxgthe
interim the revenues of K4thidvdd and Kadi were
pledged. The expenses of the army during the first
year were placed at 7,80,000 rupees, bearing nine per
cent. interest. Finally, by January 1803, the fol-
) lowing districts were fairly
jpagreement 18th Feb-0096q in jaiddd :—Dholks,
worth four and a half 14khs ;
Nadidd, one and three-quarter 1l4khs, Vijdpir,
1,30,000 rupees; the tappa of Kadi, worth 25,000
rapees,—making a total of 7,380,000 rupees. As
will be hereafter seen, thesc were not the only
cessions made for the subsidy of troops. The
British also undertook to pay off the arrears due to
the Arab mercenaries, provided the Géikv4d repaid
them by June 1805; and meanwhile there were
pledged the revenues of the Baroda, Koral, Sinor,
Petléd, and Ahmadéb4d parganés.
This arrangement must have appeared very satis-
factory to the Bombay Government, and very neces-
9




98 [cHap. xI1.

sary to the Baroda State, but by the treaty of Slb4i
the Baroda territory was not to be partitioned or
diminished, and the British had prevented Né4nd
Phadnévis from dealing thus with Govind Rév, so it
is doubtful if B4ji Rév could have felt otherwise than
displeased with what had taken place.

Note %, p. 95.—In the first action the loss in killed and wounded
had been 146. In the assault on the camp tho loss in killed and
wounded was Europeans 104, natives 58, officers 4.
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CHAPTER XII.

HOW THE BRITISH TOOK THE PLACE OF THE ARABS AND
THE PESHVA AT BARODA.

It has been seen that Révji’s arrangcment atb
Cambay and the subsidiary treaty both included
measures to rid the State of the Arab mercenaries,
and in their place as a military force there were to
bo subsidized British troops. But, as has been
remarked, the Arabs filled a curious position, for in
n thousand matters they stood surety that the
Government would keep its promises or do its duty
n some way to certain individuals or classes of its
subjects, Now when the Bombay Government
took up the bahdiddri engagement of the Arabs,
and, in addition, pledged itself to sce that certain large
debts were paid, what was the natural consequence ?
The Bombay Government was of opinion that the
hahdnddr: conferred on it “the right to a uniform
wnd systematic participation in the internal authority
of the Géikv4d’s government, cven in cases in which
the bahdnddri was not directly concerned,” and that
“the Company had a right to interfere in the most

important public affairs’”’—or, as Colonel Walker put’

it,a right to a leading and active interference in the
most important public affairs, in checking the rapa-
;ity of the Government officers, and in punishing their
{elinguency or contumacy in concert with the Sarkar.

w
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In approving the treaty of 1802, Anand Rév on his
side wrote officially “ that in consequence of there
being many evil-disposed persons among the Arabs
who have plotted against my liberty and even my life,
I desire that my subjects will pay no attention to my
orders in this situation, but hear what Major Walker
has to say.”” Andin the case of Révji Appdji and
his relatives and the Mozumdér, all high officers of
the State, “even should I myself or my successors.
commit anything improper or unjust the English
Government shall interfere.”

Such were the vast and ill-defined powers granted:
to the British, and there ensued a close and search-
ing criticism of every act of the Baroda administra-
tion, accompanied by a strict control over its fi-
nances. The Mahdr4j4 took no part in the govern-
ment, as he was held incompetent to do so, and it
consisted of a commission of which the Resident or
his native agent was a member, and without whom
its acts were invalid.

The interference spoken of by Colonel Walker
was indeed active, and beyond a doubt the motives
of those who interfered were upright, and in a sense
justifiable. Walker, Carnac, and Williams were wise-

and good officers, and for a time they had the assist-
ance of noless a person than Gangédhar Shéstri.
Besides all this it was always contemplated that the
bahdpddri should cease, and the interference become
less close, when the State freed from debt could stand
by itself. But somehow this policy of interference-
did not in the end prove to be a perfect success. Itis
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true that the State was for a time rendered solvent,
and it got out of difficulties which alone it could not
bave surmounted. But the moment when the inter-
ference should end did not appear to the native ruler
to come quickly enough, and instead of an alliance
between a grateful and a gratified State there arose
bitter feelings, the traces of which have taken long in
disappearing. At first, however, there was a consi-.
derable amount of accord, and it is pleasant to record
what was done during this friendly time. A friendly
time, that is, between the Residont and the poor wit~
less Anand Rév or the youthful Fate Sing, or again
between the Resident and the administration of
Révji and Babdji; for from the outset there was no-
thing but unpleasantness between the British Resi-
dent and his party at Baroda on the one side and
certain members of the Gdikvidd family on the other.
There followed plots, insurrections and wars, which
culminated in the death of Gangfdhar Shéstri,
while there were interwoven with this sad event
many others of which the effects are still keenly felt.
Before proceeding with the history of the Baroda
State, it must be noticed that while the British were
gaining a footing there, Holkar and Sindia were
struggling for the custody of the Peshv4’s person,
and that in 1802 Yeshvant R4v Holkar defeated his
rival near Poona, whereapon Béji Riv applied to
the British for assistance. The cousequence was the
treaty of Bassein, (31st December 1802,) which
affected the Baroda State nearly, so that particular
attention should be paid to this event. As Mr." El-
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phinstone remarked, the Peshvé recognized the state
of affairs brought about by Révji’s conventien at
Cambay and the treaty of Baroda, (29th July 1802,)
by which were fixed the establishment of British in-
stead of the Peshvd’s ascendancy ot Baroda; British
protection of the Gdikvad, and interposition in the
negotiations with Poona; British guarantec to the
succession to the gadi,” &c. A careful consideration
of these words will show that in 1802 the British
deprived the Peshvd of all but nominal sozer-
ainty over the Gaikvdd, Therc were outstarding
debts, of course, which had to be paid to the Poona
Government, long arrcars of tiribute, claims and
counter claims to be scttled, but the arbitration of
these matters was as a final resource to be left to
the British. "There was also a fixed tribute to be
paid, but thero was to be no more interference with
Baroda; that was to be left entircly to the British.
For more than twelve years Bdji Rédv labourced to
undo the cffects of the Baroda and Bassein treaties,
with promises, with threats, by the withdrawal of
the Ahmaddbdd farm, and by connivance at the
murder of Gangddbar Shéstri; but the task was
beyond his powers, as w'll be seen.!

By the agreement at Cambay and the subsequent
treaty of Baroda, the British, whose armed assistance
had Dbeen purchased by a cession of territory, were
bound to see that the Arabs were dismissed or greatly
reduced, and the expenditure on the army curtailed,
or at least brought to the level at which it was kept
in Fate Sing’s time. We shall read in this c_hapter

“«
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how the political strength of the Arabs was broken
and theyv themselves expelled, but the reduction of
tho expeunditure on the army was too great an an-
dertaking to be quickly accomphshed. Undoubt-
cdly the revenues of the State could bardly bo broughs
into a healthy condition as long as throe-fourths of
them were devoted to the army, and this the Resi-
dent kpew very well ; but Gujardt had been con-
quered by a smull body of military adventurers, and
though watters had long been tending to increase
the authority of the Géikvéd at the expense of his
fellow-Mavithis, though the immediate result of an
alliance Ly which the prince was maintaiued on his
guwli by foreign bayonets was to strengthen such a
tendency, still a vast amount of powcerful intercsts
was vested in the continunance of a system by which
the mulitary classes absorbed sums wholly dispro-
portionato to the revenues of the State.

Major Walker rcturncd to Baroda from the Kadi
campaign as Resident on the 11th July 1802, and
from the outset entertained projects of gmetly re-
ducing the troops. The Arab sibandi cost the State
about thirty -six 1ikhsayear,and Bibdji’snew sibands,
as they were termed, about twelve likhs, so he con-
templated reducing the former to fifteen likhs per
annum, and to save ncarly fifteen thou<and rupecs a
month on Babdji’slevies. Rivji Appiji agreed with
him on the expediency of the wmeasure ; but as time
went on, the old man, bowed down by years and
sickness, showed sigus of fear and of reluctance to
break with the paymasters of tho Arabs, These
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troops, as early as October 1802, gave marks of in-
subordination bLordering on mutiny, and their posi-
tion was a strong one, for they held all the gates of
the capital, and within them as a sort of prisoner the
person of the Mahardjd. Matters were brought to a
crisis by an order of the Mahdrdjé for the surrender
of Kénoji, who was kept by an Arab guard at Ra-
meah, to certain parties who were to convey him to
Bombay. The very messenger who conveyed the
order, a nephew of one of the Arab Jamiédirs named
Sultén Jéfar, urged Kénoji’s jailors to disobey, and
he was abetted by two of the chicf Arabs in Baroda,
Zehyd and Abdd the Lame. Sultfn Jafar himself
had rot been consulted, and disapproved of the step;
and consequently so sharp a quarrel ensued between
the two Arab parties that on the 16th and 17th
of November the inhabitantsof the capital lived in
terror of a free fight within the walls. At length,
however, the violent party gained the ascendancy,and
was joined by Sultdn Jéfar on the 10th of December,
before which time K4noji had been allowed to ab-
scond, and the R#ja had been kept confined to his
palace. The paymasters, frightened at the devil
they had helped to raise, fled from the city, and on the
18th of December the fort was invested by the Bri-
tish troops. The Laharfpira gate was held by Ben
Haidar, the Champfner gate by Jéfar, the Water gate
by Zehy4, and the Barhdnpir gate by several jam{-
dérs including Abéd. In taking up their positions
at each of these gates according to the order above
given, Colonel Woodington, Kamél-ud-dfn and
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' Sakhérém, Major Holmes and Sitérdm, and finally
K4kéji and Amin Séheb, the first mentioned officer
lost forty or fifty men. But in the night a battery
of five eighteen-pounders was raised close to the
Laharipira gate, capable of demolishing it. For two
days hostilities were suspended, in the hope that the
Arabs would surrender, and the capital be left un-
injured. But fighting was then renewed, and con-
tinued till the 25th, and on the 26th the Arabs eva-
cuated the fort on easy terms, for they were allowed
all arrears and a safeguard out of Gujardt, which
country they promised to leave. On the 27th of
December 1802 Anand Rév, who had been hurried
outof the city, re-entered it with great pomp through
the Laharipird Gate, which was placed under a guard
of British troops, who, to gain the city, had lost in
killed and wounded over 150 men, of whom seven
were officers.  But, as we shall seein the soquel, many
of the Arabs broke theirpromise, and, under the com-
mand of Ab&id the Lame and tho nominal leadership
of Kénoji, for a long time continued to vex the coun-
try. But at any rate the British had done this great
service—they had freed the country from the danger
of a horrible anarchy, not only at the sacrifice of
many lives, but by the timely advance of pecuniary
assistance to pay off the troops.

Note 1, p. 102.—1It should also be noted that by the 10th Art. of
vhe Treaty of Bassein the Peshvé resigned to the British his claims
on the Chauth of Surat and his rights in the parganis of Chaunrifsi
and Chikli. This left the British in full possession of that gart of
Gujardt, for the GaikvAd had already ceded them his share,
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CHAPTER XIII.

THE STATE PASSES THROUGH A TIME OF TROUBLE AND
DANGER FROM WITHIN AND WITHOUT.

Kénoji, after his escape from confinement at R4-
meah, fled to R4jpipld, and found no difficulty in
raising a large body of Kolis, and was soon after the
siege of Baroda joined by a body of Arabs and
Sindhis. Major Holmes, joining Sitdrfm’s forces,
met Kinoji at Vazira on the 11th of January
1808 and routed his little army. Pursuing him
with difficulty, he came up
with him again at Pratham-
pir or Sdvali on the 6th of February, and there,
in the engagement which took place, the British
troops lost many men, owing to the strong position
the Arabs had taken up, and to the nececssity they
were under of recovering a captured gun. But the
tussle which took place, though severe, was decisive,
for Kénoji lost his treasure-chest and his baggage,
while Ganpatriv, the Jédgirddr of Sankhed§, and
Morér Rév Géikvad, who had previously joined him,
were both wounded. XKénoji fled, and though no
longer in a position to inflict severe loss on the State,
- he was able to keep it in a constant state of vexatious
alarm by hovering along the frontier, and by threat-
' ing to join either Sindia or Holkar in an invasion of
the‘plains. His power was also increased by the

A.Dn. 1803.
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accession of Sivrém, the old Gaikv4di officer who had
taken part in the Kadi war, and of the most turbu-
lent of all the Baroda Arabs, Abdd the Lame, who

- joined him in March with over five hundred men, of

whom mnearly one-half were Arabs. On the 2nd of
March Major Holmes, after driving Kénoji out of
Koral, defeated his Mewidssi force at the Alowass
village of Chopra. Again he had to leave Gujarat,
and throughout the year he strove to maintain him-
self by bullying and plandering Barrea, Dangarpfr,
Sonte, Lundv4dd, and other small states, till they
turned against him in disgust. Poor Kénoji was
scarcely responsible for the excesses of his men, for
he was really in the grasp of the lame Arab; and
he was glad cnough to be able at length to escape
from him and to take refuge at Ujjdin, where for the
present we must leave him.

While Major Walker was endeavouring to reform
the army, to expel the Arabs, andtobring Kénoji
to reason, in the years 1802 and 1803 much greater
cvents were taking place in Mahdrdshtrd, which
threatened to complicate affairs in the Baroda State.
As has been stated in the preceding chapter,
Daulat R4v Sindia and Yeshvant Riv Holkar were
engaged in a struggle for supremacy, and for the
possession of B4ji R4v’s person. Theirarmiescovered
Central India, and both leaders threw covetous eyes
on Gujarft. In September 1802 Holkar’s Pindhfris
entered the Surat aththduisi, but after reverses they
retired without doing much damage.  Sindia’s de- *
signs were more alarming. He had, as may be- re-
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membered, a claim of ten 14khs on the Ahmadibéd
farm, and to enforce payment he despatched towards
northern Gujar4t an army of twelve or fourteen
thousand men, nominally under the command of
Knand Rév Powér of Dhér. This unfortunate young
prince was the son of a daughter of Govind
Rév G4ikv4d, and at his court he had been brought
up after his father Khande Ré4v’s death. In
1797, however, when only seventeen years of
age, he had left Baroda to return to his own country,
where he was thwarted by an intriguing minister,
Rang R4v Durekar, and bullied by his two power-
ful neighbours Sindia and Holkar. At home,
therefore, he was of little account, but abroad his
good name and lineage commanded respect, and he
was recognized as the one person round whom the
members of the Géikvdd family discontented with
R4vji Appdji and the British could rally. Sindia
probably hoped that if he could succeed in driving
out the Géikv4d the Peshvd would give him the farm
of the Ahmadéb4d districts, and he expected to-gain
something by interfering in the family quarrel at
Baroda. His minister Bhdskar thoroughly alarmed
his old friend Révji Appdji, and Major Walker was
sufficiently apprehensive of the mischief a war might
occasion to demand assistance from the Bombay Go-
vernment. A debt was owing to it of twelve 14khs,
but, in order that Sindia might be paid, the second
instalment was deferred, and this though it had been
discovered that the Surat ahthdvist could not be re-
ceived as a pledge, for it had already been mortgaged
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to Parbhudds, Sindia’s agent at Broach, who at one
time had advanced the State twenty 14khs, of which
five were still due. Besides, the Surat aththdviss was
not worthmorethan three and a half 1dkhs to the State,
for a large portion of its revenue had been alienated °
to members of Révji Apdji’s family. In spite of
the above considerations, the Bombay Government
persuaded Parbhudds to pay Sindia, under guar-
antee that the debt should be discharged. And thus
the Baroda State was probably saved from implica~
tion in a war which its damaged finances could not
have borne.

In July 1808 Ravji Ap4ji died.? The old minister
had perhaps rendered the Gdikvdd a great service
by calling in the British, and during his career he
had shown no want of political skill or shiftiness: he
had, beyond a doubt, assisted Govind Rév in keep-
ing his place on the gadi in difficult times. But
it was he who had unscrupulously increased the Arab
force ; it was he who, when the State was perishing
of poverty, had laboured to enrich himself and his
family ; he who in the crisis of the Arab mutiny had
betrayed his fear and hesitation ; he who by his ex-
treme dilatoriness had delayed the pressing work
of reform. With every allowance for his age and
infirmities, it isimpossible to give him any high praise.
But the Bombay Government of that day owed him a
great deal, and had pledged itself to maintain him
and his heirs in the divénship ; so it approved of the
succession to that high post of his nephew Sitérém,
who had been adopted as his son a few days before

mn -
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his decease. Sitdrdm, however, was unworthy of the
position, and it will soon be seen that he did much to
injure the Baroda State.

Two little events may well be inserted here, though
they interrupt the regular narrative. On the 28rd of
September R4vji’s old friend Yé4dhav Bhdskar died
in battle by the side of his master Sindia. A few
months before R4vji’s death, (2nd February 1803,)
Ganghdhar Pant Shistr{ Patwardban had been
nominated confidential medium between the Re-
sident and the darbdr, on a salary of a hundred
rapees.

In 1802, as we have seen, Sindia and Holkar were
at war, and the latter’s victory near Poona drove B4ji
Rév to summon the English to his assistance. The
price he paid was the treaty of Bassein, which not
only affected himself, but indirectly Sindia, and for
other reasons Rdghoji Bhonslay, Réj4 of Berdr. It
drove these two princes into making war with the
English, a war which was marked by the tremendous
defeats Sindia’s armies suffercd at Assaye and Argaum
in the south, at Delhi, Agra, Ldswar{ in the north, and
by the loss of many strong places and fortified towns,
including in Gujardt Broach and Pévangad.? While
these events were taking place an incident had oc-
«carred in the war between Holkar and Sindia—the
war, that is, of 1802—which curiously influenced
the fortunes of one of the Gdikv4d family. Govind
Rév Gaikvad had a son named Fate Sing, whom he
devoted to the service of the family god Khandobé,
and sent to reside in the neighbourhood of Poonas
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Hore, late in 1802, he was captured by one of Holkar’s

- officers, and as it was feared that he would be sent to
' Gujarét nominally at the head of an army of Pin-

dhdris to create a disturbance, the Gdikv4d’s govern-
ment, with the approval of Major Walker, offered a
sum of money for his ransom. Perhaps some such
danger really existed, for in June 1803 Amir Khén,
with a large army behiud him and the young prince
in his camp, approached to within a few miles of
Songad, against which, however, a mere demonstra-
tion was made before the possible enemy retired
without doing any material injury.

In August 1803 Fate Sing got away from Holkar’s
officer Amir Khin, and informed the Baroda
darbdr that he had purchased his freedom by a
promise to pay fifty thousand rupees. He came
back accompanied by a small body of Pathfns,
to whom also he had promised some indemnity,

i and entering the capital on tho 2nd of October
~ took up his residence with the Réni Gahengbéi.
. At this time, by reason of the campaign with Sindia,

Baroda was almost denuded of troops, and Major
Walker distrusted these Pathins, fearing that they
might be used to get up some disturbance.

They left Baroda in November, after some
obscure quarrel between the men and ome or
both of their leaders, but Major Walker had not been
mistaken in his suspicions of them, Soon after their
departure it was discovered that Takhat B4f, the
favourite wife of the Mah4rédj4, a woman of an intensely

ambitious and intriguing character, who had gained
A
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complete ascendancy over the feeble mind of Anand
Rév, had planned to upset the government by seizing
the persons of the Resident and of Sit4rém with the
aid of some cavalry she had suborned and of the
Pathéns whom she had bribed. There were other
people concerned in the plot, but they were men of
low station and of indifferent character. An at-
tempt was also made to implicate the poor Mahar4j4,
but this failed completely.

To pay off Fate Sing’s ransom the Resident, by
giving his gunarantee, raised the sum of fifty thou-
sand rupees, which were handed over to Sitérdm,
and the money, according to this worthy’s state-
ment, was paid to Holkar. Some time after,
however, Major Walker to his disgust discovered that
no such payment had been made, but that the minis=
ter had quietly appropriated or disbursed the sum
during a time when Gangfidhar Shéstr{’s attendance
at the palace had been dispensed with.

We have stated that by the end of 1803 Sindia’s
strength was broken,and Holkar, who had been disin-
clined to fight on the side of his rival when in power,
now rashlyentered into a contest with the government
which had crushed his equal in one short year. The
contest lasted two years, and during that time the
Géikvad troops codperated with the British in
Mélwé. But the men were unwilling to proceed on
s distant campaign, their leaders were not well af-
fected towards their allies, and so disgraceful was
the conduct of the little army that the Resident no
longer hesitated to effect those reductions which had
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long been considered necessary. No further men-
tion need be made in this history of a passage which
brings discredit on the State; it is more important
to learn why the reform in the army had not taken
place earlier.3

Note 1, p. 109,—By tho 10th article of the treaty of 1802 the office
of minister was guaranteed to Rdoji and his family. From the
British he obtained the valuable village of Bhit4, in tho Chauryisi,
and from tho Gaikvid’s government a nemnik of 40,000 Rupees.
The old minister, not contented with this, was so liberal in his
grants of land to the members of his family, especially to Sakhé-
rdm Divauji, the Deshm@kh of Nauséri, that not only was the
aththdvisi impoverished, but such a large portion of the country
taken from the jagirdar of Kadi was filched away that the
Bombay Government had to remonstrate.

Note 3, p. 110.—Broach was stormed on the 29th of August,
Pivangad capitulated on the 17th of September, The latter place
was returned to Sindia after the peaco of the 30th December
1808. Sindia at that time, among other matters, promised to
abandon all claims ho might havo against the Gaikvad,

Note 3, p. 113.—The Marquis Wellesley’s career in India began
on the 17th of May 1798. Lord Cornwallis succeeded him on the
30ch of June 1805, and when he died on the 5th of October his
plans were carried out by Sir George Barlow. Wellesley’s strong
rule was exchanged for the non-interference policy: a long series
of wars was brought to an abrupt and indecorous close; the
Iull which ensued, however, only served to give the Peshvé, the
Réj4 of Nagpur, Holkar and Sindia time to recover their strength
for the fresh struggle of 1817. The engagements with the
Giikvad ending with the definitive troaty of 1805 were ratified
by the Marquis Wellesley, and the supplement to it was confirmed
by the Marquis of Hastings in 1817. In the interval there were
no treaties, but there were katched the schemes of Béji Rév to
regain his influence at Baroda.



[cmAP. xIV.

CHAPTER XIV.

THE MULORGIRT 8YsTEM IN KATHIAvAD.

Major Walker was from the outset most anxious
to reduce the expenditure of the army, as this
reform would relieve the State of a heavy burden.
But it was not only the war and the influence of
the military class which hampered his action. He
expected a large revenue from Kéthidvad at the cost
of keeping up the army there a little longer. To
explain this sentence we must take up a whole
portion of the history of the State which has been
hitherto purposely omitted, and just as we must go
back to gain a complete glance of our subject, so we
shall have to push on our account beyond the year
1805.

The peninsula of Kathidv4d, or, as it was called till
the Mardthds came to it, Saurfshtri, is for certain
purposes divided into ten districts of unequal size :
namely, Hall4d, belonging to the Jhédeja tribe ; Machu .
Kint4, in the possession of people who had in modern
times come from Kachh; Jhl4v4d, or the country of
the Jhdlds; Gohelvad, of the Gohel Réjpits; Und
Surveya, the seat of the R4jpdts, who originally held
the country; Babridvad of the Bfbrids ; Sorath, in-
habited by Kolis and Kdnbis, but containing also
the possessions of the Musalmén Navab of Jundgad ;
Béfda, the country of the Jetvéd Réjpats; Okhaman-
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- dal, given up to piratical tribes ; and Kéthidvéd, the
country of the Kéthis. DBut these districts do not re-
present the political state of affairs in Kéthidvad at
any time of its history, for the peninsula was divided
into at least 292 separate jurisdictions, not to count
certain more numerous subdivisions, and its inhab-
itants, owing to constant petty wars, never cared to
combine against any invader. Owing, however, to
the situation and configuration of the peninsula, it
had never been permanently subjugated by a king
of Gujarat, or Musalmdn sovereign or viceroy. On
the other hand, it had frequently been plundered
piecemeal, and this style of doing things exactly

. suited the Mardthds.

The Senépati’s carly raids in Gujarit had taken
him to Kdthidvdd, and Ddm4ji Gdikv4d lost no time
in repairing thither. In the town of Loliy4nsh is a
temple whichbears an inscription ¢ Shri Shiva’s foot-
impress with assiduity Ddmaji Géikvid continually
worships. 8. 1794.” (4.p.1738.) Déméji, however, '
did not go there to acquire territory, and yet he was
one of the few G4ikv4ds who did do so: but it happened
with him on this wise. A Saiad whose ancestors had
received in Amrelf a grant of land from Muhammad
Begada, being much annoyed by the Kathis, called
in to his assistance Ddmiji Gaikvad. Soon after,
the Léthi chief ceded to him Ddmnagar, formerly
called Chobéria, with ten dependent villages, as
the marriage portion of his daughter, whom the
Géikvéd espoused ; and thus was laid the foundation
ofthe territorial possessions of theHouse in Képhiﬁ\zéu,l,
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that is, in Amreli and Ddmnagar. The Lathi chief
was the descendant of Saramje, the second son of
Jejak, the chief of the Gohel Rajpdts, who, when
he was driven out of M4arv4dd by the Rathods in the
12th century, came to Kathifvad. Of the 384
villages the Lathi chief used to possess he only
retains eleven. Diméji also made conquests from
the Nav4b of Junigad, but these were not increased
by his successors. On the contrary, Fate Sing put
his trust in the Navdb’s kasbdtis, and these betrayed
him, so that he lost some of his possessions, which
were regained by the Navdb. Territorial gain was
not desired by the Marithds, and in the whole
peninsula seven scttlements only were, as far as
is known, permancntly made:—L4thi, Amrelf, and
perhaps Kodindd, by Déamiji; Seahnagar, called
Marid, by Saydji Gdikvad, in a.p. 1765-66 ;
Bhimkota, Thén, and Laktar by B4dbaji, the brother
of Ravji Apxiji, in A.D. 1805-6. In addition, however,
to Déméji’s conquests and marriagé portion, some of
the lesser Kd4thi girdsids, by their desire to shelter
themselves under the powerful Mar4tha state, suffered
themselves to be annexed ; others were dispossessed
by the Géikvéd’s encroach-
ment ; so that of the original
292 states nearly 80 are now absorbed into the
Amreli district. 'We shall elsewhere notice that
in A.D. 1811 the pargané of Kodin4d was ceded to the
Géikvéd by the Navdb of Jundgad, and that Okha-
mandal was given him by the Supplemental Treaty
wit? the British dated the 6th of November 1817.

A.p. 1811-12,
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Though the Mardthds made no extensive conquests
in K4thidvdd, they extracted from it considerable
revenues, and that by a strange system called Mu-
likgird.

On their first invasion of the country of one of
these petty chiefs of Kathidvad the Marathas called
on him to pay a sum of money as tribute, less in
proportion to his resources than to his powers of
resistance, for naturally the weakest went closest to
the wall. At subsequent periods, not by any means
yearly, an army was sent to collect a tribute
equal to that first demanded. No remissions were
ever made, but all arrears were strictly called into
account. Sometimes the chief paid, and sometimes
he did not; and it went to his honour and good
name not to pay unless the army enforcing tribute was
too strong to be resisted. If the ohief agreed to
discharge his tribute, or such a portion of it as
satisfied the invaders, his territory was carefully
prctected. If he elected to fight before giving up
his tribute, the Mar4dthds, whose invasions always
took place at harvest time, systematically de-
stroyed the crops, and, as firowood was scarce,
burnt down the open’villages and detached home-
steads, and, in short, by plunder and devastation did
all the harm they could to break the will of the
stiff-necked tributary. Their army was, however,
never, till the beginning of this century, strong
enough to undertake the regular siege of a walled
fort of average strength. It must also be conceded
that the invading army confined their injuries to

\J
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the property, and did not molest the persons, of their
tributaries. Still if we add to the misery entailed
by this abominable system the facts that some of
the chiefs of Kéthidvid, preéminently the Navéb of
Junfgad, had mulikgirfs of their own, less extensive
but more cruel than the grand one of the Maréthds,
and that, even down to the time when the British
interfered, the chiefs of the peninsula, whenever they
could, retaliated on the Marith4s by incursions
which occasionally extended to the neighbourhood
of Ahmadédbdd and Baroda, we may realize the
amount of mischief that can be done by the beast of
prey instinct in men who are uncontrolled by
knowledge.

There was, we have remarked, no tendency in the
Mardthds to increase their territorial acquisitions,
but there was a constant desire to multiply
pecuniary demands. The revenues obtained from
Kéthidvad were of course reduced by one-half when
Démdjiin a.p. 1752-3 was forced to partition Sorath,
Hall4d, Gohcelvad, and K4thiavid, at which time the
Peshvé’s sharc in these districts was incorporated
in the district of Ahmadébad. But, leaving this
out of consideration, it is certain that at first the
Géikv4d, say Démdji, madehis round with only three
or four thousand predatory horse, and without guns
or camp equipage, but that afterwards the
muldkgirf assumed some features of regularity, the
expedition being undertaken with a certain number
of gihands and foot soldiery. The revenues derived
from the peninsula came to be considered as a valu-

3
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able addition to the income of the State, and every
leader prided himself upon extracting something
more out of the chieftains than his predecessor. In
the most recent times this had been done by adding
to the regular tribute those called Kbérdjati or
Kheriyat, i.e. extraordinary, a device of B4b4ji’s; but
thenames of even the regular tributes are significative,
for in addition to the * Turk Vera” for Musalmans,
and the “ Bibi Vera” levied by the Navdb of Jundgad,
there were the “ Ghanim Vera” or collection by the
plundercrs, i.e. the Mardthds, the ¢ N4lbandi” or
compensation for shoeing horses, and the “Ghds
Déng” for hay and grain. Strictly speaking, this
last was a tax paid by a village to the Gaikv4d's
soldiers who were passing on to some territory
where they had the right to levy the mulikgirf; it
was paid though the village was properly subject to
be taxed by the Peshvd; and the latter took no
notice of the exaction, as he himself raised Ghés
D4ud when his troops passed through Géikvdd
territory. Such is the probable origin of this
curious imposition, though in time the black mail
grew to be regular tribute—a transformation
particularly valuable to the Géikvad, who, because
his soldiers were more numerous in these parts, and
because he frequently was the collector of tribute for
the Peshvé, gained more by the Ghds Déné than
his suzerain.

The G4ikvid’s mulikgirf took cruel proportions
under the commandant Sivrdm some eight to five
years before B&baji surpassed even this asfute
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plunderer (1793-94), who first instituted the regular
collection of arrears. A few instances only can be
given of the manner in which the muldkgir{ was
increased. From Samvat 1815 to Samvat 1860 the
little state of Marvi was made to pay up sixty-five
times, either to the Peshv4 or the Gaikvad: during
forty-six years nearly 224 14khs were obtained, nearly
eight of which were collected in the last nine years.
The mulikgirf of Hall4d in Samvat 1841,1842,1843
amounted to 70,000 Rupees; Sivrim increased it to
80,000Rupees, butBéb4jiadvanced it to98,000Rupees.
The revenues exacted from Kotra were raised by
Sivrém from a small sum to 17,000Rupees, and BAbaji
by endeavouring to keep up to this standard ruined
the little State, so that the chief, unable to keep his
engagement, had to give up his son and five Réjpits
as hostages. At first the Navéb of Jundgad paid only
81,000 Rupees, but in A.0.1785, when troubles ensued
on his murder of the powerful Divin Umarji, he was
forced to pay 50,000 Rupees; subsequently the ex-
_ actions did not come up to 40,000 Rupees, but Bib4ji
settled for six years at an average rate of 75,000 to
76,000 Rupees. Bintvi, which was finally ruined by
this Bystem, was treatcd in preciscly a similar manner.
In short, at the time when Major Walker interfered
matters had reached a climax ; but it will be necessary
to give a more particular account of the events
immediately preceding his famous settlement.
In o.p. 1800, after the war with Ab4 Shelukar,
Govind Rév Gaikv4d farmed the Peshvd’s district
of 'Ahmad4bad, and in this manner obtained the

¢ .
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muldkgirf of the whole peninsula. The farm was
not renewed in the year A.p. 1815, but up to that
time the Géikv4d was at hberty to make his own
terms with his and the Peshva’s tributaries. But
Govind R4v’s death occurred soon after he had
made his settlement with the Peshvé, and, as has
been related, this event was followed by disturb-
ances, one result of which was to put an end for a
time to any mulikgirf expedition. 'When, however,
the British had firmly seated Anand Rév on the
gadf,and pledged themselves to maintain Ravji Apéji’s
Administration, the State once again felt itself strong
enough to levy contributions in the peninsula. The
policy of this Administration with regard to the
muldkgirf was not, however, identical with the
schemes of the Resident, Major Walker. It is true
that the latter desired to see the rcvenues of the
bankrupt State supplied by a just amount of tribute
which had fallen into arrears, and to this end he felt
himself justified in maintaining a large number of
Gdikvédi troops who were engaged in the collection
of tribute, and whom otherwise, according to the
~ treaty, he would and should have disbanded. But
- he did not wish to render the mulékgiri a permanent
- system—on the contrary, he hoped by introducing
into the peninsula a proportion of artillery, a detach-
ment of Kuropeans, and two corps of native infantry,
not only to assist the Gdikvddinrecoveringarrears,but
to effect between him and the chieftains of Kathidvad
a permanent settlement of the tribute due by the latter
to the former, merciful to the one, just to the other,

11 -
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binding on both, andfounded onsuch a basis as would
once for all do away with all necessity for military
incursions, plandering and devastation. Less dis-
interestedly, but quite naturally, he also wished to
extend British influence as far as Kachh, by taking
into the protection of his government certain chief-
tains of K4thidvdd who had entreated his aid against
the exactions of Bhavnagar, Junidgad, Navanagar,
Gaikvad, and Peshva. With these views he sent the
Maulvi, Muhammad Alj, in July 1803 to Kéthidvad to
ascertain how far the different chiefs would submit to
his arbitration; but, owing to the war in Central
India, all action was suspended till May 1807.
Meanwhile the simpler task of collecting present
and past tributes on behalf of the Gdikvid’s govern-
ment was energetically carried out by the minister’s
brother Bibdji. At first his difficulties were consider-
able, for our old friend the Jédgirdir of Kadi
Malhar Riv Gdikvid, who had, after the loss of his
country, been scttled at Nadidd on a good allowance,
evaded his keepers on the 4th Dccember 1802 and
fled vo Kachh Bhij, whence he had plotted to unite
the chieftains of the peninsula against the Gdikvad.
For some time Malhdr Rdv merely intrigned to gain
over the chiefs of Mrvi, Dhringddra, Junigad, and
Pantli; while his relative Mukand Réyv, after losing
Amreli, strengthened his position at Ddmnagar. But
in June Malhir Rdv crossed over from Kachh to the
peninsula, assembled some 5,000 troops, obtained
aid from the Navéb of Junigad, and, advancing from
Dhiri, made an unsuccessful aitempt to take Amreli.
. .
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Then came Babéji’s turn: by September 1808 he
had cither settled with or summoned to their alle-
giance the chieftains of Wénkdner, Réjkot, Gondal,
Kot‘ﬂnt Navanagar, Thén, Mdrvi, Mallia, Vadhvén,
and other states, as well as the K4thi Bhimigs. On
the 11th October Vithoba Pil4ji (Divdnji) surrounded
the Dhari fort.  Malhdr Rév, however, escaped from
there, but was overtaken and defeated by the
same officer at Sabar Kandala, in Bédbridvid ; and
finally, after attempting to make onc more rally
in the Pilitdnd mountainous district, and to
cscape by the help of Vakth Sing, the Bhavnagar
chief, who refused him his aid, he was taken prisoner.
The unfortunate man was subsequently conveyed to
Bombay, where he was kept a prisoner at large, no
longer to disturb the Gaikvad’s State.

Bébdji had still three powerful tributary chiefs to
deal with, n(unoly, Juniagad, Jautpur, and Bhavnagar.
The last of these in this very month of October com-
pounded to pay three years’ dues for all arrears, for
at length the Resident had porsuaded Bébdji to take
a part of that whole which he could not obtain with-
out fighting and trouble. B4b4;ji’s first serious check
occurred in December 1803, while besieging the
fort of Vartoli, which belonged to the Navib of
Jundgad, from whom he claimed two lékhs and a
half. The Navib was too proud to be treated like a
Réjpit, and was scheming to unite the chiefs of
Kéthidvdd under the leadership of Kénoji. Again
at this time Mdrv{, Bikéuer, and Joria Bandar applied
to Major Walker to arbitrate, and the latter perhaps
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hoped that Babéji would pause for British. assistance.
But by March 1804 this officer came to terms with
the Navéb, and proceeded to settle with the chief of
Porbandar, whose refusal to pay was backed by the
assistance of the Jdm of Navanagar, who, after com-
ing to terms with B4b4ji, had again determined to
resist him. A second time Bb4ji was forced to
ask for assistance from the British. Nevertheless
Béb4ji’s first mulikgirf ended as successfully as it
had begun ; and his second expedition, which com-
- menced in April 1805, and of which the siege of
Vadhvén formed the chief feature, was attended
with no reverses. The third great muldkgiri was con-
ducted, not by Béb4ji, but his lieutenant Vithal Rév
Divénji, afterwards Sir Subh4 of Kéthidvad, and as
it was the most lucrative, so also was it the harshest
of the three expeditions.?

Though Béb4ji had not been materially aided by
British arms, the Bombay Government rightly at-
tributed the Géikv4di officers’ successes to the
moral support offered by the Britishalliance. Besides
this, the chiefs of the peninsula had asked for the
protection and interference of the Bombay Govern-
ment, and in any matter permanently affecting the
revenues of the Baroda State that Government
thought that it had the right to regulate the State
action. When therefore, in August 1807, the com-
bined forces of the British and the Géikvéd entered
K4thidvad under the command of Colonel Walker
and B4b4ji, the former officer wasinstructed to invite
the principal chiefs of the peninsula to meet him

¢
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and B4bdji at Gidtd, in the Mirvi tdluka, in order
that the terms of a permanent settlement of the
Géikvéd’s muldkgirf claims might be discussed.
By the 15th of May 1808 the settlement was ef-
fected. Colonel Walker’s task had been a difficult
one ; for the Bhimiés (lords of the soil) imagined that
the British designed to oust the Géikvéd, and that
their support of the settlement would bring them
very easy terms, while the demands of the Baroda
government were incompatible with the exhausted
condition of Kéthidv4d, The permanent settlement
brought in to the Gdikvad’s government Rs. 9,79,882,
a little more than Sivrdm’s collections in A.p. 1798,
and somewhat less than Bdb4ji’s first mulikgiri.?
Eventually this settlement of Colonel Walker’s had
to be modified, for the regular payment of the
tiibutes imposed was beyond the power of the
chiefs ; but it formed the basis of all succeeding ar-
rangements with Kathidvdd, and bore this great and
good result—that the whole land by degrees enjoyed
order, peace, and quiet; no armies traversed the
country to burn and pillage, and no extortions gave
rise to retaliation. By degrees—much more gradual,
it is true, than Colonel Walker hoped—an end was
put to the custom of female infanticide among the
Jhédejd and Jetvd Réjpits ; and by degrees the prac-
tice of piracy and wrecking among the small states
on the sea-coast was discontinued.

The pacification of the numerous little states and
various turbulent tribes of K4thidv4d was not effect-
ed without some cost and bloodshed, as may easily
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be imagined. The transition from constant turmoil
to uninterrupted quiet was marked by a whole series
of disturbances, and it cannot be denied that the
British spared no pains to fulfil the great task they
had undertaken. Colonel Walker’s settlement was
successfully carried out, mainly by reason of the
vigorous manner in which he captured the strong fort
of Kandorna, belonging to Porbandar. In 1808 Fate
Muhammad, then powerful in Kachh, thought to
attack Navanagar with the aid of the chief of Miirvi,
but British remonstrances made him pause. In that
and the next ycar the Kéthis in Awreli devastated
Bébipiira and the kasba of Kodindd, acting with the
assistance of the chief of Khdundhddar, a strong place
which had to be taken. At the same time the pirati-
cal statesin Okhamandal gave mueh trouble, and in
particular the little fort of Posetra, which had to be
taken and destroyed twice,in 1809 and 1811. The
capture of the fort and city of M4llid was an extraordi-
nary achicvement, attended with considerable loss of
life to the British troops. In1812the Jdm of Nava-"
nagar had to be brought to reason by the sight of a
military demonstration made against his capital.
The year 1813 was ono of the suddest in the an-
nals of Kéthidvdd. Famine devastated the land,
and pestilence followed the famine, so that it is
thought that one-fourth of the inhabitants perished.
The mulikgirfs of Béb4ji had gone a good way
towards impoverishing the State ; Major Walker’s
set¢lement had perpetnated a high rate of tribute ;
’the“Géikvéd’s officers had entered on a systeny of
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encroachment, and it is said that now and after,
Vithal Rév Divénji, created Sir Subhd in 1811,
though officiating in that capacity from the time of
the settlement, introduced creatures of his own into
the office of minister to each of the chiefs, and
through their means preyed on the zamindérs. The
consequence of all this was that a few years after
1818 it had to be rocorded that ¢ Kéthidvdd had
declined from great prosperity to extreme misery.”

One cause of this wretched state of things—a state
Colonel Walker had certainly never contemplated
as possible—was that the land was no longer under
one government. In making a settlement between
the Gdikvdd and the chiefs of K4thidvdd, the Bombay
Government had omitted to consider that over a
great part of the peninsula the Gédikvid exercised
the muldkgiri rights not for himself, but as the
farmer of the Peshv’s revenue. DBédji Rdv resented
the settlement as an invasion of his rights, and
when the lease of the Ahmadibdd farm came to
an end he introduced his own officers into the
peninsula, and these soon made mischief. Inconse-
quence of their intrigues, the Khawés chiefs of Jarid*
and Amvén rebelled against the chief of Navanagar
in 1814, and had to be reduced the next year by
Colonel East. At the same time the Wéighers of
Okhamandal crossed the Rann, and with the aid of
the Thikdir of Kdméria did much damage, till
Govind Rdv Mém4 drove them back, their ally the
Thékdr losing his life and his fort:

From 1814-6 the interference of the Peshvd’s
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" officers continued to confuse matters, none the less
that they disseminated among the chiefs rumours
that the rule of the Gdikv4d had come to an end, and
that the permanent settlement was void. Besides,
when the lease of the Ahmadéb4d farin lapsed, the
Géikvad naturally withdrew half his troops, by whom
the police work had hitherto been mainly done, the
battalion of British soldiers being reserved for diffi-
cult operations ; and the Peshvd would make no ar-
rangements for the defence of the country. In spite,
however, of this absence of support, and in order
to get rid of the Peshvd’s officers, the Bombay Gov-
ernment in 1816 consented to collect his tribute for
him at the settlement rate, free of all cost and charges,
though his jamébandi actually exceeded that of the
Géikv4d by nearly three thousand rupees, amounting
in fact to Rs 5,62,939. Not long after this the
difficulty of the Bombay Govgrnment terminated
unexpectedly. By an arrangement made at Poona,
and in order to avoid a complete rupture, Bdji Riv
consented to subsidize British troops, and in part
payment for these troops he assigned to the Hon-
*ourable Company his rights in Kathidvad.

Fate Sing was hard pressed by the Bombay Gov-
ernment to surrender his portion of the muldkgiri
tributes in part payment of the increased subsidiary
force entertained by the Géikvid. He was firm in
resisting the solicitation, but his brother Say4ji R4v,
soonafter he had ascendedthe gadi, was persuaded by
Mr. Elphinstone to leave the whole management' of
the* country to the British. In other words, the
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G4ikvéd parted with his rights to interfere in K4thi4-
v4d, (except where he possessed full sovereignty,)
on condition that his revenues arising from the tri-
butes of the chiefs should be punctually paid him in
accordance with the (revised) settlement of Major
Walker. Thus the Gdikvdd lost the power of in-
creasing his territories in Kéthifivdd by the surrep-
titious methods employed by the Sir Sibh4, Vithal
R4v Div4nji; he lost some semblance of suzerainty ;
but he gained the certainty of a large revenue ob-
tained without expense and without the need of any
military expeditions of the worst possible type.

A portion of the Gédikvdd’s troops employed in
the M4lwa war was settled in Kdthidvdd. By the
4th article of the treaty, 21st April 1805, “one bat-
talion of these (the subsidiary) forces, or such pro-
portion of them as the performance of the services
may rcquiro, were to proceed to'Kéthidvdd when
there may be a real nccessity for it,”” the Bombay Go-
vernment remaining the jadge of the degree of neces-
sity. In other words, the British held themselves
responsible for the maintenance of order in the land.

The revenues accruing to the Géikvéd from the
Kiéthidvdd States are given in Appendix VIII.

Note 1, p. 124.—In Bibiji’s three great mulakgiri expeditions
there were collected, including arrears, over 51 lakhs.

Note 3, p, 125.—This sum included the PeshvA’s share collected
by the Gaikvéd 4s a portion of the Ahmadahéd district farmed out
tohim, The share of each State is alluded to in page 128, In
1842 the Gaikvid’s skare amounted to Rs. 8,76,121, but the
tribute from Bhavnagar had been ceded to the British in part
payment for subsidised troops.
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CHAPTER XYV.

HOW SiTARAM FELL—FATE SING BECAME REGENT—AND
THE STATE WAS ALMOST FREED OF DEBT.

On the 2nd October 1804 the lease of the Ahmadé-

bdd farm was renewed for

the last tinie and again
nominally to Bhagwant Rdv Géaikvid for ten years at
4% 14khs perannum. The Peshvd, however, gave his
-consent most reluctantly, for already his jealousy of
the British was greater than his fears of their power,

* On the 21st April 1805 the “ definitivo treaty”’
was completed.” It consohdated the subsidiary
treaty of 1802 and was framecd in termg consonant
with the treaty of Bassein.

At this timo the Géikvid’s government owed
the Honourable Company Rs. 41,58,732, and the
rassads of certain districts were granted till payment -
for the same should be made. The subsidiary force
was raised to 8,000 ipfantry and a company of
European artillery, and when, in the opmion of
the British, circumstances needed it, a battalion
was to be employed in KdthiAvdd. The territories
ceded for the maintenance of these troops were
to be worth Rs, 11,70,000, excluding the cessioun
of ‘the Chauriasi, Chickli, the Surat Chauth, and

©
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Keda; they comprised Dholkd valued at 4% 1dkhs,
Nadidd 13 14khs, Vijdpér and Métar each 1
14kh and 80 thousand Rupees, Monde 1 lékh
and 10 thousand Rupees. There were also ceded
the Tappa of Kadf, valued at 25 thousand Rupees,
the Khim Kathodore at 50 thousand Rupees. Forthe
remaining 14kh as a temporary measure varats were
granted on K4thidvad and afterwards the Géikvdd’s
government begged hard that money payment
might be made for this amount instead of territorial
cession, but in vain. The Gdikvad’s government
contended that many of these districts, especially
Dholk4, were worth much more than the valuation
which was made on the average outcome of the
preceding three years; while the Bombay Govern-
ment complained that, owing to the deductions made
for ddmél4 and indmi villages, the full sum was any-
thing but realized. Conscquently in July 1808, (we
anticipate events,) revenues worth 1,76,168 Rupees
were ceded in addition to those mentioned: the
Gbansdind of Bhdvnagar worth 74,500 Rupees, a
varat in Nadidd 50,000 Rupees, Sokhra S4drd Maktej
1,450 Rupees, Haiderdbdd 1,000 Rupees. Certain
démdla (alienated) villages were also resumed in
Dholkd worth 15,800 Rupees, in Modhera 900, in
Matar 9,250, in Vijapdr 6,702, and in Rangar Ghét
3,750 Rupees, besides Sidbhénji Pol’s holding in
Setva Métar of 950 Rs., and his villages in pergana
Modhera of 11,860 Rupees. 1t remains to note
further, certain exzchanges of territory just before the
fall of the Peshva.! ’
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The Resident, it har been related in the last chap-
ter but one, had early resolved to effect a reform in
the army, but had been restrained by a wish to see
the completion of the muldkgirf in Kéthiavdd, by
means of which certain valuable arrears would be
collected which might go towards the payment of
the troops and the repayment of State debts. But
in the matter of army reform and indeed of all re-
forms of expenditure he found himself thwarted by
the minister S{t4rim, whose conduct gave him and
the Bombay Government such displeasure that it
was resolved to deprive him of his great power, and
the first step towards this end was to add to the
number of the Commission who ruled on behalf of
the Mahéréja, the latter’s younger brother Fate Sing,
whom it was decided to proclaim Regent, Prathinidhi
or Mutélik, a distinctly subordinate post with powers
not greater than those of the Resident. Accordingly
on the 3rd of April 1806, he
was purchased back from
the god Khandob4 by the ceremony called T'dl4, that
is, he was weighed against silver and gold, four thou-
sand five hundred rupees and a hundred Venetians,
and the precious metals were distributed among the
Bréhmans., The first Dérbar under the new Com-
mission was held about the 3rd February 1807, and
Fate Sing joined it in May.

The second step was to recall B&b4ji from Kéthia-
v4d and by degrees to entrust him with the executive
powers of which his nephew Sitfirfm was deprived.

He was therefore appointed Khasgivéld on a salary
¢

A. D. 1806.
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for himself and his office of 1,22,901 Rupees.

In the early portion of the year 1807, a partial
reform of the army was ac-
tually begun. It has been
estimated by Mr. Jonathan Duncan, Governor of
Bombay, that previous to the advent of the British,
the army cost the State sixty ldkhs a year, and the
hope of his Government was to reduco this sum to
twelve likhs on the entertainment of subsidised
troops. Colonel Walker, after paying up their
arrears, had discharged the Arabs of Baroda; butthere
he had stopped in his reforms because of the Malvé
war, the gref\t muldkgirf of Béb4ji, and the impossi-
bility of paying off arrears. It weuld be too tedious
to explain all about these wonderful arrcars, which
in 1804-5 amounted to more than thirty-eight and a
half I4khs, and in 1807 rose to ncarly seventy-three
and a half likhs, for 1t appears that when payment was
made, arrears were paid at twelve annas in the rupee,
and that many of the demands were so fraudulent
that the Resident hoped to discharge the whole dues
for thirty ldkhs. Suffice it to say that a loan was
raised in 1807, under the guarantee of the British,
and all arrears paid off. Bab4ji’s muldkgiri
force had all this while cost the State enormous sums,
though in itself it was little better than useless for
real war, consisting thongh it did of 8 guns, over a
thousand Arabs and Hindusténis, 7,200 foot and
9,240 horse &c., and costing twenty-seven 18khs &
year, durmg the years 1803 and 1804, but more than
that in 1806. In fact even after the reduction of

10 .
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the Arabs of Baroda the yearly cost of the army had
been nearly forty-three l4khs, but by the reform of
1807-8 it was reduced to little more than twenty-
four l4khs, or according to some returns less than
twenty-three 14khs—a wholesome reduction but still
one which left much to perform. It was now deter-
mined to pay the army regnlarly twice a year, and by
degrees to resume the landed jaildd, worthabout five
and a half 14khs, assigned to the principal officers.

The Divan Sit4rdm had opposed these healthy mea-
sures of reform as far as he could, and his conduct
formed a contrast to that of Babaji, under whose ad-
ministration in 1807, peculations amounting to thirty
14khs had been discovered. A treachcrous corres-
pondence with one Héfiz Ghulim Hassan now came
to light and the Minister’s fall was determined.

In 1808, Colonel Walker decided that the different
forts in the State should be
placed under Killedars, and
no longer be held by the Mdmlatdérs; so he called
on Bdbdji to give up his charge of Visnagar and
Vira, Sitarim that of Sankhedd, Patan, Ahmad4ibid,
and other places. The former complied, but the
latter, encouraged by his foolish friends and relatives
Sakhérdm and Kakaji, and by his mutinous sibandi
troops, refused to do so till he had been paid sixteen
14khs of arrears. Fresh troops were brought up
from Bombay, for it seemed likely that the employ-
ment of force would be required, but finally matters
were settled -by the payment through the Bombay
Government of eight l4khs fo the sibandi and three

A.D. 1808,
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to Sitdrdm. He himself declined to pay what he owed
the State, for he justly remarked, ¢ what he had de-
voured was irrecoverable.”” However the forts were
surrendered, and in March 1809 the Divédn’s three
pighs were taken from him, while he himself was
placed under restraint on his refusal to proceed to
the M4hi Kint4, lest he should countenance the
threatened rising of his Birgirs in Baroda, of whom
five hundred were dismissed : his daita or salary of
one and a half l4khs was also stopped, and his re-
latives sent to a distance. Sakhdrém went to Dhér at
the request of the Rénf Gahena Bii, there to support
the Rénf’s mece Min4 Bif, who, as widow of the un-
fortunate Anand Riv, was fighting for her infant
son against Moréri Rav, the illegitimate offspring of
Yeshvdnt R4v Powér. Sakharfm died without bring-
ing his schemes to a successful issue, and the task
wag continued by another Gdikvadi officer connected
with the Divin’s family named Béipu Réghunith.?
But later we find the little State at the mercy of the
wretch who had aided and tormented Kénoji—Mu-
hammad Abdd, the lame Arab. Thas was completed
the partial reform of the army, and the disgrace of
Sitdrdm. The latter now became the bitter enemy
of the British and of the party in Baroda attached to
the British, of whom the acknowledged head was
Gangddhar Shéstri, and we shall see how much this
man did to thwart and vex his opponents.

On the 28th November 1810 B4b4ji Apdji died,
“ exhorting Fate Sing (in

A.p, 1810. nobleand pathetic language)
[]
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to remember sall that the British alliance had done
for him.”% Hisson Vithal R4v Bh4u succeeded him,
and held the post for two years, but was unable to
carry on the work. Room was accordingly made for
Gangddhar Shdstri, who in 1813 obtained the title
of Mutélik and a salary of sixty thousand Rupees.
Vithal Rév Div4nji, who had played an active part
in the Kadf war and the great mulikgirfs, was con-
firmed as Sir Sublh4 of K4thidvAd.

By the 12th (or 29th) of February 1812 the Géikvid
government, thanks to the
firm counsels of Colonel
Walker and of Captain Carnac, his worthy successor
and for some time locum tenens,* had liquidated the
whole of its enormous debt to the Honourable Com-
pany. The Bombay Government had then almost
arrived at the determination to abandon all active
interference with the State, when a series of unto-
ward events occurred which long postponed this
desirable policy.

For the expenses of the troops which had not been
paid by cession of territory, for the payment of arrears
to the mutinous Arabs of Baroda, for the payment
of Sindia’s claims on the Ahmad4db4d farm, to ransom
Fate Sing, to pay off arrears due to the army, for
the maintenance of Malh4r Riv, the British had ad- .
vanced at one time and another 67,08,034 Rupees,
and now the whole sum had been paid off.

But as one of the most notable things in the his-
tory of this State is the manner in which it got clear
of its financial difficulties, a short account of the pro-

t
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cess 'must be given, however tedious it may
prove.

Before the British stepped in, the yevenues of the
State had amounted to fifty-five or fifty-seven ldkhs,
and for some time the maintenance of the army had
been valued at something near sixty 14khs, the total
expenditure at about eighty-three l4khs, that is, the
State expenses were supposed to exceed its receipts
by nearly thirty l4khs. Nothing more hopeless can
be conceived than the state of this country, mort-
gaged as 1t was all over to creditors, while the sov-
ereign and his representatives were alienating large
and valuable districts to relatives or favourites. The
Baroda State was afterwards rescued from its miser-
able condition when its rulers had already become
indifferent through despair, not in quiet times, for
the task would then have been an easy one to a great
power, but in a crisis which was upsetting kingdoms
throughout the continent.

Besides advancing moncy itself, the Honourable
Company obtained good terms for the State by the
bahdndari system, which has already been described,
that 1s, it stood security to certain bankers that their
advances should be repaid, advances which amounted
at one time to 88,48,510 Rupees. In addition to the
debts for therepayment of whichthe Honourable Com-
pany stood security, there were sums owing to shroffs,
especially to Hari Bhakti, exceeding thirty-one likhs.

A brief statement may now be given of the plan
adopted to get rid of these encumbrances. It rested
naturally on the most rigid economy, by means of

?
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which the expenditure was curtailed so that it fell far
below the yearly receipts, instead of exceeding them
by thirty 14khs. At first, however, very slow way
was made, as the country was heavily mortgaged, and
subsequently for some time the wars of Sindia, the
Peshvé and Holkar necessitated a high rate of ex-
penditure. In 1801-2, excluding muldkgiri collec-
tions, but including the new acquisitions of Kédi,
Dehganm, &c., the total reccipts exceeded fifty-eight
14khs, and the totul disbursements were over fifty-
four and a half 14khs. Buat from the fifty-eight ldkhs
must be deducted the value of territories bestowed
in inam or ceded for troops, valued at over fourteen
ldkhs, and temporary alicnations to creditors of about
nineteen ldkhs, so that the doficits for that year were
nearly twenty-eight ldkhs, and in the following year
(1802-8) nearly twenty-four ldkhs.

After this time matters began to improve, and to-
wards the end of 1808 the debt to the Honourable
Company fell short of 23 14khs, and that to guaran-
teed creditors but little exceeded 12% 14khs. In
order to reduce all other claims Colonel Walker in
1807-8 raised a large loan with which to wipe out
long outstanding debts, and at the same time adopt-
ed the strange financial step “of raising annual
loans in aid of the government which operated by
appropriating the disposable revenue of the year to
discharge the loan of the year preceding, while a
new loan was raised to discharge the establishments
of that year which had partially fallen into arrears.”
The loan thus raised in 1807-8 exceeded 71} 14khs,
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and thus at the end of 1808 the total debts of the
State, including the sums due to the Honorable
Company and the guarantecd creditors, amounted to
Rs. 1,55,98,339. Between this time and 1811-12
fresh loans were yearly raised exceeding 2,05,82,000
Rupees, so that the State before the end of that
period owed over Rs. 3,61,31,000; but during
that period it also liquidated ycar by year over ,
Rs. 3,22,14,000. Thus the entire debt of the State
in 1812 fell short of the moderate sum of 28 14khs.

This liquidation was possible, because by rigid re-
straint the disbursements were made to fall short
of the receipts ; in 1808-9 by nearly 16 ldkhs and
the next year by nearly 19 likhs, the third by nearly
22% 16khs, the next by over 193 ldkhs. During that
time, too, while the disbursements had slowly in-
creased from 50 to 514 ldkhs, the gross revenues
had risen from 664 to 724 and 70 ldkhs.

A real cffort had been made and a substantial re-
ward followed it, but unfortunately, as we shall see
later on, after this time a change for the worse took
placo, and gradually the State once again got into
difficulties, Still the period of danger had been
successfully passed, and the credit therefore should
not be denied to Colonel Walker and his assistant
Gangddhar Shéstri.

The first Resident’s conception of economy may
be realized by contemplating the sums which they
fixed for the different departments and for the sa-
laries of the chief officers of the State. For example,
the civil establishment cost Rs. 2,75,000, but it soon

a
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rose to nearly 4 14khs ; the G4ikv4d’s family was al-
lowed Rs. 4,238,000 ; the revenye charges, religious
expenses, and pensions were to be kept within 5%
lékhs. The curious thing is that these sums were
not much exceeded till after the year 1812, and
that any infringement of the rule laid down was
strictly noticed, whoever the faulty one might be.
When Fate Sing increased his pdgé he was reproved
and ordered to diminish it ; when Sftdrdm tried to
evade the arrangements of the Resident he was dis-
graced. But it was not merely by diminishing ex-
penditure that the reform was carried- out; it was
also by altering the method of collecting revenue, by
detecting and to some cxtent abolishing peculation,
and by doing away with farmers of revenue.

Note 1, p. 131.—1t is difficult to strike a trne balance of the
loss and gain which befell the Gaikvidl’s government during the
first twenty yoars of this century. A foreign army was subsidised,
and the fault does not lie with the Bombay Government that
the mulitary expendilure was not moro rapidly reduced. The
revennes from Kathivdd were fixed once for all as were those
from other small statcs, and therofore thoy were no longer
subject to increase, buton the other hand they were regularly
paid. The G4ikvad did not partake im any territorial gain for the
expensive if inefficient aid he gavein the Mdlvd war. But whon
the Peshvd was dispossessed of his portion of Gujarit he was
absolved from all payment of tribute, whilo a clean sweep was
made of outstanding accounts betwecn Peshv4d and Géikvad,
which, if the former had had the power, he would have used
to crush his old rival. By the support of tho British he was
enabled to levy large arrears from Kathiavid, while by their
prompt and comstant assistance in lending money and regulating
egpenditure, the State was saved from ternble financial embar-
rassments. A Resident of Baroda has estimated the territorial

.
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acquisitions of the Géikvéd between1801-1820 thus : Kadi worth 53
14khs ; Kapadwanj 52,000Bs. ; Dehgaum1,87,000 Rs. ; 2nd,Sankheda
1 1akh; 8rd, Kodindd worth 80,000 Rs., and for a time tribute
from Navanagar and Suriabandar, worth 1 14kh; 4th, Bet and
Okhamandal 25,000 Rs. He also estimates the increase of tribute
from K4thidvad at 1,77,000 Rs., Dhiri 23,000 Rs., and of tribute
from Pahlanpir at 25,000 Rs., with the nevoer regularly paid ghéns-
dana of Ciimbay at 5,000 Rs. On the whole therefore the British
alliance was favourable to the Baroda State, even if it be not
considered that henceforth peace was ensured to it. i
Note 2, p.135.—It was naturally family intercst which
prompted the Rini Gahena Bii to interfere in the dissensions at
Dhér. But, later on, it can scarcely bo doubted that tho Géikvad
pressed hard on tho little State for payment for services done.
If the British had not interfered, perhaps the little Powér Prince
would have been swallowed up by s cousin of Baroda.

Note 3, p. 186.—The deathbed scone of the veteran soldier
and statesman addressing the young Regent is most affecting.

Note +, p. 136.—Colonel Wulker left Baroda on sick leave early
in1809. He returncd for a short time, but finally left India
in 1810, Colonel Walker made so great a name for himself, that
it would be superfluous in this short history to give him the
praise that is his due, ’
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CHAPTER XVI.

HOW TWO PARTIES WERE FORMED IN BARODA, AND HOW
THE STATE WAS AFFECTED BY THE STRUGGLE
BETWEEN THE BRITISH AND THE PESHVA—THE
MURDER OF GANGADHAR SHASTRA.

We noticed that when the Gikvid’s government
had cleared itsclf of its debts to the Honourable
Company, the Bombay Government expressed a
desire to retire from its close interference with the
affairs of the State, but was prevented from doing
80 by a series of untoward events,

Kénoji had been permitted to return to the
Baroda State and to dwell at Pddra, avillage not far
distant from the capital, where not many years ago
Malh4r Rév Gdikv4d was long kept a State prisoner.
In 1812 this restless intriguer made his last attempt
to disturb the government. The Réni Takhat B4i
too once more began to make mischief and abetted
his plans, but the prime mover was the Jdm Jesaji of
Navanagar, who had got into trouble with the Bri-
tish, and wished to divert
their attention by creating
a disturbance in Gujardt. He accordingly promised
Kinoji his assistance in money and arms, and
claimed for a reward, in case of success, territories
near Vijipidr; but when he had come to terms with
the British he quickly abandoned his foolish partner.

.

A. D. 1812.
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Sit4rdm knew of the plot, but he also recognized
its futility, and the Rén{ Gahena Béi would have
nothing to say to it. The main lines of the con-
spiracy were these :—Mirkhén Pathén’s services and
those of troops from Mé4lvd and Gujardt were to
be purchased with the Jim’s money ; Rémdin Pathén
was to assist from Lunéw4d4, Mahommad Abdd from
Dhér ; the Kolis of Gujardt could not be got to rise,
but Jamadir Uméar with one thousand original
Arabs and the powerful thdnddir Abdidl Rahiman
promised their help, and tho Kolfs on the Mahf had
none of the scruples of their brethren. At Pidra
Kénoji had ready to move 125 horse and 150 foot,
and he expected some Arabs from Nawanagar. The
Resident was in Kithidvid, and the capital was de-
nuded of troops : the Kolis were to attack the
minister’s house, the Arabs tho Residency and the
neighbouring house of the Shéstrf: Takhat B4f was
to open a wicket-gate which would give admittance
into the citadel to Kénoji and his followers. But
by degrees all the details of the plot had become
known at the Residency, and a few days before the
attempt to seize the capital was to be made, Captain
Ballantine, with a small force, surrounded Pddra and
arrested Kénoji, when the whole affair came to
nothing. A short time after, Kanoji was transported
to Surat, then to Bombay, and finally to Madras,
whence he never returned. A strict watch was
henceforth kept on the Rénf Takhat B4 : she was
even confined for a time and no trust was placed in
ber oaths to the Shéstrf, sworn over the tdls{ planf,
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or in the efficiency of her bard ; but she was spared
for the sake of the poor Mahdr4jd, who was very
fond of her. Still she resented the indignity she
was put to, and soon again plotted, this time with
Sitdrdm, to undo the Sh4stri; and Sit4rim was
ready to meet her half-way, because he hoped to re-
gain his old post by crushing the British party at
Baroda through the aid of the Peshvd Baji Rév.
Between the latter and tho British matters were
approaching a crisis. It is a matter of general his-
tory that Bdji Riv by the trcaty of Bassein lost the
position the Peshvd had once held of head to a con-
federacy of Marithd princes, and that some years
later his policy was dictated by a wish to recover his
lost authority., Passing by tho general question, let
us therefore inquire what his policy was with regard
to the Gdikvdd. Its ruling motive was the desire
of once more acquiring the allegiance of this
prince, with whom he could no longer correspond
directly, but only through the medium of the
Resident at his court, a prince who still paid him a
fixed sum which once represented a tribute, but who
no longer assisted him with troops, a prince who still
had to pay him a nazarén4 after investiture, but not
onefixed according to his wishes, while the succession
could no longer be determined by the Poona Court.
To regain his authority he had two weapons at hand.
In 1814 the lease of the Ahmad4b4d faim would
expire,and by not renewing ithe would be enabled to
interfere with the administration of the G4ikvé4d in a
thousand ways ; besides, as has beer remarked in the
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chapter on the Muldkgiri, his rights in K4thiavid
had been seriously invdded by the Settlement and in
other ways,and he had an insult to avenge. Secondly,
the Peshvé had certain money claims on the Géikv4d
which had not been settled, and by using these care-
fully he might induce that prince to supplicate him
to return to his old relations with the Baroda State.
Baroda itself was divided into two parties; the
one relied on the British alliance and was headed by
Gangddhar Shéstri ; the other, which may in a sense
be termed the patriotic party, was headed by the
disgraced Divén Sit4r4m and the Rdn{ Takhat B4,
and behind these there was no doubt a strong party
in the Palace. As the political contest grew fiercer,
the Mahdr4jé, if he can be called a responsible per-
son and not the mere tool of his favourite Rénf, ex-
pressed a wish to side with the Peshv4, and the lat-
ter openly asserted that he (Anand Rév) was unright-
eously deprived of power by the British because he
was not friendly disposed to them. During the first
years of his rule as Regent, Fate Sing had becn most
obedient to the Shéstri’s advice ; but of late he had
shown signs of restiveness, and a desire to surrender
himself to loose pleasures and foolish friends, which
had alarmed the Resident, and had led him to advise
the Bombay Government not to abandon for some
time that strict supervision which they half wished
to relinquish. Still during the Shéstri’s embassy
to Poona, Fate Sing, though closely watched, showed
. 10 signs of any feeling but one consonant with,

\
i the success of the mission. For certain reasons,
19
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however, the Bombay Government did not give him
the support he thought that he had the right to ex-
pect, and he might on this account have been dis-
appointed. But assuredly later on, however great his
grief and rage at the foul murder of his servant, the
influence of a strong party in the Palace,and probably
the counsels of Gahena B, influenced his subsequent
policy. If Takhat B4l was moved by hatred, Sitdrdm
was 8o by ambition: for B4ji Rdv, as time went
on, laid elaim to the old right, as he termed it, of
appointing the Divén of Baroda, and Sitéram was
bidding for the post.

Sit4rim’s party, or rather Sitdrim himself, had
agents both at Poona and Bombay :in the former
place Govind Rév, Bandoji Gi4ikvéd, and Bhagvant
R4y, the illegitimate son of the late Maharj4, who
was furnished with means by the Réinf Gahena B4i, in
the latter Hifiz Muhammad D4ud and Mahipat Rév,
Govind R4v’s brother-in-law, who corresponded
with the ex-minister through Hari Bhakti in
Baroda, and obtained for him the closest kept
secrets of the Bombay Secretariat. In Baroda
itself Sitdrdm would repair to Takhat B4f by night
in disguise, and concert with her how to move the
Mahér4ja ; and poor Anand Rév was at one time per-
suaded to make preparations for starting to Poona,
preparations which, itis needless to say,were speedily
stopped by the Resident at Fate Sing’s request.
Above all the Shastri feared the Poona Resident’s
head clerk, Kharsedji Shet Modi, to whom he
believed the farm of Ahmad4b4d was really promised,
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though nominally it was to be granted to Vithal
Narsing, alias Trimbakji Dénglia.

A vakil of Fate Sing named Bépu Mair4l baving
failed to bring Baji Rav to
terms, Gangéddhar Shastri
procecded in 1814, under a British safeguard, on
a mission to Poona, accompanied by a large and
expensive retinue, with the twofold object of obtain-
ing therenewal of the farm and the settlement of'the
money claims. The first object was from the outset
beyond obtainment, for the Peshvd, after what had
passed, naturally feared lest a third renewal would
lead to the belicf that the districts had been alienated
for mouney payment. But tho claims, what were
they ? A full answer would take us back through the
whole history of the Gdikvids from the battle at
Dhodap to the arrival of the DBritish. To be brief,
however, Mountstuart Elphinstone, Resident at Poona
in A.p. 1816, proved that thetribute of the Géikvad to
the Peshvd had been instituted fifty-three years, dur-
ing forty-three of which it had not fluctuated —that is,
of the first thirty-three years tributc had been paid
for twenty-one and remitted for ten, chicfly the time
when Fate Sing was being leniently treated to induce
him not to side with the British (the records for two
years had beenlostordestroyed), and thesame remark
applied to the remission for service. In A.n. 1798 a
settlement had been arrived at, when it was found that
during the previous years Rs. 4,02,51,934 had become
due, and that Rs. 2,96,98,644 had been paid, while Rg.
65,70,500 had beenremitted, so that the residue then

A. D, 1814,
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due amounted to Rs. 39,82,789. After this year the
Géikvédneverpaid the Peshvda farthing,and thePesh-
vé contended that he should every year have received
as tribute Rs. 7,79,000, and as remission for service
Rs. 6,75,000, or for eightecn years a total of Rs.
2,61,72,000. Fate Sing, on the other hand, denied
that he should pay anything for remission of service,
because the British,and not the Peshvi, now defended
him, and it was the prince’s troops he had subsidized.
But Gangédbar Shéstri acknowledged the justice of
these claims, and, had the fall of the Peshvd not inter-
vened, probably they would have been enforced.
Further, the Peshvi asked for tribute fortheterritorics
won from the Béabi at one l14kh a year for fifty years,
i. e. half a crore. Tate Sing contended that the
expense of keeping the abddi or tranquillity of this
pakhd Mewdssi country had not been considered, and
that the Bibi Mahéls had becn ceded to him once and
for all—a statement which was probably true, as it
was supported by signed agrcements. TFinally the
Peshv4 had received no nazardng at the accession of
Anand Rév, and for this he demanded the sum reco-
vered from Govind Rav, namely, Rupees 56,38,001,
the largest nazarénd ever paid by a Géikvid. Fate
Sing pleaded the poverty of the State, which had
always hitherto been taken into consideration. There
were other miscellaneous demands, varying from half
a crore to three elephants and five horses. Ian short
the Peshvé’s demands exceeded four and a half crores.
But, strange to relate, Fate Sing had counter-claims
of the same magnitude, of which the greatest and
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most presentable was his share in the revenues of
Broach, transferred against his will from the Gikvéd
to the British, and from them to Sindia, and valued
by him at five and a half1ikhs per annum. For the
war, too, against Ab4 Shelikar, undertaken at the
Peshvé’s bidding, he demanded Rs. 1,65,000. The
Peshvé opposed to the latter claim that the Gdikvid
had been sufficiently recompensed by the long tenure
of the Ahmad4b4d farm, but to the former claim he
had less to say, for in extant treatics he had granted
that the transfer of Broach was a questionable act.

The sums at stake were enormous, and a decision
entirely adverse to the Gdikvdd would have ruined
his State just as it was emerging out of its difficul-
tics. No doubt it was hoped that the British Gov-
ernment would not allow its ally and protegé to suffer,
and on this hope Fate Sing strongly rclied; for in
the event of tho contracting parties not settling, the
arbitration by express stipulation in the treaty of
Bussein in 1805, rested with this Government. But
the British were most unwilling to interfere, for at
this period there was an intense reluctance to drive
Biji Riv to too great straits, so every inducement
was held out to the Peshvd and Géikvad to arrange
the matter amicably.

Gangddhar Shéstri hoped to satisfy all the Pesh-
v&’s claims by the payment of,50 l4khs, and to per-
suade him to renew the Ahmadébéad farm for five years
at the greatly increased rate of 8 14khs a year. The
Peshvé never seriously entered into the latter ques;
tion, and in October the farm was actually leased to
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Trimbakji Dangli4d. During this the esrly stage of
the discussion, he not only showed the greatest de-
testation of the Shéstri, but pretended to consider
that Sitdrdm should be restored ; and in the month
of September the ex-minister was kept in confinement
at Baroda, that he might no longer frustrate the
Shéstri’s policy by offers to outbid him—offers
made to the Peshvd through his emissary Bandoji.
The latter worthy Mr. Elphinstone, in October, re-
quested B4ji Riv to dismiss together with Bhagvant
R4v, or else to let the Shdstri return. Indeed Gan-
gédhar Shastri himself had madoe some preparations
for departure, when of a sudden Béji Rav changed his
tactics. Heentered into a secret negotiation with the
emissary, (who had-gained Mr. Elphinstone’s cordial
sanction to his entertaining it), and while obtaining
his consent to pay up thirty-nine l4khs of arrcars with
interest, hepretended to wish to settle all other claims
for ome crore of rupees, and ten likhs a year as tri-
bute for the future. The Shéstr{ offered in lieu of
this to surrender territory worthseven likhs a year,
and, (May 1815,) thinking that Fato Sing would not
accede to this, he begged Mr. Elphinstone to per-
suade him to do so.
The wily Peshvd played on the vanity of Gangédhar
Shéstrf. He appeared to
August 1815, considerthequeslt)iinofterri-
torial cession, professed great admiration for the cmis-
sary’s talents, and proposed that his son should marry
his (the Peshv#’s) wife’s sister ; more, that he should
leave Fate Sing to become divén at Poona. The
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_poor Shéstri at first agreed to the marri.ge schems,
and preparations for its celebration at Ndsik were
well advanced, when he began to draw back in some
alarm at not hearing from Fate Sing, and gave ad-
ditional offence by refusing
to allow his wife to visit the
Peshva’s palace, usually the scene of the greatest
debauchery. Vengeance was delayed till the night
of the 14th July. Contrary to his friend Bépu Mai-
rdl’s advice, he had gone almost unaccompanied to
Pandharpir, where B4ji Rév in the evening talked to
him in the most friendly way., Bapu Mairdl was
not with him ; but, without his knowing it, Bandoji,
Sitdrém’s agent, was intheneighbourhood, surround-
ed by armed followers among whom he had scattered
money, and in close consultation with Trimbakji;
and the Shéstriat this very time had withhim a letter
in which Bandojiinformed the Réni Takhat Bii that
under certain contingencies ““ the Shéstri will never
more look that way,” 7.e. Baroda way. At night
Trimbakji Danglif pressed him toattenda ceremonyat
the temple, and, after in vain pleading many excuses
for not going, the Shastr{ went. On his return,
almost unaccompanied, he wasset upon by four or
five persons in disguise, to whom it was thought
that he was pointed out by Sftir4m’s agents, and
almost cut to pieces. !

It is immaterial here to tell with what difficulty
Bépu Mair4l and the Shéstrf’s family rescued them-
selves from the dangerous position they were in;
Low Trimbakji made no real attempt to discover the

A.p. 1815,
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murderers; how Béji Rév, whom the Resident, for
political reasons, would ot accuse of being an ac«
complice in the matter, wavered between a desire to
screen his favourite and the fear of breaking with
the British. Finaily Trimbakji was surrendered
and imprisoned at Th4nd, and Bhagvant Rév and
Bandoji were sent to Fate 8ing (November 1815).
‘When the news of the murder reached Fate Sing,
he was for a time or appeared to be beside himself
with rage and grief, and to console the Shéstri’s
family, appointed to the late minister’s post his
youngest son Bhim4 Shankar, though the work was
carried on by Yeshvant Rdv Ddd4d. But in the Pal-
ace a strong party behaved as if a great triumph had
been gained: even poor Anand Rév was at this time
writing to Bandoji to get the measure of Sftaram’s
elevation to the post carried out, adding, “You are
faithful to the Sarkar, you did what was very right,”
and this when the latter had informed Kékéji, Sft-
4ram’s rclative, ‘“ that the business here has been
completed ; do you commence the duties of Divén.”
And the ex-minister was supported by both the
Rénis Gahena B4f and Takhat B4i, while from Dhér
his servant Bapu Ragunéth held himself ready toin-
vade Gujdrdt if disturbances arose. And from the
state of things at Ahmadab4d it seemed likely that
such would be the case, for the surrender of the
farm to B4ji Riv had been followed by confusion
and lawlessness both in northern Gujarit and in
Kathidvd. The Baroda Resident urged Fate Sing
to proceed against Sitdrdm, but the latter was hard
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to persuade, perhaps, as has been remarked, because
he stood alone in the palace. On the 20th September,
however, the ex-minister was confined to his house
under a guard of English troops, and in April 1816
he was deported to Bom-
bay, mnot to appear again
on the scene for some years.

No serious charge, however, was brought against
Fate Sing, none more serious than that of levity
natural to youth. The old councillors had all
disappeared, and Bechar Mankedés was a poor sub-
stitute who lent the prince money to satisfy his
luxurious pleasures. So (February 1816) Dhdkji
Dadaji was appointed as native agent of the Resi-
dent, but at first the prince regarded him with little
favour. Fate Sing quarrelled with Takhat Bai,
increased the cxpenditure on the army, refused for
some time to let the Resident see the State accounts,
tovk money to scttle matters in a way contrary to the
evident interests of the State—in short, so behaved
that the Bombay Government for the time gave up
the project of abandoning its direct supervision
of the State, as it had becn its real intention to
do, and for a time entertained with pleasure the
thought that Fate Sing was about to make a propo-
sal of retiring to Benares.

Note 1, p. 1561.—Mr. Mill,in his History of India, writes, ¢ The
truth seems to have been that Bandoji was the principal instru-
ment of the crime, but that he acted with the concurrence of the
Peshvé and the co-operation of Trimbak. The share of Bandoji
o the murder was not doubted at Baroda.” The part played by

A. D. 1316.
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the Baroda Court” in the assassination of the Shéstri has been
elsewhere overlooked or understated. This in a measureis owing
10 the exclusive attention paid to the writings of Mr. Elphinstone,
whoso assistant Mr. Grant Duff was.

It is not necessary to waste words in praise of the Shastri.
He was Colonel Walker’s right hand man; all the economical
reforms in the State were either originated or carried out by him ;
it was owing mainly to him that Baroda was not handed over to
the Peshva by Sithram. To the Shéstri's talents and uprightness
not only his life testified but his death. Neither at Baroda norat
Poona could they move this stumbling-block but in one dark way.

A few details relating to the Shastri may here be added. His
father, Krishna Patwardhan, obtained from Govind Rév Giikvad
(1794) the indm village of Wanj as a reward for influencing
through his connection with the Fadke family,the Peshvé to grant
that princo bis killat of Mahdiréja. Gangidhar is said to have
early distinguished himself in the Deccan, and to have been so
strongly recommended to Major Walker by Mir Kehméal-ud-din
that the former took him to Baroda as his head clerk or agent.
Besides, the Shastri’s great literary talents were well known to
Governor Duncan, For his services as Native Agent the British
bestowed on him the indm village of Dindoli, and from the Géik-
vid he got three small villages. Captain Carnac fully believed in
the Shastri’s perfect uprightness, and found an argument in his
favour from the admissions mude in his celebrated ¢ will”’ that he
had received (not dishomestly but to conform to custom) certain
presents, notably one from BAibaji, which he wished to restore at
his death. Tho head of the family 18 Mr. Balvant Riv Vinuyek
Shastri, whose father was not destitute of the literary abilities
which distinguished his ancestor.
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CHAPTER XVII.

EXCHANGE OF GAIKVAD FOR BRITISH TERRITORY—THE
REGENT FATE SING DIES, AND HIS YOUNGER BRO-
THER, SAYAJI RAV, TAKES HIS PLACE.

Matters were meanwhile progressing at Poona.
The murder of the Shistri was, the Governor General
decided, not to influence the claims on the G4ikvad,
though Fate Sing argued that it should, and B4ji
Riv clamoured for much higher terms than the
cession of territory worth seven 14khs, for the discus-
sion had been running five years and no payment of
tribute had meanwhile been made. But a quarrel,
and then a war, was now to take place, which
should sweep away both the claimant and his
demands,

On the 12th September 1816, Trimbakji Danglid
escaped from his prison at Théné, and it was soon
after discovered that B4ji Rév was not only assisting
him with money to levy troops, but was concerting
with Holkar, Sindia, the R4jd of Négpir, and others
how to overthrow the British, and that his emissary
to Sindia’s court was Govind Rav Géaikvdd. Forced
to resort to extremities, the Resident demanded the
delivery of Trimbakji and the surrender of three hill
forts; and by the 10th May 1817, the Peshv4, who
had up to that time prosecuted his preparatlons for
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war, agreed to do so.! On the 13th May Mr.
Elphinstone met Moro Dikshit and B4l4ji Lakshumén,
who appeared for the Peshv4, and with them drew
upatreaty by which, among other matters, (Article 5),
after surrendering all future claims on the G4ikvad,
Béji R4v agreed to accept four 14khs a year as an
equivalent for all past claims (Article 7), ceded his
tributes in K4thiav4d to the British, and (Articie
15), renewed to the Géikvad in perpetuity his farm
of Ahmad4b4d (without the peninsula) for the annual
sum which had hitherto been paidforit in its entirety,
t.e. four and a halfldkhs per annum. Finally all the
rights of the Peshv4 in Gujarét except over Ahmad-
4bad, leptid, and the annual dues from the Géikvid
were ceded to the British. This comprised the
cession of Jambdsar, Amod, Desbora, Dabhai,
Bahddarpdra, and Savali. The Géikvid was now
once for all rBcognized (Article 4) to be an inde-
pendent prince who need not pay tribute, commu-
tation for service, or nazarind, Evidently the
Gé4ikvéd had obtained enormous gains as compen-
sation, according to Mr. Elphinstone, “for the
murder of his prime minister.”

On the 25thJune 1817, the sanad for the perpetual
lease of the Ahmadébdd farm was made out (and
carried into effect within & month), but on the same
day the Bombay Government considered whether the
Géikvid government should not now be called on to
maintain an additional subsidy of two regiments of
cava‘lry and a battalton of infantry at the cost of a
cession of the GdikvAd’s tribute in K4thiavid, as the
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State army, though it cost forty-two lakhs a year, (for
the army expenditure had again mounted to that enor-
mous sum,) was practically of little use. Fate Sing
agreed to increase the subsidized force, but not at
_ the cost of a surrender of
tve Tooaty 6ih Nov. 1817, s dues in Kithiavdd, and
he declined to diminish the
number of his troops, as he was requested to do, to
twelve thonsand men ; though in order to pay the
Peshvé his four 14khs a year he would endeavour to
reduce the expenditure by that amount. The per-
petual farm of the Ahmadédbdd districts was accord-
ingly made over to the British for the maintenance
of the increased subsidy on the condition that they
should pay the Peshv4 the yearly sum of four and a
balf 1é4khs, and as the territory was valued at
Rs. 17,11,969, the net outcome was nearly 12,62,000
Rs.? v
Fate Sing was also willing to exchange some of
T his own territory for some
ge. lately ceded to the British
by Biji Rav, He accordingly ceded his share in the
Ahmaddbdd districts, (excepting the Haveli, the
Dascurai and the M4hi Kéntha tributes,) valued at Rs.
1,65,318, and such a portion of Petldd as made up
asumof Rs, 2,07,918. He acquired territories of the
same value, Dabhai, Bahddarpir and Sgvali. Theso
exchanges consolidated the possessions of the British
I North Gujarét, for on the 19th September the
Peshvé notified to the Géikvad that he ceded in full
 all his rights over the Ahmadab4d districts to the
-

L]
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"Honourable Company. That is, instead of their pay-
ing him 4} 14khs per annum, the Peshv4’s subsidized
force was increased by the British.

The first exchange of territory was freely made,
and tended, if anything, to the direct advantage of
the Géikvad, for some (one-third) of the Géikvad’s
dues from the city of Ahmadébdd were of such a
nature that the British could not continue to exact
them, and the places he acquired were of historical
importance : Dabhdi, for instance, so early gained,
and Sdvali, where the last rites had been per-
formed on the body of the founder of the family. On
the other hand it is only fair to add that both the
British and the Gaikv4d’s governments attached an
importance to Ahmadibdd as the old capital of
Guj4rdt, which then made its acquisition seema great
gain, but which to us at this day is quite incom-
prehensible.?

There is still an article of the supplemental treaty
of 1817 which requires notice, viz. the 8th, by which
the Gdikv4d agreed to maintain properly accoutred,
regularly paid and mustered, and under the direction
of the Resident, a force of 5000 men, and we pass on
to further exchanges of ter-

ritory. The Gaikvid parted

with Kaparband, Bhaliz, Karoda and some other vil-
lages, and acquired Vijipidr and the Tappa Samé of
Kadi. And as a free gift the Honourable Company
presented the Géikvdd with Okhamandal and Bet, be-
cause they contained two places of Hindu worship

and devotion,

Second exchange.
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Later on the Gaikv4dd’s Haveli in Ahmadéb4d

Third exchange, A.p and the Dascurai with its
1818, Indms and Dumflgaums
were demanded of Fate Sing. In June 1818 he
exchanged these places for lands in Petldd, certan
so-called moglai dues in the Surat aththdvisi, and
later on the kasba of Mota and the pargana of
Tarksir. Subscquently too the Peshva’s share of
Petlid was accepted by the Géikvad inlicu of Omrat,
while, because he esteemed it as a holy place, he was
given Sidhpir.

This last exchange of territory was almost the
final public act of Fate Sing’s life. After an illness
of five days only, and at the carly age of 26, he
died, perhaps through some act of trcachery, on the
23rd June 1818. This memorable date marks the
beginning of a new phase in the history of the
Baroda State.

But from this matter we mast for a moment turn
to cvents of great and
general interest. On the
6th of November 1817 the Peshv4 made his sudden
attack on the Resident and the few British troops
at Poona. Little more than a weck aftor his capital
was entered and he was a fugitive.

Later in the month the R4j4 of Négpdr made a
similar attempt with a similar result, In December
Malhér R4v Holkar rose and drew on himself the
defeat of Mahidpdr inflicted on him by the great
Deccan army which had been assembled to crysh

A.p. 1817.

' the Pinddris. At that time the British required, all
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the agsistance they could get, and Fate Sing proved
himself a staunch ally. For he spared neither men
nor money in aiding Sir W. Keir’s army of Gujarat
with 2,000 horse under the command of the veteran
Kehmél-ud-din, who afterwards died during the
campaign.

It would be well therefore to consider a little the
meaning of the events described in the preceding
chapters, premising that by the word ‘“State” we
design merely the governing power in the State, and
by the word ‘revolution” a sudden and more than
ordinarily violent change affecting that power.
Gujardt was invaded and subdued by the Marathds,
and the temper of the great body of the people was so
mild and submissive that the masses at no time
exercised any but an impalpable influence over their
rulers. In this short sketch of the Baroda State it is
therefore impossible to define the vague power of the
people, though full consideration should be paid to
such a sentence as the following, written by Colo-
nel Walker, “Although the power of the Native
“ Government was not limited by positive rules or
“ laws, yet its conduct was restrained by customs
““and forms, which if they did not prevent oppression,
“ confined its exercise, as in the common sentiment
“ of the people there existed an implied engagement
“ on the part of the Government not to transgress
“ those usages. This, it is true, afforded a precarious
“and uncertain degree of security, but it commonly
“sufficed to prevent any general and flagrant act
“ of oppression.” Passing on to the M4rathds we
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find that they came to Gujart as a military body of
men, of whom the Débhdde was no more than the
chief officer till the highest command passed from his
family into the hands of his lieutenant D4méji
Gaikvdd. At first then the Ghikvdd was nothing
more than the foremost among equals, but in times
of great commotion, if circumstances favour an able
and energetic man, his rise is rapid. Daméji was
this sort of a man thus favoured, and in rising he
thrust down the pretensions of those who had entered
Gujardt with him, though still the military class was
a very powerful one. But the power of a class of men .
differs in this from that of an individual—it must
be based on union, the offspring of mutual confidence.
Déméji’s government, strong in itself, was circum-
scribed by the greater power of the Peshvd, but
when he died the family was broken up into parties,
and though for a time Fate Sing, a capable man,
emerged triumphant out of the struggle, his life
and death were attended by troubles which might
have given the military class an opportunity of
acquiring power. But there was no cohesion in
that class, and it tamely suffered its power to be
usurped by the mercenary troops which were com-
posed of strangers. Still the class continued to be
an influential one, while the power of the Peshvi,
however weakened in itself, continued to increase from
the day of Fate Sing’s death to the accession of
Anand Rdv, and this period of feebleness is marked
not only by the rough insolence of the mercenarigs,
bat by the insidious intrusion of the money-lendgrs.



162 [cmAP. xVIL

‘When, however, the interference of the British was
requested, a revolution took place altogether fatal
to the mercenaries and to the Peshvé, and for a time
to the military and money-lending classes. The
main result was an enormous increase to the power
of the Mahdrijd, who becanic an absolute ruler, on
whom of course no constitutional checks were
placed, while the military class was doomed to die
out sooner or later after the establishment of the
British subsidiary force. The otherwise independ-
ent sovereign had now to reckon with only one other
force, namely, that which had saved him in a time of
great danger and still supported him on the gédi.
For a few years the' interference of the Bombay
Government was not only not resented but welcom-
ed ; that is, while the Arab troops were being dis-
wissed, a rival party in the family repressed, the
incubus of the moucy-lenders removed, the old
suzerain and enemy the Peshv4, crushed, and the
military class humbled by the partial reduction of
the army. Such was the condition of things during
the early part of the revolution occasioned by the
interference of the British during the first twenty
years of this century. But the course of events
then led this revolution into another course, which
brought it to an abrupt end. The Milvd war
galvanised the military class into fresh life or
semblance of life, and as dangers and difficulties,
political and financial, rapidly disappeared, the inde-
pendent sovereign could no longer bear foreign
interference with the patience which at first charac-
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terised his policy. While still very young, Fate
Sing listened to the advice of two very able men,
Colonel Walker and Gangédhar Shastrf. Butwhen
the former had left the country and the latter had
died, he endeavoured to assert his independence, so
that instead of rigid economy and military reduc-
tion, we find that there was a tendency to deal
surreptitiously with the money-lenders and to stay
reform in the army. So decided was this tendency
that the Bombay Government postponed its plan of
withdrawing from active interference, and its deci-
sion to maintain this policy was followed not by an
amicable settlement but by a violent rupture. This
was mainly owing to the character of the new sover-
eign, upon which naturally more now depended than
had ever hitherto been the case owing to his increased
power. From the accession of Say4ji R4v we find an
altered history—the R4j4 endeavours to shake off
foreign interference and to deal single-handed with
his financial difficulties, but the military class does
not profit by this except so far as the sovereign
desires; and, as has not yet been mentioned, a
resolute effort is made to repress the influence of
ministers, without whom since the accession of
Govind R4v the sovereign seems not to have been
able to act. Saydji Rév at the end of a long reign
proved at what terrible cost a Native Ruler may act
independently of Residents, Ministers, and gnaran.
teed subjects.*

Note 1, p. 156.—Govind R4v, Bandoji Géikvad and Bhagvant
Rav were given up to the G4ikv4d government, and both were
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imprisoned, the former, Mill says, for life in the fort of Gandisvar,
on the Tépti.

Note3, p.157.—It may be as well here to note the circumstances
under which the farm, at a very low rate, once more came into
the GiaikvAd’s hands after B4ji Riv had taken it from him with
the intention of never leasing it again,

Note 8, p. 1568.—Notice the calm manner in which the Maritha
and British conquerors exchanged the towns and villages of
Gujarét In the main the interests of the people concerned were
not much thought of, but great attention was paid to the amount
of revenue that could be extracted from them.

Note %, p. 163.—~When considering the course which Say#ji
Rév took to oppose the British Government and the painful
result of his policy, it must be borne in mind that the political
changes which took place in India in the last quarter of the 18th
and the first quarter of the 19th oentury were as extraor-
dinary as they were rapid. The first Fate Sing was a prince whom
both the Peshvé and the English sought to win and keep as a
valuable ally. In Sayji’s time the British had not only sup-
planted the Peshvi, but wielded a power such ashe never pos.
sessed the tithe of. The ‘‘ independence” of the Géikvid in
reality became a misleading term, however strongly asserted.
And whatever efforts the British might honestly make to respect
such independence, the position of the state was a subordinate
one, but to what degree it was perhaps impossible even for the
shrewd Sayéji Riv to guess.



A.D. 1818.]

CHAPTER XVIII.

HOW SAYAJI RAV WAS PLACED IN A MORE INDEPENDENT
POSITION THAN HIS FATHER BY THE HON’BLE MOUNT-
STUART ELPHINSTONE. :
When Fate Sing died, his widow R4dh4 Bai

affected a desire of becoming satf, but was dis-

suaded from doing so by the permission of Major

Carnac to adopt a son who was of the Gfekvid

family,! but not near enough to succeed to the gadi,

so that it was expressly stipulated that he should
only inherit his father’s private property. Takhat

Béi had children, but she was not a legal wife to

Anand Rév, so that they could have no pretensions.

The undoubted heir to the throne was Sayaji Rév,

Fate Sing’s younger brother, then only 19 years of

age, and the Bombay Government had no hesitation

in acknowledging him Regent. Ré4dhé Béi and

Takhat B4i raised objections which were overruled :

yet the former lady’s aspirations were counte-

nanced by the Divén Vithal Rdv Bhdu and all the
ministers and darakhdérs, as well as by the Réni

Gahend B herself, one and all because they thus

early recognised in the young prince Say4ji a man

who would rule by himself alone, and who would not
| easily be moved by their counsels.

They were right, for the most marked character-

 istic of this, the most remarkable of all the Géikysd
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rulers, was his extreme love of power. At this time
he was only known to the Resident as-a studious,
kindly, and quiet youth, and these good qualities of
constant application to business and unusual so-
briety in private life continued to distinguish his
career. But who could then guess how great would
be his tenacity of purpose, how jealous his suspicion
of all about him, to what strange lengths his avarice
would take him, [for his love of saving and hoard-
ing dominated his liking for display,] or what would
be the result of a strong will and good abilities
enlightened by a limited education ?

It would seem that fate would have it that Say4ji
R4v should fall out with his powerful allies at the
very outset of his reign. He stood alone, among
men and women who disliked him, and he thought
that the Bombay Government grudged him their
support ; he also believed that the Baroda State had
not been fairly treated after the fall of the Peshv4.
To take up the latter point first, as it is connected
with past events, it will be remembered that when
the Peshv4, the Réja of Nagpir, and subsequently
Holkar, entered into their last struggle with the
British, these had been glad to accept active assist-
ance from Fate Sing. Not only was a large portion
of the subsidiary force employed in M4lv4, but also
a large body of Géikv4d horse was maintained at a
great expense by the State, not merely during
the actual continuance of the war, but for some
time after, and by an express stipulation in the late
‘ treaty the Géikv4d thought himself entitled to parti-
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cipate in the conquests made during the war in
return for his co-operation during the year 1817-18,
which had cost him over 40 ldkhs. The only
advantage he gained, however, was an exemption of
the tribute of four lakhs which it had been agreed
he should pay the Peshv4; but this was an indirect
advantage springing rather from the extinction of
the Peshvd’s State than from a war in which terri-
tories had been acquired. Another still more indi-
rect advantage to the State was taken into account
by the Bombay Government, and it may be pointed
out here as a historical fact that from this time
Gujarft ceased to be in any danger of invasion or
pillage from any foreign power.

We have alluded to Say4ji’s discontent on another
score. Soon after the Prince had been acknowledged
Regent, that is, on the 2nd October 1819, poor
Anand Réo, who for some days past had given up
his usual dose of opium, died, his head resting on a
stone from religious motives, his eyes fixod on the
treasure room which was the centre of his more
carthly longings. And round that treasure room
there at once ensued a family quarrel which was so
lengthy, wordy, and petty, that a passing allusion to
it is all that can here be made. Ré4dhd BAi had
gained somecthing by threatening to become sati ;
Takhat Bai on the death of her lord used the same
threats, but as she was not believed to be at all
in earnest, noattention was paid to them, and she was
recommended by the Resident not to allow Sayiji

to know that she was advancing all kinds of absurd
1 ]
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pretensions for herself and her sons. Apart from
these pretensions she claimed the contents of the
treasure room as the private property of the de-
ceaseds Sayaji said that they belonged to the State,
and for some months the room was under a guard
of British soldiers, [though there was a back
entrance into it of which secret use was made by the
sovereign,] till the Governor of Bombay came down
to Baroda and settled this, and some other family
disputes. Under British guarantee a nemnik was
settled on the Rdni and her two sons, who after the
mother’s death separated their goods. One of the
two, Balwant R4v, who at this time (1819-20) put
forward claims to the gadi, was a worthless youth
who neglected his work and got into debt in order
more quickly to enjoy himself, and gave his British
protectors more trouble than enough to the day of
his death. The other, Pil4ji, fell under the wrath of
Vinirfm, a minister of Saydjf’s, of whom we shall
hear more, because he would not bribe him, and by
him he was robbed and by his orders two of his
servants were killed. Thus the end of these rivals
to Say4jf was not happy.

Indeed few of those who opposed Saydji fared
well, and here is another instance of the persistence
.of the man’s vengefulness. Fate Sing’s widow put
forward the pretensions of her adopted son Govind
Riév tothe gadi, and as he was a true G4ikv4d these
had some substance, and thoroughly alarmed and
disgusted Say4ji. Because the foolish woman and
her advisers would not accept 8 proviso that Govind

¢
L
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Riv was not entitled, through his adoption, to any
rights to the succession. Saydji for along time
withheld from her and her son their nemnik. The
British guarantee was withdrawn from them, and it
was not till 1826 that R4dhdbsf and Govind Rév
waived his claims and got their allowance. But
Sayéji now refused to fulfil his promises, and retain-
ed in prison a number of Govind R4v’s dependents
whom he had arrested. At last the two cousins
almost came to blows. Govind Rév had increased
the number of his guards and listened to overtures
of marriage with a lady of Sindia’s family, and
Saydji, on the other hand, refused him admit-
tance into the city, in consequence of which on the
22nd of July 1829 an affray took place. Govind Rév
took refuge in a house near the Residency, belong-
iug to Captain Ballantyne, and gathered some 800
or 1,000 retaincrs about him, while Saydji Riv pro-
ceeded to blockade him and them with his troops..
This state of things continued for six months, and
as the Resident refused to interfere or to force a
passage by that road at the Ganpatiand Dassar4 festi-
vals, the processions could not take place. Finally
Sir John Maleolm, who came down to Baroda in
1830, ordered Govind R4v’s followers to be paid and
dismissed, and the youth to be taken off to Surat.
His allowance was continued to him, subject to large
deductions for debts, and for a fine incurred because
of a cruel mutilation inflicted by him on one of his
servants. Some years after he was removed to
Ahmadib4d (1835), where more quarrels took place
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between him and Say4ji Rdv, who secured the pro-
perty of both of Fate Sing’s widows. There he
remained a prisoner till he was handed over to the
Géikvdd Government for listening to the idle talk
of mutinous soldiers in 18506, At ghat timc he had
sunk into a wretched state of poverty, and showed
symptoms of leprosy and insanity. Such was the
end of another of Saydji’s foes.

To return howevm to his reign, which virtually
began before Anand Rév’s dcath, we remember that
he was surrounded by enemics in his own court,
and felt himsclf unsupported. Little more than
aboy, Saydji R4v wanted an adviser, and unfortunate-
ly he selected one of the cleverest rogucs 1w India,
partly perhaps beeause his cvooked talents imposed
on hum, more, as he declared, because he believed
him to have great influence over the Resident,
Major Carnae, of whom he was indeed the unworthy
pet. After Gangddbar Shistri came Dhikji Dédéjt,
and the great merits of the first were so fatally
eclipsed by the rascality of the second, that in 1820
Mr. Elphinstone was constrained to write, “ the Resi-
dent’s intercourse with the Giikvad i1 sometimes
carried on by means of a minister under the in-
fluence of the Resident, of all eourses the most
invidious and the lcast successful.” It almost
scems now, so long after thesc events, that the ill-
feeling which continually cxisted between Saydji
and the British Government sprang and grew and
continued from sheer misnuderstanding on the one
part and the other, and certainly it is only through

¢
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such misunderstanding that it became possible for
a worthless man to trick two Governments.

Dhéakji Diddji first appeared at Baroda in April
1816, and as his family was well thought of by
Captain Carnac’s father, whose firm was in Bombay,
the Resident appointod him to be Native Agent in
the place of the Shéstri, and though Fate Sing
showed great dislike to him, he soon gained much
influence in the Darbér owing to the support he got
from the Residency. He also persuaded the Resi-
dent that he had reduced the State debt by nearly
40 l4khs, for at the end of the year 1816 it excceded
94 ldkhs and he was supposed to havo cut it down
to something less than 55 1dkhs. There was then
existing a system called Potaddri, that is, as has
been mentioned, the State yearly raised a loan to
pay off the debts of the previous year and to meet
the expenditure of the current year. These loans
were made by Hari Bhakti and some of the large
banking housesin the State who, for the disbursements
they made, took 12 per cent. interest, though no
rsk was run. By threatcning to get the money
required from abroad, Dhékji forced the bankers to
accept 9 instead of 12 per cent. But he went a
step farther, for he persuaded the Resident to make
him potaddr, (much against Fate Sing’s wish,) and
then to allow Mair4l Nirdyan and Hari Bhakti to
take each an equal share with himself in the busi-
ness. This he was obliged to do, because he himself
had no capital, nor did heintend to expend any ; and
when the two real bankers put 8} likhs into‘ the
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concern, he put in nothing. He took up the K4thi4-
véd potad4ri in the same way with Ratanji Khéndas,
and also undertook a valuable contract for the
supplying of cash to the Contingent Force in M4lva.
Though the State was apparently the gainer by 8
per cent. of interest, the mischief of the scheme was
this, that Dhdkji enriched himself by robbing every-
body all round, the farmers of the revenue by taking
percentage from them for guaranteeing the payment
of their revenue at the right time, the State by
transferring public moneys to his private accounts,
by not cashing Darbir accounts without charging
a high commission, and so on.

This was the man whom Say4ji wished to have as
Minister, and as the Bombay Government would
not allow him to be the servant of both Govern-
ments, Dhékji in September 1819 clected to work
for the Mahér4ja, and on the 12th October 1819
became Divin. He obtained infém villages worth
30,000 Rs., and his whole salary mounted to
114kh. He did not remain in office long, though
he did pretend to favour Saydji against the preten-
sions of Rddhd B4i and Takhat B4i; for a host of
complaints soon arose, which rendered the Bombay
Government, who never relished the appointment, so
suspicious, that in January 1820 they suggested to
the Mahargja that he should retire. Saydji joyfully
closed with the proposal, for he now believed that
Dhékji’s influence at the Residency was nothing
wonderful. But the peocuniary embarrassments of
the §tate and other reasons at this time necessitated
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the first of a remarkable series of visits made by

certain Governors of Bombay to Baroda, and to

describe Mr. Elphinstone’s visit, Dhikji’s history
must for a time be dropped.

The admirable manner in which the State had

been all but freed from

Years GrossRevenue. Disbursements. a larce debt has been

Rs Rs g

1812-13... 69,53,;179 6641411 described in a pre-
1813-14... 74,97,878 59,21,045 :

1814-15... 73.65255 5815981 Vious Chapter. A
1815-16... 67,10,413 57,37,508 change for the worse

now took place,at first
slowly, then very rapidly. Between the years
1812-13 and 1815-16 the aggregate of the gross
revenue had increased by 6 1khs, but of the total
disbursements by nearly 40 likhs. The wonder is
that the change during this time was not greater.
In 1812-13 a fearful famine had scourged Gujarit
but devastated Kathiavad; and a falling off of the
revenue had necessarily ensued, and in 1814 the
Peshva withdrew the valuable farm of Ahmadibad,
while the disturbances which followed that event,
and which sprang from the diplomatic tension
between thetwo Governmentsand the British, together
with the apprehensions of Pindhéri invasions, neces-
sitated anr increased expenditure of 16 14khs on the
Sibandi forces. Nearly 18 l4khs had been spent
on the unfortunate embassy to Poona, and in his
later days Fate Sing had begun to fight shy of the
Resident and conceal his accounts, during which
time the Modi Khan4 expenses had increased by
more than 6% likhs, and contingent expenses by
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nearly 7 1ikhs, but this was mainly the result of the
famine and the other causes above enumerated. 1t
may here be added that after the downfall of the
Peshvi, the subsequent exchanges of territory in
Gujardt and other changes, the revenues of the State
were ostimated at about 74,40,292 Rs.

When the difference between receipts and dise
bursements became less favourable to the State, 1t
was no longer so easy to pay off the loans, and so
the high fate of interest rapidly increased the public
debt. The M4lvd campaign was a most costly one
to the State. And some other causes had conspired
to undo the economical resuits of past years.

Mr. Elphinstone, who had become Governor of
Bombay in 1819, visited Baroda in April 1820,
when he discovered that though in February 1819
Captain Carnac had hoped by the end of that year
to find the State clear of debt
and in possession of a sur-
plus, in fact it owed over a crore of rupees. Of
this sum more than 27 likhs arose from the M4lv4
war, as arrears for tho army in 1817-18 nearly 25%
lakhs, and for the troops in K4thiavdd and Réjpipla
nearly 10 lakhs. The fact was that certain items of
expenditure had never been submitted to the Resi-
dent, and the payment of the troops had fallen into
arrears, partly because the bankers had refused to
advance money at D4d4ji’s reduced rate of interost,
and partly because they distrusted this minister and
did not understand what would follow the then
statg of affairs. To get free of these difficulties, it

State debt, 1,07,66,297 Rs.
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was proposed that three loans should be raised : 1st,
one of half a crore of rupees, to be paid off at the
rate of 12 ldkhs a year; 2nd, one for the Kithiavid
debts, amounting to 20 likhs, of which 31ikhs were
to be paid off yearly ; 3rd, a third Potadéri loan was to
be raised of 30 ldkhs for the expenses of the current
year, the whole of which was to be annually repaid.
These yearly paymonts of 45 ldkhs were to be
secured by warits or pledges on the revenues of
different mahdls, and the interest on all three was
to be 10 per cent., .. a mean between Dhékji’s low
rate and the normal high rate of 12 per cent. After
some hesitation Saydji agreed to the Potadéri loan
and to pay off 12 likhs on a loan of 50 ldkhs and as
much as he could on Hari Bhakti’s loan of 42 14khs,
1. e. 3 ldkhs, and as 14 likhs were due to Sir John
Malcolm for the Mdlva forces, they were to be repaid
with interest after 12 months. It was hoped that
the revenue would be at least 71 lakhs, the ef{pcndi-
ture about 56 likhs, so that 15 ldkhs could be
spared. To reduce the expenditure Saydji already
proposed to strike off a third of the allowance of his
ministers. But this he was not allowed to do because
they were all, (at least the great ones, except, as was
then thought, the Shdstr{’s family,) under British
guarantee, and so the matter was allowed to stand over
for a time, much to the Mahdrdja’s annoyance. He
also proposed thus early in his reign to cut down
the allowances of persons under the Resident’s pro-
tection. He was permitted by Mr. Elphinstone to
reduce the whole expense of his fleet, quite a moéern
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item ; but he himself refused to diminish the num-
ber of his troops, and Mr. Elphinstone remarked,
“ the abuses in the army are almost inherent in its
nature and are not to be removed without a sort of
revolution, not only in the army, but the State. As
there are few Jégirs in the Gdikvdd’s territory, the
income of his chiefs is almost entirely derived from
their military pay and perquisites, which again are
connected with the superior rate of pay to the men
belonging to the greater Sarddrs and to the loose
system of muster in use in this State.” No better
rauster could be introduced unless Enropean officers
were appointed, and such a step would be too un-
popular. So this reform was not insisted upon, and
the old evil was allowed to remain in full force.

To maintain a healthy system of reduced expendi-
ture it was abolutely necessary that Say4ji should
have a good minister, and the selection of such a
man was the next subject of discussion. Before
relating what was done let us now follow to its end
Dhékji’s career, the man who had been in the main
responsible for the present difficulties.

Say4ji had been glad enough to get rid of Dhakji
as minister, but he naturally did not wish this man
to continue to be a burden on the State. Dhdkji, on
the other hand, who was gifted with admirable
impudence and volubility, fought hard for his own
interests. He wished to rctain the Potaddri, a
business into which he had never sunk a farthing,
and at last he sold his share in it for 13 ldkhs, when,
" as l(las been meutioned, six of the chief bankers took
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up the Potaddri, which was in future to be limited
to about 30 l4khs a year. He also retained his
indm villages, worth 80,000 Rs. a year. Vexed at
these too favourable terms, the Mahérdja brought
some well founded charges of vast embezzlement
against him, and refused to pay him the 1% likhs.
Convinced of his rascality, the Bombay Government
withdrew his bahédndarf, and he was forced to
disgorge 74 ldkhs for embezzlement, after having
been allowed to squceze his agent Umea Shankar,
no less a rogue than himself, and finally his sanad
was cancelled. He went to Bombay, and by dint of
importunity worked on the Court of Directors to
request Sayé4ji to restorc to him his Indm villages
(1835) and at last to force the Mahdrija to give
them back with all interest (1840). But Dhikji
still hoped to get his 74 ldkhs with interest, and as
his old patron Major, now Sir James Carnac, was
going to pay Baroda a visit as Govercor of Bom-
bay, ‘his ingenuity suggested to him a plan for trick-
ing Say4ji. He persuaded him that he would influ-
ence Sir James Carnac to grant him some matters
about which he was very anxious if § ldkhs were
placed at his disposal. He not only got that sum
but 124 J4khs more were promised him on his repre-
senting that fthe first bribe was not sufficient. But
naturally the Governor did not cede what Say4ji
wanted, and indeed Dhgkji had never said a word
to Sir James Carnac beyond pressing him most im-
pertinently to ask the Mah4rdja to re-employ him.
Say4ji, beginning to suspect that he was being 'im-
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posed upon, determined that two agents of his
favourite Gopdl Mairél should go to Bombay to
enquire into the matter.” These the arch-trickster
bribed, and on their recommendation § 14khs of the
124 promised were sent to Dhdkji. After a time,
however, Say4ji began again to suspeet that he was
being cheated, so he sent down Harilél, the agent of
his own brother-in-law, the Killedir of Baroda.
Dhskji could not bribe Lim, though he did succeed
in having him imprisoned for a time on a false
charge of debt, and by degrees the whole story
became known not only to Saydji but to the Bombay
Government, the whole story including the compli-
city of the infamons Babd Nifada, who in 1837 con-
spired to ruin Goriji Pol, and in about 1846 virtually
murdered the child of his master S4dmal Bechar,
the Banker, after embezziing large sums of money.
Perhaps the most curious part of the whole story of
Dh4kji is that even after the full truth was known
the Bombay Government continued to insist on his
retaining the indm villages to the day of his death
in1846. Itisnowonder, therefore,thathe wasalways
believed to be a favourite with that Governmont—
not a creditable one.

Neither is it strange that in 1820 Mr. Elphin-
stone wished Say4ji to have a good minister and that
Saydji desired to exercise his own choice. Unfor-
tunately the latter pitched on the one man in the
whole of India whom the former could not possibly
countenance. This was Sitdrdmn, whose exile the
Bombay Government had procured after the murder
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of the Shastrf. Sitdrdm was even then the pet of the
Baroda Court, and m 1816 Anand Rév had increased
his nemndk by 20,000 Rs. But Saydji parti-
calarly favoured him, often consulted him, and
fought hard to retais him at Baroda to the day of
his death, which occurred in1823.  Vexed apparent-
ly at not getting him for minister, the Mahirdja
pretended to be indifferent as to who was appointed,
and coldly consented to the nomination of Bibaji’s
son Vithal Rév Bhid, the wman, we remember,
who had favoured the pretensions of Govind Rav to
the gadf. Sothis Vithal Rdv was appointed, but he
exercised no great authority at any timo, and was
shortly replaced by the other Vithal Rév called
Dwvinji, or rather he was gradually elbowed out by
him, for the latter from the outset had been
joined to hun in office. Vithal Rdv Bhid died 1a
1828, and Sayd), keeping in mind the grudge he
owed him, persecuted his adopted son Bhédskar Ray
the more relentlessly, that he was under the protec-
tion of the British, a protection he certainlj did not
deserve, for he was a foolish and cruel man. Like
others he fell a vietim to the Mahdrija’s hate and
to the spite of Vepirdm, o striking example of the
uselessness of the Bahdndart system.

So Vithal Rdv Divénji became minister. He had
rendered the State brilliant services during the Kadi
war, and in Kdthidvdd, first as Bibaji’s lieutenant,
when he beatand captured Malhar Rév Géikvad, and
afterwards as Babdji’s locum tenens and successor,
for under his somewhat unscrupulous tenure of
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the Subh#’s post, he bad increased both the reve.
nues and the territories of the State. It should
however be noticed that many of his unjustifiable
intrigues to gain ascendancy over the Kdthfavid
chiefs were not known to the British officers, while
his apparent co-operation in several points had made
him their favourite. For a time Say4ji was much
pleased with his new minister, and his nemnik, fixed
at 60,000 Rs., was guaranteed to him by the British
authorities, while his other allowances exceeded
6,500 Rs. But, as time went on, Sayhji began
to suspect that his minister was not entirely his
servant, was too ready to listen to the suggestions
of the Resident, and his liking was turned into the
bitterest hatred, though the change of feeling
occurred soon after he had (1st April 1827) increased
Vithal R4v’s allowances to 1,053,000 Rs.

What led to his rupture with his minister will be
described inanother chapter. For the present weres
turn to one more result of Mr. Elphinstone’s visit, after
guoting a passage which an auble British officer wrote
relatively to Say4ji and higministers, “Theaptitude
“of Say4ji has generally induced him to retain the
“chief management of Baroda affairs in his own
“hands, though his policy has varied from the
““different characters of hig advisers. Sayiji Riv’s
“dislike to the appointment of a minister may be
““taken as an evidence of his shrowdness, for Divéns
“are very expensive to the State, irksome to the
“ Prince, and bad for the people, umnless they
“happen to be pussessed of more than ordinary
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“ability and integrity.” A little later we shall see
the mischief done by one of these Divéns, Venirim
Aditrém. 4

In 1820 Mr. Elphinstone stated in form that the
commission which had been instituted at Baroda,
under the direction of the Resident, had come to
an end, as it had existed only in consequence of the
infirmity of Anand R4v, and that in future the
Government would be conducted by the Mahéardja
in person. At the same time he warned Say4ji that
he should pay his debts, fulfil his engagements, deal
openly with the British Government, and abstain
from any intercourse with foreign states. The en-
gagements referred to were with the guaranteed
ministers, the bankers and the tributary states, and
nearly all the quarrels which took place during his
long reign sprang from his neglect of the first two
sets of engagements, which, it must be confessed,
were in their nature faulty and too stringently
enforced by the British Government, while no
approach was ever made to open dealing with that
Government, especially in the matter of finances.
There was the less danger of Say4ji’s breaking his
engagements with the tributary states that the
G4ikvéd’s troops were by agreement at this time with-
drawn from K4thi4v4d and the Mah{ Kénth4, and all
political connections with these countries were
broken off, the British Government consenting to
collect the revenues free of expense to His High-
ness. Still on this point, too, quarrels did arise.

It remains but to consider the changes that had
16
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taken place. The Resident was no longerto take an
active share in the government, though he was to be
made acquainted with all financial arrangements, and
on extraordinary occasionsto give hisadvice orconvey
that of his government. The Native Agent was to
take an altogether subordinate position. The M-
hérija, except with regard to foreign affairs, was to
be independent, and to choose his own minister after
consulting the British Government. In short Say4-
JV’s reign began prosperously enough ; there were
debts, true, but the way out of them was clear and
not very tedious; there were engagements with
certain ministers and bankers, but they were not
very onerous,—nothing comparedtosome the Gaikvad
had entered into and observed; the Raj4 was not
quite free, but he was more independent than his
brother and father had been. There were, in a word,
a few points at which the Géikvdd and British
Government touched, or rather rubbed. Would
Sayéji and the Bombay Government avoid friction,
and so settle down into comfortable relations, or was
every difference, little and great, to be made the most
of, fought over, turned into an excuse for crimina-
tion and recrimination ¥ Alas! we shall see.

Note 1, p.165.—Govind BRdv, the son of Ganpat Riv Gdikvad
(and grandson of Méloji, brother of Piliji GdikvAd), the former
Jégirdar of Sankhed4, whom the British had dispossessed of his
territory at the beginning of the century, and who afterwards
took refuge at Dhéir, where he died an imbecile. Ganpat BRfv’s
family then returned to Baroda and was moderately pensioned by
Fate Sing, but Govind Riv’s adoption gave umbrage to Sayé4ji, and
both he and the family never had a happy moment afterwards.
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CHAPTER XIX.

HOW SIR JOHN MALCOLM ENDEAVOURED TO COMPEL SA-
Y431 RAV TO ABIDE BY HIS ENGAGEMENTS, AND SEQUES-
TRATED A LARGE PORTION OF HIS DOMINIONS.

Though Say4ji R4v and Mr. Elphinstone had come
to an understanding on many important subjects, a
few points had been left unsettled, on which the
final decision, being unfavourable to His Highness,
gave him great umbrage. Chief among these was
the refusal on the part of the Bombay Government
to recognise any claims of the G4ikv4d for the Ghédns
D4n4 tribute in that part of Kéthidvdd which had
belonged to the Peshvé, and some similar claims in
the Khed4 collectorate in the districts originally
formed in the Ahmad4bad direction, and in the do-
minions of the Navéb of Cambay. The origin of
this tribute has been explained in Chapter XIV.,and
its present proceeds are given in Appendix VIIIL.
Want of space forbids us to dwell on this matter ;
but it is just worth noting that the refusal of the
Navib of Cambay to accede to the demands of the
Géikvdd forced the Bombay Government to allow
the latter to make a military demonstration against
the Navab, who was under their protection. In
1814 seventeen of the Navab’s villages were seized
and their revenue appropriated by the Géikvad
for four years. Three likhs of revenue were
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thus confiscated, but in 1821 Mr. Elphinstone decided
that the Géikv4d’s claims for 25,000 Rs. yearly should
be reduced to 4,200 Rs., that he should restore to
the Navdb a large portion of the three 14khs as well
as the confiscated villages, but should retain a sum
of money sufficient by its interest to indemnify him
for the future. The Géikvéd had expected much
better terms, and undoubtedly, if the British had
not just at this moment created a revolution in the
history of Gujart, the tax would have become a
regular tribute, though it had apparently been
gathered only four times in past years, and on each
occasion the Navdb had protested against it asa
forcible exaction.

It is well to bear in mind how in this and many
other ways the establishment of British power in
Western India had a two-fold effect on the Baroda
State. On the one hand the encroachments of the
Peshvé came to an end, and the G4ikv4d was firmly
seated on the gadi according to the provisions of
certain treaties., On the other hand the Géikvid
himself was prevented from extending his influence
in K4thidvéd, the Mah{ and Rev4 Kénthés, and in the
neighbouring tributary states. In 1818 a Political
Agent was appointed to protect young Fate Khén,
the ruler of Péhlanpdr, as well as Rédhanpir and
other petty states bordering on the Ran of Kachh,
Sind, and M4rvéd. A fow years later (1825), Sindia’s
Pévangad, Panch Mahéls, Barreah, R4jpipld, and
Chhotd Udepir were placed under a Political
Agept, who had also the power to mediate between
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the Géikvad and his Mewéss{ subjects of Séwali,
Sankheds, Tilakv4d4, and other places. Up to the
time when the British stepped in there had been
constant little gains and losses, encroachments,
disputes about tribute, and so on; after their ad-
vent claims were investigated and settled once for
all, and all that was in a state of transition became of
a sudden rigidly crystallised. It is no wonder that
many hopes and ambitions were doomed to suffer
sore disappointment,and that the arrest of old habits
seemed in itself a hardship which made men overlook
advantages which were in reality of much greater
importance. A good instance of this may be found
by examining the dispute concerning the Réjpipla
State, when a doubtful succession had given the
Géikvéd the opportunity of thoroughly looting the
country, till the process was brought to an abrupt
termination through the interference of the British.

To return to the internal affairs of the Baroda
State. Her Highness the Rén{ Gahend Béi, up to the
time of her death, which took place several years
after Mr. Elphinstone’s visit to Baroda, exercised
great influence over the mind of Sayéji Rdv, and
this influence was directed to the fostering of the
Mahéréja’salready strong proclivities towards hoard-
ing private treasures ““by the receipt of presents for
appointments of farmers, and for remission of reve-
nue as well as of fines from offenders for crimes.” It
would seem as if His Highness was so anxious to
amass riches that he diverted from their datural
outlay the revenues of the State; but it may be
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that the policy which he adopted and which at first
gight seems almost dishonest, was dictated by the
wish to rid himself of British interference and super-
vision, of the guarantee system and the influence of
bankers supported by a foreign power. However
that may be, it is certain that Say4ji did not in the
least keep his promises to pay off the guaranteed
debt, and that after the year 1823-4 the embarrass-
ment became 8o great, that the Resident was under
the necessity of offering the Mahdrdja some very
unpalatable advice. He recommended him “ topay
off a portion of the debts from his private treasury,
which he could easily afford to do,” for while this
was filling rapidly, the public finances were being
as rapidly disorganised. At thistime Say4ji refused
point-blank to follow the Resident’s advice,! yet it
wasknownthatinaddition to §5 14khs’ worth of jewels
and inherited property he had by this time already
managed to collect 44 l4khs of treasure. Mr. Wil-
liams? was obliged to send in still gloomier reports
of the Mahdrdja’s persistence in refusing to pay the
guaranteed debts till the year 1827, after the death
of Gahend B4i. But then inhis despatch dated the
81st of May, he was able to state that Say4ji con-
sented to the ‘“issue of septennial leases of the ma-
“héls to respectable men, chiefly the great State
“creditors.” Thisheconsideredto be a greatreform:
for the disorder in the State finances sprang rather
from the falling off of the revenues than the increase
of expenditure; and this falling off was the imme-
diate result of letting out the mahéls annually to
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men of doubtful means and position. These men
obtained the lease of the mah4ls at a low rate, but
extorted undue sums from the rayats; and they
were countenanced by the Mahdréja because they
purchased his support by private nazardnds. Now
it was the loss of these private nazarinds quite as
much as the substitution of the guaranteed State
creditors for men of his own choosing to which
Sayé4ji Rév could not reconcile his mind: and we
gather from the vague charges he made later on
against the Acting Resident, Mr. Willoughby, and
the native agent Sérdbhdi, (whom he asserts Lord
Clare to have dismissed in 1832,) of “sending to
“ Bombay all sorts of accusations against him and his
“ vakilsin 1827, that his mind was in an extreme
state of irritation.

It was on his own Minister, however, that the
results of his wrath and suspicion fell most heavily.
In the last chapter we mentioned that on the 1st of
April 1827, Vithal Rdv Divénji was in great favour
with his master, but that shortly after he was
treated by him with extreme harshness. Towards
the end of the year Say4ji Rdv dismissed him from
his post and declared that he had never wished to
increase his salary or enter into the septennial leases,
but that Vithal Rdv, acting in collusion with Mr.
Willoughby, had betrayed his interests. All kinds
of intrigues followed, and the fallen minister, sup-
ported as he was by British influence, loudly com-
plained that attempts were being made to take his
life. The outcome of these intrigues was most
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disastrous, for in 1828 Say4ji R4v selected as his
advisers Venirdm Aditrém and Prabhékar Dixit,
commonly called Bhdd Puranik, and the counsels of
the first of these two men led the Mahérdja far
astray from the agreements into which he had
entered, and persuaded him to persecute those of
his own subjects who looked for protection to the
PBritish guarantees made in their favour. Bhdd
Pirdnik was conservative and retrograde, but Veni-
rém, during the ten years he wasin office, did much
to embitter the quarrel between his master and the
Bombay Government, and it appears a pity now
that he was ever allowed to take up the office of
Divén. Gopél Atmérdm, who was appointed joint-
minister in 1829 and retained that post till 1838,
when he was ousted by the intrigues of Venirfm,
would have advised the Mahé4réja to take a different
course, for his character formed a pleasant contrast
to that of the man who supplanted him after a trip
to Calcutta to push Say4jf’s interests there. .

Mr. Elphinstone was Governor of Bombay till the
28th of November 1827, and up to the last he
treated the sensitive and suspicious Mahéréja with
the greatest courtesy and forbearance. He inform-
ed him, for instance, that he was at full liberty to
deprive Vithal R4v of his nemnidk; he frankly
listened to his proposals for paying off the great
loan in two years by drafts on the revenue and by
a running loan, distinctly warning him at the same
time that  heroic method of solving the financial
difficulties of the State might plunge it into such
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embarrassments as would force the Bombay Go-
vernment to take upon itself the exclusive manage-
ment of the revenues. But in 1827 Mr. Elphin-
stone was succeeded by Sir John Malcolm, and with
the new Governor came a new policy. Sir John
Malcolm thought it necessary to adopt the severest
coercive measures in order to break the haughty
spirit of Say4ji, and he would perhaps have suc-
ceeded in his object if his term of office had not
first come to an end. His successor, Lord Clare,
thoroughly disapproved of the harshest of his acts,
and by reversing them deprived them of any good
fruit they might have borne, though their bitterness
lasted. As we shall see, Liord Clare endeavoured to
cffect by persuasion and gentle courtesy what Sir
John Malcolm had failed to do by compulsion ; but
he was not altogether successful, and it required
afourth Governor, Sir James Carnac, to bring the
long struggle to a close.

Mr. Elphinstone had praised rather than rejected
Sayaji’s proposal to pay off the guaranteed bankers
at once and so to put an end to the accumulation
of interest. There should have been no reason
why these State creditors should refuse to accept
immediate payment and should insist on being paid
al the intervals specified when the septennial leases
were drawn up. Yet it was on their refusal that the
Bombay Government based its demand that Say4ji
should pay his debt by instalments, and it was this
point which finally led to the rupture shortly to be
described. Moreover towards the end of the year
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1827 Say4jiabandoned the guaranteed State potadér
Hari Bhakti and began to draw cheques on other
houses and to assign revenue for the payment of
these drafts. Remonstrance after remonstrance was
in vain made to the Mahdrdja, and at length Sir
John Malcolm adopted the milder of the two courses
from which he had previously been authorised by the

Court of Directors to select.

That is, he did not

List of Mahdls first se-  undertake the management
questrated (1825). of the entire State, but on
Rs. the 28th March 1828 he

Petlad (worth)... 5,06.739
Babhiyal ..... veee 87,454

issued a proclamation an-

g:ﬁ:a » 2,49,501 nouncing ‘“ the temporary
1 .. . X
Béhédarp 96,440  sequestration of certain re-
Sinor. ... 64,287  gources and territories of
Amreli ... . 1,22,965 14
Sidnagar ... 3,501 the Gdikvdd State. The
Tributes. above sequestration has in
Kathiévd,.. ...... 1,42,6564 vicw only the fulfilment

Mahi Kéntha ... 1,19,213
79,821

of the pecuniary engage-

. Reva Kantha ...

Other sources ... ments made with the bank-

Total...15,47,725 €S unde.r‘ the guarantee
— of the British Government ;
but when that object shall have been attained, it will
remain to consider of the reparation which may be
due to itself for expenses, and to take ample security
against any future violation either of the terms of
treaties, or of the pledges and guarantees given to
individuals.”

At this time one very curious step was taken. The
holders of the septennial leases, who were mainly
the State creditors, were ordered to throw up their

75,150
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leases by the Governor; but at the same time they
were informed that any losses thus accruing to them
would be refunded, and ultimately Lord Clare held
the Gaikv4d bound to pay them over seven lakhs
of Rupees. After Sir John Malcolm had seques-
trated the above mah4ls, he visited Baroda oun the
28th December 1829 and then enjoined on Say4ji to
maintain his Countingent of Horse on a better footing,
to enter into a commercial treaty with the British,
and to reform his coinage. But the condition of
cven two-thirds of the Contingent Horse left so much
to be desired in the mind of Sir John Malcolm, that
a little later he sequestrated certain other districts

in order that of their pro-

List of Makdls
sequestrated in 1830.

Rs.
Petldd.ccreerener s
Bahiyal ..ooeeneene
Patan ...eeeeeneennne 92,22 862
Visnagar............ 54,595
Vadanagar......... 13,617

Bijaplr feveeiiinns 1,00,641
Sankhed4 ......... 17,836

e ey

4,09,451

ceeds the force might be
more regularly paid, while
it was placed under the
supervision of British offi-
cers. Now before 1830
three of the State creditors,
Khush4lchand, Siamal Be-
char and Mangal Pérekh
had come to terms with the

Mabér4ja, and consequently
some of the districts sequestrated in 1828 were
freed. To pay for the Contingent 10,03,747 Rs.
were wanted : so of the first sequestrated districts
Petl4d and Bahiyal were again taken, as it were,
from the Gdikv4d’s government, and to them were
added those mentioned in the margin., This second
sequestration the Homorable Court of Direcfors
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disapproved of on the 31st October 1832, and it
did not last long.

Meanwhile the breach between the two Govern-
ments grew daily wider, and on the 1st of December
1830 Mr. Williams was directed to leave Baroda
and take up the post of Political Commissioner of
Gujarit. He was to reside at Ahmadéb4d, and to
continue to exercise all the powers of Resident,
being directed still “to superintend the strict ful-
“ filment of the treaties of subsidy and alliance.”’?
At the same time the Subsidiary Force was incor-
porated with the Northern division of the Bombay
Army, with head.quarters at Ahmaddbdd. When
Mr. Williams betook himself to Ahmad4bdd in ac-
cordance with the Governor’s orders, he carried
away with him the guaranteced bankers who were

" Sayéji’s great creditors. Perhaps they feared to
remain at Baroda, but certainly their departure

o ruined their business for a time, and effectually
retarded any possible agreement between them and
their princely debtor. ’

It remains but to add, before we conclude this
chapter, that Vithal Rév, after his dismissal, was taken
under the protection of the Bombay Government.
The British guarantee was extended to him afresh:
a pension was bestowed on him : he was made manager
of the confiscated mahdls: he was assured the
tenure of certain villages he held in jagir in K4thid-
vid ; and finally, by the power given to the Bombay
Government through the treaty of 1802, he was
cotffirmed in 1830 in the nemnik guaranteed to him
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in 1821, his pégé was secured to him, and the adop-
tion of a son, Krishnd Rav, was recognized, though
the Maharéja refused to acknowledge the adoption
and no nazardné had been paid.

Note !, p. 186.—A¢t the risk of being prolix, a few
figures representing the embarrassments of the State
when left to itself are here thrown into the shape of
a note.

Myr. Elphinstone in 1820 believed the entire debt
to be 1,07,66,297 Rs., but on a second visit to Baroda
in 1821 he found that a debt of 20 ldkhs had not
. been mentioned, (it was not discovered to the Bom-
bay Governroent till ten years later that another sum
of over 40 likhs was owing to Hari Bhakti,) and that
though Sayfji had paid off 25 l4khs to the creditors
instead of merely the specified 15 14khs, he had al-
lowed the army to fall into arrears. So in 1820-21
the State debt had mounted to 1,32,27,981 Rs., and
two fresh loans were raised, one of 6,12,000 Rs. to
pay for the Réjpipla campaign, and of 15 likhs to
defray the arrcars due to the army.

Mr. Elphinstone then presciently wrote, “in time
the Mémlatdars will expericnce the duplicity of Sa-
yéji’s character, and fearing for the secarity of their
tenure, will become rapacious, and to secure their
Mémlats will offer bribes to Sayéji himself. The
Kamavisddrs will probably use the same means to
obtain remigsions.”

By the year 1825 the known debt had mounted to
Rs. 1,38,81,389. .
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According to a fresh agreement made on the 6th
November 1826, the debts stood thus; and at the
time the sequestrations of Sir John Malcolm were

effected, thus :
Rs. Rs.

1. To the five bankers for
old loan of 10 lakhs and
anew loan .....cceveeee. 22,80,088 80,75,301

9. To Hari Bhakti and

ﬁYe others, for run- }25,00,001 { 1??3%??
ning loan ... ’
8. To'the five bankers ...12,50,001 12,75,001
4. To Hari Bhakti ......... 12,50,001 12,75,001
5. To Ratanji Ménik- 2,28,008
‘chand veeveveeriiirennn. 10,07,441{ (fresh) ;
10,07,001

6. A debt of about 15 lakhs has been
omitted in this, due to Hari
Bhakti .ooovveniiiiiiiiiiinn, 15,88,651
To pay off No. 1, varats for seven years were
granted on Baroda, Sinor, the Surat aththévisi,
Kadi, Petldd, and Visalnagar. In paying off No.
2, interest was fixed at 124 per cent., including
manoti and potaddri. To pay off No. 8, varats
were granted for seven years on Baroda, the Surat
aththévisi, and Kadi. To pay off No. 4, varats in
similar instalments were granted on Amreli, Dabhai,
Sankheda, Vijapdr. To pay off No. 5, varats were
granted for seven years on the Kéthifv4d revenues.
When Sir John Malcolm sequestrated the mahdls,
he undertook to pay off the State creditors.
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The sum total due in a.p. 1830-31

WAS rerrtanrestariaerennatreniecntneonsrins .Rs. 48,96,109
And from the sequestrated mahdls

were paid .o 5, 9,583,500

Remainder... ,, 389,42,609

The sum total due at end of 1831-2

wWas ... st cerenen

Of which would have been paid from
the Mah8ls .......coeeevniiviiinineinennnee. 5, 9,583,500

e e

There would have remained... ,, 32,25,109

,, 41,78,609

But meanwhile Lord Clare allowed Saydji to come
to terms with his creditors, when the debts stood
thus: —

Hari Bhakti.......... wereevsrceesensennn R, 14,65,175
Gopal Rév Mairal ....... TP ,, 19,78,798
Ratanji Manikchand ....cooovviiieinns 5, 4,38,685

—_—

Rs. 38,77,659

Note 2, p. 186.—Mr. James Williams succeeded Mr. Norris
in May 1821, and died at his post in November 1837. During
the interval, as will be seen, the Resident was withdrawn from
Baroda and Mr, Williams had certain other duties assigned to him
at Ahmadébad. .

Note 8, p. 192.—8ir John Malcolm has recorded his reasons for
taking this extreme wtep, “The position of the Resident and
‘“ the minute interference with the affairs of the Géaikvad had
“ called into being a succession of native agents who had had an
¢ ample share of those intrigues and misunderstandings which
“ had so long embarrassed the alliance.” A course was therefore
praposed, “ which would dispense with that vigilance whigh some

+
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“ deemed essential, but the absenoce of which would remove those
¢“ causes of alarm, disgust and discontent, which called for a con-
M gtant and degrading interference.” It must be remembered
_that Sir John Malcolm, during his visit to Baroda, approved of the
exile of Govind Rav, and, to fully understand what were Bayéji's
feelings, this sentence may be considered, *The Bombay Go-
“ vernment Js aware that a very powerful though erroneous
“ motive of aotion with Sayiji had been that Vithal Rav, with
‘¢ the prinoipal holders of the British guarantee and Sdrabhdi,
 the Natwve Agent, had formed a conspiracy againsi him, and that
‘“ they had proposed to elevate Govind Rév to the gddi with the
“ gpproval of the Residency.” Such was the common belief in
Gujarst and Kithiavad,
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CHAPTER XX.

HOW THE EARL OF CLARE ATTEMPTED TO PERSUADE
SAYAJI RAV TO ABIDE BY HIS ENGAGEMENTS, RE-
STORED TO HIM HIS SEQUESTRATED DISTRICTS, AND
TREATED HIM WITH GREAT COURTESY—THE CONSE-
QUENCES OF THIS CHANGE OF POLICY.

The struggle between the Bombay Government
and Sayaji Rév had created such alarm in the minds
of a party in the Baroda Darbar that, on the 16th of
February 1831, the Political Commissioner of Gujarat,
Mr. Williams, reported that some of the relatives,
and even some of the wives of Say4ji had conspired
to scize his person, to punish his favourites and
advisers, and, if he still proved obstinate, to proclaim
his son Ganpat Rdv sovereign in his stead. The,
conspiracy failed, and some of the principal parties
were executed : nevertheless it was fortunate for the
Gaikv4d that Sir John Malcolm left India in 1831,
and was succeeded by Lord Clare, as the latter at
once determined to follow a policy which should
form a perfect contrast to that of his predecessor.

Lord Clare twice visited Baroda; the first time
in November 1831 for six days, merely “ to establish
“ an amicable understanding, and to effect a personal ,
“ reconciliation between the heads of the two Govern-
““ments by showing a disposition on Lord Clare’s
“ part to treat the R4jé with the utmost considerstion
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“and respect” ; the second time from the 22ad of
March to the 6th of April 1832, when a settlement
was arrived at on most of the points in dispute.
During his first visit Lord Clare found out that
the Mah4rdja was anxious to pay off in a lump sum
all he owed to the guaranteed creditors, and that
these men, being bankers in Baroda, were equally
anxious to come to an understanding with the
prince, and to return to their homes and their busi-
ness, Hari Bhakti for instance, one of their num-
ber, was owed by private individnals in Baroda some
20 or 30 likhs of Rupees, and as long as he was
away, he could not hope to recover one anna of that
sum. Sir John Malcolm had insisted that the
creditors should be repaid in fixed instalments ;
but there was no necessity for this, argued Lord
Clare. Mr. Elphinstone had not discountenanced a
proposal made by Say4ji to pay back the whole sum
at once, provided, it is true, that the State did not
thereby contract new and larger debts. The Go-
vernor of Bombay was now of opinion that repay-
ment might safely be made, ihat the guaranteed
creditors might be allowed to come to terms with the
State, and that the Bombay Government had'no need
to pry into the matter any further, once it had
assured itself that the creditors were satisfied. And
s0 the long drawn out dispute came to an end:
three of the creditors had before this come to terms,
and now (9th April 1832) Hari Bhakti, Gopél Rév
Mairdl, Ratanji Kénd4s, and Ratanji MAapikchand
declared themselves to be content and suffered their
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.

deeds to be destroyed : no notice was taken by the
Governor of the actual sums paid, though the debt
stood nominally at 38,77,659 Rs., and one point only
was ascertained, namely, that Saydji had parted
with 25 ldkhs of his own private hoards.!

It is true that a year or two later, Colonel Outram
asserted that ‘‘the payments to the Baroda bankers
““were reported to be fictitious, those who held our
‘“ pledges preferring to trust to the Gdikv4d.” But
Lord Clare did not dwell so much on this view of
the case as on the vexatious and useless nature of
the British interference. ¢ The sequestration,” he
wrote, “had taken place in March 1828, and it was
““then calculated that five years would suffice to
f“clear off the debt. But in 1832 Mr. Williams
“thought that five more years would be required,
“and he (Lord Clare) did not see whenan end would
“come to the divided government of districts, where
“the rule de jure belonged to the Géikvdd and
“that de facto"o the British, where one power could
“not and the other power would not punish offend-
““ers, so that there was perfect immunity of crime
‘“and unbourded licence which would eventually de-
‘““moralize the population.” The Bombay Govern-
ment had freed itself by the step now taken of its
obligations to the guaranteed creditors, and within
fifteen days of the 5th of April 1832, Petl4d, Dabhéi,
Bahadarpur, Sinor, Kadi, Sankhed4, Bahiyal, Siana-
gar, and Vadanagar were restored to their rightful
owner.

But the repayment of the sums due to the gua-
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ranteed bankers was mot the only case in dispute.
There were vast sums due to persons who had no
guarantee, and these Lord Clare very justly refused
to take into account. Hari Bhakti, for instance,
now declared- that when Mr. Elphinstone in 1820
imagined that Say4ji had placed before him all the
debts then due by him, one item had been con-
cealed, namely, that to himself were owing over 40}
ldkhs of Rupees. Balvant Rdv Gaikvad claimed 11
lakhs, the farmers of the septennial leases which
had been forcibly abandoned claimed over 7 lédkhs.
Lord Clare, therefore, found that the British Go-
vernment, after overlooking many of the State
debts, would have to enforce the repayment of
nearly 61 ldkhs of Rupees. He contented himself
with exacting from Sayéji Rév a promise that such
claims should be satisfied within one year. Besides
all this, there were two points which Lord Clare,
unwilling to decide himself, referred to the Honor-
able Court of Directors. Say#ji maintained that he
would not pay Vithal Riv anything, and the pro-
ceeds of his nemniik amounted to over 1,35,000 Rs.:
the cost of establishment in the sequestrated
districts had run up to over 68,500 Rs., and as
Say4ji had withdrawn from these districts his own
sibandi, and it was thought that he might forcibly
expose their seizure, British troops had been sent
to occupy them at a cost of over 1,20,000 Rs. It
was therefore clear that the State was not free from
debt, and tkat Lord Clare’s settlement left much
unsettled.
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It remains to add that Sayaji Rdv himself sug-
gested that he should deposit L0 14khs in a British
Treasury which the Government should be at liberty
to expend if tho Contingent Force was not punctual-
ly paid. Lord Clare accepted the money, for which
no interest was to be paid, and after exacting a
promise that the Contingent Force should in future
be maintained on a healthy footing, restored to
Sayéji the remaining sequestrated districts. The
Governor’s proceedings were approved by the Go-
vernment of India on the 6th of June 1832 and by
the Court of Directors on the Gth of November
1833. The latter even suggested that the 10 l4khs
should be restored to Saydji, but this was not done
till 1841, for in the meantime fresh differences had
arisen between the two Governments.

Thus to all appearance the Bombay Government
and Saydji Riv became good friends. Mr. Wil-
liams, though ho still continued to be Political
Comumissioner of Gujardt, (the office not being
abolished till after the death of the Resident, Mr.
Boyd, in 1844,) returned to Baroda towards the
end of 1835. The Court of Directors approved of
the measure on the 13th of February 1838, and
wrote that all should be done ¢ which was necessary
for the purpose of retracing anill advised step. We
consider the residence of the Political Commissioner
at the Gdikvdd’s court, and frequent personal com-
munication between him and that prince, essential.”
The Bombay Government wisely resolved .to disre-
gard any matters in which it had not hitherto
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become involved. It was clearly discerned that
the trouble of looking after His Highness’ finances
met with no sufficient reward. The tendency was to
leave'to themselves as much as possible people who
possessed the British guarantce, and the privilege
of obtaining protection from the British Govern-
ment was not extended to any fresh person. Say4ji
Rév clearly got a fresh start; and if he had been
commonly prudent he would not have fallen foul of
his friends within a year or two. But what in truth
were the results of Lord Clare’s forbearance ?

In another portion of this book (Khande Ré4v’s
Army) the manner in which Sayaji R4v carried out
his reform of the Contingent will be told. But it is
needless to dwell on any one point. The period
between Lord Clare’s visit in 1832 and Sir James
Carnac’s in 1841, is the darkest in the whole of
Saydji’s reign. Venirdm, we have stated in the last
chapter, supplanted Gopil Atmérém in 1833, and
backed up as he was by such rogues as Bip Argade,
Bib4 Nifada, Ganesh Pant, and Bhdd Purdnfk, retain-
ed his influence with the Prince till the year 1839.
It was during this time that he urged his master to
set the Bombay Government at naught, so that on
the 11th August 1837 it was recorded by the latter,
“in no less than 305 cases the applications of our
“officers for redress from injuries sustained have
“ either been refused or evaded.” Sir Robert Grant,
consequently, quoted with approval certain remarks
passed by the High Court of Bombay in regard to
matters of police in Gujarat, and acted in their spirit
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in other directions. “The ostensibly improved
“feeling between the Gdikvad Government and our
¢“ own, has been unproductive of any amelioration in
“the state of things in Gujarat. The object in
“ view for us, therefore, is to make a thorough change
“from supineness to activity, from indifference to
“ energy, without further waiting.”

In the middle of February 1838 the parganah of
Nauséri was sequestrated and remained so three
years?. Mancharji Karsatji, the Desai of Nausdri, was
the first person in the Baroda State who received a
British guarantee, which was not, however, strictly
speaking, hereditary. A successor of this Man-
charji was for a time deprived of all his hereditary
possessions by Saydji Rdv in 1829, pending the
settlement of his accounts. The Bombay Govern-
ment had interfered in behalf of this man, and Sayéji
had promised Lord Clare that the matter should be
settled within one year. But the Maharija utterly
neglected to fulfil his promise and this was the first
step taken in the direction once pursued by Sir
John Malcolm to bring him to reason, the begin-
ning of fresh sequestrations.

But now, though the sequestration of the Petldd
district will not be recorded in this chapter, the
famous 28 ““ demands’” which preccded that punitive
act, being retrospective, may fitly be mentioned:
and they should find a place here, that some idea
may be gained of what took place in Saydji’s relgn
between the years 1832 and 1841.

The first regarded a deplorable incident. " On the
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17th of August 1833 and subsaquently, a person
named Valabhdds Ménikchand, an opium broker,
who had long lived in Baroda though he wasa
British subject, complained to the Resident that
sixteen of his relations had been imprisoned because
a friend to the minister Venfram had instituted judi-
cial proceedings against his brother. Not only the
Resident, but in July 1834 the Governor General,
pressed the Mahérdja to release these people; but
Say4ji Rév refused compliance, when the matter
assumed tragic proportions owing to the death of the
petitioner, who committed suicide, being no longer
- able to bear up against the misfortunes which sur-
rounded him. It was the death of this obscure
person that determined Sir Robert Grant, the Go-
vernor of Bombay, to use other than gentle means
to bring Say4ji to reason.

If not the first, the most important demand made
by the Bombay Government on Saydji Riv was for
the dismissal of the minister Venirdm Aditrdm. He
was accordingly deprived of his post on the 28th
November 1839, and on the 24th February 1840 the
Mahérdja formally announced to the Government
that he should never be re-employed. Subsequently,
when in 1841 Sir James Carnac visited Baroda and
pressed the Prince not to communicate with Veni-
rém, Saydji declared that he now hated him, and
that in future he wished to dispense with a minister
altogether. Sir James granted -this request, “s
long as His Highness should continue on good
terms with the Resident, listen to his advice and
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avoid all breach of engagements.” As Say4ji had
given way on this point, the other advisers of the
Court, only less objectionable than the minister,
Bépa Argade, Bab4 N4fada, Ganesh Pant, and Bh4d
Pirbnik, were not abruptly dismissed: but Say4ji
was warned that ““they were not to interfere in any
matter in which the British Government or any of
its guarantees were concerned.”

One of the past acts of Venirdm’s career formed
the subject of a demand, viz. that some restitution
should be made to Pidnj4ji Zordji, a British subject,
both of whose hands the minister had caused to be
cut off because he had unduly pressed for some
girés rights. And with this reference to the minis-
ter’s deeds, while in power, we, for the moment, leave
him, though later on his behaviour towards persons
holding the British guarantee may be described.*

A nuwber of demands resulted from the disturbed
condition of affairs in Kéthidvdd. Some Vhéghers
of Okhémandal had committed robberies in the
J4m’s territories ; elsewhere another Vhégher chief
‘had been driven to “take the road;”” a foul mur-
der had been committed ; and the Gdikvdd officer in
charge of that district had encouraged piracies.
Another officer in Kéthidv4d had oppressed some
of the guaranteed chiefs in the peninsula; a settle-
ment with certain K4this had not been carried out ;
and 50 on. One of the chief demands therefore was
that that portion of Kéthidv4d which belonged to
the Géikvéd should be better administered.

Co-operation in matters of police and satisfaction
18
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for past acts of gross carelessness on the part of the
Giikvad officers (the former point never was really
settled); measures to prevent offenders, subjects of
the British Government, from taking refuge within
the boundaries of the Baroda State formed, together
with specific cases, another batch of demands on
Say4ji, which testify to this day to the monstrous
insecurity to life and property which existed during
those years within and along the boundaries of the
Baroda State.

Finally the Gdikv4d was called upon to recognise
and confirm all the guarantees of the British Go-
vernment, including those made to Gangddhar Shas-
tri, Dhékji D4d4ji, and the Deséf of Nauséri, and ““to
_ agree to all the measures which had been adopted
by the British Government for affording satisfaction
to those individuals of their claims.”” It may also be
added that the rights of the family of Subhénji Pol,
once commander of the Khedd fort, and then, after

its surrender, the possessor of a British guarantee,
were energetically supported now, and later, in spite
of the Mah4raja’s filchings and the misappropriation
of the scoundrel Babd Néfada. Again Say4ji was
forced to make an allowance for Gopal Rév Ganpat
Rév Géikvad, the son of the Jagirdér of Sankheds,
whom His Highness had so ill-treated because he
was the brother of his rival Govind Rév, that he
had actually gone out, or taken the road, as it was
termed (bhérvatai).

Such was the condition of affairs in Baroda after
Lord Clare’s settlement; and the utter failure of
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the Bombay Government to influence His Highness
by gentle persuasion, more than justifies the step
taken by Sir Robert Grant’s successor, under the
pressure of which the Mah4réja made great haste
to come to terms with his powerful ally.

Note 1, p. 199.—Mr. Ogilvie, Assistant Resident in 1845, gives
the following account of the Mahéraja’s private fortune. 1st,
Saydji made 2 14khs a year, (and before the septennial leascs
perhaps 4 or 5 likhs, according to Mr. Williams,) from nazari-
nis., Each farmer of revenue on taking the lease of a district
would pay him a douceur of from Rs. 15,000 to Re. 40,000, Farmers
charged with oppression or other crime commuted their punish-
ment by payment. Nazarfnis from heirs were transferred to
the private account of the Gaikvid, as well as those given by far-
mers of imposts on various articles of consumption in the city of
Baroda. In factall the tricks played by the old Giikvad with the
State revenues were known to His Highness. 2nd, His private
villages wore worth 1 14kh, 3rd, His private grass lands, taxes
on firewood, &c., and lapses of pension, brought him 40,000 Rs.

Besides, Sayéji was a great banker. The central bank of Ga-
nesh Jshvar in Baroda was set going in 1829, He had two
establishments in his own palace which yiclded 1,25,000 Rupees.
Another bank in the city brought in 8,000 Rs., and branch banks
at Sadrd, Kadi, Petlid and Réjkot about 5,000 Rs. each. He thus
increased his private fortune by five 1dkhs a year, and what he
did not save was spent in disbursements to relations and depend-
ents, in arena sports or shows, and alas! in scattering bribes
and secret-service-money.

The sum of 25 likhs is mentioned in the Residency Records, but’
in the State accounts for A.D. 1838 (Samvat 1894) we find 57
1ikhs debited against the State as due to Say4ji for what he had
advanced to the bankers out of his private property.

Note 3, p. 203.—The attachment was taken off on the 1st Feb-
ruary 1841, after Sir James Carnac’s visit, and the Desif came to
some private agreement with the Giikvad in 1845.

Note 3, p. 204.—The thirteenth demand was that * the Resident
should be treated with respect and attention, and ahou}d be
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- allowed free intercourse with all with whom he might wish to
communicate.”” The Mahfréja was held to have assented to this
by a general promise to observe the existing treaties.

Note ¢, p. 205.—The following fow lines will give an idea of the
oondition of Baroda under' Venirdm, though of course the counter-
' petition mentioned is not to be implicitly trusted :—

In 1837 the Bombay Government, relying on Art. 9 of the treaty
of 1805, and on the fact that Venirim was a British subject,
domanded of Sayfii his dismissal. The Mahérja then pleaded
that he had been 25 years a resident of Baroda, and 10 years in
his employ with the high sounding title of Vakil Himat Bahddir.
Eight months before the Bombay Government had made this
request, Venirfm had loft Baroda suddenly for a short time.
Later on he declared that he had meditated a journey to Benares,
being in fear of his Iife from Bhdskar Riv Vithal, just as in 1827
be was threatened by the Native Agent S4rabhai and Vithal Rav
Devénji, though on this first occasion ho was saved in 1831-2 by
Lord Clare. He also averred that he did not go to Benares,
because the Mahérfija had received a monster petition from all
the leading people of Baroda begging that he should stay. At
the time he was thus explaining these movements of his, the
Bombay Government received an anonymous counter-petition
which told a different tale. He was so hated in Baroda that ho
thought*it safer to run away : unfortunately he was robbed on his
journey from the town, and the Mak4r4ja to justify hus forced re-
turn sorewed out of the leading people in Baroda the petition of
which Venfrdm boasted It was not a free petition, becanse he
had robbed the house of Ratanji Kindds and beaten the agent,
after having him turned out of caste ; he had robbed the house of
Parbh(idds and that of Liali Mangal Parakh. He had robbed other
smaller fry, the Sard4rs and the agent of Gop&l Rav Mairsl,
Later, Gopél Biv and Hari Bhakti bad purchased his support, as
had the Nav4b of Baroda, who obtained from him the Siébhé of
Kéthidvd, where he made a large fortune by oppression,

.



A.D. 1888.]

CHAPTER XXI.

SIR JAMES CARNAC’S VISIT, AND SOME ACCOUNT OF THE
BAHANDARI SYSTEM—THE END OF SAYAJI RAV’S OPEN,
CONTEST.

Sir James Carnac, Bart., was made Governor
of Bombay for the express purpose of bringing
to an end the disputes with the Baroda Darbér,
as it was justly imagined that his long connection
with the Géikv4d gave him exceptional experience.

On the 6th August 1838 the Government of Bom-
bay, finding that it could not by any other means
gain Sayéji's ear, suggested to the Government of
India that the district of Petl4d should be seques-
trated, after notifying to the Mah4r4ja that one month
would be granted him to give satisfaction to all the
British claims or demands. The Right Honourable
Governor General in Council approved of the
suggestion on the 80th August 1838, and added
that, if the adoption of the above course should
fail in bringing the Gi4ikv4d to his senses, he « should
“be deposed and his son elevated to the R4jin his
“stead, provided his character gave fair promise.”
Petldd was sequestrated on the I1st November
1838, as the proclamation on the 5th of the same
month made known to all, because  after many
““years of useless discussion His Highness had been
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“granted one month, within which period he was
“ to satisfy certain demands. The demands had
“not been satisfied, and so the district had been
“ sequestrated : if in two months more compliance
“had not been made, the district would be wholly
¢ forfeited.” On the 12th February 1839 the Go-
vernment of India caused it to be notified that, as far
as regarded Say4ji Rdv, Petldd had been * absolute-
¢ly and entirely forfeited.”

But on the 28th November 1839 Say4ji Rév came
to the Residency and addressed Mr. Sutherland “in
““the terms and demeanour of a suppliant, at times
“bending his head down in token of submission:
““taking up the corner of his garment and spreading
it out, he begged the protection of the Resident,
““while he joined his hands in an attitude of suppli-
““cation, and begged forgiveness for the past.”
Truly, the long contest was now at an end, and in the
years 1840-41 the 28 ““ demands’ were all or nearly
all satisfied in full, though some few were perhaps
somewhat slurred over. It was no doubt hard and
yet satisfactory work for that noble Resident, Mr.
Sutherland, to obtain the fulfilment of the orders of
his government and of the promises of His Highness,
work which he was not permitted to complete. | Itis
sad to relate that during those years of trouble no less

'than three Residents in succession died at Baroda,
within a period of seven years; the veteran Mr. Wil-
liams in November 1837, Mr. James Sutherland, who
succeeded him, in June 1840,and Mr. W. S. Boyd in
Aug‘ust 1844, all three brave men and good officers. -
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© Within this time, that is, on the 26th January
1841, Sir James Carnac came to Baroda to make all
matters safe, and before the 8th of February his
settlement, this time a satisfactory one, was complet-
ed. After His Highness had promised not to
oppress any of his subjects in the lately sequestrated
districts of Petldd and Nauséri, Sir James Carnac
directed the withdrawal of the attachment from these
districts, and on the 1st February 1841, from the
. Gikvad’s tributes in K4thidvad, the Mahi and the
Revé Kénthds. He also restored to Sayéji Rév the
ten 14khs of Rupces deposited (1832) in a British
treasury as security for the punctual payment of the
Contingent. But, as is related in the chapter on
the army, the Gujarit Irregular Horse, raised
in March 1839 as a punishment on Sayiji for the ill
condition of his -Contingent, was not disbanded ;
and, as Petldd had now been restored and that body
of Cavalry had becn paid out of its revenues, His
Highness consented to pay three ldkhs yearly for
its maintenance., He would, indeed, have infinitely
preferred to have got rid of this military burden
altogether, and both during the visit of Sir James and
later, his entroaties to be spared this tax, which he
considered a disgrace, were most piteous. But the
Muhdréja of Baroda was subjected to the imposition

till the accession of Saydji’s second son Khapde R4v.
-+
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If the settlement effected by Sir James Carnac
admitted of a fuller treatment, notice would be
drawn not merely to the 28 demands of the Govern-
ment of Bombay, but also to the 86 counter de-
mands of the Mah4raja, which the Governor promised
to take into consideration. Advantage was also
taken of this time of settlements to come to an
understanding on several vexatious points. It had
hitherto been the custom for the British authorities
and British Troops at Baroda to take part in the
Ganpati and Dassard festivals: but it was now re-
solved that any participation in the religious side
of the processions ill-suited the profession of British
officers and soldiers. Much to the disgust, there-
fore, of the Mahdrdja, it was ruled that in future
these should be drawn up in some selected spot and
should give the usual honorary salute to the
Mahéraja’s person only. It was also now ruled
that for the future the Resident should not accept
aher, or gifts of dresses of honour, from the
Mahéréja, or present him with similar tokens of
friendship.

A blow was also struck at a custom already dying
out, which, nevertheless, signified progress. The be-
nevolent Sutherland, while Resident, heard of the
self-immolation of the widow of a Ratnégiri Bréh-
man, and he ceased not to bring the fact to the
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notice of his Government and of Say4ji Rév till, on
the 13th of April 1840, His Highness consented to
issue a proclamation whereby the abetment of sati
was made punishable by law, and the example thus
set was speedily followed by the chiefs of the Revé
Kénth4d. We may here state that this really pro-
gressive step was followed by another a few years
later. In March 1847, a British subject living in
the Baroda camp, a Koki by caste, sold his daughter,
who was six or seven years of age, to a man of his
own race, but without the consent of his wife, and
then made off with the money. A fresh case follow-
ed, and then a stir was made which resulted in the
prohibition of the sale of Hindd children to Mussal-
méns, and also of any sale without the express
permission of the Huzdr (26th June 1849, wvide
also Art. 9 of the treaty of 1805 and Reg. 14 of
1827). While on this subject it may be noticed
that on the 24th May 1853, the High Court of
Directors instructed district officers to refuse to sur-
render fugitive slaves and fugitive wives, and to
refer claimants to the Civil Court. A certain check
or supervision was thus placed on the practice of mild
slavery. It must, however, beallowed that children
sold as slaves in Baroda were well treated, and occu-
pied, asit were, the position of house servants for life.

Having now described the settlement whereby
the long struggle between Sayfji and the Bombay
Government was closed, it remains for us to dwell
more particalarly on that sore point which was the
real source of irritation t6 the two parties. What
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the Bombay Government had long felt most keenly
in the Mah{réja’s conduct was his cruelty to those
of his subjects who held the British guarantee that
they should be safe from the tyranny of the Géik-
v4d. What Say4ji for twenty years had resented
was the fact that an influential portion of his sub-
jects was protected by the British, and was there-
fore tempted to set his authority at naught. So the
most pressing of his counter-demauds was the 25th,
which prayed that “the persons holding the gua-
““rantee should be strictly ordered to obey the com-
““mands of the Sarkdr and to perform their duties.”
Again, when urged to respect the guarantees by Sir
James Carnac, he retorted with the request that
“ these men should be enjoined to treat him with
“respect and not to forget that, aftor all, he was their
“sovereign.” Later on the Governor confesses that,
““the possessors of our guarantee have in many
“instances presumed on their right to claim our
“interposition, and have been wanting in that re-
“spect and obedience which they are bound to pay
“to the Gdikvé4d as their sovereign.” And at this
distance of time we can easily see how the assump-
tion by the British of the Arab guarantees, gave
.them immense opportunities of interfering between
the Gdikvdd and the foremost of his subjects; how
the guarantee of an Arab mercenary must have
differed from that grarted by a resistless govern-
ment, not only in extent but also in duration ; how
at first this difference was not clearly perceived, and
the, Gdikvdd, for his own convenience, readily



A.D. 1840.] - 915

granted to his subjects the right to appeal to the
British as the security added to his own power of
coming to an accommodation ; how the fact that the
guarantee was extended to State creditors, minis-
ters, +and relatives, joined the Bahéndarf system to
the strict supervising policy adopted by the British
with regard to financial and political State ques-
tions; how when these qucstions were solved or
changed in naturt the guarantees survived ; how for
a length of time the British, seeing the power the
Bahéndari system gave them, were prompt-to extend
their protection over those holding the guarantee ;
how, later on, the evils of the (mperium in tmperio
thus created were revealed, and the difficulties of
deciding between the Gdikvdd and his often worth-
less subjects were seen to be enormous; and how,
finally, the British cast off with a wrench their con-
nection with these men as rapidly and completely as
a consideration for their plighted word, now most
carefully interpreted, would allow them.

Volumes have been written on the Bahdndarf
system, and the correspondence regarding certain
protected individuals is enormous: a brief account of
some particulars is therefore all that can be inserted
here. Two or three guarantees preceded the ex-
pulsion of the Arabs; one was granted to the Des4f
of Nauséri in 1798 as has been stated, a second to
Révji Apéji by the agreement of the 29th July 1802,
a third to Malh4r Rév, the J4gfrddr of Kadi, after the
Kadi war, which lapsed when he escaped to K4thite
vid, rebelled, was made prisoner and exiled. R4vji’s
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guarantee alone deserves notice. It was hereditary,
but, as has been related, the emoluments only and not
the office of Divén were continued to his adopted
son Sitdrém after his fractious behaviour in 1808.
On Sitardm’s death (1823) his son Nérdyan Rév conti-
nued to hold the guarantee that a nemniik of 60,000
Rupees should be paid him, but the guardians of his
son forfeited all protection by trying to pass on the
Resident a forged version of the treaty of 1802.
Even after 1842 Mr. Ogilvie and Sir R. Arbuth-
not interfered to preserve some villages, erroneously
believed to be private property, to the family; but
Colonel Outram dissuaded the Government from
doing anything further for the house not only of
Ravji who had befriended the British, but of Sitdrm
who had done so much mischief.

On the 26th December 1802 the Arabs were ex-
pelled from Baroda, and it was expressly stipulated by
them and those whom they protected that the Bri-
tish should take up the guarantees they had granted.
This gave the Honourable Company an enormous
power of interference, “and established a connec-
““tion with the monied men from which the Company
“have reaped much benefit ; but for the time the
“ (4ikvad did not mind this, for the step, as the Re-
“sident wrote, deprived the Sardérs of a powerful
“means of controlling the Government.” And it
should also be explained that the Arab guaran-
tees were of two kinds—one for the due payment
of money, the other for personal security—and that
the breach of an engagement made by the Sarkér
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was held to absolve the giver of the guarantee from
““his duty as a subject, the Arabs presenting many
“ instances when to enforce guarantees they filled
“the Darbérs of the R4j4 and the minister, and
““held their persons in rigorous confinement.”

The British did “not maintain the system in force
““to the same extent as prevailed during the (anar-
¢ chical) dominion of the Arabs. The guarantees
““ were for the most part confined to loans raised for
““ the purpose of relieving the Baroda Government
“from embarrassments.” But there were excep-
tions, ‘““the guarantees granted to Rdvji and his
“adherents in return for the aid which they had
“ afforded the British in accomplishing their views in
“ Baroda.”” Unfortunately but naturally these men
cxpected that, as they had rendered the British Go-
vernment good service in the past, they and their
descendants would continue to be protected in the
future, whatever their shortcomings towards the
Gdikvad might be. It has therefore been properly
said “that no guarantees were so calculated to make
‘““ mischief as the hereditary ones, which not only
“ extended to persons and property, but guaranteed
“ the continuance of office to particular families.”

With regard to the period during which these
guarantees were granted by the Bombay Govern-
ment, it 18 sufficient to note that all but one or two
date previous to the year 1819, and that before
that time, while the State was ruled by a Commission
of which the Resident was the prominent member, .
no complaints were raised regarding them. . Be-

19
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tween 1819 and 1828 only one guarantee was ex-
tended, that to the two illegitimate sons of Anand
Rév. Nevertheless during the early years of Say4ji
there was a tendency in the British officers to con-
sider the guarantec as hereditary, and in the Mah4-
rija to irritate these officers by treating those who
were under protection with extreme harshness. Iu
1828 the Government of India arrived at the con-
clusion “ that the bahdndar{ engagements were no
‘“less objectionable in principle than embarrassing
“in practice, and that they were glad to learn that
““the Government of Bombay had laid it down as an
“established principle to clear itself as soon as
“ possible of the guarantees to existing loans, and
““to contract no more pledges of such a nature
“in future.”” When Sir James Carnac made his
settlement, 20 guarantees had lapsed; but 17 here-
ditary and 9 personal ones were still extant, the
former securing personal protection, situations,
nemniks, property, trade, vatans, and rights to
certain families ; the latter pensions, nemniks or pro-
visions for life. In 1849 Captain French, officiating
Resident, strongly rccommended that many of the
bahdindurf engagements should be held to have
lapsed, and was successful in the case of the Shéstris,
and of M4neckchand Rupchand. ‘“ The supposed im-
“munity from punishment enjoyed by possessors of
‘¢ the British guarantee was,”” he said, “most noxious,
‘“and worse protégés than Dhékji D4daji, B4ba Nifa-
““da, Balvant R4v and Govind Réav G4ikv4d cannot
““be imagined.” In 1850, accordingly, the Court of
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Directors recorded that ¢ the condition of good con-
¢ duct on which 8o many of the bahéndaris depended,
“had not been enforced with sufficient strictnessy”
and in 1853 determined that “ the guarantees granted
“by officers of Arab troops were in their nature
“temporary.”’ Following the same line Outram
brought wmany of the engagements to an abrupt
end: he translated the important word chédld as
“ running” and not as hereditary, and the Court of
Directors accepted his version in 1856.

We have already seen that the guarantees passed
by the Arabs, and taken up by the British, were of
two kinds. The first mentioned was that loans
made to the State should be repaid. It need
scarcely be again mentioned, as the story has
been already told, how f{rom time to time the
British stood security for the Gaikvid that he
would repay vast sums of money. In 1803 there were
owing to the guaranteed bankers 56 likhs of Rs.;
in 1807, after great reductions had been made, a
new loan raised the guaranteed debts to over
71,25,000 Rs. The subsequent difficulties of the
State which were considered by Mr. Elphinstone,
Sir John Malcolm, and Lord Clare, togcther with
the wranglings, sequestrations and settlements which
ensued, have been also related. We pass to gua-
rantees of the second kind, 7.c. of personal security
and so on, just touching on certain salient points
that it may be understood what sort of people these
British protégés were, and why they irritated the
Géikvad and troubled their protectors.
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K4hdndds Patel of D4rupuri, and Bhdichand
Dessf of Baroda held a guarantee from the
- Arabs which was chéli; and in the case of the
latter Mr. Willoughby, interpreting the word as
“running,” would have deprived the holder of his
protection in 1827 for gross misconduct, but was
not allowed to do so. Mr. Williams made the
guarantee of the former hereditary through some
mistake, but in 1855 the holder was held guilty of
conspiring with other bankers and the minister of
the Réjpiplé State to defraud the R4j4 of that coun-
try of @ 14kh and a half of money, and so lost his
protection. In the time of Anand Rév, the Arabs
had guaranteed personal protection to the house of
Khishdlchand Ambafd4s. In 1848 a claimant to
the property of the house named Dimodar was
found guilty of using forged evidence, and it was
made over to another claimant, a lady of the name
of Jam4 BA4f, though she too had forged. The
Mah4rija objected to the transfer because Démodar
had won him over with a heavy nazardnd, and
after all Jam4 Bai almost lost her guarantee for mal-
treating and imprisoning Déimodar. But perhaps
the only real hereditary guarantee passed by the
Arabs was to Sundarji, the Desii of Balsdd, who
adopted a son, Shankarji, before his death. Twenty-
two monthsafter his decease, his widow gave birth to
a son whom she put forward as heir. Litigation en-
. sued, and the firm of Khushélchand Ambaidés, which

had advanced money to Shankarji’s natural father,
seized the property and the guarantee. But Gangé-
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dhar Shéstri afterwards got hold of the document,
and 1t was with difficulty that the Resident obtained
it again from Sayaji Riv. Finally, when the Arabs
were being turned out, the two paymasters, Sdmal
and Mangal Pdrekh, obtained temporary guarantees.
The latter baving managed, however, in 1802 to
obtain from the Governor, Mr. Duncan, “the here-
¢ ditary favour and protection of the Honourable
“ Company at Ahmadébdd, Dholerd, Surat and Bom-
“ bay, against any unjust attack or claim from the
“ English or G4ikvad Government,” withount, in all
probability, even the knowledge of the reigning
G4ikv4d, the Bombay Government thought itself
bound to keep the promise it had made.

The other guarantees had no relation to the
Arabs, but some concerned the family of the Géik-
vid. Daulat R4v Gdikvid, the son of Kénoji, obtain-
ed British protection, and did not forfeit it when
his father rebelled against the State: but he was
partly insane and given to drink. In 1832 he mur-
dered his wife in a jealous fit, he was then confined
in irons for eight years and died in 1857. Of the
guarantees granted to Mukund Rav and Morir Rév
Géikvdd when they returned to their allegiance
after aiding in the Kadi and Sankhed4 wars and
after taking refuge with the Povér of Dhér, no
mention need be made; nor of those extended to
Darid Béf, andsUmed Kinvar Béi, wives of the Ma~
héréja Anand Rév, and to his illegitimateson Ganpat
Rév, nor of that given to Fate Sing’s wife and
adopted son, R4dhé Béf and Govind R4v. The.mere
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fact that the British Government for a time extend-
ed their protection over the two last mentioned
persons whom Sayéji believed to be plotting against
his gadf and his life, is enough to account for his
hatred of the whole Bah4ndar{ protection.

Allusion has been made to the guarantee of Su-
bhénji Pol and no mention of it need be made here.
Let us, therefore, turn to those granted to ministers
and their families in continuation as it were of the
account of that foolish support given to the family
of Sitdrdm, the treacherous minister. A full ac-
count of the protection afforded to the arch-trickster
Dhakji Did4ji has already been related, but in this
place it may again be called to mind. Allusion has
also been made to the fate which overtook Bhéskar
Rév,! the adopted son of Vithal Rav, the son of
Bib4ji Appdji, and it has been pointed out that
neither was this person deserving of any support,
nor was the support given to him sufficient to save
him from the persecution of Say4ji and Venirdm.
No Government could protect a fool from the effects
of his own folly. The last guarantee ever granted
by the British was the worst of the whole series ;
but as it has been alluded to elsewhere, passing
mention only need here be made of Vithal Rév
Divénji, whom Sir John Malcolm took under his
special care and protection, when that minister was
held by his sovereign to be a traiton, and conspira-
tor, and to whom he granted a guarantee against
the direct wish of his sovereign, There remains
the family of the Shéstris, the descendants of Gan-
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ghdhar Shéstri, most unfortunate of men! The:
officers who supported their cause either forgot to
sign their guarantee, ag*Captain Carnac, or left the
country at the very moment of securing them their
rights, as Sir John Malcolm and Lord Clare : for a
time their rights werc recognised (1840), and the
Bombay Government itself paid them arrears for
ten years, but in 1843 British protection was par-
tially withdrawn. When the sanad was drawn up
it was granted to the wrong party, as to Bhimd-
shankar instead of to the whole family; when their
claims were again and again investigated, they were
found so obscured by what had been granted, what
retracted, what granted again, that the assistance
thoy got from the British was pretty well worthless.
The case of one high officer of the State may also
be mentioned here. In 1828 Nérdyan R4v Mahd-
devd Mazmidir received a guarantee which was
forfeited by him in 1858, because, as Sir R. Sakes-
pear represented, his behaviour to the Géikvid was
“ disrespectful and contumacious and he set himself
““up in opposition to the ministers.” It is needless
to remark that earlier in the century the holder
would not thus have lost his guarantee.

Besides members of the Géikvdd family and
ministers, certain bankers received the British gua-
rantee. The trouble caused by one of this class of
guarantees was extraordinary, and, as it regards a
prominent Baroda firm, may here be mentioned. In
the eighteenth century Harf{ and Bhaktf, two sons ofa
Bénig of the Vis4léd caste, grew rich in transactions
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with the Baroda and Poona Courts. These men hada
sister to whom three sons were born, Nandlél, Sdmal,
and Dulabh, the second of whom aided his uncles at
Baroda, and the third at Poona. When the uncles
died, Dulabh endeavoured to obtain the property, but
Bhakti’s widow vindicated her rights, and adopted
Sémal, who thus became sole heir in 1803. In 1809
his widow, on his death, adopted Bechar Sémal, and
this person got a guarantee in that year and again
in 1820. He died in 1845, and entrusted the
management of his property to a rogue named Béba
Néfada, already mentioned as the accomplice of
Dh4kji Dad4ji and the object of the Bombay Go-
vernment’s aversion, though by his position as agent
to the House he also was entitled to the benefit of
the guarantee. In 1849, Bechar’s second wife, Joftf
Béf, charged him with embezzlement, when he in
turn accused her of putting forward as her own a
supposititious child, and later, on the death of this
infant, of substituting in its place another spurious
child. He then had Joft{ B4i imprisoned, and kid-
napped theinfant, which died. Colonel Outram inves-
tigated the case, which had been tried by a one-sided
panchéyat, and was strongly impressed with a notion
that the lady had been wronged, but while the
investigation was proceeding, he was forced to leave
Baroda on account of bad health. Captain French
took up the case and was persuaded, according to
Colonel Outram, by the Native Agent at the Resi-
dency, Narso Pant, whom be distrusted as much as
Captain French relied on him, and who was Béab4
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Néfad4’s friend, that the latter was in the right.
But after a time Colonel Outram returned,re-opened
the whole matter, and, in spite of the adverse deci-
sion of & second panchéyat, brought such light on
the case in 1850, that the Géikvad imprisoned Béba
Néfada for seven years and fined him 15,500 Rs.
The story is told that it may clearly be seen that
the granting of guarantees to the Gdikv4d’s subjects
often caused a useless amount of trouble, that the
holders were often not worthy of consideration, and
that the apportioning of justice to people who knew
not what truth and honesty meant, often led to the
strangest mistakes in the dealings of clever and up-
right officers.

In the next chapter we shall see that the pro-
longed maintenance by the Bombay Government of
the Bahdndari system was held responsible for the
existence of corruption and intrigue in the State.
And for the more prompt reform of this unsatisfac-
tory state of things, the political supervision of
Baroda was transferred by the Honourable Court of
Directors from the Government of Bombay to that
of India.

Note 1, p. 222.—Bhaskar Rév is still alive, and stands at the
head of the darakdars,
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CHAPTER XXII.

END OF THE REIGN OF SAYAJI RAV—REIGN OF GANPAT
RAV—EHATPAT.

Much has been said of the influence for good or
bad exercised by the Mahdrdja’s Minister; but
something remains to be told of the part played by
the Resident’s Minister, so to call him, the Native
Agent to the Darbér, as well as by the subordinate
clerks in the Residency office. Much has been
said, also, of the open opposition of the Mahéréja
to any interference in financial and political questions,
but something has yet to be related of the devices
to which the Darbdr unfortunately thoughbt it ne-
cessary to have recourse when the open contest was
ended ; of bribery ; of secret prying into the inten-
tions of the rulers of the stronger Government ;
something, too, of the secret parties which took the
place of the one once openly recognised as being
under British protection, and devoted to the so-
called British interests,

This is the matter which now appropriately comes
under consideration, though it is no new matter and
10 break occurs in the continuity of ovents. Gan-
gidhar Shdstri and D4d4ji were native agents of
great importance ; spies and news-mongers had been
employed by the State, probably from its earliest
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days ; bribery was ever a recognised weapon in po-
litics.  Sitérdm, we remember, used to obtain from
Bombay the most secret records of the Secretariat,
Dh4kji D4daji was supposed by Saydji to be able
with money to influence the Governor, the Secre-
tary to Government, and other notables. But in the
days that followed the break-down of Sayéji’s open
opposition, intrigue reigned supreme in the Baroda
Darbér, till, at last, all Gujardt believed that every
Englishman had his price, till the good name of the
highest officials was at the mercy of the meanest
of rogues and tricksters. Great was the power of
khatpat, but greater the power of Sir J. Outram,
who slew it with fierce energy, at the risk of his
life, and in the face of the opposition of his own
fellows and superiors, who could not see the extent
of the evil.

In note 3, at page 196, we quoted Sir John
Malcolm’s criticism of native agents. ‘ Hence-
““forth,” he concluded, ¢ there should be no native
“gervant at the Residency of a grade te give him
““the appearance of any influence. None were re-
““quired but clerks and accountants, and all news-
““mongers and informants should be discouraged.”
This was certainly a praiseworthy resolution, but,
unfortunately, it was not carried into effect. It
sprang from a knowledge of the zeal or supposed
influence of the Nigar Bréhman, Sérdbhdf, whom
Saydji believed to have conspired with Vithal Rév
to elevate his son to the g4df in his place. Colonel
Outram was of opinion that this man was stropgly
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supported by relatives and caste-fellows, who filled
all the high native appointments in British and
Géikvdd Gujarét, that he acted in collusion with
the Gdikvdd and his Darbér, and that he grossly
misused the enormous power he was thus able to
wield. !

Venfrém Aditrdm boasted that it was he who had
persuaded Lord Clare to order the dismissal of Séar4-
bhéf after his visit to Baroda. Whether this be true or
not, S4rébh4i’s power remained in the family. About
the time when Mr. Sutherland was transferred from
the scene of his beneficent labours in Rajputénd to
the Court of Baroda, Outram, who loved to call him
his master, was appointed Assistant Resident in the
Mah{ Kénth4. Here, by the way, he rapidly distin-
guished himself by the manner in which he gained
the hearts of the lawless hill-men, raising up from
their number an efficient police corps. In 1837
Outram convicted of a gross piece of rascality, and
dismissed one of the Residency clerks, the accomplice
of Sérabhdi’s brother-in-law, Brijlil. But he did
not succeed in bringing home a charge he made
against this very Brijlal, who had become Sérfbhaf’s
successor, and who managed thoroughly to hamper
Mr. Sutherland in his work. In 1838 it was, accord-
ingly, thought fit to depute Mr. Malet on special duty
to investigate the condition of the Political Com-
missioner’s establishment. Mr. Malet was unable to
expose any one, owing to the power and close collu-
sion of the Nfgar Brahmans, the G4ikv4dd and the
State bankers; but he recorded ‘‘the disgraceful
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«extent to which the names of high British func.
“tionaries had been made use of.” In 1838 & clerk
named Anand Rav was suspected of taking bribes,
but not caught. Soon after, however, his brother
Diado Pant was found guilty of the same offence
and dismissed, and again later on, & clerk named
Motf L4l. This was by no means Mot{ L4l’s first
offence, and the rogue by false representations
had obtaincd the removal of a British officer
from R4jpipld: yet he, too, like the others, was
merely dismissed, nor was any public censure pass-
ed on him. The Bombay Government, scarcely
realizing the extent of the insidious evil done
by these men, required full and ample proof of
guilt before passing sentence, and the punishment
inflicted was so mild as to have no deterrent effect
on others. Brijldl, the Native Agent and the centre
of all the corruption, escaped, as we have said, in
1837; but the next year he wasfound out in a fresh
case, and rcquested in the usual mild way to leave
the service on the 20th of September 1838. Mr.
Evans, the head English clerk, was discovered at the
same time to have been implicated in several in-
trigues. Butthe real gain from the exposure which
occurred was the fall of Sér4bhdi’s brother-in-law
and the break-up of the Négar Brfhman clique.?
This, be it remembered, was the time when Say4ji
was making his monster attempt at bribing Sir
James Carnac through Gopél Rév Mairdl and
Dhékji D4déji, and also Mr. Willoughby through

* Motf Lal and Bhéid Purénik, as has been mentioped
20
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at page 178. This is the time when Veniram Adit-
rdm and Biba Néfada were the two most influential
people in Baroda, the latter being the manager and
quasi-master of the great House of Harf Bhakt{ in
which His Highness was a sleeping partner.

Mr. Sutherland died at his post in June 1840,
suddenly and in suspicious circumstances, but the
cause of his death was ascribed by Dr. Arnott to
apoplexy. Outram had, before this, been summoned
away to take part in the Afghén war. Mr. Boyd,
in August 1840, took up the work of reform with
less vigour or greater moderation than his prede-
cessor. At least so thought Sir James Carnac and
Sir George Arthur, the Governors of Bombay, who
were now intent on pushing the results of the
‘“demands” to their legitimate conclusion. When,
thercfore, Gopdl Riv Mairal’s attempt to bribe the
Governor came to light in 1843, the Resident was
instructed to admonish and reprove both the Mah4-
rija and his adviser.

Mr. Boyd’s term of office was not a long one, for
he too died at Baroda in August 1844, and Sir
Robert Arbuthnot was nominated his successor.
But in the interval which elapsed before his arrival,
while Mr. Ogilvie, the able First Assistant, was not
in charge, Mr. Remington officiated, and Mr. Reming-
ton did not go the whole way with Outram in his
views. He virtually deprived of his appointment a
person in whom Outram placed great faith. This
was Vinayak Moreshvar Fadke, an inhabitant but
not a native of Baroda, who had come to that town



A.D. 1846.] 281

to push some claims on behalf of a female relative
of his, the daughter of Harf Fadke, the late com-
marder-in-chief of the Peshvd B4ji Rév’s army
Bé4b4 Fadke had lived at Baroda for six years, and
had gained the ear of the Mahdrija, when in 1836
he was expelled from the city owing, as Outram
believed, to the machinations of Venirdm Aditrm.
He then for a couplo of years recommended himself
to the Assistant Resident by exposing many rascali-
ties, and was finally successor to Mot{ L4l Purshotam.’
It was he who managed the sequestrated district of
Fetldd : but Mr. Remington distrusted and, as we
have said, dismissed him in 1844.

Meanwhile, on the 21st of July 1843, Hari Lal, the
Native Agent, was dismissed for corrupt practices
detected by Mr. Boyd, and two men applied for the
vacant post. One was the Fadke just mentioned, the
other was an old Government servant named Narso
Pant, and this man was finally chosen. Now this
Narso Pant was either a relative or a caste-fellow to
Bé4b4 Néfada, Ganesh Pant, the Fadnavis and D4do
Pant, the dismissed public scrvant. Impelled by
family interests and won by bribes, Outram believed
that this new Native Agent soon began to betray
his masters.

Sir Robert Arbuthnot transacted the work of Resi-
dent from July 1845 to April 1846, when he had
to retire owing to ill health, and for the next thirteen
months Mr. Andrews, Judge of Surat, acted in his
place. Unfortunately for him, a little later on
Outram discovered among Babd Néfada’s papers or
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accounts an item of a bribe to certain low people
who had some private influence with the Acting
Resident. Though there was no reason for believing
that Mr. Andrews knew anything of the matter,
this gentleman took much to heart the suspicions
cast upon people with whom he was acquainted.
The vexation and worry into which he was subse-
quently dragged attended him to his grave.

Colonel James Outram succeeded Mr. Andrews
as Resident in May 1847, and on this occasion
remained at Baroda for nearly a year and a half.
But for the moment let us put aside the consider-
ation of his career to record the death of the
Mahdrdja Saydji Rav on the 28th of December 1847.
Much has been said in blame or at least in criticism
of the reign of this the most remarkable of all the
G4ikv4ds. Here, then, let it be allowed that he
did more than any to increasc the power of his House,
and that he was respected and beloved of his
people. Some there are who will not allow that
he was mistaken in his policy or guilty in his acts.
Tf he was parsimonious, it was to render the State
solvent ; if obstinate, it was because at that time the
British Government was grasping. He was not
merely in the right, he was also successful in carry-
ing out his views. After many sequestrations and
agreements, he got back all his country; and
though he still had to pay three l4khs a year for
Roberts’ Horse, the burden was to him a trifle at
which he laughed in his sleeve, while he appeared
to be overcome with shame at the disgrace. In
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. reality he retained the lordship over his army, his
Sarddrs, the moneyed men, the ministers and every
party in the palace, while he drove the British to
abandon by degrees all interference with the State.
This is what some people affirm, but it would be
wise also to consider how far the gulf he. created
between Baroda and the British Government led,
first to the abandonment of even friendly criticism,
and then to a very decided reaction and a searching
inquiry into the manner in which the Native State
had conducted itself during the period it was left
to itself.

Sayéji R4v had five legitimate sons, of whom the
four eldest were born to him by his first wife
Chimnd B4i, and three illegitimate sons. The heir
to the gddi was of course Ganpat Rév, then about
30 years of age, for the second son, Khande Rév,
was some 10 years younger. The latter was subse-
quently Réja, because Ganpat Réav’s son died in
May 1847, and he in his turn was succeeded by
Saydji’s fourth son, Malhdr Rdv, because he died
leaving no heir, and, previous to his death, the
third of Say4ji’s sons, Anand Rév, had also died.

Ganpat Rdv was in every respect a contrast to
his father, but in one matter he compares favour-
ably with his next brother, in that he was not
addicted to lavish expenditure. Some years before
his accession Mr. Ogilvie had written of him that
he was “ weak, dissipated and indifferently educated,

{ “thathewasnot on good terms with his father, whom

‘““hehad intrigued to supplant.” But in 1851 Colonel
+— .



234 [cmap., xx1I.

Outram slightly tempered this criticism ; he thought
him weak indeed, but not ill-intentioned, though un-
doubtedly too muchunder the influence of his minister.

As reference has been made to the want of educa-
tion in the Mah4rja, it may be as well to remember
that since the days of Ddmé4ji, no reigning Géikvad
had left Gujarit except to appear at Poona, and that,
confined within their little State, the Gaikvids were
suffered to ignore the great world outside save in so
far as afew narrow and crooked Mardth4 politicsbade
them look to the immediate past of their nation for
guidance in the very much changed present. Captain
French, Acting Resident, records how he persuaded

‘the well-meaning Mah4rdja to read some books, to
abandon the notion that London was somewhere
south of Calcutta, and to purchase an expensive toy
in a model steam-engine. Later on he travelled ; next
Khande Ré4v proceeded in state to meet H. R. H.
the Duke of Edinburgh in Bombay, and finally his
young adopted son not only went there, but to
Delhi also, and the great towns of Hindusthdn. The
consequences of Khando Rdv’s extended information
have been given in this book, but what will come of
Sayji Rav’s still more liberal training is yet beyond
conjecture. The isolation, however, of the Gdikvids
from the outside world up to quite a recent time was
greater than can now be imagined, and the instru-
ment by which they were suddenly brought into con-
tact with it has just been hinted at.. Captain French
presented the Mahérdja with a toy-engine, and the
same officer greatly promoted theintroduction of rail-
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ways into Gujardt, which have since effected a com-
plete revolution in the trade, politics and customs
of the State. :

In 1853 a party of engineers began to survey the
country between Bombay and Gujarét with a view
to laying down a rail-road. When work was com-
menced at Surat it was found necessary to make the
line pass through Baroda territory, and negotiations
had to be opened with Ganpat Rév. In 1856 His
Highuess readily surrendered in full the land required
for the rail, stipulating only for the payment of com-
pensation to the owners of private (not khélsd) land,
and for protection against any loss which might
accrue to Baroda revenue in transit duties. These
stipulations were of course accepted, but though the
claims for compensation made by owners of private
land might be and were satisfied, the matter of
indemnity to the State for loss in transit duties
proved difficult to settle. In 1859, Khande Rév
agreed: to receive from the British Government
year by year compensation for proved loss in transit
duties. At the same time it was only fair to compute
the correspondingly large gain to the Baroda State
accruing from the increase in customs duaties which
followed the introduction of the railway and the
consequent augmentation of exports and imports,
and it was hard to strike a balance. The present
Administration has abandoned all claims for indem-
nity for loss in transit duties. *

The Bombay, Baroda, and Central India Railway
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was thus started, (the first train running in 1860,)
but not with the State money, nor were the advan-
tages the:State reaped from the undertaking direct
in any way. On the contrary, it surrendered its
sovereignty over the land set aside for the Railway
line, and consequently its rights to civil or criminal
jurisdiction within the limits of that line. Butindi-
rectly the advantages derived proved to be great;
so that when in 1877 the British Government deter-
mined to extend the Railway from Ahmadabéd to
Rajputénd, the present Administration granted the
land required in Baroda territory free of all cost
to the British Government. Full jurisdiction, short
of sovereign rights, was also given over such land
s0 long as the railway might last, and the right to
tax through traffic was surrendered. The line thus
extended between Ahmaddbad and Pahlanpir is
constructed on the metre gauge. '

Besides aiding the British Government to construct
the great line, His Highness the Gdikvad (1872-73)
converted a tramway into a railway line of 20 miles
in length between Dabhof and the Miy4gdm or
Karjan Station on the B. B.and C.I. The cost of the
line was either Rs. 8,738,400, or, according to some
computations, Rs. 4,02,109; the gauge is .the
smallest in India, as it does not exceed 2% feet.
Even in 1876-77, on the most-favourable reckoning,
the return on the capital invested was not much
over 250 per cent. Yet small feeders to the trunk

line are felt to be so usefal for the opening up of



A.D. 1850.] . 287

traffic in a country where the cheap construction
and maintenance of roads is impossible, that Réj4
Sir T, M4dava R4v has resolved to connect Dabhof
with Ba,hédarpur on the east, Chdndod on the west,
and Baroda on the north-west by these narrow
gauge lines. These useful extensions, which will be
354 miles in length when completed, are likely to
cost about Rs. 6,83,398, and the work is at the
present moment proceeding rapidly.

After this unavoidable digression, let us return to
the political history of the State. "We have noticed
how Mr. Remington, while officiating at Baroda,
obtained the dismissal of Fadke, how Narso Pant
was made Native Agent, and how Colonel Out-
ram returned as Resident in the State where he had
ten years before served as assistant to Mr. Suther-
land. For a time Colonel Outram thought well of
Narso Pant, but subsequently suspected him of with-
holding certain important papers relating to a false
claim for three ldkhs of rupees made by his friend
Béb4 Niéfada on Govind Rdv Géikvdd. Then fo]-
lowed Bdb4 Néfada’s second attempt to ruin Gordji
Pol, whose estate he was managing or rather mis-
managing, and again Colonel Outram thought the
Agent was playing into the B4ab4’s hands, The Resi-
dent therefore once again availed himself of the
advice of the disgraced Fadke, and obtained from
him assistance in unravelling the Gordji Pol case
and that of Joiti B&i Sethénf. Unfortunately,
whether Colonel Qutram was right or wrong in his
views, while the latter case was still pending the
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Resident was forced to leave Baroda and to go to
Egypt to recruit his shattered health.

Captain French then acted for him from October
1848:to May 1850, and every step taken by Colonel
Outram was reversed. Narso Pant was fully trusted,
the Mahdrdja Ganpat Rdv was cordially allowed to
deprive the Fadke of his appointment, and B4b4
Néfada was supported in his machinations against
Joftf B4i. In short Captain French took an opposite
view of the state of parties in Baroda to that held
by Colonel Outram. It would be useless here to
attempt to decide on the merits of the men who at
this time had power enough to influenco the Mahérija
and the Resident; their ways were crooked and their
objects equally self-interested. Colonel Outram’s
fame as a soldier and his zeal and boldness as a
political officer have distinguished him among all his
contemporaries ; but Captain French, though he, like
so many others, differcd from Colonel Outram in big
views, was neverthcless an admirable officer whose
name is gratefully remembered in Baroda to this day.?

In May 1850 Colonel Outram returned to Baroda,
and with his wonted rigour re-asserted the wisdom
of his opinions concerning the men of Baroda and
the prevalence of intrigue. Captain French was
blamed for having permitted the expulsion of Fadke
from the city, as he beld a British gnarantee. The
case of Joiti B4l v. Bdb4 Nifada, which had been
decided against the former party by a packed pan-
chéyat, wus retried, the villany of the Bab4 brought
to light, and his guarantee withdrawn. Narso Pant,
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as we shall see, he did return to Baroda itself for a
short time.

Colonel Outram wrote his Khatpat Report in
April and left Baroda and India nine or ten months
later. In the meantime one or two curious incidents
occurred. In September 1851 a letter was convey-
ed to the Resident purporting to be from the
minister Bhad Tdmbekar to the Mahérdja’s brother
and heir apparent Khande Rév. It eontained these
alarming words : “ Arrangements are being made to
 carry out what occurred to Fate Sing Mahdrdj;
“ you wait a little.”” The doubt was whether this
was the production of the minister or a forgery
perpetrated by Bibi Fadke. It caused a great
amount of heart-burning, but eventually the Mah4r4ja,
who after ejecting Fadke had recalled him to Baroda,
sided with Bhéi Tdmbekar in quashing that too clever
man : and, when Colonel Outram wished Ganpat Riv
to re-consider the position he had taken with regard
to Fadke, His Highness earnestly remonstrated.
The other strange occurrence wasthis. Colonel Out-
ram stopped certain letters at the Post Office on his
own authority, and caused the persons to whom they
were addressed to open and read them to him. It
then transpired that the old trick practised by Baroda
Darbir officials of purchasing the secrets of the
Bombay Council was still being vigorously kept up.

Mr. J. M. Davies was Resident from January 1852
to June 1853, when he fell ill, and his work was then
carried on by the officiating Resident, Mr. G. B.
Seton Karr, from June 1853 to March 1854,
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the Native Agent, was brought to trial before a
Special Commissioner, Mr. Frere, and after a patient
investigation, which lasted from June to October
1851, one out of seven charges was proved against
him. He had “ betrayed his official trust in mis-
“leading Colonel Outram,” but was nevertheless only
“removed from his present employment and consi-
“dered ineligible for re-employment.” At the
same time four subordinate clerks were ordered to
throw up their posts in the Residency office.

Then Colonel Outram, on the 81st April 1851,
sent in his Khatpat Report to the Bombay Govern-
ment, in which he blamed that Government for not
taking more stringent measures to overcome the
bribery and corruption which were destroying the
Baroda State. This Report led the Governor of
Bombay in Council, that is Lord Falkland and
Messrs. Blane and Bell, to inform the Resident that
he had better leave Baroda. Accordingly Colonel
Outram took a rhonth’s leave on the 21st of Decem-
ber 1851, and on the 20th of January 1852 his place
was taken by Mr. J. M. Davies. In the month of
July of the same year, however, the Honourable
Court of Directors passed in review the whole of
Colonel Outram’s career as Resident and, while
noticing the absence of proper respect in the Khatpat
Report, they concluded by praising ‘“the zeal,
¢ energy, ability and success with which inquiries had
“ been prosecuted attended with great -difficulty.”
They hoped, therefore, that Colonel Outram would

once mere be trusted with high employment, and,
-+
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We have read the opinion at which the honour-
able Court of Directors had arrived about Colonel
Outram. It was then resolved that ¢ measures should
“be taken for correcting the impression which
““recent information has shown to be widely prevalent
“among the natives on that side of India, that the
“ proceedings of Government may be effected by the
““employment of undue influence, personal or pecu-
“ niary, at Bombay.”” Lord Dalhgusie carried out the
wishes of the Court of Directors by re-appointing
Lieutenant-Colonel Outram to the post of Resident
(24th February 1854), in spite of Ganpat Rév’s
kharitd begging that any other person might be
sent in his stead, and by directing him once more
to weed the Residency office, to abolish the post of
Natiyp Agent, gnd not to re-employ Bdb4 Fadke.

Lor& alhousie had indeed been directed to take
charge of the relations between the Britfsh Govern-
ment #hd the Baroda State. In vain the Bombay
Government pointed to “local dlﬁ"lculpes of detail
“and the great intermixture of the ternﬁoues of
“ Bombay, of Baroda, and of numerous chiefs tribu-
“tary, some to Bombay, some toBaroda.” ¢ Near-
“ly,” retorted the Governor General, “nearly the
““ whole of the business which is transacted between
“the two governments arises more or less directly
““out of the peculiar position of those subjects of the
“ 3bikvad who hold the guarantee of the British
““ Government, and it is out of this class of business
‘““that those abuses and attempts to carry on a

“system of corruption have sprung.”’
21
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Yet, to anticipate events, the remonstrance of the
Bombay Government was a reasonable one. On the
17th of November 1859 the India Office wrote to
H. E. the Governor in Council a letter necessitated
by the confusion which took place in settling an
outbreak in Okhdmandal, to be described in the
next chapter. “It appears to Her Majesty’s
“ Government that the system under which the whole
 of our political relations with Baroda are con-
“ ducted by your Government has not worked well.
‘“ These relations are so intimately connected with
“those of Gujar4t generally, that they ought not to
“be disunited geographically. Baroda should be
“administered by the Bombay Government, and it
 should be remewmbered that it was only placed
‘““directly under the authority of the Government
“of India for special reasons and circumstances
“ which ceased to exist on the death of their High-
“nesses Say4ji Rév and Gappat Rdv.” Whether
they had cessed to exist or not a few more years
were to show : for the present it is enough to note
that, on the 17th of November 1860, the Resi-
deut, Major Wallace, was directed to take his orders
in future from the Government of Bombay. That
Government was then warned  to take full precan-
““ tions against the revival of the notorious system of
“intriguc.” One remark made by Khande Rév to
the Government of India on the occasion should be
recorded to explain the state of parties then and in
Ganpat R4v’s time at Baroda. ‘I am sorry to hear
“of the change, as the people who are friends of
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¢ Bh4d Témbekar, and others like them, on account
 of enmity, will attempt to avail themselves of this
““ opportunity to take their revenge.”

The remark lcads us back to Colonel Outram’s
re-appointment at Baroda and the events which
thereupon ensued. From the time of Sir James
Carnac’s visit to the G4ikvad, the Mahérdja Saydji
Rav had fully availed himself of the permission
given him to rule without any accredited Divén.
For some years he did all the work himself, and
Ganesh Sad4shiva Oze, an assistant in the Fadnévis
department, was merely a sort of secretary to His
Highness. But, till his death, he employed as his
confidential advisers, Bipu Argade, B4b4 Nifade,
Gopdl Rév Mairgl, Sakhirdm Péndurang Rode, and
above all BhaG Purdnik. About a year after his
*death Ganpat Riv Mah4r4j once more instituted the
post of kdrbhiri or minister, and bestowed it upon
Vithal Khande Rdv, better known as Bhid Tém-
bekar, of whom men still speak well, though he
did not pleasc the British (Government. It was
supposed that he was the author of the kharftd
addressed by Ganpat Rév to the Governor General,
and begging that some other person than Colonel
Outram should be appointed Resident. It wag
ascertained that he had persuaded Ganpat Rév to
believe that Colonel Outrath would have him re-
moved from the gddi and would cause Khande
Rév to be proclaimed Mah4rdja in his place. This
prince, then called the Appa Séheb, was not on
good terms with his brother, he ha,d/ately written

.
H
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to the Government complaining of him, and the
old affair of the letter in which His Highness, his
brother, the Minister and Fadke were concerned
was still fresh in the minds of all. Now Colonel
Outram was directed to demand of Ganpat Rév the
dismissal of Bh4d Tédmbekar.

But the Prince loved his Minister, and his dis-
missal seemed a personal disgrace to himself. The
first interview between the Resident and the Réjé
took place on the 20th of March 1854, but it was
not till after days passed in doubt and disgust that
Ganpat Rév parted with his friend. How often has
the scene been repeated at this Court from the time
of Séy4ji and Dhékji D4d4ji to the time of Khande
Ré4vand Bhat Shinde, of Malhér Rdv and Nana Sgheb
Kb4nvelkar. As usual,in this instance the dismissal
was but an outward act. Ganpat Rév Mahﬁréj"
consented to take Govind R4v Rode, the brother
of his father's adviser Sakhdrém Rode, into
apparen favour, though he had been in disgrace
since last Colonel Outram had- left Baroda ; but he
pointedly refused to nominate a new minister, and
retained Bhéti Tdmbekar as his confidential adviser.
Colonel Outram, never afraid of proceeding to ex-
tremities, broke off all communications with the
Mah4rdja, and it was not till the 12th of April that,
ascertaining that Bhad Td4mbekar and his partisans
had really been dismissed, he consented to enter on
friendly relations with His Highness. A few days
passed (5th May 1854), and Lientenant-Colonel

Outram was'called away to a still more important
\ .

b

*
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post than that he held. The war with Russia was
imminent, and Outram was selected to take the
command of Aden, where the highest political and
military functions were united in his person. Colonel
Outram was succeeded by Major Malcolm, who was
Resident from May 1854 to November 1855. Major
Davidson next filled the post from February 1856
to March 1857.

Nothing of special interest, however, occurred
during these years, and on the 19th of November
1856 His Highness Ganpat Riv Mahardj died.

Note !, pp. 228, 229.—Of the 8% divisions of Gurjjara Brihmans
the Nigar BrAhmans were the most striving, though the
Audichya, (Audh = North) sub-divided into (1) the Siddhpura,
(2) the Sihor, and (8) the Tolkiya Brahmans (with others), were
the most numerous.

Of the Audichya Brihmans, worshippers of Shiva, somothing
has been said in the body of this history. Mulrj collected 1,000
Brahmans from various parts of India, and on one half he bestowed
Sihor and 100 villages, on the other half Siddbpura and 100
villages, and on a small toli or band of recusants of his déni
Khanbhat (Cambay) and 12 villages. So goes the story, thoagh
the Brdhmans are older than Mulrij and Sihor may be Sinhapur,
the capital of the ancient Sinhas of Gujarjt.

Colonel Outram feared and hated the Nigar Brihmans, and
mistakenly derived their name from Nig (the serpent,) while it
comes from Nigar. But he was not in error as to their skill and
ambition. General LeGraund Jacob wrote of them: * The Nigara
‘ community is very powerful in the peninsula of Kathidvéd,
“ (increasingly so after Baroda was freed of them,) they are by pro-
* fession a corps diplomatique, and devoted to the arts of govern-
“ment. They are a shrewd race, and work their way into
‘“almost every darbar Ly their ability and tact.” This istrue of
that portion of the Négars who give themselves up to lay ambi-
tions, and more especially o of the Vadanagar Brihmans, a$ one
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sub-division composed of Smdrtis and a few Vaishnas is termed.
The Vadanagar class kecps itself a little aleof and ahead of the
Vishalnagar Brihmans, -who claim to have been founded by
Visaldev4, the first of the Vighelis, whose accossion detes eirch
A. D, 1192, and to whom the Sithodre Brihmans and others
aacribe their foundation. Venirim A'ditram belonged to the
Vishalnagar caste.

Of the Modha Brahmans (Modhind near Siddhpura) and other
less important classes there is no room for mention in this briet’
history.  Nor need we point out here that, since the arrival of the
Qiikvad mmto Gujardt, tho numbers of Deshasth and Konkanasth
Brahmins has much increased, and that <“ they are now in social
“ and religious fellowship with the respective castes in the country
“ from which they take their name.”

Note 2, p 238.—-If we look npon Sutherland and Outram as
Residents who, by shere forco and emergy of character, were
determined ‘to utterly stamp out rascahty, and who a little
despised the mational peculiarities of those with whom they had
to deal, and if we may suspect some of their successors to have
been too tolerant of shortcomings and abuses, we cannot reckon
Captain French as bolonging to either class.

He was quite as zoalous as Colonel Outram in pointing out the
evils of the Bahdndar{ system, but, while the latter disliked
giving support to a body of worthless men, the former objected to
the system itself becanse it seemed to him a political engine for
bampering the Gdikvad, In all matters he strove to discovor how
far he could take the Mahirdja and his followers along with him
on the path of progress : there possibly was, therefore, i higs time a
period of peace, a cessation of intrigue, a healthy attempt at re-
form, such as has not been teen since or, at any rate, not till the
present Administration came in. He persuaded the Mahirdja to
educate himself a little, to visit Bombay, to make roads and plant
wayside trees. In his time the camp was connected properly with
the oity, bridges and seriis were constructed, a design was pro-
pared to consect the capital with Tank4ris Bandar by a tramway,
and to build a dharmsfls at that place, and to make a road from
it to Manddla. A regulation was passed to check infanticide
among the great olass of Levé Kunbis in the Petlid and other
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pargandg, to reduce the expense of their marriage ceremonies, and
to banish from them Bhdts, Chirans and professional beggars.
The sale of children without the consent of the Darbar was
prohibited, a first step was taken towards the introduction of
vaccination, restitutions were made for robberies, and criminals
from British territories were given up. At the same time Captain
French urged tho Government of Bombay “ to meet the Darbér
* half-way in concossion, that it might not assume a cold sulky
“ position fatal to its stability, but might become a friendly confid-
“1ng ally, leaning on the dominant power by sceking its counsel
“ and following its example.”
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CHAPTER XXIIL

KHANDE RAV MAHARAJA— OKHAMANDAL.

Ganpat Rév M4héréja left no legitimate male issue,
and was therefore succeeded by the eldest of his
surviving brothers, Khande R4v. Unlike the
brother who preceded, and the brother who succeed-
ed him, ““he was a man of bodily and mental
“ energy, sometimes self-willed, was very shrewd
““and observant, and took a large share in the ad-
““ ministration, had a mind open to kindly impres-
“sions, and was actuated by generous impulses.”
So wrote the Resident at the opening of Khande
Rév’s reign, but the remark requires amplification.
Of his bodily energy and physical strength there is
no doubt ; he loved all games, he was passionately
fond of hunting. But it is possible for a prince to
indulge too far even in manly exercises ; the palace
at Makarpurd was erected at a great expense
because of its propinquity to the deer-preserves, and
the deer-preserves were jealously guarded to the
detriment of many people. It is also undoubtedly
true that the prince was gifted with mental energy,
and that he was shrewd and observant; it might
have been added that he had a retentive memory,
and other good mental qualities; bub it must
also ke admitted that he had been trained in the
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imperfect way of his predecessors. His willingness
to enter on a new course, to remodel the army, to
reform the revenue and the judicial system, to start
great public works, and so on, served therefore rather
to point out the direction which reforms should
take than to inaugurate a revolution which to be
useful or permanent required to be radical. Unfortu-
nately, also, two things were wanting to this prince
that his reign might be a beneficial one : his minis-
ters and advisers were incompetent men, and some
of them were bad men; and his own aspirations
were for display rather than for the attainment of
solid advantage to his people. It is quite true that
he had generous impulses, but these not seldom led
to a lavish expenditure of money ; and if he grandly
rewarded personal friendg and retainers, or afforded
a great but transitory amusement to the people of
bis capital by a pigeon marriage or some suchextra-
vagance, the permanent results of his actions were
exceedingly small. It is well to remember this,
because, as will be seen, what has often happened in
history happened to Govind Rdv’s family. One man
paid the penalty not only of his own shortcomings,
but of those of his predecessors as well. It is not
a gain to he the heir of a princely line, or the re-
" presentative of a system, if there are vices in the
line and faults in the system. Malb4r Rdv began his
reign well, and the Sur Ségar tank, the High School,
the other schools of a more indigenous type which
he fostered, should count to his credit. True, Malhér
Rév persecuted his brother’s family and followers,
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-but Govind R4v, Kénoji, Say4ji had given him pre-
cedents; and great as his faults had been, the con-
finetnent at P4dra had been long and severe. Placed
suddenly in the light of day before the eyes of all
men, Malhér Rd4v’s deeds seemed extraordinarily
wicked, but it had not been the wont of the British
Residents at Baroda to expose the shortcomings of
Gfikv4d princes, and some of Malhdr Rav’s deeds
had been done before.

These remarks seem necessary because it is by
connecting events that their true value is found;
and yet they are reluctantly made, for, thongh the
end of Khande Rav’s reign is marked by reckless
expenditure, some acts of cruelty, and a general
deterioration, the beginning was good, and the
prince was a man, bluff and hearty, and liked by
many. Nor is it intended to lay all the faults of
Khande Rév’s reign at the door of Khande Rév.

Whatever else may be omitted in this brief history,
one of Khande Rév’s early acts must receive pro-
minent notice. Soon after his accession the great
Mutiny of the Bengal army took place, and for a
time the very existence of British power in India
seemed in danger. Of all the princes in the land
none showed himself more loyal and more zealous to
co-operate with the English than the G&ikv4d.

In 1857 the British regular troops were with-
drawn from Gujardt, and the turbulent classes in
the Mahf and Revd Kénthds imagined an oppor-
tunity had arrived for creating a great disturbance.
But Khande Rév so. employed all his available

i
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strength in preserving order that Sir Richmond
Shakespeare wrote, “ the Contingent was kept up in
“a state of thorough efficiency, they have had
“ an extraordinary amount of work, attended with
“much fatigue, exposure and expense to thew-
““selves, all of which they have cheerfully done.”
The nature of the service rendered and the reward
which followed it in 1858 may be gathered from
the following extract from a Resolutlon passed
by the Government of India :— In consideration of
““ the unswerving attachment and active assistance of
“H. H. the Mdh4rdja Khande R4v, without which
“our hold on the whole of Western India would
‘“ have been most seriously compromised, the exaction
“of the annual sum of 3 ldkhs for themaintenance of
“ the Gujardt Irregular Horse, a fine imposed on
“ Khande Rav’s father in 1839, and considered in the
“light of a public disgrace, was remitted with
“ retrospective effect from the date of His Highness’
“gecession.” In addition to this material benefit,
Khande Rdv was, at his own request, presented with
the morchals or fans made of peacock’s feathers, and
in asanad dated March 11th, 1862, the right of
adoption was conferred upon him,

The disturbances which attended the great strug-
glo in Hindusth4n were not confined to the Mahi
and Revd Kénthas, but spread to Okhdmandal as
well. We shall now permit ourselves a wide
dlgressxon to explain how theso happened.

OKHAMANDAL.
At the western extremity of K4thidvdd, bounded
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on the South and West by the Indian Ocean, on
the North and East by the Gulf of Kachh, and on
the lower half of the East side by the Ran of Kachh,
lies the isolated little province of Okhdmandal, a
strip of country 30 miles long by 15 broad.

The air is healthy ; the soil is rocky and unfruit-
ful ; till quite lately a thick jungle concealed its
surface ; the coast is indented with bays and creeks.
It is little wonder that this remote province has for
centuries been fhe home of a bold and hardy
people, little given to agriculture, for which there
is small scope, but much addicted to wrecking and
piracy, for the futherance of which practices nature
has given the Véghers bays and creeks and curious
caves and an impenetrable jungle.

The Vighers, though they like to call themselves
Rajpits, were the original fishermen and boatmen
of Okhdmandal, who by a marriage rose in the
world. This was the way : once the land was held
by the Hadad and Chévada Rajpais, who, falling
out, called in the Rathod Vader to judge between
them. This the Rithod did in a way: for he took
all the country himself, and his brother-in-law, a
Jarejd of Kachh, married a woman of the low
Végher caste. The sons of the Jirej4 man and
Végher woman formed a new family, the Manek
Vighers who, as we say, called themsclves Rajputs.

Okhémandal was not conquered by the Musal-
mans till 1446, But in that year Mahommed Shéh
Begada overran.the land, destroyed the temple of
Jagat, broke its idol, and in its place erected a
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masjid. Just as happened later, the poverty of the
country and the pluck of its people long kept off the
foe, and, just as later, the blow came at last to
avenge a piracy. A learned molvi of Samarkand
was spoiled by the pirates of Sankada, and the arm
of the great Mahommed reached this distant spot to
avenge the injury.

By degrees the rule of the Musalméns passed away,
and in 1774 we find the renewed rule of the R4thod
driven back to behind the Ran by Meru Khavés,
J4m of Navanagar, the same who helped a certain
Bab4ji to take the fort of Positra. This Béb4ji had
usurped Bet from the infant son of his brother, the
chief of Ar4mad4, and from his hands it passed into
those of the priests of the temple. In 1807 there
were six chiefs in Okhimandal—the Vader chief of
Ardmadé, the Positra chief, the chiéfs of Bet and
Dhinge, the Bay4d of Mdlé Mének who possessed
Dvirk4, and the Rév of Kachh who had a little fort.
Some of these had already irritated the British by
acts of piracy, but in 1807 the chief of Bet
promised to mend his ways. Positré, however, gave
much trouble, and had to be blockaded by the
“Zephyr” in 1809. The same year all the chiefs
promised the British Resident to abandon piracy
and pay compensation; nevertheless they returned
to their old ways the next year, and though in 1814
they actually did pay a third of the compensation
agreed on, they did not cease to give trouble.

Determined to put an end to the nuisance, the

Bombay Government sent Colonel East with a
22 *
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small force to subdue Okhémandal, a task he easily
brought to a successful issue with some slight
assistance from Géikvdd troops. In 1817 Okhé-
mandal was bestowed as a free gift on the Géikv4d,
who would of course be proud to be the guardian
of one of the most celebrated shrines in India. At
the same time it should be remembered that the
Géikv4d undertook to pay up the balance of the
compensation due by the pirate chiefs, the expense
of the occupation since the conquest, and to manage
a country full of pirates, the annual deficit of the
revenues of which varied from 25,000 to 40,000
Rupees.

A rising took place in 1818, a serious rebelhon
in 1820 to subdue which British arms had to be
called in, and in 1825 a fresh disturbance. In 1857
the chief§ complained that their pensions were not
regularly paid by the Géikvdd government, and,
though some settlement was made about it by
Lieutenant Barton, they rose at Vaséiin February
1858 and seized Bet without opposition, for the
Sibandi were on their side. Lieutenant Barton
again came to Okha, and after occupying Bet,
handed it over to the Gdikvéd, for he had been
ordered to withdraw the small force he had with
him, and leave the Géikvdd to settle matters with
the Véghers.

A settlement was agnved at in December 1858,
up to which time the Véghers had held the Géik-
vadi troops at bay from behind the thick tiir hedges
of Vasdi. But the settlement was a sham one ; the

¥
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Viaghers had got to despise His Highness’ army, and
when they were told that the Mutiny of the Bengal
Army had overpowered the British, they promptly -
rose against the G4fkv4dd in 1859, took Bet and
Dvérké, and drove the Géikvdd authorities away
into K4thidvad.

The Sibandi having proved indifferent if not
treacherous, Khande Rév wisely placed the affairs
of Okbdmandal entirely in the hands of the Bombay
Government. A tedious campaign ensued. Bet
was evacuated on the 6th October. Dvérka, after
standing a siege for several days, was abandoned on
the 31st. The scene of action was next transferred to
the jungle ; and, finally, the Védghers took up a strong
position outside of Okh4dmandal on the Abhipurd
Hill of the Bard4 range in Kéthidvad. From this
place they were dislodged by Colonel Horner on the
18th December 1859, and the war came to an end,
After this a British officer was appointed to com-
mand the local battalion at Dvark4, supervise the
Viégher population,and correspond with the Resident
at Baroda. But the collection of revenue and the
conduct of the administration continued to be left to
the Géikvad’s officers. Unfortunately in 1862 some
Vigher State prisoners escaped from confinement,
anrd, returning to their country, created great dis-
turbances. They did not cease, in fact, till the 29th
of December 1867, when Devgdanek and his followers
were almost exterminated on the Mancherdd Hill;
or, to be more accurate, till 1868, when Muld Mének
was surprised and killed near Rémpir by the Por:
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bandar Sibandi. These two men were the nephews
of the old chief Jodh4 Mének, who had headed the
rising in 1859 and been killed in the Gir jungles.
They were able to keep up their vexatious disturbances
so long, because the country in which they lived
was well known to them, and was of a most difficult
nature; because, too, they were supported, not only by
the brave Végher bérvati4s (outlaws), but by all
kinds of malcontents from Okha and K4thidvéd ;
and because the Sibandi or native irregular troops
of the chiefs of K4thidvad either feared to meet them,
or were secretly inclined in their favour.

" By this time the V4gherswere considerablyreduced
in numbers, nor is it probable that they will ever
break the peace again. There are even indications
that the quieter Véghers are taking slowly to culti-
vation, and the country isnot quite the jungle it was.
It is to beregretted that such severe measures had to
be taken with a people small in numbers but gifted
with many fine qualities, and that there was applied
to them a policy both weak and irritating, but at the
same time occasionally and intermittently supported
by British arms,
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CHAPTER XXIV.

KHANDE RAvV MAHARAS (continued)—THE ARMY.

Thus, in the early years of his reign, Khande Rav
heard a good deal and saw something of war. He
himself was at heart a soldier, and it is not to be
wondered at that he attempted to reform his army
by the introduction of European or half.caste
officers, of regular drill and of uniform appoint-
ments. But these innovations should have been
accompauied by a vigorous onslaught on the old
useless system. Such a step, however, it was
difficult to take without offending an influential
class. And yet, unless it was taken, the strain would
be great on the revenues of a State which had
ceded territories for a subsidiary army, which was
bound by treaty to keep up a contingent force that
for political reasons it was hard to reform, and
which had at the same time to maintain a body
of Sardérs who were of course dependent on the
continuance of a primitive order of things.

A brief account of the Gaikvdd’s army should
find a place in this history ; for, after all, it must be
borne in mind that when the first G4ikvdd settled
at Songad, he was nothing but the lieutenant of the
Débhéde. It is true that his son usurped the
authority of the Sendpati, but still he was but a
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Marath4 leader of Maréth irregular cavalry. Ifhe
rose subsequently to be a Mahérdja, he did so with
the assistance of a body of men whom one might
have expected to see sharing his good fortune and -
becoming by degrees lords of large estates and
powerful councillors ofstate. Yet this is not what
happened. As the Géikvdd rose the Sardérs fell,
and at the present date one figure alone stands
prominently forward, while the military class has
fallen far into the background.

1. The State Cavalry.—At the head of the G4ik-
v4d’s army should be placed the pégé svérs. The
Ain Huzarit Pagd, the corps entrusted of old to
Pil4ji, and therefore entitled to bear the Zari Patk4,
the Nishédn and the State Nagérd bestowed on the
head of the house by Shéhd, R4j4 of S&térd, comes
first among these. It is under the direct command
of the Gdikvdd. Next in rank are the Huzarft
Chéndi P4gd and the Patki P4gd. The first two
Pégds were sub-divided by Say4ji Rév, and seven
of these lesser bodies were converted into Khés
Pégés, in which the relatives of the Géikv4d obtain-
ed commands.

2. The Cavalry of the Sarddrs.~In the front

“rank of the military class should be placed those
sileddrs who, mounted on their own horses, accom-
panied the Géikvad from the Dakhan, and above all
the descendants of Ekoji and Nérfyanji Péndhare,
who seem to have been the first partners of Pildji and
Daméji Géikvdd, These men, of whom the P4ndhare
Réjé, the Ghorpade Réjé, Mir Séheb and the Jédhava
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Réjé may be mentioned, keep pégfis of their own,
are treated with distinguished honour, and have
afixed pay. The réjés, like some members of the
Ghikvad family, are excused from attending the
muster roll; the three Mirs, if they lose a horse in
battle, are indemnified for the same at a fixed rate
of Rs. 500.

8. The Foreign Troops.—After a time the Gdik-
véds employed foreigners to assist them, first in
small and then in large numbers, first to guard
thénds and the gates of eonquered towns and forts,
and then in every possible way. Of the leaders of
the Sibandi the most famous were Amin Jaméddr,
Bachd Jamdddr, Rdgho Rémchandra, and Késsam
Kéle. No special mention need be made of the
infantry before Khande R4v’'s time, as it was
altogether unusual for the G4ikvad to use any but
cavalry. But it may be noticed that the infantry,
which was chiefly employed in doing garrison duty,
was for the most part composed of foreigners. The
complete inability of the Maréthés to conduct a
siege has often been illustrated in this history, and.
allusion has been made to the political power
obtained by the Arab mercenaries through their
possession of all the military posts in the State.

4. There were also Ekondies, men separately
engaged with their own horses, but under no parti-
cular leader. And there were and still are the Bdr-
girs, men hired on small pay to do the duty of sol-
diers who drew the full salary, the most humble
and therefore, perhaps, the most useful of the ?‘réik-
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vid’s troops. Let us state at once the reason which
prevented the military class from ever obtaining
any great political power. From the outset its
members received their recompense in money pay-
ments, that is, in well paid military posts or com-
mands of pégfs which were banded down from
father to son. Of land either in perpetuity or on
some condition of service, very little was bestowed
on them. This was a most fortunate circumstance
for the ruling Gé4ikv4d, and ene that made Major
Walker’s task a comparatively easy one, when the
R4j4, after subsidizing foreign troops, agreed to
break up his own army. As soon as the prince
had allied himself with the British, the military
clags was virtually at his mercy. Sayéji could with
perfect impunity break any Sarddr whom he sus-
pected of obeying the British rather than himself:
and he did so repeatedly, till the quarrel between
him and the Bombay Government indueed the latter
to notice his policy. Say4ji’s sons made such sport
as they pleased of the wretched Sardédrs, till they
were reduced to insignificance. In truth the mili-
tary class was doomed to dwindle away as soon as
the days of plundering and of conquest passed : their
work was over: scientific warfare replaced !desul-
tory marauding expeditions : they might draw their
pay as long as some other authority gave it, but
against artillery, against regular infantry, amidst
successful sieges of forts and towns hitherto reckoned
impregnable, these irregular cavalry leaders were
useless. From the time when the British stepped
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on to the scene, the highest service a G4ikv4d trooper
could do was escort duty or police duty: and no
Sarddr has ever learnt to be anything but a
trooper.

It would not be accurate, however, to assume
that the decay of the military class dated from the
moment British troops were subsidized ; it long
preceded that step, which was the eonsequence of
military as well as civil anarchy in the State.
Daméji, the rival of the Peshvd, could summon
at need large armies to carry out his designs, and
it is no exaggeration to say that in his time five-
sixths of the revenue went towards paying the
Poona tribute and to the maintenance of the mili-
tary class, while almost up to the end of his reign
an uninterrupted series of wars conduced to the
gradual extension of his rule and the increase of
the number of petty tributary States. At the time
of his death, however, the Baroda State, after a
third defeat, was forced to give in to the Bréhman
party. Next, a family quarrel weakened the house
of the G4ikvdds, while Gujar4t became the scene
of a long struggle between the Poona Court and
the growing British Power. Fate Sing did not
spare the adherents of Govind Riv, and Govind Rév,
when he ascended the gddi, turned off all but his
own friends.

Fate Sing, when ho had got rid of his brother,
reduced the army as much as possible, but he took
the first fatal step of entertaining a small body of
foreign military adventurers. Govind Rdv, to
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strengthen his position, added to their number ; and
the Parbhd minister of Anand Rév, in the midst of
terrible factions, learnt to lean still more on their
aid. It has been recorded that Govind R4v had of
these wmercenaries nearly 8,000 foot and 2,000 ca-
valry, for whom he paid more than a ldkh and a
half per month; but Ravji Appaji paid or owed
every month nearly three likhs for over 13,000 foot
and uearly 4,000 cavalry. These mercenaries in-
cluded Arabs, the descendants of Arabs, Sindhis,
Makrénis and Hindd Pardesis ; and we have already
seen that they exercised an immense control over
the administration. [t may therefore be imagined
how low the original military class had fallen.
And, owing to internal dissensions, there was no
strength left for military enterprise, or rather for
the remunerative and not very dangerous mulikgirf.
As we have seen, although the Géikv4dd had obtain.
ed the lease of the Ahmaddbdd farm and was con-
sequently without a competitor in K4thidvad, for
the five years preceding Béb4ji’s expeditions nothing
had been extracted from the peninsula. Yet the
mulikgirf was not merely the end for which the
Maréthd military class lived, but it was as well
the means by which it was supported.

One more point must be noticed, though it can-
not be dwelt upon. The Mar4th4 invaders of Guja-
rdt were fow in number and they came from the
Dakhan. As long as the tide of conquest pushed
them onwards, the GaikvAds could easily procure
fresh supplies of soldiers from their native country,
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but there followed a period of stagnation in Gujarét
and perhaps a falling off of military enterprise in
the Dakhan. Then the stream of Marith4 adven-
turers dwindled away; the bulk of the population
over whom the Géikvdd ruled was not a warlike
one, a8 in some countries where Marfth4 rulers
have established themselves ; and recourse was con-
sequently had to foreign mercenaries. By the bulk
of the population it should be understood that re-
ference is made to the inhabitants of the great
Gujardt plain. The hill tribes, the Bhils and the
Kolis, aided the earlier Géikvdds to eject the
Moghul, but afterwards they naturally became their
enemies. The jdgirddr of Kadf and XKénoji
obtained their assistance without difficulty when
they wished to disturb the reigning prince.
The Rajpits of Kéthidvad in the same way never
were subdued or conciliated: and if the Baroda
State required assistance, it had to go further afield
to obtain it.

The subsidizing of a British force was, we have
said, the result of anarchy, military as well as
civil. In Govind Rav’s reign and during the early
years of Anand Rév the military class, though use-
less, swallowed up a large proportion of the State
revenues. The Arabs cost about 36 lakhs a year;
Bab4ji’s new Sibandi 12 14khs ; the Siledars and P4gés
20 lakhs; and there was besides a fictitious item
of 15 lakhs supposed to be expended on fortifi-
cations. Such at least was the state of things soon
after Major Walker’s first arrival at Baroda, ‘and
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for some years before that date all that can be
safely said is that the nominal cost of the army
exceeded the total revenmes of the State. The
manner in which the Arab force was broken up after
the siege of Baroda has been already told. But
it yet remains to describe how, in order to effect
the reduction of 1802-8, the arrears due to the
troops had to be paid off. Over 19 ldkhs were
raised by a British loan, and over 214 ldkhs were
borrowed from bankers in Baroda under British
guarantee.

Major Walker’s instructions had been to reduce
the State army to the level of Fate Sing’s time ; but
this he was unwilling and perbaps unable to do.
For, firstly, the influence the military class still
possessed was great. Some prestige it was vainly
hoped would be won by getting a Géikvid auxiliary
force to join in the M4lvd campaign, after the
danger springing from the vicinity of Sindia and
Holkar’s vast armies to Gujarfit had passed away.
It may however again be noticed that just as the
Gdikv4d’s troops could mnot have dene much to.
defend the country if an invasion had taken place,
go the M4lv4 auxiliary force returned to the Baroda
State, niutinous and disgraced, dangerous onmly to
the administration whose salt it was eating, fit only
to prosecute a muldkgirf in the Mahi K4nths.

. Secondly, for five years no tribute had been raised

in Kdthidvdd ; the British, while the great wars in
Central India were being waged, could not spare a
sing‘le soldier ; better, therefore, in Major Walker’s
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opinion, to allow B4b4ji to retain all his troops and
even add to their numbers in order that he might
collect the sums of which the State stood in such
need, till the time might come when the British
could step in to effect a permanent settlement.

Finally, before further reductions could be made,
more arrears had to be paid. In 1803 and 1804
B4b4ji’s army cost 27 likhs a year, and in 1807 it
cost still more. During the years first mentioned
he had 8 guns, 100 artillery lascars, 40 barakhs,
456 Arabs, 684 Hindustdnis, 7,200 infantry and
5,240 horse, though of the latter the Resident
reported that not 2,000 were fit for duty of any
kind, and, of those who were fit, not half would be
efficient in action. In 1807 B4baji's army was still
larger, and Colonel Walker calculated that in that
year the cost of the whole army of the State was
Rs. 42,97,372.

But by 1807-8 the British had found themselves
in position to interfere in Kidthidv4d and to settle
that country to their pleasing; the muldkgirf was
‘become a thing of the past: the late conduct of
the State army in the Milvd war entitled it to
no consideration ; Sftdrdm’s power of gpposing
reform was broken ; and finally a great loan had
been raised wherewith to pay off at one blow all the
debts of the State, including the arrears due to the
troops. These arrears were supposed in 1804-5
to amount to over 38} lakhs, and in 1807 to the
monstrous sum of Rs. 73,42,528.

Well, in 1807-8 all arrears were paid off, *and

23



266 [cBAP. XXIV,

Colonel Walker boasted that the military expen-
diture had been reduced by

Rs.
Siledérs ... 10,40,213 mnearly 20 l4khs of rupees.
Sibandi......... 7,20,235 4
Paghn i50'54 At an expense of 24 lékhs,
2 of which only about 5%
Total...... 24,00,022  14khs were paid in the

" shape of landed jaid4d, the
State was held to possess 7,952 horse and 8,693
infantry, of which force three-fourths served in
K4thidvdd and the Mah{ Kénth4. It had been Major
Walker’s intention to reduce the expenditure to
12 lakhs; but he never got lower than the figure
mentioned in the margin. And it now remains to
tell how the cost of the army kept ever increasing,
how the pay of the troops once again fell into
arrears, how the Gdikvdd had to entertain a Con-
tingent Force, how this necessity led to a great
quarrel and a heavy punishment, how, in short, a
bad and expensive army became worse and ruinous.

Ten yearsafter Colonel Walker’s reduction of the
Gaikvad army, the Peshvd entered into a contest
with the British power which ended in his destruc-
tion. In a previous chapter have been detailed th-
gains which accrued to the Baroda State from the
fall of B4ji R4v : here we must notice the ill effects
of that event on the army. An addition was made
to the subsidiary force: by the 8th article of the
treaty of the 6th November 1817, the Géikvad
engaged to maintain “a body of 3,000 effective
“ cavalry to act with the subsidiary force wherever
“ it may be employed ;” during the M4lvé campaign a
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G4ikvéd force assisted the British arms, and the
cost of the army rapidly increased with its numbers,
while the pay of the troops was suffered to fall into
arrears.

Of the Contingent Force alluded to mention
will shortly be made, but at present it need only
be said that in 1817, when Fate Sing was urged by
the Bombay Government to reduce his army on the
score that the subsidiary force had been increased,
he refused to do so. He offered indeed to cut down
tho expenditure by 4 likhs without diminishing the
number of men, but that of course meant that he
wasg willing to have a sham reform. He urged,
on the other hand, that he was reluctant to touch
the privileges of the military class, and the Bombay
Government acknowledged that there would be
difficulty in taking any step of the kind. Later on
Say4ji Rév made the same excuse, and it was accept-
ed. And in 1819, when the Resident, seeing the
embarrassment of the State, proposed that the an-
nual expenditure on the army should be reduced
from over 42% ldkhs, (the enormous figure again
reached,) to about 16 likhs, the Bombay Govern-
ment declined to sanction the proposal until they
should be assured against the danger of disturb-
ances from the disbanded troops. This increase
in expenditure was partly the outcome of troublous
times and partly of the so-called assistance given
during the M4lv4 campaign and as late as the year
1828. Fate Sing, by the treaty of 1817, was bound to
aid his British.allies with 3,000 horse, (to act, with
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the subsidiary force,) and he did at one time get
together nearly 8,000 cavalry, but the number was
never kept up, and it would be safest to count them
at 1,491 horse and 523 foot, maintained at an annual

expense of about 17} 1dkhs.

Pégh horse ......... 431 These troops were so irre-
Stledirs...cvueeeunnnes 784 gularly paid that Sir John
Sibandi....coveeren... 276

Malcolm had at one time
Total horse...... 1491 to advance them 14 l4khs,
Total foot ...... 523 4nd their general condition

was so bad that the same

distinguished officer drew up a plan for their reform

which Government rcjected, on the ground that it
took away too much patronage from the Gaikvad.

In the year 1820 it was discovered by Mr.

Elphinstone that the Baroda State, then supposed

to be nearly free of debt, was in reality much embar-

ragsed. The larger portion of the sums then due
sprang from the increased military expenditure : the

Khosas war had cost 2lakhs; 13 more ldkhs were

owing to the Pdrekhs for expenses in Mélv4, not to

mention the 14 likhs due to Sir John Malcolm ; the
arrears of the army fell a little short of 25} 14khs,
the Kathidvdd Sibandi had not been paid for five
years, nor had the troops employed in Réjpipl4 for
three years. In short, if at that time the State
owed 1,07,00,000 Rupees, the larger proportion was
on account of the army.

These debts subsequently Jed to British interfer-
ence and to confiscations, but soon after 1820 the

Bombay Government determined to let Sayéji
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Riv manage the bulk of his army and the
paying of the men as he pleased, turning its attention
exclusively to the proper maintenance of the Contin-
gent Force of 3,000 men.  For the present, therefore,
we may leave out of consideration the army of the
Géikvid taken as a whole, with a mere mention of its
numbers in 1845. Horse Artillery 25 men, Cavalry
(with Contingent) 5,750, Infantry (regularly
armed and dressed) 575, Irregular Infuntry (Sindis,
Arabs, &c.) 3,425, Sibandi (who collected revenue
and did police duty) 3,000. In all there were
12,775 men. It was at this time held that the city
walls of Baroda were defended by 500 cannon, but
most of these antique pieces have now been broken
up or relegated to somo safe spot by Sir T. Madava
Rév. For cost of army, see page 318,

Tae Contingent Force.

It has been mentioned that by the 8th article of
the trcaty signed on the 6th November 1817 the
G4ikvdd government bound itself to maintain and
hold at the disposal of the Company fo act with the
subsidiary force wherever it may be employed, and to
be subject to the general command of the officer
commanding the British troops, a body of 8,000
effective cavalry. His Highness was to conform to
theadvice and suggestions of the British Government
relative to the formation and equipment of the
contingent, its regular monthly payment, the condi-
tion of its arms and accoutrements, according to the
custom of the Qdikvid government.

It is no secret that from the year 1817 te the
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present date this agreement has not been fulfilled,
and that its fulfilment has never been possible for
very obvious reasons. The contingent was to act
with the subsidiary force. But at the very outset
between 1821 and 1823, that is, as the Gdikvdd’s
forces returned from Malva, they were drafted off to
Kathidvdd, to tho Mahf Kénth4 with head-quarters
at Sddrd and to Dist; nor could Saydji ever get them
back to scrve in the Baroda State, though by the
agreement of 1820 the management of the tributary
States was taken altogether ont of his hands, on the
condition that the tribute should be collected free of
charge. The force was to be efficient.  But Marétha
irregular cavalry never could be got to be efficient
accordingto Europeannotions. By exercise of great
pressure on the Gaikvid’s government, regular
payment might be made to the force, but the sugges-
tions of a British officer as to formation and equip-
ment, arms and accoutrements, could not accord with
“ the custom of the Gaikvad government.” Besides
all this, two kinds of work were expected from the
Contingent which never could be rendered at ome
and the same time. It might do police work and
revenue work as well as escort duty of a-slight kind
and the carrying to and fro of messages and small
parcels, but it could not at the same time be an
“ efficient’” force of irregular cavalry. The Contin-
gent in the tributary states has been of some use in
the way first pointed out, but it has never been raised
to the level of a military body fit to face an enemy
or to quell the rising of a petty hill tribe,
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British officers have for many years pointed out
the shortcomings of the Contingent Force, and
gome of these may here be mnoticed, for they have
existed from an early time in the whole of the Géik-
v4d’s army, and are not confined to any one body
or any one period, It was, we have said, & fortunate
thing for the Mahérija that he recompensed his
military lords by hereditary posts and not by landed
estates. The class was thereby casily broken up and
deprived of political power, but it must also be allow-
ed that, as a military body, it easily degenerated for
the same reason. It became the object of tho Sardar
to get as much pay as possible for as little work.
His pig4 was a long way off, and he lived at ease in
Baroda. He drew the pay for the men, and, being
generally in debt, made over the larger share of it
tothe S4vkir, He dicd, and hiscommand was perhaps
inherited by a minor or a woman, so that the work
was committed to some clerk. As the Sardir was,
80, as far as they could be, were all below him who
had any influence at all. The work was done by
substitutes; the post, however humble, was handed on
from father to son without regard to fitness;
the pay was sharcd with the Sfvkar and the Kdrkdn.
As the musters of the officers were slurred over, so
too the humbler soldiers feared not inspections.

The history of the Contingent is briefly this.
Year after year British inspecting officers complain-
ed of irregular pay, short numbers, poor horses
and bad arms, till in 1830 Sir John Malcolm, finding
that his request that two-thirds of the Contingent
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should be placed on a fair footing were disregarded,
deprived Saydji Rav of ‘all authority over his own
troops, and sequestrated some districts for their
maintenance, estimated at 13 ldkhs. Saydji Rév
retaliated by ordering his subjects not to obey the
orders of Am{n-ud-din, the son and successor of the
well-known Kamél-ud-din who had commanded the
M4lvé Contingent, for Amin-ud-din put his trust in
Sir John Malcolm. By these means Say4ji Rév
considerably diminished the Contingent, which had
to be recruited from other quarters, and he made
matters hard for the Bombay Governor by withdraw-
ing the Sibandi police from the tributary districts,
or at least by stopping their pay, which amounted
to over 82,000 Rupees. It was contemplated by
Sir John Malcolm or the Resident in his time to
make fresh sequestrations, and Say4ji once again
retaliated by withdrawing the tenéti force, (detail-
ed on special duty,) from Kithidvid and the Mahf
Kénths, 1,117 horse and 709 foot, whose annual
charge exceeded 4 ldkhs, so that the Bombay
Government was forced to entertain an additional
force of 280 horse and 600 infantry, charged to
mulikgiri collections.

Hereupon Sir John Malcolm was succeeded by
Lord Clare, who thought that His Highness had
been very harshly treated, and contented himself
with a promise that in future the Contingent Force
should be efficient, and so restored the sequestrated
districts. It is true that on the 6th of April 1832,
His Highness deposited 10 14khs of rupeesin the
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British Treasury, on the understanding that that
sum shouid be drawn upon if in future the pay of
the troops fell into arrears. But Lord Clare did or
said nothing to ensure to the Contingent their ar-
rears, which amounted to 4 ldkhs, or to protect from
the wrath of the Méhdrdja those Sardirs and men
who had elected to obey Sir John Malcolm when
ordered by the Gaikvid to return to Baroda. Now
they suffered for their trust in the British promise
of protection. The Navdb, Amin-ud-din, was
superseded by Ganpat R4v Dhamdere, and the two
other commanders of quotas, Mir Sarfardz Alf and
Hamid Jamddér, were also dismissed, as was Ganpat
Rév Bipa, long commander of the 3rd Hdzardt
Péigd, while Bhéskar Rév Vithal was deprived of his
phg4. The commoner sort was similarly treated,
forced to return to Baroda, and then dismissed or
made to pay a largo nazar for having listened
to the voice of the Bombay Governor. The newly
levied men in the Contingent were at once turned
away, and thus Saydji’s triumph was complete. It
is well that when the British found that the Maha-

"réja had not been really conciliated by Lord Clare’s
leniency they did something to soften the misfor-
tunes of the men who had trusted in them between
the years 1836-41.

After Lord Clare’s surrender of all real supervi-
sion, the Contingent Force once again became &
sham ; even the pay of the troops was not regularly
served out, though no man dared to make a com-
plaint. So matters proceeded from bad to avorse
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till the Government of India, finding that Say4ji
would do mnothing to fulfil the treaty of 1817,
issued orders on the 9th of March 1839 that a regi-
ment of Irregular Cavalry should be raised, to be
designated the “ Gujardt Irregular Horse,” consisting
of 812 men under a British Commandant and
Second-in-Command, and placed under the exclusive
control of the Resident, with head-quarters at
Ahmad4bdd. In 1841 Petldd was restored to the
G4ikvéd, and he agreed to pay for the maintenance
of the Horse asum mnot exceeding 8 likhs a year.
The disgrace and the burden were, as has been clse-
where stated, not removed till the time of Khande
Rdv, nineteen years after the formation of the Irre-
gular Horse. It may well be believed that when this
punishment was passed on Sayéji the Contingent
became a matter of less interest. In 1840 the
Bombay Government did not demand of Say4ji that
its numbers should exceed 1,500 horse, but Sir
Jamesg Carnac now for the first time expressly stipu-
lated that they were to be maintained “ for service in
““the tributary mah4ls,” and not, as in the treaty of
1817, to act with the subsidiary force. To be sure
Sayéji did not care whether 1,500 or 3,000 horse
were the number required; the military class of his
own subjects had to be supported and he could not
reduce it. Perhaps, too, he long continued to hope
that by keeping up the whole Contingent he might
obtain a reversal of the decision concerning the
Gujarat Irregular Cavalry. So the Contingent still
stood at 3,000 horse, and as of old did useful police
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and carrier work in the mah4ls. But when Khande
Rav came to the gddi, he began to talk of reducing
the contingent to 1,500 men, much to the dismay
of the British officials. He was still thinking about
the plan when the mutiny broke out, but from that
moment he did not say a word about reduction. On
the contrary, he urged his soldiers to aid the British
authorities in keeping the peace at a time when all
the regular troops were withdrawn to the north of
India and the wild tribes and classes of Gujardt were
on the look-out for a disturbance. A year later the
Gujardt Irregular Cavalry was broken up, and it
was expressly promised by Khande Rav that the
Contingent should be kept up at its full strength of
8,000 cavalry, under the samo conditions gs had
been stated by Sir James Carnac.

In the reign of Ganpat Rdv Mahérija the
Contingent Force gave the British inspecting
officers less to complain of; in 1861 Khande
Rdiv put 100 of each of the three quotas on an
effective footing ; in 1863-64 tho force relapsed
sadly, and when there were disturbances in K4thig-
véd and Okhdimandal, it was found that the men
were unfit for military as well as for police duties.

From this time to the day of Khande Rév’s
doath the Bombay Government kept urging reform,
and the G4ikvéd kept remonstrating that to be
efficient the troops should have no miscellaneous
work to do. The Bombay Government went so far
as to say that a reduction to 500 efficient troopers
would be a gain, but Khande Rév protested that
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the reduction of the army was fatal to the prospects
of the military class. When Malhér Riv ascended
the gddi the Contingent did not improve, and in
1878 a Commission, appointed to inspect its condition
by the Government of [ndia, emphatically condemn-
ed the Contingent Force, for reasons which have
been stated above. But Malhar Rdv again used
Khande Rév’s arguments, and drew attention to
Lord Clare’s hesitation in adopting any measuro
which should serionsly curtail the authority, patron-
age and power of the Giikvad, as well as greatly
diminish the means of support for the Sarddrs. So
matters now stand.
Rrgunar INFANTRY.

There were, we have stated, a few regularly
armed and dressed soldiers in the time of Say4ji
Rév who were commanded by an Indo-Briton,
Mr. Dunbar. The reform alluded to at the com-
mencement of the chapter dates, however, from
about 1858. Colonel Outram had been wonder-
fully successful in raising a local corps of Kolfs in
the Mah{ Kéanth4, and in imitation of this step some
of the Vighers of Okhdmandal were enrolled in a
regiment, that they might be won over from their
evil courses (21st February 1861). But the Vaghers
could not submit to discipline, and in a few
months returned to their homes (Décember 1862),
Sind{s and Beldchis being introduced in their place.

Rajpits and Mar4thd settlers were then allowed
to.enter the force, which in 1865 became known as
the Okhémandal Force. At the time (1861) that
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the Okh4mandal Force was first started, a local
corps was created at Amreli and both were placed
under European officers and received their orders
from the Resident at Baroda. The last named body
has since been termed the Dhdri Regiment or that
in the Amreli Mah4ls, and is the fourth of the Gdik«
v4d’s regular army. It was sent up to Amreli after
the rising of the Vighersin

Men. . .
Silver Gun Battery. 166 18064, and there it has since
Rl e Jug  Deen permanently stationed.
2nd Battery Foot Ar- In 1870 Khande Rdv’s
tillery ..oeveennnnns 172 regular army numbered in
ard 173 7 it
Ist Rwlment Illgh- all 2,701 men  (omitting
landers! .. 594 the fourth regiment), witha
2nd Regmlcnt ...... 504 1 lonel
3rd Regument......... 594 8CNCralL two . coloncis, &
brigadicr major, majors,
2,701 captains, &c. The guns,

cannon and small arms were
manufactured at Baroda, and Khande Riv went so far
as to buy some Armstrong guns, but they were
repurchased from him by the British Government.

Khande Riv, we have said, was at heart a soldier,
and he madoe a real attempt to create an army, that
is to say, to get together a body of men who would
obey the orders of their officers. He also took the
bold step of obtaining the services of British or
half-caste officers, who were free to issue such
commands as the necessities of military service might
require. But Malh4r R4v cared less for the regular
army. Soin his time bureaucratic, or, to put it

more simply, kirkun or clerkly influence was in the
b
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ascendant, and the spirit of the State army suffered
correspondingly. It is as difficult in Baroda to
believe in any possible dapger to imperial interests
arising from a State army as it is easy to conceive
that a very small military body just adapted to
mount guard and to do escort duty should suffice for
the needs of a State which is protected by a power
whose arms it has subsidised. A rcform which should
add to the strength and discipline of the lately created
police force at the expense of a useless army meets
therefore with the approbation of all whose personal
vanity is not concerned. 2
Statement showing the strength of the Baroda Military force on the
1st of January 1879.
Artillery.~Guns.—There arc said to be 34 serviceable gums,
besides 2 gold and 2 silver gums, 22 toy guns for firing guldl

powder, and 60 jingil or camel guns, which latter are serviceable.

Grand
Total. Total.
Equipment.~154 gunners, (1) 71 Artil-
' lery horsesand 64 bullocks ... 154
Cavalry.—Reyulurs 247 horse (1) and
22 mounted bandsmen (1) 269

Siledirn 2,943 horse (2) ... .. 2,943 5.573
Other Irvegulars 1,668 (2) !
horse and 698 pohee .. . 2,361
Infantry.—Regulars 3,078 (1) . ... oo 3,078?
Irrequlars, talusil, 2,020 and 9,795
4,697 POLLCE....voreveerrens 67179

Grand Total...15,522

The Artillery and Regulars, numbered (1), cost the State about
7 likhs a year.

The Iiregular Cavalry, numbered (2), include the Contingent,
and cost about 25 14khs a year.

Of this sum about 10 1a8khs go to the Contingent, and a large
portion goes in nemniks to the Sardirs. (Administration Report,
1876.77.)
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Note 1, p. 277.—Not only were the men dressed in Highland
petticoats, but, that the impression made by their appearance
might be more realistic, their nether limbs were clad in tight-
fitting flesh-coloured drawers. The present adwministration has
discarded this striking costume,

Note 2, p. 278.—The Marithis never, of course, cmployed a
regular police force j the army roughly did the work of compul-
sion and repression requisite to keep the peace or to carry out
the orders of the Magistrate. But this is not a mode which can
long continue to cxist. It isalso sometimes remarked, in a
gencral way, that the army does the police work of a State ;
but this cannot well be said of Baroda. In any serious riot or
rising, the Giikvad has the right to call for the assistance of the
British Subsidiary Force.

One morc remark may be made. Itisa painful and tedious
process to create a disciplined army, aund the task cannot be
achieved without costly sacrifices of time, money and attention,
which may be more profitably or pleasantly turned i other
directions. It is a process too which the slightest interruption
suffices to deprive of all its valuc. But unless therc is some
great motive, how can it be hoped that there will be a succession
of princes who will devotc themseclves to army matters. The
motive, happily, does not exist; and there is nobody in the
State which can supply the driving power required to keep the
army going, if ever the prince relaxes his efforts.

”
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CHAPTER XXV.

KHANDE RAV (continucd)—ADMINISTRATION OF JUSTICE.

We have left to this reign a necessarily brief con-
sideration of tho manner in which justice was admin-
istered in the Baroda State, in order that tho subject
might be taken as a whole from the beginning up to
the present time of change, and because, during the
rale of Khande Rév and his immediate predecéssor
and successor, an effort was made to get rid of the
old system for something better and more suitable
to the complicated wants of modern society.

1t is first of all requisite to remember that it is
only a hundred and fifty years since the Gédikvids
entered Baroda, that it is only a hundred and thirty
years since Ahmadibdd was taken and the Moghul
rule brought to an end, that the Bébi family was not
rooted out till ten yecars after the fall of the capital
of Gujarft, and that Surat, Broach and Cambay
were never wholly subdued. Between the time
of the conquest over the Bibis and the alliance with
the British, the Géflvad family was continuously torn -
by internal disputes, and its fortunes showed signs
rather of decay than of progress. The conquests
of the G4ikvids were, therefore, intermittent; and
their dominion over those portions of Gujarat which
were overrun varied from complete ascendancy and
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mastership to the mere right of levying tribute
whenever an armed force could be despatched to
collect it. It is no wonder, then, that in the wilder
parts of the country their rule was of a much
slighter nature than in the plains and round the
chief towns. Such justice as they desired to
administer could therefore be dispensed with
more certainty in the latter than in the former sort
of country.

.‘But the Marfthds first entered Gujardt to levy
tribute, and the hope of booty was their chief
incitement to fight ; they subsequently remained
masters of a portion of the land, but the ruling pas-
sion continued to be the acquisition of either taxes
or tribute. The laws to whidh they themselves were
accustomed were not written, were founded on
religious observances, were simple in nature and,
as is usually the case with young societies, the
penalties exacted on criminals consisted chiefly of
finos. It is no wonder’that the imposition of fines
should continue to appear an excellent nrethod ; that
the dispensatior”. of justice should still be held a
remunerative business, valuable chiefly on that ac-
count; and that the dispensers of justice should be
(not men trained to that difficult kind of work but,)
the very persons who had bought the privilege of
extracting from the rayat the revenue of the land.
1t is no wonder, in one word, that the G4ikv4ds made
few changes and little progress in the administration
of justice. - ’

That it may be more fully understood how the
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subjection of Gujardt to the Mardthés varied in tho-
roughness, we must premise that the latter them-
selves divided the country into two classes. One
they called Résti or peaceable, the other Mevsf
or turbulent. In the first the decisions of the judge
were law, in fhe other justice could not be adminis-
tered. Describing the Mevé4si country and the
changes wrought by the Maréthd invasion, Amrat
. LAl wrote: *“Though the autharity of the Moghul
“ government was maintained by thénéds, or bodies
“ of troops, in different places, yet the whole extent
“ of the country was intersected by the possessions
“ of the orxgmal ﬁéjas, Rajpiits, Kolis and Gardsfés,
¢ who all bore the general name of zamindérs.” These
zamindérs did not losetheir independence under the
Mar4thés : on the contrary, during thetroublous times,
when power was slipping away from the Moghuls,
they became more powerful and turbulent than they
had been, and only gradually sank again under
the ever-increasing exactions of the new con-
querors. M, Diggle, Assistant to the first Resident,
wrote in 1804 that: “ the rayats wgre a quiet, tract-
“ able race of people, and all judicial processes could
“ with ease be executed towards them.” But Major
Walker adds in the same year, “ The Mardthias may
““ be considered in a constant state of warfare with
““ the Gardsids and Kolis, and they are not numbered
““among the rayats. Most of these people, (includ-
“ing the Bhils,) are thieves by profession and
¢ embrate every opportunity of plundering either
¢ public or private property.” A brief summary
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of Major Walker’s and Mr. Diggle’s remarks will
complete the picture of those tribes whom Mar4th4
justice did not reach. They were not a collective
people, but were scattered in small societies, some-
times living in walled villages of their own, and
sometimes intermixed with the rest of the inhabi-
tants, but all alike holding it their privilege &o
carry arms. They did not look to the government
for any redress, but determined points of justice
at their own free will and pleasure, generally by
force rather than by conciliation. The distribution
of justice in matters of a civil nature depended
entirely upon the will of the head Garasii, whose
customs and rules were not guided by anything
which bore resemblance to a system. Should any
of the tribe commit a crime, (and murders were
frequent among them,) he threw himself on the
protection of the Chief, and so it often happened
that, in the absence of justice, one murder led to
another, committed in retaliation. If the Chief
exacted some penalty of a guilty party, it usually
took the shape of an inadequate fine. A promise
given to a Bbat or Chéran was, however, generally
binding, and even Gar4s{ds -occasionally submitted
matters to arbitration, of which custom more will
shortly be said.

. We can now turn to the justice administered in the
Résti Mahals, where the Mar4dth4s could exercise their
will. These comprised an extent of country which on
the whole tended to increase, though intermittently,
and to gain in stability, as time went on. ¢ :
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In the first place it must be noticed that the
Géikvéd government was not limited by positive
law, though it was held in check by the customs of
the country which it was obliged to respect. ‘‘ Justice
“ in Gujarét,” wrote Major Walker, ““is not adminis-
““ tered according to the written law of the several
“gastes, but depends on the will of the person in
“whose hands the local authority may be placed.”
Nevertheless it may be laid down that, in all dis-
putes concerning property either between the gov-
ernment and individuals, or between individuals, the
Hindu (Dharmshéstra) or Muhammadén law, accord-
ing to the faith of the parties, ought to direct the deci-
sion, but that in criminal cases, such as breach of the
peace, theft or murder, the order of the Govern-
ment determined the punishment. The discrepancy
in these two statements scarcely requires explana-
tion, the latter points to the system which it was
felt should be followed, the former to the custom
too often prevalent.

In the districts the administration of civil and
criminal justice was in the hands of the farmer of
the revenue, the great man who, after paying the
stipulated sum to Government, was allowed plenary
power in the district he farmed for a time, and who
often disposed of a considerable armed force and held
forts and fortified places. “ His neglect of every-
‘ thing. that offered trouble without a prospect of
“ emolument naturally,” as Major Walker remarked,
“ rendered the subjects restless and dissatisfied.”

At was his object to recoup himself with interest
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for the money he had paid Government ; it was not
an object for him that the districts he temporarily
ruled should be well administered. But, as the whole
of the revenue system was based upon the farming
of the revenues, it may be understood that the
administration of justice was as difficult to reform
as it was faulty in itself, that it was as faulty as it
was stubborn against change. Khande Rdv first
upset the Izfrddr system, and thus effected an
opening for reformation in the administration of
justice : but, failing this radical change, the proper
dispensation of justice, among other good things,
depended on a proper choice of revenue farmers.

In civil cases the Kamévisdédr, as he was styled,
always demanded one-fourth of the sum which
might be awarded by the arbitrators, the whole of
which shars went to his own use; and the party who
gained the cause became answerable for the pay-
ment of this fourth, the costs so tospeak. None of
the proceedings of the case_were committed to
writing, beyond that the gum4shté of the Kamévisddr
entered in his diary the bencfits which accrued from
the decision of any disputed point. As the Kamé-
visd4r seldom resided in the district himself, he was
in the habit of appointing a clerk to officiate for
him.

Such being the imperfectand costly remedy afford-
ed to the people, it is not surprising that disputes of
a civil nature for landed property, debt, relating
to oaste, &c. were generally not brought before
the Kamdvisdar, but were settled out of Court by

2 |
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arbitration. The ““ Panchéyat” provided the people
with a simple and cheap means of settling their
differences.

In criminal cases the Kam4visdér was judge ; but
his powers were limited, as he was liable to be
called to account by the government for excessive
fines, and was not invested with the power of in-
flicting capital punishment. In cases of oppression,
too, the rayats might complain to the Sarkér against
the farmer, and sometimes their prayers received
a hearing. The Mar4thés were not, as a rule, cruel
in the punishments they inflicted, though they often
resorted to extreme measures in order to detect guilt.
Theusual punishments inflicted were fine, imprison-
ment, sometimes mutilation and banishment, and, in
exceptional cases, death. But almost every crime
became commutable for money, and fines were con.
sidered a regular branch of the revenue. In Major
‘Walker’s time the party found guilty or worsted in a
civil suit was in nearly every instancerequired to give
security, which was of one of six kinds: 1st, fail
zémin or chéld zdmin, 7.e. security for good be-
haviour ; 2nd, hézir z6min, 7.e. security for personal
appearance ; 3rd, mah4l zamin, 1.e. security formoney,
property or revenue ; 4th, 1il4 zdmin, ¢.e. permanent
security for good behaviour, considered more binding
than that first mentioned ; 5th, ad zdmin, J.e. addi-
tional security ; and Gth, a person of the Bhét caste
was required to guarantee the performance of an
engagement, the conduct of the offender, or the
observance of the other securities. The different
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zfmins have been given at length, as they play a part
in some important passages in the history of the
State, the Bahandaris of the Arabs afterwards taken
up by the British, and the engagements entered into
with the chiefs of Kéthidv4d.

At the head of the judicial system, if system it can
be called, was'the irresponsible R4jd, to whom casesin-
volving capital punishment were referred,and towhom
appeals of any kind might be made. The R4j4 was
assisted by such chance advisers as he might select.

This, briefly, was the manner in which justice was
administered up to the commencement of this
century. Afterwards for nearly twenty years the
State was ruled by a Commission, of which the
British Resident was the most conspicuous member,
and it is curious to know what Colonel Walker and
Major Carnac did to mend matters. The former of
these two grest men, thinking that the time had not
yet come to introduce reforms, contented himself
with impressing on the administration the necessity
of paying increased attention to the discharge of
justice, and encouraged the system of Panchdyats.
Major Carnac dealt with the matter more boldly, and
his motives for doing so are worth considering. He
believed that the practice of arbitration, as a system
of justice, could not operate in a large and civilized
society where rights were determined, not by a
written law, but by the innumerable intricacies of
localusage. He wished, therefore, to establish courts
with positive powers, whose decisions might be
placed on record to establish a body of precedents.
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Panchiéyats, he argued, were not juries, were not upon
oath, they decided on points of law, and were mof
subject to the revision of any regular tribunal.
They were not checked in case they decided corrupt-
ly, and if their award was a good one, there was no
authority to register and enforce it, the matter being
left to the leisure and convenience of the tax-gatherer.
Hence he declared that “ arbitration;”’ (meaningsuch
as was recognised by the Court,) ““ was scarcely ever
“resorted to in consequence of a mutual concurrence
“of parties in a sult without the intervention of
“ Government.” In other words, he abandoned all
hope of reconciling the Panchéyat system with that
of the Kam4visdir administration, as Colonel Walker
would have endeavoured to do. There was in
Baroda a Kotval’s Court, and Major Carnac proposed
to withdraw from it all but its heavy magisterial
duties, and to entrust these to a Central Court. As
a Magisterial Court the Kotv4l was to be subordinate
to the Nydyddhishi Court. This Central Court the
Resident would invest with criminal and civil powers
of the highest degree, and at the head of it would
place a member of the Géikvad family, that the
nobles might feel no repugnance in submitting to its
decrees. During the regency of Fate Sing (S. 1866)
the Central Court (Nyfdy4dhishi) cameinto existence;
and under various names and with certain changes,
it has continued in existence up to the present time,
being the point from which all further reforms
could start.

One sentence in Major Carnac’s Report on the
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judicial system of the State should be recorded in
fall, because its truth has been made clear over and
over again, and because its significance still exists.
By placing a member of the Géfkv4d family in the
Central Court the Resident hoped to remove the
necessity of referring important criminal matters and
all cases of consequence to the person to whom they
bad till then proceeded, the Mah4rija, whose opinion
was influenced by ministers or favourites. ¢ The
“ Mah4réja,” wrote the Resident, “was frequently
“absent from the capital, he might be disinclined
“to work. Above all, the dignity of the prince, as
“well as humane and merciful execution of justice,
“required that neither the sovereign himself nor
“his principal advisers should personally adjudge
“and condemn any criminal. A system of justice
“ghould, as much as possible, be independent of the
¢¢ personal qualities of thesovereign, who, if inclined
“ to indulge the passions which opportunity tends so
“ greatly to encourage, could not, from his exalted
“ position, be easily restrained by good advice or
“ foar of consequences.”

Over the Central Court thus established presided
a Sar Pant, Moro Kashingth Abhayankar, and under
him were three Pants, or judges, a Shéastr{ and
a Kézf for the decision of points in Hindu or
Mohammedan law. At first it was looked vpon
with aversion as an innovation, but it soon became
popular. Shortly some cases of corruption occurred
and the Court was shunned. Butwhen guilty judges
had been dismissed and the pay of those entertained
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increased to diminish the desire for peculation, it
regained its popularity. In 8. 1869, Yeshvant Rav
Bidpuji Godbole became Sar Pant, and the reforms
alluded to were carried out. The Nydyddhishi Court
tried every kind of case, both civil and criminal,
being both first and final court, and it supplied all
want of power in the Vahivitdars of the districts. It
must be noticed that at this time the Court, compos-
ed of the Sar Pant and three Pants, retained the form
of a Panchay4t. The Pants recorded their opinions
separately, and the Sar Pant, after collecting them,
took them to the Huzlr.! One constant difference
of opinion which existed between the excellent young
Regent and the equally excellent Resident, deserves
mention before we pass on to subsequent changes.
In criminal cases the Judge decided capital cases to
be punishable (according to the law of the Shéstras)
by death, mutilation of the body, perpetual impri-
sonment, or a heavy fine, and these punishments
might be remitted or ouly partially enforced at the
pleasure of the sovereign. Fate Sing shrank from
inflicting death, and the Resident often urged
him to esact this last penalty for the benefit of
society. Fate Sing had no objection to mutilation,
but the Resident regarded this as horribly cruel,

In 8, 1890, the post of President to the Nyayé-
dhishi Court was abolished, and all the Pants
were done away with. The Divéns Venirém Aditrém
and Bh4( Purénik decided cases with theaid of
a Sharistedfr. This abnormal state of things
contirued till Venirdm was dismissed, when a Judge
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was once again placed at the head of the Court.
Though this official was still aided by Shfstrfs and
a Kéz{ there were no Pants under the Sar Pant,
and the Panchiyat form instituted by Gangédhar
Shéstri was not revived.

In 8. 1896 a Devaghar kacherf was instituted by
Saydji Rav Mah4rédja, that a person discontented
with the decision of the Nydyddhishi Court might
appeal to the Mahéraja. On the payment of a naza-
réné the Mahédriji gave him the chance of a re-trial
in the Devaghar kacherf. The dangers of this
innovation were too striking to require explanation
here. Fortunately, notlong after, in S. 1902, Bhéu
T4mbekar succeeded in obtaining the withdrawal
from the Devaghar kacherf of its appellate powers
on the payment of a nazarind. It was converted
into a joint civil court with the Nydy4dhishi Court,
though the latter retained alone its criminal juris-
diction, But above the two Civil Courts he placed
the Sar Nyfyddhishi Court, of which he himself
was the first President.

Four years later (S.1907) Bh4d Témbekar, ex-
ercised by the thought that the Darakhdérs received -
high salaries and did httle work, instituted a special
Court, called the Darakhdér kacherf, which was to be
a court of appeal from the Sadar Ny4y4dhishi Court
in civil matters, Bhiméshankar Shéstri was its
first President, and he was assisted by the Mazmidér,
the Munshf, Bépu Mafrdl Shéstri, Motilil Sédmal
Pérekh, and Jamshedji, Dessi of Nauséri. The
Court continued in existence till the end of (ranpat
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Rév Mahéraja’s reign when, instead of the Darakhdérs
deciding cases, Ganesh Oze suggested that a Sha-
risteddr should review the appeals and submit them to
the judgment of the Mahér4ja. The name of ¢ Spe-
“cial Court” was retained for this arrangement.

In 8. 1917 Khande Rév Mahdr4ja instituted a
new Criminal Court, of which Bhéd Shinde was the
first President (Faujddri K4mddr). It was both a
Magisterial and a Criminal Court, and it deprived
the Nydyddhishi Court of its criminal jurisdiction.
Shortly after the Iz4rddr system (revenue farming)
was brought to an end, and the mahé4ls were each
placed under a Vahivatddr. The Vahivatdir had
under him three Sharistecd4rs—one for revenue, one
for civil, and one for criminal cases. Magisterial
work and criminal cases were supervised by the
Faujdfri Kimdir; revenue appeals weut from the
Vahfvdtdér’s Court to the Sar Subhd, a post which
had lately been created and bestowed on Harfbd
D4da (8. 1920) ; finally, appeals in civil suits went to
the Sadar Nydyddhfshi and then to the Member’s
Court, after the latter had taken the place both of
the Sadar Nydy4dhishi Court and of the ¢ Special
‘“ Court.” The Member’s Court was composed of
Médhava Rav Gangédhar, Sakhdrdm Ball§l, Néro
Viman and Abs Shéstrf.

It will thus be perceived that an effort was being
made to separate the judicial system into different
distinct branches and to introduce a little order into
chaos. Besides, in S. 1924, at Bhéd Shinde’s sugges-
tion, three grades of Civil Courts were formed with
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varying powers, from which appeals went regularly
to the Member’s Court. And, above all, Khande
Riév attempted to codify laws. The first Civil Pro-
cedure Code was enacted in S. 1917 (a.n. 1861),
but was superseded by the one now in force in 8.
1926 (a.p. 1870): it was founded on the Bombay
Regulations of 1827 and the old Civil Procedure
Code.? The Criminal Code also dates from S. 1917,
but additions were made to it in 1919, and it tuo
was founded on the Regulations of 1827.3 The Re-
venue Code was enacted in S. 1921 (a.p. 1865) and
was partly drawn from the same Bombay Regulations.

In S. 1928 the Varisht Court of final appeal in
civil, criminal and revenue matters, was instituted by
the Mahdrdja Malhar Riv.

Under the present administration a sweeping re-
form has been made, and the British method of ad-
ministering justice been copied as closely as possible.

Hitherto we have been considering the formation
of the Central Court or Courts, and have deferred
from pp. 288—290 all detailed notice of the District
Coarts. In them there have been of course many
changes from time to time, and perhaps the best way
to understand what was their system is to take one
kalamband{ or set of instructions. Let us, for
instance, take that of S. 1883 (a.p. 1827) as typical of
what preceded and followed : ut the same time bear-
ing in mind that the kalambandi was very possibly
not closely observed by the farmers of the revenue,
and that in 1827 British suggestions were being
plentifully supplied to the State, .
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In civil cases the Vahivitdir was to be assisted by
a Panch, of which he selected the president, the
hereditary officers of the district one member, the
inhabitants of the place a third, the defendant and
the plaintiff a fourth and a fifth. In ordinary
criminal cases the Vahiv4tddr (or Kam4visddr)
was empowered to try alone; in cases of & graver
nature he took the Hézir Z&min, reported the matter
to Government, and called for the assistance of the
Panch. All cases of course were to be tried accord-
ing to Budhdhi and Dharm ; and, if the Panch gave
a deliberately false decision, a new Panch was to be
formed, and the guilty Panch to be fined one-tenth
of the value staked in the dispute, the proceeds
going to the Pdnjard Pol, or institution for the
maintenance of animals.

Before going on to tell what were the powers of
the Court, we must notice that in S. 1881 a General
Stamp Act had been passed and that it applied to
these Courts.

In snits for moveable property there was a limit
set down of 12 years instead of the 20 fixed by Gan-
gadhar Shéstri. In suits for immoveable property
there was no limitation of time, but, unless settled
by arbitration, the Vahivdtd4r could only record his
decision and send it up to the Huzr.

By this Kalamband{ criminal offences to be tried
are classified as—1, theft, dacoity and robbery;
2, grievous hurt; 38, slander.

In punishing the offender, if found guilty, the
Court for a first offence might take as much as one-
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twelfth of his property, for a second offence one-tenth,
for a third offence as much as one-sixth, or, if the
offender were too poor to be so punished, he might
be imprisoned in chains for four years, or for six
years, or for seven years. Certain crimes are more
particularly noticed—theft of corn, defamation and
adultery. If found guilty of this last, the offender,
when worth 100 Rs., had to pay 5 Rs. fine ; when
worth less than 1,000 Rs. he had to pay 50 Rs.;
when worth 10,000 Rs. he had to pay 100 Rs. The
heaviest fine for adultery was 500 Rs. A Vahiv4t-
dér might, if he could, deal with a riot or public
disturbance himself, but after catching offenders, he
was bound to send them to the Huzir.

Note 1, p. 294.—The Sar Pant’s salary was only 400 Rs. a
month. The costs of litigation were fixed, in suits of from 5 to
1,000 Rs. at 1 anna in the Rupee, in suits of from 1,000 to 5,000
Rs.,at b per cent , then up io 10,000 Rs. at 4 per cent., then up to
40,000 Rs. at 2} per cent. Suits for moveable property were
limated to twenty years. The customs of Gujarit were to be
recorded for precedents. Conmection with the districts: weekly
reports were sent to the HuzGr of grave criminal crimes, and
orders were thenco issued, probably through the Court. Military
class : disputes regarding their service or haks were decided
departmentally, but suits for debt were tried in the Court, not
however without the previous sanction of the Sarkir. Revenue
cages were tried by the Divdn, Such were the rules laid down
by Pate Sing in 4 D. 1814.

Note 2, p. 297.—Certain provisions of the Civil Code are worth
mentioning. (1) Ezecution of decrees : not only implements of trade
or husbandry and wearing apparel, &c., but the house or portion
of a house of the debtor necessary for the shelter of bhimself and
family, and also corn sufficient to last for two months, are eXempted
from attachment and sale in execution of a decree. Impm'son-.
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ment in default of payment of the amount of a décree is not to
exceed three months extept in special cases, and with the sanc-
tion of the Sarkér, if the amount exceeds 2,000 Rs. Not a few
people in British India will admire these provisions. (2) Limita-
tion : suits for Vatan Vriti, for partition of ancestral property, for
redemption of mortgage, for stridhdn, for deposits, and for main-
tenance, can be brought at any time. Limitation for suits for the
recovery of immovcable property is placed at twenty years, for
suits on bonds, &c., at twelve years, and for suits on an account at
six years. The limitation for the execution of a docree is the
same as the limitation for a suit according to the nature of the
claim. (3) Interest: the Code does not allow interest beyond
12 per cent. whatever the written contract may be, and interest
beyond the amount of the principal is not allowed. (4) Luwabdility
of soms and keirs, the Hindu son is liable for the debts of his
father with interest, though he may not have inherited property.
In the same way the grandson is hable for the principal but not for
interest. Other heirs are liable 1f they should have inherited the
property of the deceased The greater part of these cnactments
is well suited to the people.

Note 3, p. 2Y7.—Peculiarities of Criminal Code : The killing of
a cow is punishable with death. Adultery is punishable with a
fine of 5 Rs., and rape with imprisonment for a period not ex-
ceeding G months, or with a fine of Rs. 30, or both. Women are
punishable for adultery. Of counrse under the administration of
Raja Sir T, Midava Riv those laws have been altered. These and
other dofects a1e supphied by new circulais.



CHAPTER XXVI.

KHANDE RAV (continued)—THE FINANCIAL AND REVENUE
SYSTEMS.

Within the last few years, R4jé Sir T. Madava
Rév has openly stated that the State possesses large
accumulations of money, has introduced a system
whereby the State pays its way without borrowing,
and has begun to keep accounts which purport to
inform those interested in such matters what the
State receipts and disbursements are. This is all
8o novel and extraordinary that it is with difficulty
that we can reconcile it with the financial history
of the State up to recent times. To be in debt,
to remain in debt, and to get along by raising
a fresh loan when difficulties necessitated a settle-
ment, this has hitherto been the usage of the State.
To make some parade of its enormous debts from
time to time and thus to deprecate rough treatment,
to conceal the true state of things, this has hitherto
been its policy.*

In this history we have boldly followed the version
handed down by British officials of vast sums owing
to the Peshvé, of debts to guaranteed bankers
hardly removed by British interferenceand assistance,
and ¢f succeeding embarrassments which have con-
stantly rendered the State almost bankrupt, But

26
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there is another story to be told which may seem so
improbable that we hesitate to give it. Debtors
there are in India who have kept on paying heavy
interest though possessed of means ample enough to
clear them of their difficulties : extraordinary cruslties
have been exercised in this country to compel
people to disclose their hidden wealth, but still more
extraordinary fortitude has often been displayed in
concealing the buried hoard from the spoiler.
““ What,” some would say, “if the Géikvéds have
‘“ been cunhing enough to make the Peshv4 and the
“British believe that they were steeped in debt,
“while they have, from the beginning, been well
““enough off. Remember how they kept their own
““counsel and allowed Major Carnac to tell the
“ Governor of Bombay that they were free of all
“ claims when they were preparing him the surprise of
‘“adebt of overa crore. Remember Say4ji’s offer
““to pay off the guaranteed bankers from his private
““ property, and the ease with which he at last settled
“with them, The British never understood the
“relations between the (Gaikv4d and his bankers :
“it was a costly system of raising money from day
“to day as calls for payment came in, but it suited
“the government, it was absolutely impenetrable
““to the curious investigations of outsiders, it had
‘“the merit of keeping the money that was made
““inside the State. When the British, after thirty
“years had been passed in paying off the great
““bankers, determined to drop their vexa%ious,
“ costly and utterly fatile mode of interference, did



303

““ Say4ji break down ? Not a bit of it, he satisfied
“his creditors and became one of them, yes, the
“ Géikvadd turned into a Potadér himself, and by
“ degrees, just before Malhér Rév fell, was the only
“ Potaddr in the State. Say4ji Riv was not quite
‘“the greedy prince he was imagined to be, but a
‘‘ghrewd native ruler who had clear ideas, though
““ they were not British ideas, of what he wanted to
“do with the revenue, and these he carried tri-
“ umphantly into execution, though at a terrible
““ cost to himself and his successors.”

To put the matter briefly, the State from of old
borrowed money from the
bankers in ordér to meet
any calls on it for payment, whether great or small.
The State did not pay in money, but by a money-order
on a banker; to the banker it granted a varat or
letter of credit on some kamévisdar or farmer of the
revenue of one of the mah4ls, who honoured the
vardt at the time of paying in the rent of his farm.

The bankers who thus supplied the government
with ready money, and recouped themselves from the
kamfvisdérs were called Potadérs. From the time of
Anand Rév they were five in number, and each had
the right to lend to the government a certain
proportion of all the sums which it was necessary
to advance. Taking 1 rupee as the représentative
figure, Harf Bhaktf had the right to advance 5%
annas of the total, Gopil Riv Mairdl 5} annas,
Ratanji K4nd4s (of Kéthidvéd), Lalé Mangal and
Sfmal Bechar the remainder. The regular in-

The Potadar.
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terest ontheloan varied from.12annasatthe beginning
of this century to 6 annas later on. But all pay-
ments made by the Sarkdr were of two kinds: in
one set of payments the full sum was made over to
the person whom the Sark4r desired to pay, but
in the other set of payments the full sum was not
made over. It is strange, but it is true, that gene-
rally from every 100 Rs. said to be owing, & deduc-
tion of 3 Rs. 12 annas was made, and the money
thus withdrawn was disposed of in the following way :
2 Rs. were considered to be potadéri, 1 R. 8 annas
to be interest, and 4 annas to be the perquisite of the
banker’s guméshtd or agent, whether he existed or
not. The -transaction did not end here: in settling
his accounts, the Potadér kept for himself 2 Rs. out
of the 8 Rs. 12 annas thus saved, and paid back to
government 1 R. 12 annas, d.e. half the potadari
and interest items. One more advantage was
granted to the Potadédr, that of drawing Manoti.
The meaning of the term as commonly used is this:
there is a custom by which when a lender handsover,
say, 100 Rs, to a borrower, he withdraws for himself
1 Rupee. The Manoti of the Potaddr was not quite
the same ; when he advanced 100 Rs. he placed on
his accounts with the Sarkdr a sum of 101 Rs. as
due to him. If the payment to the person to be
paid was® to be in full, the Potadfr first charged
the government interest at 6 annas in addition to
the whole sum, and then returned to the government
one-half of that sum, 7.e. 8 annas, the Potadér{ item
being.treated as in the first set of payments.
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The Potad4r forwarded the order of the Sarkir,
together with the receipt of the person to whom
money had been paid, to the kaméivisddr. The
latter repaid him the sum he had expended at the
time when the rent of his farm had to be sent in.
The kamévisdars’ dues to Government were paid
in quarterly instalments, and for the most part they
went to clear off the Potad4r’s vardts in the manner
decribed.

We have mentioned in the body of this history
that Say4ji Rav was driven
to pay the Contingent force
regularly and to pay off the guaranteed bankers.
He then began to deal with them as adversaries and
established several banks, of which the one called
after his son Ganesh Ishvar was the principal one.
This bank had at first for capital a sum of 5§ ldkhs,
which Sayéji considered to be his private property,
and he employed it as if he himself were a Potad4r,
sharing in the profits hitherto monopolised by the
great bankers., Khapde R4v went further. In S.
1915 he founded the Kutb-Rubbint Bank, with a
capital of 214 14khs. The sources from which he
drew this sum are worth mentioning: 3} l4khs were
withdrawn from the Ganesh Ishvar, 7 l4khs came
from the money restored to him by the British
when the Gujarft Irregular Cavalry was broken up,
a son was adopted into the house of Hari Bhakti
after the payment of a nazaréna of 5 l4khs. One
important item remains among several not men-

tioned here: in S. 1919 he paid a royal visit to his
o

The Banks.
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district of Kadi Patan, and to defray expenses
he levied a tax on all the Mahdls except Nausdri,
5; likhs of the proceeds of which went into
this bank. Nauséri had to pay a similar tax called
the Savéri Nazarind, when His Highness visited
Bombay to meet the Duke of Edinburgh. The
interest of the bank’s potadérf operations in four years
(S. 1915-19) amounted to 2% l4khs, which went to
swell the capital, when its operations were gradually
extended from 2 Jakhs to 7 or 8 ldkhs. The Maul
Ali Bank was started in S. 1916 with a capital of 23
likhs ; in four years their interest amounted to 23}
ldkhs, which-sum likewisc went to swell the capital ;
and its operations also increased from 2 to 7 or 8
lakhs of Potadirf business. The Potaddr{ share of
the first or Ganesh Ishvar Bank amounted to from
11 lakhs at first to 14} ldkhs at last. Malhar
Rav was thus able, when he came to the gadi, to
do without any State banker as Potaddr, and to
Iend himself all the money he Jborrowed from the
three banks above mentioned. When Sir Méidava
Rav undertook the administration, he swept away
the banking system altogether, and placed the
sums he found in the three banks into a central
treasury.’?

Not to be mentioned on a par with the three
State banks was the Mahfbub Subhéni, found-
ed by Khande Rév. The bank originated from
the necessity of having some place wherein
to deposit the proceeds from the mahéls,
when these were no longer farmed but were
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divectly managed by the Government. It was
supervised by the new Sar Subh4, who honoured the
varats of the Potadérs as the kam4visd4rs used to do.

The kamévisd4r was the farmer of the revenues

The. Kamavisdir or of the State. The govern-
[zrddr. ment did not collect its own
revenues, but let out the right of collecting them
either to creditors or to persons who purchased that
right at a public auction. The distinguishing mark
of a good government must therefore have been the
care it took in selecting good kamavisdfrs orizérdars.

For the power of these men was enormous and the
supervision exercised over them trifling ; the tenure
of the farm was for a limited number of years, and -
no inducement was made them to keep up or im-
prove the administration; as a mercantile transaction
they were justified in making the highest possible
profit, and it was nothing to them that the greatness
of the profits must correspond with the intensity of
the exactions. To explain these matters a little.
Only a good government could select good kamavis-
- dérs, and that only if it was free from pecuniary
embarrassments, for the tendency of straitened times
was to give the mahils to the highest bidders in-
dependently of any consideration for their respect-
ability and worth, while the policy of shiftless or
grasping rdjis was to take private bribes from the
farmers that a low bid to the State might be ac-
cepted, the tenure of the farm renewed, or irregu-
larities overlooked. A bribe from the farmer to the
réja of course put the latter much into the power of

’
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the former ; the master was at the mercy of the ser-
vant., But there was one pernicious way in which a
bad government quickly intensified every evil of the
farming system. It played the farmers false and re-
sumed the farms before the expiry of their tenure,
that a fresh bid might be madoe for them. In such
times the farmers made extraordinary attempts to
provide against contingencies, and revenged them-
selves on the people for the faithlessness of the
prince. The power of the farmer was great, we have
said, for the whole district was placed under him.
He was civil judge and magistrate, and often of old
he was in possession of fortified places and thands;
he disposed of the policc and often, of old, of a large
military force ; he was of course the collector of taxes
and the regulator of their amount. The writer is
not in a position to say what was the nature of the
supervision exercised over the kamgvisd4rs before
the time of Béib4ji App4i, but he doubts if there was
any systematised supervision at all such as the Mus-
sulimdn governments maintained. No doubt an
appeal might and occasionally was made by the
rayats to the Sarkdr which met with a hearing;
bat an embarrassed or careless government turned
a deaf ear to such petitions.

As want of space prevents us from dealing with
the subject except in a
cursory manner, from tho
kamévisddr or izfrd4r we pass on at once to the
taxes he collocted, Of course the main source of
revenuo, in the Baroda State has always been the

The land tax.
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land tax, and that has generally been collected accord-
ing to one of four methods. In old times there was
the bhdguvatai. system, where the produce was col-
lected by the rayat and brought to the threshing-
ground : it was then divided, (though sometimes the
estimate was made on the standing crop,) and the
collector took his share, which varied from one-
third to one-half, the monsoon cropspayirg highest,
the cold season crops less, the irrigated crops least.
The collector’s share was then placed in store-
houses and sold as he thought fit; now-a-days it is
sold by the government officials. The bhigvatai
method of collecting the land tax still prevails in
the Amreli district, excluding Okhimandal and vil-
lages in Kodinad, and in some infm lands in the
Baroda subh4 valued at about one lakh.

In old times the Lolbandi method was perhaps
more prevalent than it now is, though it still exists
in Tilakv4d4 and in Antapdr and Visénpdar, in the
Nauosfri district towards Soungad, i.c. the Bhil
country. It is the plough tax, that is, the tax was
levied on the number of ploughs used, a certain
quantity of land being reckoned as the extent over
which a plough, or rather two oxen, could pass in the
year. The holbandi system was and is employed
in the wilder and more hilly parts of the State,
where the produce is scanty.

The third method was termed the narvd, which,
unlike the other three, is not rayatvéri, antl, owing
to circumstances, it is still prevalent in the Petléd
pergannd, where it was revised and regist.eyed by
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Sir John Malcolm during the sequestration of that
district. In the narv4 system the pétel or matedér
(the signer of the agreement) made himself respon-
sible for the payment of a lump sum of money yearly
fixed by the Government.*

The bhigddri method is similar to the narvd in
certain respects. The lands are measured and as-
sessed, and the bhégdérs or superior holders are
responsible for the revenue, but they may get such
terms as they please out of the rayats.

Finally, in old times the bighotat system wasused ;
but then uncommonly, while now it is of course the
method most generally employed. By this system
the land itself is assessed according to its area, posi-
tion and quality.’

Such were the chief methods® of levying the land
tax on Sarkéri or Kh4lsa
land ; but we had now better
draw the distinction between Sarkéri and other kinds
of land which did net belong to government. In
almost every village there were lands over which the
government did not exercise rights of ownership,
though in ordinary circumstances the land of the
State is held to belong exclusively to the rdj.’?

The village officials were paid for their work either
by contributions from the villagers or by certain
hakks (rights to cultivate a fixed area of land) or by
both contributions amd hakks. This land so set
apart for the village officials was termed posaifd.
There were also the vajifé lands, 7.e. those granted
to Mugs.alméns doring the Moghul rule and con-

Tenures.
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tinued to them by the Maréthds. The béhdrkhali
lands comprised charitable or®*religious grants to
Brihmans, Bhits and others. The wvdnté lands
were those possessed by the large and powerful
class of Girassfas, of whom nothing need be said
here. Finally there were the lands termed vachdnia
and gherdnia, that is, lands of which the proprietor-
ship had been sold outright or mortgaged by the
Government through the pétels. Such transactions
were sanctioned in times of difficulty in order that
a sufficient revenue might be collected. The pétel’s
right to sell or mortgage government land was,
however, not openly recognized by the Sarkér after
the year 1827. Accordingly when Khande Rév levied
an indm tax of one-eighth on all land not belonging
to government, he did not recognize sales or mort-
gages made by pétels after that date. We may add
that, though Khande Rav exacted an indm tax in
imitation of the British Government, it is held that
these lands are resumable.

As it is impossible to detail the minute changes
which took place in the
revenue system from the
beginning to the end, we have thought it best to
quote the Kalambandi of 1827, (the instructions of
Say4ji Rév to the vahivatdérs of that year) in order
to illustrate some of the main points. We have
seen that there were two classes of “land, that be-
longing to the Sarkér, and that over which its rights
were limited: we have also seen that the kamaé-
visdér had the right to settle with the rayats the

Revenue system.
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sums they should pay him. By the Kalambandi of
1827 the rayats were ordered to cultivate the
Sarkér land first in order that private interests might
not militate against the public profit, and the
extent of Sarkéar land cultivated was in all cases to be
at least double that ofall other kinds of land. If
within the village limits the Sarkér land did not by
so much exceed other land, the villagers were to
proceed to the neighbouring village and cultivate
Sarkér land there before attending to their private
interests., In old days the rayats were often so
badly treated by some kamévisddrs that they were
driven to desert their fields and take up work offer-
ed them by some more liberal farmer, nor was land
then so extensively cultivated as it now is, so that
labourers were wanted and land was at a discount.
We are not therefore surprised to see that, in the
Kalambandi of 1827, though the kamdvisdir was
permitted to receive within his mahéls rayats from
other parts of the country, he could only do so if
they had previously paid up all arrears due by them
to other kamdvisdars: and he could only guarantee
stranger’sland during his tenure of office, nor was his
successor bound by any terms he might have made.
Let us now see what was the position of the far-
mer with regard to the hereditary officers, the military
class, and in certain particulars the government.
We have alr8ady stated that he was to pay the
sums he owed to government in four instalments, and
arrears were charged with 9 per cent. interest. Any
unsancfioned expenditure was to come out of his
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own pocket. For the construction or repair of public
works, never very numerous or extensive, the govern-
ment bade him obtain assistance from the rayat: it
itself aided such efforts, in the time of Khande Rév,
by a grant equalling the expenditure of the rayats.
At the end of the ycar the vahivdtddr sent in his
account of the sums he had received and those he
had disbursed during his tenure of the farm. It is
not to be supposed that these accounts were always
very correct, for it was in the interest of the farmer
o make the government believe that his profits had
been small. DBut, in the opinion of a person of
some experience of the farming system, it was
rather by exaggerating the cxpenditure than the
receipts that the farmer deceived the government,
as uny undue exaction of taxes from the rayats
might lead these to complain and so reveal the true
state of things. However that may be, we give as
samples some items of expenditure and receipts in
two accounts, that the system may be understood.

The account sent in by the former of the Sunkhedd

Mahdal in S. 1813.

The veceipts from the land tax were 56,6114 Rs.,
those from the shivd{ jamd or other sources to dis-
tingunish them from the ain jamd or principal (land)
collection werc 16,201 Rs,  Some of the items of the
shivdi jam4 for that year will be given, that an idea
may Le got of the curious sources from which money
was obtained, sources not generally mentioned in the
standard works on political economy. The siyar
jakdt or customns fetched 8,000 Rs. ; the daldlicor tax

27
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on trades 1,200 Rs; the kal4l bhatti or tax on liquor
distilleries 676 Rs.; the mépan or test of weights
100 Rs.; the bracelet makers paid 51 Rs.; the hari
vera fetched 404 Rs.; a tax on mevéasi (trouble-
some, riotous) villages 677 Rs. ; thesukhadior “ tips”
402 Rs. ; the right to collect the crops 54 Rs.; the
sdlverd (tax onhot weather crops) 83 Rs. ; for presents
of fruit to be offered to people of rank 11 Rs. ; the
fines in the courts of justice amounted to 2,300 Rs. ;
a grass-tax to 25 Rs.; the mahasulf, or despatch of
horsemen to live in the houses and at the cost of
debtors till they paid up, bronght in 60 Rs. ; the
chauth or fourth which represented judicial costs
150 Rs. ; then 29 Rs, were withdrawn at the time of
paying people who were creditors to government;
the tax on mangoes brought in 900 Rs.; the tax on
second marriages of women 30 Rs. ; and on intestate
property 130 Rs.
The account of the farmer of Vadanagar; S. 1891.

The land tax amounted to 41,062 Rs., the shivii
jamé or other taxesto 18,950 Rs. These included
one of 88 Rs. as havaldéri, when government servants
were dctached to guard the ficldsat nightat 1 R.
per casc ; one of 1,000 Rs. as a tax on the infamous
robber caste called Dhanoje. These robbers and
murderers were granted an asylum by the Géikvad
on the condition that they should spare his territories
and pay an annual sum to government, andin S, 1891
the Dhancje people were also taxed 1 B. per head,
or 35 Rs. for going out of the mah4l to steal. On
releastng prisoners from their bonds, the farmor
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collected 10 Rs., and he got 200 Rs. as kaul
nazardnd, as a gift at the time of making a promise
or agreement. The kandila pattd of the year was
1,000 Rs. Of old it had been the custom to levy an
extra tax when the cldest son of the rdjd was born,
when there was a royal marriage, wlRen certain
religious ceremonies were performed on -the Giik-
véd’s son, &c. ; but now this tax had been instituted
permanently instead of such occasional calls on the
rayat.

Before describing the disbursements of these two
mahils, let us go into the relations of the farmer
with hereditary officers, and cortain other points.

In the Kalambandi of 1827 the kamévisdar is
enjoined to select from the families who inherited
the right to discharge the office the best individuals
he could find to be Desifs, Mazmiddérs, Awin
Pétels, and Pétels. These men, the old officers of
Gujardt, did not directly assist the farmer in the
execution of his duties or in the collection of the
revenue. DBut it was thoir business to aid him in-
directly in persuading the people to work, to take
up land, to pay their taxes, and to behave quietly.
The one excoption was the Mazmddér whose duty
it was to keep the accounts, that is, to write out the
jamdbandi of the mah4l. The fact is that in the
Baroda State, as elsewhere, the Government did not
mterfere with tho old village system or the self-
government of the people in the districts according
to eustowms of great antiquity, but simply added on
a system by which money might be collected’and a
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few general services to the public be rendered. The
Kalambandi of 1827 enjoins that an annual state-
ment of the sums paid to hereditary officers was to be
gent in by the farmer, together with their receipts.

The farmer transacted his work with the assist-
ance of kd¥kins or clerks. The district which he
farmed, and which was called the mahdl, was divided
into th4nds or groups of villages, averaging from
ten to fiftecn., The Baroda mah#l, for instance,
contained eighteen thdnds. The thind was managed
by a government official called the théneddr, and
edach village had its mchth, the first of whom would
get about 20 Rs. a month, the latter about 15 Rs.
The thdned4r supervised the collection of the revenue
while the mehtd actually collected it, in which
business he was aided or checked by a vatanddr or
hereditary officer, the tdl4tf (or weigher), who repre-
sented tho interests of the villagers. The thanedars
continued to do their work till S. 1916, when
Khande R4v’s new revenuc and police systems
began to be introduced. Up to that time they had
fauzd4rf and mulkf work to do, but in S. 1917-18
one fauzdér wag appointed to do the fauzddri work
up to then done by two or three officers, and no
mulkf work. This continued till S. 1924-25, when
the two works were again united and entrusted to
the thédned4r, who was given some small powers of
inflicting fines, was placed in charge of a larger
nnmber of villages, and was granted the assistance
of a kérkdn. .

The police work of the districts was done with the



317

assistance of a semi-military force, the mah4li or
Thevanuki Sibandi, who were sent on mohasuli duty,
as has been already described. The Kalambandi
of 1827 enjoins on the vahivitddr the suppression
of all disturbances by Bhils, Mevésis and Girdsids :
he was to seize such offenders if he codld and for-
ward them to the Huzdr for trial, but if he failed
to effect their capture withethe ordinary police force,
the Sarkar promised him assistance. The farmer
had not, according to the Kalambandi of 1827, the -
power of punishing himself the military placed at
his disposal ; but if discontented with any of the
military, he was to forward his complaint against
such for the Sarkédr to dispose of.

We may now pass on to the details of the two
accounts of disbursements given here, after premis-
ing that in the Kalambandi of 1827 the farmer is
ordered not to disturb the rights of Girdsids, Bhits
and Brdhmans, and to make proper payment of
Devasth4ns, Asémi nemndks, the Daitias of Darakh-
dirs, and of the salary due to the Sibandi.

In S. 1843 the farmer of the Sankhed4d Mah4l
fixes the cost of his estab-
lishment in kérkins at

800 Rs., in Sibandiat 763 Rs. The Kher{j Mushard
or Roji Shivai comprise Sarkdri Kharch 7,000 Rs.,
and Darbdr Kharch 638 Rs., these items representing
douceurs, not to call them bribes, bestowed on the
ministers and their master; 626 Rs. ave spent iu
bestowing poshékhs, or dresses of honour, on Man-
gal Pérekh and other great people, while thé Aher

Disbursements.
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Kharch, an item of the same nature, stands at 80 Rs.
These are the great items. For contingent expenses
are represented at 5 Rs. 4 annas, Dharmédai
22 Rs., Devasthédn 2 Rs., and Varsh4shan 3 Rs.

The Vadanagar accounts of disbursements in S.
1891 place the religious or charitable items much
higher, as beseems so much holier a Mah4l, Devas-
thdn 125 Rs., Darm4dhai £00 Rs., Varshdsan 614 Rs.,
charities 50 Rs., for the Anushtdn of Shrévan
Mashte 550 Rs., Bhojan Kharch 200 Rs.,and Shidhe
Kharch 100 Rs. The Daitias of the Darakhdérs
amount to 1,075 Rs., the Sarkdr Sukhadi to 400 Rs.
Here we find the vatan or regular pay of the far-
mer fixed at 700 Rs., while his clerk’s establishment
is no more than 700 Rs., and his contingent expenses
no more than 30 Rs. The cost of the Sibandi, on the
other hand, mounts up to 2,500 Rs.

At the risk of drawing out this chapter to too great a length, a
sketeh will here be given of the receipts and disbursements for one
year (S. 1896) under the old system, that the difference between
itand the present financial system may be more fully understood.

At the end of the yecar there wasa balance in hand of Rs.
5,40,000. The total receipts of the year amounted to 57,79,000
Rs., debts bad been contracted for 1,54,98,000 Rs.

At pages 188,189 allusion has been made to the plan of raising
fresh loans to pay off loans of the previous year. Therefore it is
not strange to find that though such enormous debts had been
contracted and placed under receipts, equally enormous sums had
been paid off and placed under expenditure for the yesr. The
intricate accounts and strange interest of the Potadiri system
must however be borne in mind.

Debts were paid off amounting to 1,52,49,000 Rs., the expendi-
ture of the Btate came to 59,78,000 Rs. The details ofthe
latterare as follows :—
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1.

3.

7.

8.

Army—

PARZAS .oover cviiieniiiinn e i e
T -
Bibandi ... oo v e e e e
Further military expenses—

Forts ... ....... v e emeeeeei e
Saddlery of Pavés - G e e e e
Rewards for wounds and Lorses lost in battle...
To Subhés of Contingent Foree ... ..ovvvvviiunnnn
Administration of the Mahals .......ocoovvinvin o0
Further civil expenditure—

Poona expenses for vakils, &e. .
Stamp office ..o civii i e e
Shvkér Kharch ..oooves viis v e e
Sums returned to farmers of revenue ... ..... ..
Dumdlgaum and INAmgaum...... .oevoreevenenivennnn
GITBBIA  oiveeeeiiiins ceriviinee e e
Rovyal expenses—

Sarkir Kharch ...veeiiiiiinii i,
Famly Civil List ..ooo 0 i oo vsniieens oo

Elephants, carriages, stables ..... ...
For favourites and confidential advisers . ......
For peons, &c. ..oivvennns

For pensioners and other dependents e e
For household servants ... . ceienenon o
For milkmen aund palace vegetab]e sel]ers ‘o
Khot Kharch, loss in buymg cloths, &c. for

PAlACE . iiit i e e e
For celebration ofhohdays Ceee e
For nauteh parties in thmgé hohdays e

Marriage festivities .
Tent and carpet department T
For charities ....ovv i ierer i v

Jdsti kharch (extmordinary) in public works,
visits from foreigners, &c.......ccoevurnvriiniiinin
Under no particalar head . . ....cooomiiinninnin

Rs.
10,16,000
11,75,000

7,26,000

77,000
16,000
33,000
27,000
8,84,000

3,000
. 800
2,26,500
10,009
3,25,000
3,900

56,000
1,50,000
5,59,000
2,96,000

4,300

11,000

31,000

31,000

8,000
8,600
16,000
10,250
1,500
44,000

2,86,000
11,000

Though the receipts and disbursements of 1870 77 are not re-
ported to be absolutely correct, we may notice that®the land
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revenue was 89,01,615 Rs., the total revenue 1,24,78,802 Rs,, and
the disbursements fell short of that sum by more than 20 likhs.

The palace disbursements for 1876-77 fell a little short of 16
ldkhs; though this, at first sight, seems to compare unfavour-
ably with the old account under consideration, it should be
remembered that the Makérfja had then other sources of reverue
ut his command. In Khande R4v’s time the palace disbursements
oexceeded 30 l4khs.

The expenditure on the army has now increased to 34,87,924 Rs

The civil expenditure has onormously increased Huzir estab-
lishments, land revenuc departmoent, civil establishments, judicial
department, police and jails cost no lcss than 23} likhs. Such
new items as public works, cducation, a medical department and
muuicipalities cost nearly 9 ldkhs.

It may be interesting to notice that at the present day, the
burden of pensioners, fisimidars and nemnfikdirs is 7,35,500 Rs.,
and that of religious or charitable allowances, 4,08,200 Rs,

Finally, though the Dumdlgaum and Indingaum villages were
entered 1n the old accounts as disbursements, they should not have
so appearcd. They represented lands which paid no revenue. The
Inémgaums were villages granted as free gifts to individuals, the
Dumilgaums were villages granted to miltary leaders for the
proper maintenance of their troops.

Note 1, p. 301,—To describe the financial system of Baroda, a
quotation from one of Burke’s specches has been given once before
now. ‘It was an exchequer wherein Extortion was the asses-
‘“gor, Fraud the cashier, Confusion the accountant, Conceal-
““ment the reporter, and Oblivion the remembrancer.”

Note 3, p. 805.—In the kalambandi of 1827 interest at 9 per
cent. had to be paid for all sums which fell into arrcars.

Note 3, p. 306.—In the concluding chapter of this volume it is
mentioned that in the year 1876.77 there was a resorve of 168
lakhs, It isnot to be imagined for one moment that so large a
sum has beon saved in the past threo or four years, The fact is
that though tho State at the time of the Mahirija Malhdr Rav’'s
deposition was held to be insolvent the supposition was erroneous.
When the dealings between State and bankers weroe brought to
light it was found that the State was to the good.
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Note %, p. 310,—The narvédirs were probably the original
founders of the village, who divided among themselves the por-
tions of the village they intended to have populatedand cultivated.
The rayats they called into effect this were mere tenants at-will,
whatever may be their present position. This is not clearly known
as Government does not often interfere between the narvidar
and his people, If thereare several narvadirs in one village each
pays his share of the lump sum due to Government, not in
accordance with the present extent of his property, but in accord-
ance with the original division of the sharo whon the village was
founded. If onc narviddr fails to pay Government the others
must make up for it.

Note ®, p. 810.—There is no thirty years’ settlement in Baroda.
A survey assessment wasintroduced by Khande Riv, and a sottle-
ment was effected for ten years.  But this settlement was respected
neither by the government nor the rayats, and the rates had lately
to be revised as they were too high (A.p.1874-75). The present
rates are not fixed for any defimite period. The survey assess-
ment system prevails 1n Nauséri, most of the Central Division,
and 1n the Northern Division exeept with regard to some villages.

Note 6, p. 810.—No mention need be made in the text of certain
varieties of assessment, as that por pickare and per perch or raised
platform, whence the cultivators watch their fields. No mention
either has been madc of the mevisi villages. 'Lhe headman, being
more or less independent, agrecs to pay government a lump
sum from year to year or time to time, but is not subject to any
interference in his own fiscal arrangemecnts with his people.

Note 7, p. 310.—Now the Baroda State lands paying revenue are
hold to belong to the government. The culuvators hold the lands
at tho pleasurc of the government, and are in no sense joint pro-
prietors. But of coutge government does not interfere with a
rayat who pays lus tax regularly In fact rayats were and aro
seldom ousted even if they did or do not pay revenue regularly ;
their moveablo property is sold or, if they have r.one, they pay by
instalments. It is doubtful if of old a cultivator was ever ejected
for private dcbts, and bis cattle and tools, food and clothes are
stall exempted from the process of civil courts. O happy cultiva.
tors, if they kuew their advantages ! °
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(CHAPTER XXVIIL

. THE BARODA COINAGR—CERTAIN STATE RIGHTS—THE
BRAHMANS—THE END OF KHANDE RAV’S REIGN.
We purpose now to make some remarks ou cer-

tain rights of the Gédikvad which have been affected

either by treaty, by the geographical situation of
the country, or by the relations in which he stands
with the British Government,.

Mint and Coinage.—The Géikv4d has coined his
own money from an early date. The silver coins
are now termed the new Siyds4i (Bibdsdi) Rupees,
the coppers are termed Baroda pice. Thero is, per- .
haps, slightly less alloy in the Baroda than in the
British Rupee, but, owing to its lesser weight, its
average value is 13 annas 11} pies in British cur-
rency, though it unfortunately varies in exchange
from day to day. Tho charge for conversion of
bullion into coin is or was 4 annas per 100 Rs.,
and, as the currency circulates throughout the
Baroda dominions and the Mahf and Reva Kanthas,
the gain to the State amounted to fifty thousand
Rupees a year.

It would perhaps havo been safer to say that the
Bébasdf Rupee used to circulate throughout the
Baroda dominions till within the last year. TFor,
recently, orders have been issued that_ the Govern-
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ment may accept money payments in British cur-
rency, and that public servants may be paid in British
Rupees in certain parts of the Baroda territories.
The Géikvdd, it may be remarked, can, by thoroughly
improving his coinage, cause it to circulate through-
out the whole extent of his dominions.

The evils of the Babdséi coinage are, however, so
great that it is improbable that they will be suffered
to continue. The Mint is the rudest thing imagin-
able, as little or no machineryis employed. A large
hole is made in the ground, in which an earthen-
ware vessel is placed capable of containing twenty
thousand tolds of silver. The vessel, when filled
with silver and a proportion of copper, is surrounded
by & charcoal fire, till the contents have become
liquified and purified by the action of the heat and
an infusion of borax. Thelmetal is then poured by
large spoonfuls into long thin shallow moulds, each
containing from ten to twelve tolds of silver. After
cooling, these slabs are entrusted by one to five
hundred tolds to goldsmiths who cut them into
small pieces weighing 29 vals 1 ginj, which are
afterwards cleaned and stamped by the hand. The
consequences of the employment of such coins are
easy to tell. The impression on the coin is never
full and square-cut, and the die is so rude that
counterfeiting is an easy task. The toin itself has
neither shape nor milling at the edge, so that it is
impossible to detect if great portions have been filed
off. It 1is so thick that it cannot be sounded,‘ and it

is apt to wear away under friction. If its weight at
- :
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the moment of being turned out is insufficient, a
piece is roughly stuck on, and this is apt subse-
quently to drop off. Finally, the coin bears from
day to day a varying ratio to the British Rupee of
from 112 : 100 to 120 : 100, so that, whenever any
exchange has to take place or any. considerable
amount of money passes hands, the shroff’s assist-
ance has to be purchased to test the pieces or
declare their value.

In addition to the ““coin of the realm,’’ so to call .
it, British money is largely in use throughout
the State, in the Nauséri Division there is the -
Broach coinage, and in Pdhlanpir and in the whole
of the Kadf Prant, (except Dehagaum and Atar-
sumbd, in the former of which British and in the
latter B4b4sil mouey prevails) there is the Shek4i
coinage. A brief account of the two latter coins is
all that is wanted to exhibit the necessity of a
uniform standard.

The Broach Mint was founded in the declining
period of the Moghul empire, and the year 1748 is
given as the one in which the Nav4b, then only
nominally dependent on the Emperor, actually
started it. In those days the coinage issued was
pure enough, but Scindia subsequently obtained
Broach, and under his rule the proportion of alloy
introduced was largely increased. The average
value of 100 Broach Rupees equalled 95 British
Rupees till 1867-68, when the Cpllector of Surat
bought up a large quantity at par and sent it to
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Bombay to be melted down. The Broach money
continued to be in use in the Nausirf Division till
last year, but now it is being bought up cheap by
the merchants and sent to Surat to be converted
into ornaments. The prohibkition of Broach money
adversely affected the poorer classes during a bad
year, as they had to purchase British money with
the now discontinued coin. But if it is borne in
mind that the Broach Mint has mnot been in
existence since Broach fell into the hands of
the British, and that the quantity of counterfeit
coin in use must have largely increased to meet
the requirements of the bazir, the advantage of a
snbstitution of British for Broach coinage will be
apparent.

The Shakii Rupees were recently in circulation
in Ahmad4b4d and the neighbouring districts, but
were put a stop to by the Collector in about the
year 1850. The coinage itself of course dated from
the time of the Moghul supremacy, and there is
still in the old capital of Gujardt a building called
the. Tanks4l (Mint), now converted into a girls’ school
by the Shetdn{ Harkunvar B4i. In old days the
Shakéi Rupee was worth seventeen annas, but now,
though constantly varying, it is always at a dis-
count, and 100 of such Rupees can be purchased
for from 96 to 994 British Rupees. The people
have a curious idea that the Shakéi Rupees are
good coins for hoarding purposes. In Vadanagar
and Visnagar of the Kadi Prént the Shakéi Rupees
are not so bad and are known as Bahérchaldi, that

. 28
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is, fit to be used abroad, but in the Pat4n Mah4l
they are much defaced and even broken.

One instance in the past history of the Baroda State
may be given to illustrate the evils of these many
mints, In 1809 the firms of Vakhat and Khish4l-
chand had the management of the Shakéi mint for
four or five years and had greatly depreciated the
intrinsic value of the coin. It held its own, however,
in the market as against the purer Baroda rupee, and
the consequence was that the merchants purchased
an immense quantity of Baroda money to transmit it
as bullion to Ahmaddbdd, making thereby a profit
of 14 per cent. So great was the drain on the
State, that bills for a 1dkh and a half could not be
cashed and the carrent expenses of the army could
not be defrayed except at a loss of 44 per cent. The
Baroda mint itself was closed for two years. Cap-
tain Carnac was driven to ask the Bombay Govern-
ment for a loan of specie on behalf of the Géikvid,
and, owing to the great indebtedness of the State at
this time, he had great difficulty in obtaining 25
thousand dollars, or a sum of 24 lakhs. Captain Carnac
found reason at this period to complain of the Broach
coin, and described the mints at Baroda, Ahmad4-
bad and Petldd as being in a state of negligence.

The Brahmans.—This history is a very brief one,
and, as it pretends to take the reader down to the
present day, it is natural that some points should of
set purpose be but lightly touched, and that others
should be altogether omitted. Just as in the records

.of the conquest of the land little or no mention has
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been made of the tributary States with the excep-
tion of Kdthifv4d, so, in bringing before the reader
the various classes of rulers, the Mahdrdjas, the
Residents, the Divans, the Sard4rs, the State bankers
and the Farmers of the Revenue, it is not to be
wondered at if the Mar4thd Brihmans receive less
attention than their power and influence deserve.
The omission, however, is plainly stated, nor should
it be concealed that the difficulty of dealing with
the matter has hindered the writer from dwelling on
it at any length.

It must at once strike the observant reader of
the history of the Baroda State that the great
. family of Divéns which gave its government

such powerful chiefs as Rdvji Appdji, Bébdji
Appéji, Sitirdm Rdvaji and the two Vithal Révs,
was a Parbhd one. At the same time he will
bear in thind that this family was introduced into
Gujarit by Govind Rév after his long sojourn
at Poona. This was just the period when the
Ghikvéds, after a protracted struggle, tendered their
complete submission to tho Peshvd, when a great
deal of Brahman influence began to make itself felt,
and when the Poona Darbér supplied Baroda with
several great Brihman Sardérs. There is no start-
ling evidence, therefore, to be obtained from this
circumstance of any attempt on the part of the
Gdikvéds to counterbalance the political influence of
the Bridhmans by a large introduction of the Parbhd
element. Yet this is what we might have expected
to see dome if we remember that the Gﬁlkvéd was
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the head of the party opposed to the Marath4
Bréhmans : if we remember, too, that it was the
great Sivdji’s policy to place a Parbhd by the side
of a Brdhman in every pég4, every fort, and every
district he possessed. We shall not, therefore,
positively state that the Géikvdd made use of the
Parbhis partially to exclude the Bréhmans from
power, or that he fully entrusted the administration
of his country to men of the latter caste. We shall
leave the point to be considered by those who have
made a study of the rise of the Marith4 Brihmans
to power, and shall content ourselves with affirming
that in the latter portion of the history of Baroda,
Bréhmans exercised great power.

With the exception of Venfrdm Aditrfm, no Ngar
Bréhman has ever risen to be chief minister to the
Gaikvdd, perhaps for the simple reason that the
Mardthds were strong enough to do without them.
No information will be given in this history of the
State charities save of the Kichedi or distribution
of cooked rice to the Brdhmans. But it should be
noticed here that the manner in which this charity is
dispensed goes far to prove that it was the Marath&
Brihmans who obtained the exclusive advantage
of religious grants, for the Gujardt Brahmans do not
partake of the kichedi. Let us bear this in mind
when we recall that the Hindus of Gujardt called in
the Marfthds to destroy the Moghul rule and the
Mussalmén religion.

Of the state Religious Charities nothing will here
be said, for it is only by a more detailed research
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into particulars than lay within our scope that an
accurate estimate could be formed of their extent
and of the political as well as religious motives which
gave rise to them. We may perhaps venture upon
two assertions. The Baroda State has been termed
the Dharma R4j or charitable kingdom, becguse of
the munificence with which the Gdikvdds have scat-
tered their gifts among the priestly classes, though
no doubt the very holy and ancient renown of the
Gujarat they conquered may have had something to
do with it. Yet, apparently, itis only in quite
modern times that these gifts assumed extraordinary
proportions. The first struggle to conquer the
country and the second struggle to cope with the
Peshv4 narrowed the means of the earlier Géikv4ds,
whatever their wishes may have been. The eco-
nomical spirit of the British period and the parsimo-
nious character of Saydji would not admit of any ex-
travagance. But Khande Rév and Malhir Rév found
themselves in a position to spend much money, and
a great deal of it went towards enriching Brdhmans,
an easy method of acquiring a certain kind of fame.
It is more difficult to explain, what undoubtedly
oceurred, how Khande Riv extended his charities to
the Mussalmé4ns, though we may not be far wrong in
imagining that there was some domestic influence at
work. Itis only fair to add that there are people
who deny that there was any great increase of State
charitics during the reign of the last two Mah4rajas.
They affirm that, though there was an apparent aug-
mentation of one l4kh per annum, this simply arose
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from a more correct and central system of accounts,
whereby the action of the Iz4rdéars was excluded and
the State revenue and expenditure equally enlarged.

The Kichedi System.—In all Hindu States ghe
custom of distributing food among Bréhmans has
been a common one: in Baroda it has existed from
the beginning. In S. 1861 (a.p. 1804-5) the old
system of distributing cooked food was changed into
one of giving to each Bréhman applicant, male or
femalo, man or child, rich or poor, a seer (40 Rs.
weight) of uncooked rice mixed with ddl in propor-
tions of two to one. On the four Mondays and the
two Ekédashis of every month, in fact on fast-days,
instead of food one pie per head is given away.
Khande Rav reduced the number of non-distribution
days, and during his reign and that of Malh4r Rév,
though the amount of the individual gift did not
increase, the cost grew with the larger number of
recipients and the enhanced cost of grain,

In S. 1916 (a.p. 1860-61) Khande Riv instituted
the “ Gyarmi” System, by which every Mussalmén,
irrespective of sex or age, is entitled on demand to
receive a certain quantity of cooked rice, to which
on feast-days meat was added. Malhar Rdv abolished
the distribution of meat. At a venture we place the
number of daily recipients of this State charity at
several thousands, say from threc to ten thousand.
It is not merely that able-bodied men and women,
and persons in receipt of good salaries have hitherto
Jbeen gratuitously fed, whereby idle or well-to-do
people ‘are maintained at the public cost; but the
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custom tends to attract to the unfortunate capital
of the State a large number of worthless foreigners,
and to lower the whole moral tone of the place.

The end of Khande Rdv’s reign.—We have already
mentioned that Ganpat R4v’s Minister, Bhau Tam-
bekar, was dismissed in 1854 at the instance of
Colonel Outram, and that no accredited Minister
took his place till the end of the Mah4rdja’s reign,
which occurred on the 20th of November 1856.
The title of Divén had for many years remained in
the family of Rdvji Appiji, and the Minister had
simply been termed karbhérf. After the fall of
Bhiu Tambckar, Govind Rdv Pdindurang Rode, the
brother of Say4ji’s adviser Sakhdrdm, took the lead
in the administration, but there was added to him
in o somewhat subordinate position Ganesh Sad4-
shiva Oze, of whom we have alrcady heard. These
two men were at the outsct termed kérbhéris, bat
owing to the services-they rendered during the Mu-
tiny, which were noticed and rewarded by the Bri-
tish Government as well as by His Highness Khande
Riv, cach obtained the sanad of divdn on the 28th of
March 1857. Ouze was dismissed from office as early
as March 1867, and Rode continued in sole power till
the 10th of November 1867. On that date he too
was dismissed, and died shortly after, 16th July
1868. We have said that Bhfu Tambekar had
something to recommend him ; he was not wasteful
in his expenditure. Ganesh Oze also is fairly enti-
tled to praise for attempting to place some restraint
on Khapde Rév, but of Govind Rdv Péadurang
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Rode the same cannot be said. There was, however,
a regularly descending scale of meritin the Minister
as Khande Rév’s reign proceeded; and in Bhdd

- Shinde, who was divén from the 17th of November
1867 to the 24th of November 1869, we find a man
more ignorant and selfishly interested in flattering
his master than any of his predecessors.

Néréyan Rév Bhdd Shinde was appointed during
theabsence of the Resident, while Colonel Archur was
officiating, and the previous sanction of the Bombay
Government was not obtained. He was the much-
beloved servant of his prince, and we shall not dwell
here on the character of his administration or on
events which have so lately taken place. Suffice it
to say that in 1869 he was convicted of having
offered a bribe to the Assistant Resident, Captain
Salmon, and that his dismissal by Khande R4v was
thereupon demanded by the Bombay Government.
His Highness, who loved him as a brother, long
fought against the step, but he was at length com-
pelled nominally to send him away. Nimb4ji Rév
Dhaule, an uneducated man, was appointed acting
Minister, but he had no real authority and Bh4d
Shinde remained to the end the Mahdréja’s confi-
dential adviser.

After a reign of 14 years Khande R4v Mahérij
died suddenly and in the prime of life at his palace
of Makarpira on the 20th of November 1870. He
was fortunate in this, that during his time a period of
agricultural prosperity Rept his subjects contented,
while he was enabled to satisfy his own love of
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display by imposing on them taxes which in a few years
were discovered to be unbearably heavy. Colonel
Barr described his rule as one of reform and real
progress, but subsequent criticism will scarcely
bear out such a view. Reforms, as we have point-
ed out, were attempted, but there was an absence
of skill and thoroughness in them which went far to
deprive them of any solid value, and the latter
portion of his reign was not of a nature to command
the respect of any disinterested person.
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CHAPTER XXVIIL

L3

MALHAR RAV GA1KvAD.

Neither individuals nor governments become
suddenly vicious. If some great unexpected crime
startles the world, subsequent examination discloses
a gradual descent to the depth of infamy which
appears to law-abiding men to be too low for any-
thing but imagination to reach.

Fate Sing fought his brother Govind Rév, and the
latter, when he ascended the g4di, turned out en masse
his brother’s adherents. Kanoji when in power
treated his relatives most brutally, and Saydji was
remorseless in his hate of those of his family who
schemed to overthrow him. The selfishness which
turned the members of the House against one
another had again and again driven the Géikvads
to commit the worst offences. Gangddhar Shéstr
was not the only victim of the impatient cupidity of
aspirants to power: it was not in joke that Ganpat
Rév Mahdrdja received a letter, purporting to be
from his minister to his brother and successor,
in which he was threatened with the fate that had
overtaken Fate Sing in his youth. In the mad com-
petition for unlicensed enjoyment all restraint was
for years felt to be most galling ; and on some dark
occasiols it is possible that bad means were ¢cm-
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ployed to get rid of the irksome advice of too
upright or rigid a Resident. If Colonel Outram
escaped the machinations of his opponents not with-
out injury to himself, others, like Mr, Williams, fell
victims to cruel plotss Bad means, we say, had been
used to get power, and to what useful or honour-
able ends had the power thus obtained ever been
put ? Anand Rév died with his eyes fixed on his
much-loved jewel-room. Saydji amassed private
treasures which Khande Rév scattered in display
or parted with to favourites and Malhér Rév went,on
to dissipate among creatures of a more abject type.
It is not, however, on the reigning princes that all
the blame of these evils should be heaped. Itis
true that the ruler is responsible for his adminis-
tration, but the training of the Gdikv4dsled them to
surround themselves with ignorant and rapacious
people, whose one object was to get as large as
possible a share of the spoils. Reclatives, servants,
ministers, favourites, religious and military blood-
suckers, money-lenders, jewellers, courtesans, formed
an infamous crew, whose ill deeds still haunt the
State, and whose memory should be cver freshly
cursed.

There is generally a gradual approach to a
catastrophe, but often as the end comes nearer
the downward rush is terribly rapid, and a sort of
madness drives the criminal now, as it were, the
victim of fate, on to headlong destruction. This
was the case with Malhar R4v, whose deeds were the
bad but not unnatural outcome of the pasts for the
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circumstances which directly led to his deposition
were not isolated or exceptional or the results of
any strange mischance.

In 1857 Malh4r Rdv, then about 25 years of age,
wag more or less implicated in an attempt to plunder
Ahmad4b4d with the aid of the Kolis of the Bfjdpir
district and of the British district of Khedd. A part
of the plot was to raise the country north of the
capital, and then to advance on Baroda and depose
the reigning Gédikvad Khande Rév. No measures were
atdhe time taken to punish Malhér Riv as he seemed
to be too deficient in intellect to be dangerous.
Nevertheless, in 1863, he a second time took part in a
conspiracy to kill his brother by sorcery, poison or
shooting. And again Colonel Wallace, as Sir R.
Shakespeare before him had done, saved him be-
cause “he was intellectually feeble and apparently
“irresponsible for his actions.”” The chief person
suborned to murder Khande Rév was a military
man who subsequently revealed the whole plot and
then narrowly escaped the vengeance of Malh4r
Rav’s accomplices, who attempted to shoot him
while he was lying on his bed. In consequence of
this plot Malhdr Rédv was confined as a State pri-
soner in P4dr4 at a short distance from Baroda, the
village to which Kénoji had, earlier in the century,
been relegated for some years. It was from this
wretched place that he was released to ascend the
gidi, and one of his first acts was to sct free the men
implicated in the plot of which mention has just
been made. While he was still at Pidr4, in 1867, a
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fresh conspiracy against Khande Rdv was planned
by some of his confidential attendants. It was,
however, fortunately discovered, and its only re-
sult was the execution of some and the imprison-
ment of others of the criminals concerned. It was
on the 12th of March 1867 that the last execution
by elephant trampling took place in Baroda, and on
that occasion the British Government extracted a
promise from the G4ikvdd tbat this terrible mode of
death should no longer be inflicted on any person.

When Khande Riv died, Colonel Barr hastened
to attend on Malhér Rév, (then 43 years of age,)
at P4dr4, and informed him that he was at once to
enter the capital. He was indeed the deceased
chief’s sole surviving brother; but, as Her High-
ness Jamn4 B4i declared herself to be enrceinte, the
British Government could only give a provisory
sanction to his accession, till it was known whether
the child to be born was a boy or a girl (1st Decem-
ber 1870).

Colonel Barr thought well of Malhir Riv’s early
efforts, and it is probable that the latter did at first
try to conciliate the British Government. Nor
should we refrain here from bestowing a word of
approval on the aged Gop4l Rdv Mairdl, whom
Malhir Rév appointed as his divén, for he was a
man much respected in Baroda for many qualities
which the natives greatly appreciate. It is true
that he held his post for little more than one
year, and that his advanced age incapacitated him
from playing a very vigorous part, but confldence
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was generally placed in him, and it is a pleasure to
think that he alone of all the divdns and kérbhiris
that have for a great length of time risen to the top
at Baroda died a natural death while still in office,
and suffered no disgrace.!

But Mallifr Rév also came into power with the
full determination to avenge the sufferings he had
endured. There is little doubt that Her Highness
. Jamn4 B4&{ was frightened into demanding a safe
refuge for hersclf till her unborn child should see
the light, and the British Residency was conse-
quently placed at her disposal till, on the 5th July
1871, the girl, T4rd B4, was born. Six months
later Her Highness was allowed to quit Gujardt, as
she then thought for ever. The R4ni Rahamd B4t
with justice also complained that she had been ill-
treated. The favourites and dependents of the late
Mahérdja were most harshly dealt with. They were
all turned out of employment, and, though Malhir
Rév justified the step on the plea that the State was
at least two crores of rupeesin debt, so sweeping
was the measure which bore on these men that an
immense annual saving was made, a saving to be
quickly expended in other directions. But there
was one man against whom Malhdr Rév had a parti-
cular hatred. Bh4d Shinde, to wit, the friend and
councillor of the late R&ji, who had greatly
insisted on keeping the prince in confinement. He
was cast into prison and never left it alive ; and there
are good reasons for fearing that he was poisoned
on the 1st of May 1872, in the same dark and cruel
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way as two other favourites, Govind Rév N4k and
Révji Master. Bhda Shinde’s family, it is scarcely
necessary to add, was stripped of all'its wealth. '

Malbh4r Rav’s plea that the State was in debt was
a true one, though he subsequently did little to re-
form the finances. The estimated revenue for the
year 1870-71 was Rs. 1,87,00,000, while the expendi
ture on the army and for the Devasthin, Dhirmada
and State establishmentsamounted to Rs. 1,15,00,000;
but the private expenses of the Mahér4ja had at
the same time been enormous. As the Commission
that sat in 1874 said: ““ During the last six or seven
“years of Khande Rév’s life, government, bad a8 it
“ was, underwent a serious decadence : the proceed-
“ings of the chief were more arbitrary than previ-
“ ously, new cesses?and levies were imposed, without
“consideration of the previously heavy assessments
““to which the rayats were subject, and the collection
“ of the government dues was enforced by the local
“ officials by harsh and compulsory measures.”

But Malh4r Rév did not, it has been stated,
seriously intend to reform the finances, and as this
question of revenue is a most important one, the
following remark is quoted at length: ¢ During
“the time of the rebellion in the United States, the
¢ prices of Indian cotton rose to an extraordinary
““degree from 1 or 14 anna to a rupee in the pound.
“The Baroda State includes alarge extent of ground
“ suitable for the growth of cotton, and, in consequence
“ of the rise of price, the cultivation of cotton greatly
“increased, and a very remunerative crop was pro-
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““duced. During this period the cultivators were able
“ topay a very high assessment, and in 1864 a revenue
" “ gettlement was introduced upon the basis of the
“high cotton rates then in force. The expenditure
“of the State was recklessly increased. On the
% close of the Américan war the price of cotton fell,
““but the land settlement remained in force. The
“government demand upon the agriculturists be-
“ came continually more difficult to meet, and the
“measures of the government grew only more
‘““gevere. Much good land had to be abandoned,
“ the arrears ab the close of S. 1930 had amounted
“to 70 or 80 l4khs, and the last instalment of that
“year was almost wholly unrealized.”

To anticipate what was coming., On the 25th
July 1874 the Resident was instructed to advise
Malh4r Rév, amongst other things, ‘“ to prohibit the
““barbarous processes for realizing revenues, and to
““remove the causes of discontent by a moderate and
““ equitable land settlement.”” His Highness did not
take the advice in good part, and matters grew
worse instead of better. Finally, when Sir Lewis
Pelly took the reins of government into his hands,
a proclamation had to be issued promising reduc-
tions in the rate of assessment where equitable, the
absolute remission of arrears for five years, S. 1923-27,
and for the years S.1928-830 no arrears were to
be demanded until after full enquiry had been made.
These were sweeping measures, but the evil had
become unbearable, whole villages had been depo-
pulated, and all over the State the rayats had begun
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to offer a passive resistance to the demands of
government.

There is no better way of realizing the utter dis-
order into which the State finances had fallen than
to remember that in the year in which Malhir
R4v’s reign came to an end the local revenue of all
kinds amounted to only 94 14khs, while 171 ldkhs
had been spent. BSo slight too was the distinction
drawn between the private property of the Géikvédd
and the revenue properly to be devoted to State
wants, that on the arrest of Malhér Rév a few
thousand rupees only were found in the public
®easury, while 40 14khs were discovered hid away
in the palace, and it became apparent that other
large sums had been privately remitted abroad.

It remains only to add that Malh4r Rév, during
his brief reign, not merely maintained with increas-
ing severity the high rates of assessment imposed
by his brother, but resorted to the most reprehen-
sible of the old means the Géikvdds had employed
to raise money. In addition to the great burden
of the overtaxed rayat, he imposed on him a heavy
‘“‘accession nazarind” ; a large impost of the same
nature was laild on the Vahiv4tddrs, and these,
being for the most part men of no respectability, -
recouped themselves ten-fold by robbing the tax-
payers, while the sovereign was unwilling to listen
to complaints against the employés who had in a
manner purchased their right to peculate.

Finally Malhar Rav did not scruple to strain his
relations with the bankers who had long Supplied
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the government with ready means, hoping to drive
bargains with new men, and to dispossess in an
arbitrary manner indm holders and holders of here-
ditary emoluments of their property. By this
course of action he quickly managed to turn
against himself the common people, the Sardirs
and military class, the bankers and moneyed men,
till the cry of the multitude reached the ears of the
British Government.

Note 1, p. 338.—Much has boen said in this history of the State
Bankers and Potadirs and confidential advisers of the Mahé4réja.
As typical of these three classes of men wo throw into the shase
of a note a brief account of Gop#il Riv Mairfl and his origin.

Mair4l Bhéi, who belonged to Jdmbhekar’s family, was a native
of Multin, in tho Bhimtharf tilak, zilla Poona. Ho came to
Baroda in S. 1840, and at first attached himself for a short time
to the Fadndvi’s houso. He, soon after his arrival, accompanied
Dimdji on his expedition into the Southern Marithd Country,
where he collected some wealth. He did notr therefore become
proud, but,returning to Baroda with the foroe, assiduously applied
himself to business, and greatly distinguished himself by his
patience, energy and intelligence. Among other matters he got
employment for several Siledérs and Sardfrs, and through them
greatly extonded his money-lending transactions. At certain great
crises of the history of the State he lent the Géaikvad large sums
of money, and soon became indispensable to that prince. He
recommended himself to the British by his honesty, and from
them obtained a guarantee, In S. 1877, having no issue, he
adopted Gopal Rdv, and died in S, 1881.

Gopal Riv Mairal was born at Bhélad, on the Nerbada, in 8.
1870. After his adoption he was carefully taught accounts, &c.,
ina common vernaculfr school. The politeness of his manners
recommended him to all classes, but his devotion to and faith in
Ganpati, his honesty and munificent charity, marked him as
something more than a man of the world. SayAji Mahfraj early
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took a liking to him and often consulted him. In 8,1883 hefarmed
in succession almost all the mahals, Sinor, Koral, Dehagaum, Riind,
Okhémanda), and the large subhis of Nausiri and Amreli. These
mahils were managed by his three brothers, and their industry,
together with the unsparing expenditure of money devoted to
bringing waste lands under cultivation, recommended the House
to the favourable support of Sayiji R4v Mahdrij and his three
sons. In Sayfji’s time he acted as divin for some time in the
place of Venirfm, and then was divin to Malhir Riv to the day
of his death, which was hastened by the troubles he foresaw
were coming on, ’

H's children died young and he adopted Yeshvant Rdv, his
nephew., But Yeshvant Riv died suddenly in 8.1932, and a
fresh adoption became necossary.

In Mairdl Bhad’s time Haribéji Mahipat was Agent, in Gopal
Rév Mairdl’s time the well-known Bapiji Anant Argade.

Note 3, p. 339.—As one of 10 per cent. on the revenue of all
Stato land for one year for the construction of the Makarplra
palace, and another of smaller amount for the manufacture of a
golden howdah, &c. The Makarpiira palace is said to have cost
20 14khs. Malhir Rév determined to make his brother’s fame pale
before his own, and bethinking himself of this edifice and of the
two silver cannon produced by Khande Riv, he hit on the following
plan. He ruobbed out his brother’s name and he placed his own
on the silver cannon, and then made two gold ones. He began pull-
ing down Khande R#v’s palace, but was fortunately stopped by
the Resident, and at a cost of 15 1akhs he erected the Nazar Bégh
on land of which he dispossessed some of his subjects. It may be
added that Ganpat Rav built the Moti Bigh, and that nearly every
Guikvid had previously done tho same thing, had rejected his
predecessor’s dwelling and built an unsuitable one for himself.
There is now a new palace being built at a probable cost of from
15 to 20 lakhs,
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CHAPTER XXIX.

THE DEPOSITION OF MALHAR RAV GAIkvAD.

So much depends on the choice an irresponsible
prince makes of his chief ministers that some allu-
sion must here be made to the men who surrounded
Malbhdr Rdv. The month after his accession he
relieved Nimb4ji R4v Davale of his post as minister,
and Haribd Gdikvdd, assisted by Bhikob4 An4, con-
ducted the work till in March 1871 Gopél Rév
Mairdl became divén, a man of whom honourable
mention was made in the last chapter. The chief
private adviser of the prince was, however, another
person, Balvant Rav Rahirkar who, if well mean-
- ing, was mnot strong. But these people were suc-
ceeded by others of a worse character, as the charac-
ter of the reign itself deteriorated : Say4ji Nénd
Siheb Khénvelkar became divén and Bépdji Rév
Mohite Senépati. These two were the Géikvdd’s
brothers-in-law, and, if the latter had but little in-
fluence, the former was entrusted with large powers
of which he made bad use, for he was an ignorant
and avaricious man. Harib4 G4ikvad was Revenue
Commissioner, and was reputed a harsh officer,
while under him served Nérdyanbhéi Lélbiéhéi, a
worthless creature, who had previously been dis-
missed from the British service. Vasuntrfm Bh4d,
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an unscrupulous agent of His Highness, was
controller of banks, and the other members of the
Court comprised such men as Govind Rév Mém4,
Balvant R4v Dev, and last, but by no means least,
Démodhar Pant.

One more remark is necessary before this brief
record of important events can be continued. His
Highness the Géikv4d is an independent prince,
over whom nevertheless the British Government may
by treaty exercise a certain restraint. It cannot
here be explained at what point or in how great
a degree this Government may and should inter-
fere if the conduct of the Géikv4d appears to be
blameworthy and mischievous. But it may not
improperly be asserted that, considering the rela-
tions between a vory weak and a very strong
government, the right to advise and check the
Géikvdd had for many years before Malhir Rév’s
accession been exercised by the British Government
with great moderation, and that this cautious policy
had been explained to the princes of Baroda by
very conciliatory Residents. At last a time came
when the Bombay Government thought it proper to
interfere, and a Resident was appointed who was
full of zeal and quick to expose all evil-doing.

Colonel Phayre arrived at Baroda on the 18th
of March 1873, and on the 22nd he learnt that
eight men had been flogged in the streets of
Baroda, that some of them had died in consequence,
and that others were dying. The charge made
against these men was that they had poisoned a
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servant of the Mahéréja. A few days later came
news that five thikars of the Bfjdpdr districts were
out in open rebellion, refusing to pay the accession
nazarfind. Other complaints came pouring in and
found a hearing with the new Resident. Finally,
when all these matters had been represented in the
proper quarters, the Government of India directed
a Commission of Enquiry into the complaints of Bri-
tish and G&ikvadi subjects and into the state of the
contingent to meet in Gujardt. Colonel Meade, the
President and Mumtéz-ud-dauldh Navéb Faiz Al
were appointed to sit on it by the Government of
India, while the Government of Bombay selected two
other members, Mr. Ravenscroft and Colonel
Etheridge.

This Commission held its first sitting in Baroda
on the 10th of November, its last at the same
place on the 24th December 1873, but the report of
its views was not sent in to Government till two
months later. Great moderation was exercised in
the conduct of the enquiry : no unnecessary interfer-
ence with the details of the government of the
Gaikvad was contemplated, and all individual griev-
ances were referred to the prince. Nevertheless,
after acquitting the Gdikvéd’s government of any
notable ill-treatment of British subjects, the Com-
mission found that Colonel Phayre’s charge of general
misgovernment was proved. No allusion need
again be made to the wholesale reduction of the
adherents of the late r4j4, the accession nazardné,
the distressed condition of the rayats, the arbitrary
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treatment of State and other bankers, of Khande
Rév’s relatives and followers and of a great number
of indm holders. It was also ascertained that many
people had been personally ill-treated, and that
respectable married and unmarried women had
been forced to become * Loundfs” " or household
slaves of the Gdikvdd, or, in other words, that
they had been forcibly abducted for purposes of
prostitution. -

The Government of India, approving of the sug-
gestions of the Commission, did not interfere with
the authority of the Mahér4ja, but warned him (25th
January 1874) that he was to be held responsible, and
called upon him within a brief time, (17 months, .e.
31st December 1875,) to effect a thorough and lasting
reform in the government of the Baroda State. The
Mahdrdja was also requested to dismiss a number of
the high officials about him, and to accept as his
chief minister a person to be recommended by the
Bombay Government.

No hearty attempt at reform was made; and the
mode in which Malhér Rév endeavoured to break
the fall of his old minister, N4na S4heb Khénvelkar,
by giving him the post of Prithinidhi, did not meet
with the cordial acknowledgment of Colonel Phayre
(13th August 1874). Mr. Dadébh4f Nauroji had
also arrived at Baroda at the request of His High-
ness to conduct the administration with the assistance
of four or five other Pérsi gentlemen, but Colonel
Phayre did not think that they would have the
power granted to them of carrying out a reform.
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In short the Resident and the Mahér4ja did not pull
well together, and unfriendly communications con-
stantly passed from the Residency to the Palace on
a hundred different matters. At length the Govern-
ment of India determined to withdraw Colonel Phayre
and to appoint in his stead, as Special Commissioner
and Agent to the Governor General, and not as
Resident acting under the orders of the Bombay
Government, Colonel Sir Lewis Pelly (25th Novem-
ber 1874).

Meanwhile a person describing himself as the
husband of the Mahdraja’s kept mistress, Laxmi Baf,
had appeared in March 1874, and petitioned the
Resident for the recovery of his wife. While an
investigation into this man’s petition was proceed-
ing, His Highness on the 7th of May married the
woman Laxmi B4f who had been pregnant for two
months, the Resident, under the orders of his Go-
vernment, refusing to attend the marriage ceremony
which took place in the town of Nausirf where he
was then residing. On the 16th October 1874 a
male child was born of Laxmf B4f; but as there were
doubts regarding his legitimacy, Sir Lewis Pelly,
who was then in Baroda, did not pay him the
honours generally given to the heir of the g4di. .

On the 2nd of November Malhdr Rév had re-
quested the Government of India to remove Colonel
Phayre from Baroda, and on the 25th of that month
Sir Lewis Pelly was actually appointed to the post
of British representative at the Mahdr4ja’s Court. In
the interval between these two dates, that is, on the
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9th November, Coloncl Phayre was led to suspect
that an attempt had been made to poison him. He
had for some time previously suffercd much from
giddiness and a fecling of nausca, and by degrees
Lhe came to believe that this was the result of the
sherbet made of pummalo juice which he was in
the habit of drinking every morning. On tho 9th,
a short timo after drinking some of this mixture, he
felt a sudden squeamishness, and so got up and
threw away the greater portion of the contents re-
maining in the tumbler. On replacing the tumbler,
his cye suddenly fell on a strange dark sediment
collected at the bottom, which it struck him might
bo poison. This sediment was almost immediately
after examined by Dr. Scward, the Residency Sur-
geon, and declared by him to be composed of
common white arsenic and diamond-dust.

Whatever suspicions may have been raised by
this strange incident, which was immediately re-
ported to the Bombay and Central Governments,
no altcration was made in the plans of the Govern-
ment of India. Sir Lewis Pclly came to Baroda
and found matters in a very critical condition. The
case of the cultivating classes was represented as
desperate owing to the over-assessment of the land
revenue, while the differonces between the Sarddrs
and the G4ikvdd threatened a serious disturbance of
the peace. He accordingly took the reins of govern-

¢ ment into his own hands, while Mr. D4d4bhéi quietly
resigned his office. It was not till December 1874

that a clue was found to the poison case owing to
30
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the depositions of two Residency servants; Révji,
a havilddr of peons, who confessed that he put a
mixture into the sherbet ; and Narsd, a jamddér of
peons, who, under a promise of pardon, avowed that
he had abetted the act after having been bribed to
do so by Malhdr Rav himself, who had presented him
with the poison. In consequence of this and somo
other evidence, the Government of India issued a
proclamation on the 13th January 1875, notifying
that the G4ikv4d had been arrested, and that it had
assumed on behalf of the Queen the administration
of the State, pending the result of an enquiry into
the conduct of Malhdr Riv.

This action was not based on Municipal law; it
was an act of State. Tho enquiry was to be con-
ducted by a Commission consisting. of Sir Richard
Couch, the Chief Justice of Bengal, as President ; of*
Sir Richard Meade and Mr. P. Melvill, and of two
Native Princes and a man of great name, the Mahi-
rdja Sindia, the Mahdrdja of Jaipdr, and Sir Dinkar
Rdv. This tribunal was not a judicial one, but
merely formed a committee which should report to
the Government of India their opinions or answers
on four points with regard to the degree of compli-
~ city of Malhdr Rdv in the attempt made to poison

Colonel Phayre.

The Commission lasted from the 23rd February to
the 31st March 1875. The fourth count was, “that
“in fact an attempt to poison Colonel Phayre was «
““ made by persons instigated thercto by Malhdr Riv.”

'The English members of the Commission were of
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opinion that such an attempt so instigated had been
made. Two of the Native Commissioners found
that Malhdr Riv was proved guilty on the minor
counts, of which no mention need here be made, but
acquitted him on that count to which any great
importance might be attached. The Government
of India found themselves unable to reconcile cer-
tam points produced in evidence and established at
the trial with the hypothesis of Malhdr Rav’s inno-
cence. They therefore, on the 15th April 1875,
proposed to the Secrctary of State, that Malhar Rév
should be deposed, that Sir T. Maidava Rév should
be invited to conduct the administration, and that
Hor Highuness Jamnd Bdi, the widow of the late
Khande Riv Mahérgja, who had during the Mutiny
proved himsclf the friend of the British, should adopt
from the family of the Géaikvéds a son who might at
once ascend the gadf.

er Majesty’s Government however took a differ-
ent view of the case. It refused to assume that
the case had been proved, and therefore set aside
all the proceedings of the Commission, but deposed
the Mahardja on grounds which will now be speci-
fied. On the 19th of April 1875 a proclamation
was issued by the Government of India to the effect
that Malhdr Riv was deposed, ““not that the British
“Government have assumed that the result of the
“cnquiry has been to prove the truth of the impu-
“tation against His Highness, but, having regard
“to all the circumstances relating to the affairs of
“Buroda from the accession of 11, H. Malhér Ray,
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“his notorious misconduct, his gross misgovern-
“mont of the State, and his evident incapacity to
“ carry into offect necessary reforms.”

Accordingly, on the 22nd April 1875, Malhér
Rav was quietly deported to Madras, where he has
since resided under the surveillance of a British
officer, but in the enjoyment of a very comfortablo
income and in the company of his family. During
no time of the trial was any attempt made by the
people or the troops in Baroda to oppose the action
of the British Government. Buta few days after
the deposition, that is, on tho 28th of April, a
serious emeufe did take place in Baroda connected
with an attempt to seat Malhdr R4v’s son by Laxmi
Bai on the gadf. It was however suppresscd with-
out difficulty after a force of Artillery, Infantry
and Cavalry had been sent down from the camp by
Sir Richard Meade to occupy the city. In fact
the only deplorable incidents connected with the
fall of Malhér Rév and the rise of his successor wero
the suicide of one, and the very feeble attempt at a
rebellion made by another of two brothers, members
of the Géikvdd family and aspirants on insufficient
grounds to the gddf. Morér Rav, who shot himsclf,
and Sadéshiv Rav, who is now residing at Benares
under surveillance, were the sons of that Govind
Rév who was adopted by Fate Sing’s widow, on the
understanding that he shoald inherit the Regent’s
private property but should have no claim on the
gadi.
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vITAPTER XXX.

ACCESSION OF SAYAJI RAV MAHARAJA—ADMINISTRATION
OF RAJA” SIR T. MADAVA RAvV.

On the 2nd of May 1875 Her Highness Jamna Bif
rcturned to Baroda, and on the following day the
widow of Khande Riv ontered the palace of tho
Gaikvdd. On the 27th of May 1875 His Highness
the present Mahdrdja was adopted by the Mahdrdni
Jamnd Bai Siheb and seated on the gddf. Tho
genealogical tree in Appendix I. will show the steps
through which this youth traccs his descent from
Pilgji, the founder of the house. Of the recognition
of his father as a Gaikvéd by Malhdr R4v or of
the care taken by the Bombay Government to test
the legality of his claims no mention nced hore
be made. It is of greater intercst to note how by
a freak of fortune an uneducated lad of about 13
years of age was taken from an obscure village in
distant Khéndesh suddenly to become the adopted
son of a Mahar4ja and the future possessor of great
power and riches. It cannot be prophesied that
Saydji Rév will prove deserving of his astonishing
good fortune, and friends forbear to talk of the
promise of princes. But there are certain qualities
of the more enduring kind which may perhaps be
counted on to abide in him—industry, determination,
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self-command, and the law-abiding mood.  Time will
show what is the worth of Saydji Rdv, on whom at
Delhi on the 1st of January 1877 was conferred the
title of Farzand-i-Kh4s-i-Daulat-i-Engleshia (own
favourcd son of the British Empire). On the 6th of
July 1878 Her Highness was invested with the
Imperial Order of the Crown of India.

On the 16th of May 1875, Sir T. Médava Rdv,
K.C.S.I.,! was formally installed as Minister, though
he had cntered on his duties of forming a new
administration some six days ecarlier. On tho
same day on which the Mahirdja obtained his new
title, Sir T. Mddava Rév was presented by tho
British Government with the honorary rank of R4j4,
and since then somo of the chief officers of the State
have received the honourable appellation of Khin
Bih4ddr or Rév Bihdddr.?

The affectionate titlo bestowed on the Mahdrija,
and the bonours assigned to the minister and the
chief officers of the State marked, it is true, the
moment when the Queen of England became
Empress of India, when the connection between the
two countries she rules was declared to be close and
lasting. But in the case of no other State in India
was that moment simultaneous with a sudden great
change destined to make the relations between tho
Native Prince and British sovercign far more friendly
and advantageous in tho future than in the past.
May the concurrence of the two events provo to be
an auspicious omen to the Gdikvad House and tho
State of Baroda.
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The cvents, the dates of which we have just given,
mark indced the introduction of a new order of
things. A link connects the past with the future;
for to the wifo of the prince who had stood loyally
by the British in 1857 was assigned the privilege
of choosing a son and a successor to the Mahdrdja
Khande Rav. The act of adoption also marks the
nature of the policy selected by the British Govern-
ment. Towards the family of the Géikv4ds there was
no feeling but of friendliness; for the independence
of the Native State there was an anxiety displayed
which reassured the innumerable spectators of tho
act of deposition : but at the individual who ‘had
proved unworthy of his high post, whose tyranny
had turncd against him every class of his subjects,
a blow was struck. Still, though the head of the
State was alonc punished, with his fall it was intended
that the vicious system of government he represcnted
should como to an cud.  We have readehow in the
carlior years of this century a British army was
subsidized, the administration of the State carried
on for nearly twenty years by a Commission of which
the DBritish Resident or his agent was the chief
member, and tho right of checking the great officers
of State or of cxamining and rigidly controlling
the revenues was assumed to belong to the British
(tovernment: Now one single decisive act was to
accemplish that which along series of interferences
failed effectually to perform, and the Baroda govern-
ment was to be warned and not driven to conduct
itself in such a way as not to deservo tho censure
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of its powerful ally. Instead of Malhdr Rav, a boy
of thirteen would begin afresh career, and during the
interval which separated him from manhood, an able
and energetic minister would set his housce in order.
“For the rest,” the argument might have run, “weo
“ may trust to the changes which have been wrought
¢ throughout India in which the Baroda State is an
“ anachronism. Let the people of Baroda be once
“ placed in the position which has been, won for the
““subjects of other Native States, and no return to
“ a primitive mode of government will be possible.
“The general progress has been so marked, the
““ concurrence of native princes in this progress has
“become so evident, that, when onco the course
“of Baroda History has been turncd into a new
¢ channel, there will be no way left it to go back.”

Note 1, p. 854,—8ir T. Médava Riv was born in a.», 1828 in tho
district of Tanjore and is the son of onc and the’ ncphew of
another of tho divins of Travancore. By castc a Brahman, by
racc a Mariithi, he was educated by Mr. Powell at the Madras
University, and subsequently, for a short period, acted on
behalf of his instructor as Professor of Mathematics and Natural
Philosophy. After a time he was appointed English Instructor
_to the two princes of Travancore, one of whom is now the ruler of
that country and the other the hoir apparent. Then {from
Assistant Divin he became Divin in 1858, and held the post for
fourteen years. For his services during this timo he was made
Knight Commander of the Order of tho Star of India on the 20th
of Juno 1866. He retired in May 1872. But in 1873 he was
invited by Holkar to becomo his Prime Minister, and in leril
1875 the Government of India, with tho consent of II, TI. the
Mahérija Holkar, transferred him to the high post he now
occupies. An interesting paper, entitlod “ Nalive Statesmen,”
in the Calcutta Review LV, of 1872, relates how he set upon its

7
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logs the priest-ridden dobt-burdened State of Travancore; and
with reference to the Baroda State tho paper has this value, that
it gaves the sketch of a policy which in many respects resembles
that according to which ho conducts his present Administration.
Note 2, p. 8355.—0n several occasions tho advisers of Baydji
Rav, Khande Riv, and Malhir Rév havo been mentioned by name.
"There is no reason why, because wo are now doaling with present
ovents, the names should be omutted of those men to whom Sir
T Midava Rav is much indebted.
1 Khin Bibadar Kizi Shihdb.ud-din (Revenue Commis-
sioner),
2 Klén Bihdddr Pestonji Jahéngir (Settloment Officer and
Military Sceretary).
3 Rév Bihidar Vindyck Rav Jandrdan (N4ib Divén).
4 Kban Bibadir Karsetp Rastumyi (Chief Justice)
5 Mr. Jandrdan Sakhiran Gidgil, B,A., LL.B.



Appendix II.

LIST OF BRITISII RESIDENTS AT TN
BARODA COURT.

From T'o
Major A. Walker ...... ... .11th July 1802 1809
Captain J Ruvelt Carnac (actinyg) ... 1809
Colonel A. Walker . .. ... ... 1810 1810
Major J. Rivett Carnac e 1810 May 1820
Mr. C. Norris (actiing) .voooreninnnns 1st Juno 1820 May 1821

{The ResidentY
' was also Po- |

Mr. J Wihams | teal Gome | yee 1891 Nov. 1837
Mr J. Suthorland < G“’;;mt from ¢ Nov 1837 June 1840
3 1 A |
Mr. D. 8. Boyd . 18t Decomber | 3une 1840 July (Aug. ?) 1844
1830 to Au-

( gust1844,
Mr T. Ogilvie, 1st Assistant in charge,

and Mr. Bemington ... .. ..... . ... .. July 1844 July 1845
Sir R K. Arbuthnot . ... ... ... ... July 1815 April 1846
Mr. W, Andrews (acting) .. .. ..... ., April 1816 May 1847
Colonel J. Outram cieeesenns oo May 1847 Oct. 1848

Captain P. T, French (acting) ... .. Oct. 1848 May 1850
Colonel J. Outram ..... .. . . May 1850 Jan. 1852
Mr. J. M. Davies ... cevve e Jan. 1852 Junc 1853
Mr. G. B. Seton Karr (aoth) . vvee . June 1853 Mar. 1854

Colonel J. Outramy { Mar. 1854 May 1854
Mujor D. A. Mal- l |

colm.. . .. U]gl:zomm:;’: <' May 1854 Nov. 1855
Major C. Davidson £ India } Fob. 1856 Mar. 1857
Sir B. Shakes. [ © "M

peare . . U Mar. 1857 May 1859
Colonel R. Wallucc (tl1 17th Nov. 1860) Aug. 1859 Jan, 1860
Colonct J. T. Barr . . ... vieer oo, Jun. 1866 May. 1867

Coloncl E. P. Arthur (uctmg) .. Muy 18067 Noy. 1867



Colonel J. T Barr.........ccooes v vvvennn, Nov. 1867
Colonel A G. 8hortt (acting) ...... .. April 1872
Colonel R. Phayre .. .. ....o.oees .. . Mar 1873

[ Agent Gover.Y

. . General
Sir Lowis Pelly.. | 2O L Dec. 1874
Sir R Meade . 3 20d Specl | Apr. 1875

| Commission-
{ er.
Mr. P. 8. Melvil],C, S.1. Agent Gover-
nor General .. ... i . Nov. 1875

32

April 1872
Mar. 1873
Dec. 1874

Apr. 1875
Nov. 1875
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Appendix III.

LIST OF DIVA'NS OF THE BARODA STATE.

Deddgi Takapir and Mchdddji Govind Kdkirde, St. 1800,

Mddhava Nimbdyi Vanikar.

Rdmchandra Baswant.

Baldji Yamdyr (acted while his cousin R4mchandra was in
confinement at Poona with Damé4ji).

Qopdl Ndik Tdmbekar.

Antdjy Nagesh, St. 1834.

Rdmchandra Bhdskar, St. 1844.

Réwi A’ppdji, the first of the “divins,” came to Baroda with
Govind Rév 1n December 1793 and died in July 1803.

Sitdrdm Rdvji, hisadopted son, succeeded him immediately and
continued in power till A.», 1807. The sanad of divénship was
granted to him and to his family *when he was dismissed in A.D,
1807; the title and emoluments were continued to him and his
family (with certain changes) till the death of Ganpat Rév, the
infant son of Nériyan Rév, the son of Sit4zfm, in about A ». 1842.

Bdbdjy A’ppdjr, the brother of R4vji, was Kérbhiri and Khisgi
V4la from 8. 1863 to 8. 1858, when Fate Sing acquired the full
powers of Regent. Bibiji, however, continued to be Khésgi
V4ala till his death, on the 28th November 1810, and then his son
Vithal Riv BhaG was Khisgi V4l4 for two years. After that,
his work became merely nominal, and as such was handed on to
his son Bhiskar Rfv Vithal, who lost his guarantee in A,D. 1856.

Gangddhar Shdstri was in power from A.p. 1813 to the 1l4th
July 1815 (when he was assassinated) and bore tho title Mitélik.

Dhdkji Ddddji was chief minister from the 12th of October
1819'to J anuary 1820 or a little later.

Vithal Rév Bhdu was then for a short time nominally minister,
but Vithal Riv Divdnji was joined to him in the office even in
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4.0, 1820, and in 1822 became sole minister. In A.p. 1828 he was
dismissed by Say4ji Rav.

Gopdl Atmdrdm Devadar (Gopél Pant Didé) was kfrbhéri from
A.D. 1829—1838: but during that time and in the interval
between 1828 and 1829, Venirim Aditrim and Bhidd Plrénik
were the Mahérija’s confidential advisers.

Venirdm Aditrdm was kérbhéri from a.p. 1833 to the 28th
November 1839, when he was dismissed at Sir James Carnac’s
request.

After this time there was no accredited ké&rbhéri till some
months after the death of Say4ji. Ganesh Sadishivi Oze, Assist-
ant in the Fadnfvis department, was, during the greater part of
this time, a sort of secretary to His Highness. The confidential
advisers are Bfiplt Argade, Bab&4 Nafade, BhaG Parinik, «Gopal
Rév Mairdl, and Sakhirdm Pindurang Rode.

Bhda Tdmbekar (Vithal Khande Riv) was kirbhari from A.p.
1849 to 1854.

Ganesh Saddshivd Oze and GQovind Rdv Pdndurang Rode, the
brother of Sakhirdm, then became joint kérbhiris, though the
latter of the two was the chief. They took office in 1855 and
continued to be called kdrbhéris till their sanad of divin was
granted to them on the 28th March 1857. Oze was dismissed in
March 1861, and Rode continued sole divén till the 10th of No-
vember 1867, when he too was dismissed (died 10th January 1868).

Bhd# Shinde, with the high title of Darandar Nidhi, (pillar of
the Btate,) was divén from the 17th November 1867 to the 24th
November 1869, when he was dismissed at the instance of the
Bombay Government, but remained Khande Rév’s private adviser.

Nimbdji Didd (Dhavale) then became officiating divin from the
25th November 1869 to a fortnight after Khande Riv Mah4rsja’s
death, which occurred on the 28th November 1870,

Haribd Dadd was then divdn for about four months, and was
agsisted by Bhikob#4 (Gaikvad) Ap4. !

Gopdl Rdiv Mairdl was next appointed divin on the 22nd of March
1871, and, unlike his predecessors, retained the office till his death
in 1872. The N4ib Divén for four months was Balvant Rév Bbi-
c4ji R4htrakar.

.
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Shivdji Riv (Ndnd Sdheb) Khdnvelkar, brother to the Mahfrifa’s
first wife, was divin from the 5th of March 1873 to the 4th of
August 1874. He was then requested to be removed by the
Resident, but was promoted to be Prathinidhi. .

Daddbhdi Nauroji was then divan from the 4th of August 1874
to the 7th of January 1875.

Rijd Sir T. Mddava Rdv was appointed minister on the 10th
May 1875 and still holds the post. During occasional periods of
leave his work has been carried on by Khin Bahidar Kazi
Shahdb-ud-dip.
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Appendix IV.

Territories obtained by the GaikvAd om the ¢ Partition of

Gajardt.”

First.—In the A’mali Mahéls, i.e. the country which had been
fully reduced, he obtained—

1st.—In the Surat Aththivisi—

Pargand. Svardj. Moghlai. Jamé.
Bs. Bs. Bs.
Vasrii ..o 64,000  ...... 64,000
Mindavi .o cooeuie 30,500 ... 30,500
Tarkesvar ... .. .. 6,500 ... 6,500
Kémrej ... ..e... 30,000 14,000 44,000
Chaurdsi ............ 1,05,000 32,500 1,837,500
Bulesvar ............ 60,000 25,000 85,000
Kadode ....coeeeeee 500 ... 500
Tembe .. coovvvvvies vrvans 500 500
Teladi ... 66,500 6,000 72,500
Maroli ... % ievinninn 40,000 2,500 42,500
Gulo oo oo ... 50,000 9,000 59,000
Noashri v, 15,000 2,000 17,000
Gandevri............ 46,500 18,500 65,000
Besanplr. .... .. 12,000 ... . 12,000
Mohe ........ PRTR 36,000 5,000 41,000
Anfival ...coooniine 3,000 ... 8,000
Khandol . . ........ 8,000 ... 3,000
Pate Mahale ...... 6,000 e e 6,000
Mhasrat oo vierins 3,000 oniea 3,000
Rajpipld (compris-
ing 5 districts) . 70,000  ...... 70,000
Total... ..... 6,47,500 1,15,000 e
2nd.—In customs from five districts
(Panch MahAls to the North of the
Tapi) ... T RN Cereeie . 33,000
Do. from Viori.......corvvinnnnn 12,000

-

Total......

7,62,500

45,000
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8rd.—In districts to the North of the Revé and
South of the Mahi, including customs—

: Rs.
Baroda e, 5,00,000
Broach ....coccciviiiiininnin, v e 2,265,000
Koral Bandar............ cer e 40,000

VABHOTO .ovviviiiiiin i i e nae e 25,000
Sankhedd ..o, 25,000

Total ..... ...

4th.—In the loyal districts (Résti Mahils) morth
of the Mahi, including customs—
The Daskurai parganni or Haveli of
Almadébid, exclusive of half the city.. 1,00,000
- Hall' Petlid parganni, including the
thdnd .......coiiviiiiiiiin v, 8,00,000
DholkS  cvevveeeiieeeniieeeecetcee e ceeee s 2,50,000
MAthar ...ccocceeeiveieee o vt civveveneeneeens. 50,000

Nadidd v evrve o ee eereneeens 75,000
Modhe, including Umarte 75,000
Grand Total...... .....

Rs.

8,15,000

8,50,000

24,72,500

We must, for a moment, leave the consideration of the Gaikvid’s
possessions to briefly exhibit what was the half share of the Peshv4.

1st.—In the Surat Aththdvisi he obtained Hansot,
Occleshvar, Ulp4d, Sarbhuran, Supe, Parcholi, Balesér,
Bhutvir, Parners, Vaspe, Bobéri, Bardoli, Balsar, and
oustoms worth Svar4j 8,15,500, Moghl4i 88,200—Total

2nd,—Between the Rev4d and Mahi Kanthés:
Dabhoi, Deshora, Jambusar, Savali, Amod, Bdhddur ...

8rd.—In the Réisti Mahals north of the Mahg;
half the Daskurai Ahmad&bdd, Bonbarsad, Dandhiik4,
a share in the Cambay customs, Dhamne Mahmodabid,
VirBngaum ....ovevuvvrereierirneccrnees coeverersns oonn. Total

Peshvé’s Grand Total... ..,

9,08,700

7,15,000

8,50,000

e e

24,68,700

et e
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Seventeen villages worth Svarfj 77,051, with Moghlai 3,867,

total 80,918 Rs., were not included in the partition.

Secondly.—In the Amali Mahéls there were set aside for the
maintenance of the GéikvAd family the following districts, worth
3,00,500 Rs. The reason of this setting aside is not discoverable.

Surat Aththdvist.
Name of Pargannd. Svardj. Moghlii, Jami.
Rs. Rs. Rs.
Viori covviiiviennen. 11,000 11,000
* Tombe............... 81,000 9,000 40,000
* Kadode ......... 29,000 1,000 80,000
Mote oot vevinerenins 9,000 1,000 10,000
Kése . ..... ... 8,500 e 3,500
Rénir .. ........ 10,000 . ... 10,000 *
Chikli .oovvvinnn wune 51,500 15,500 67,000
Vomvir ... ........ 11,000 [ 11,000
Dhémori ........... 3,000 ... 8,000
Varisv ....... N 16,500 8,500 25,000

Total... 1,75,500 85,000  2,10,500

Between the rivers Narmada and Mahi.

Sinor, Worth.......... coeveveiee coreiieeniennnns 85,000
Tilakvada, worth ........... e, e 5,000
90,000 '

Total...... 8,00,500

@

We have now passed under review the districts reserved for tke
Géikvdd in the partition of the already conquered portion of
Gujarit. In the text it is stated that the Gaikvad really did
manage to get districts which were more valuable than those
selected for the Peshvé., The renson stated was that the Géikvad
knew & great deal more about Gujirdt than his rival. It may be
as well, however, here to remark that many persouns do not hold
this view. The Mar4théis were not quick at discovering the real

\
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value of the districts they looted, but the Géikvad, far on into the
last century, retained the friendship of many of the great here-
ditary officers of Gujarat, the pétels of the country, and these
advised him in his seloction.

We have stated that Ddméji and the Peshvi agreed to divide
between themselves the portion of Gujarit already wrested by the
former from the Moghuls and then conjointly to turn the Mussal-
mfns out of the then unconquered portion. After conquest the
land was to be equally divided between them.

But first wo must premise that the Ghikvad’'s share of the
zortalabi mahils or districts held by foree of arms was as follows :—

Half of the city of Surat.

» , of Ahmadabad

Parganna Kapadband

» Bahéphel
’ Dhiérisan

M Ahmadnagar
. Chhila

s Vidura

” Kadi

5 Kheralu ]

' Vijapur

L . s
N Réjanptor ’, belonging to the Babis,

5 Samajpur J

Wo are aware that the arrangement about the division of the
Bibi Mahdls was subsequently modified. On the surronder of
Ahmadibéd the Bibis wero solemnly confirmed in their possessions.
Nevertheless Diméji was soon at war with them, and after the
great disaster of the Marithis at Pénipit, the Mussalmans and,
among others, the Bibis endeavoured to eject the Marfith4s from
Gujarit. Eventually this led to the expulsion from nine Mahals of
the Babi lords, Simi Ridhanpdr alone being left them. Accord-
ing to one statement, the nine districts were to be thus divided ;
to the Gaikvadd were ~to come Kherilu, Vijiplr, Rajanpir and,
instead of Samajpir, Dhamni and Maujpr ; to tho Peshvé4 were to
come Patan, Vadanagar, Visalnagar and Sidhptr. In H. 1163 a
sanad from the Peshvé granted Dé&méji all tho nine districts as
saranjim. The Gaikvadd was to pay 1 likh a year for them, and
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he did once pay 114kh and on another occasion 25 thousand
Rupees. But the Gaikvad pleaded that the difficulty of conquer-
ing and retaining these turbulent districts justified him in
refusing to pay any money at all for them. This point he seems
to have gained in the cnd. ,

It should be noticed with regard to the conquest of the hitherto
unacquired districts of Gujarit, that the arrangement was that the
armies of the Peshvé and Gaikv 4d should act conjointly in expel-’
ling from them the Mussalmans. The tribute for any unsubdued
country was however to be dividedin proportion tothe relative
number of troops employed by each government (domas), but after
complete reduction the territory was to be equally divided.

The unsubdued Mahéils wore—

T4lakd Mohore.

s Golvad

Barkfr Sorath including Junégad, together with the Mint

and 02 Mahils,

Téluk4 Ismalnagar or Navinagar

’ Surai Réjvada.

» Kachh Bh6j and Sindhu Sigar, and Nagarthavi.
' Yatvida Satalpar

' Shri Dvérika.

» Dinté

In addition to the division of territory there was the partition
of the rights to send mulikgiri expeditions into Sorath, Haldr,
Gohelvdd, and Kéthidvad Tho mulGkgiri collections reserved
for the Gaikvad were held to be :

Pargand. Value.
Rs.

Morvi and MAli& .o..ovvvnninninnnnnnnn.., . 43,000
AbArona...... . i ceeeiiee v oeeeen. 5,000
Dharola .......... e e 17,250
Badipéne and J{xdxﬁ crereenreenne 1,625
Bilambe ceirerrerecssseeee, 1,600
Labibptr Lalubpur veerrienaee 1,000
Bhénvad and Bh;igol ........ e 13,500
Dhénoli and Khadplir .......coueeeennene 500

Gavhana ....vvvvveviicnvinnecinnen . 500
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Pargan4, Value.
Rs.

(6103 S N 650
Réval 750
Mipanibandar ... ..ooovvnie e 675
Bard4d RADDUL ...vvievrrviee vveeiiennies 1,500
Amroli ......covuvns 80,000
Bilser ....ccevevenens 3,000
KRansari ....... covviennnnns vereeres oo 4,300
Dharfli ...oovviiiiiininnns e 2,000
Arbik coveviiieeeneas e 7,500
Davalatabid 500
Viral and Pattan 20,000
Kodin4d Mut4 Bandar .......... 12,000
Saljd Mai Bandar ............... 10,000
Mohi 1,000
Vapatéle ...... erreeee e e
Khatvadh.coueeirereiireionree voreeinesnnranser 200
Dongar ....ovcivvier ciniiinene Ceneens 260
Dhatarvads ............. 200

Rén Govind
Malikplr ....coviimniiiiins coniinneennns 500

Nagsari ... 1,000
Gidia Dharpa.htﬁné Ma.ndw, Sa.tm_]gad 32,500
Kelidn .. . e 20,000
Chhé.béd or Démanagar et tienaianas 5,000
Kothi . cvvvevinn v v o0l 2,000
Hastani Chauk 4,000

Buikhe .. o
Jundghad (}) ....eocciiiiiiiiiiiiniinn.. 10,000
Dharoni ..ivcieeiiiininiiieeniiiens cieeeee 80,000

2,55,800

Besides these 87 Mahéls, the Gaikvad was to hold jointly with
the Peshva (1) Shri Jagat Dvérkd Bandar ; (2) The city of Juné.
ghad, together with Sagar, Hams4l, Dandfurdi, Faujdari, Kotvali,
&c. of that kusb4 ; (3) Dev Bandar.

F
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Appendix V.

The districts which were at first granted to the Gaikvad and
subsequently withdrawn by the Peshvé on the score of the first
partition having been unfairly made in his favour were:

Moghlai. Total.
Rs. Rs. Rs.

Teladi .. .ovoeevrs vnn o 66,500 6,000 72,500
Maroli ..ocovvvvivninnnnnne, 40,000 2,500 42,500
Gule...... . cveereresieenss 50,000 9,000 59,000
Besanpur ....... ........ 12,000 12,000
Mohe ....ciieeee woeen o 36,000 5,000 41,000
Waghori (7) .veoceieer. 25,000 ... 25,000

These districts are generally described as being worth 2,54,000
Rs., and not, as is made out in this note, 2,52,000 Rs. The
discrepancy cannot be explained.

A memo. in the handwriting of H. H Raghunfth Rév, signed
by Bil4ji BAji Riav Peshvf, mentions them as “districts of my
sharé to be taken from the Gaikvdd.” It may be that the
Géikvad bestowed them on the D4dd Siheb on condition that all
future conquests should be made by the Géiikvdd for his own
exclusive benefit. When these districts were annexed by the
Peshvd, it is probable that the benefit to accrue from the original
cession was disallowed. As mentioned in the text, these districts
were restored to the gons of Dimé4ji on condition of their paying
2,54,000 Rs more of tribute every year.

When the six mahils were returned to the Géikvid by the
Peshvd, the latter retained Sattara-gong, and the three villages of
Dabhdi, Pasre and Omran, for Darbér Kharch,
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Appendix VI.

TRIBUTE AND NAZARA'NA'S DUE AND PAID BY TIIE
GA'IKVA'D TO THE PESHVA' UP TO THE REIGN
OF GOVIND RA'V,
Rs.

1. As tribute there had heen owed by Diméji ...... 26,25,000
by Govind Riv. 23,37,000
by Fate Sing ... 88,87,002
by Méindji ...... 23,37,000
by Govind Rév. 54,53,000

Total... 1,66,39,002

2. As indemnity for not doing Military service thero
had been owed by Sayiji Rév... 6,75,000
by Fate Sing... 11,12,500

by Mandji ...... 13,50,000
. by Govind Rav. 47,50,000
Extra .. ... 25,000

Total... 78,62,500
3. As nazarina for succession to the post of Sené
Khés Kbel there had been owed by Govind Rév. 17,50,001
by Fate Sing...  5,00,000
by Maniji ...... 33,183,001
by Govind Riv. 56,38,001

Total... 1,12,01,008

Under no particular head ..........ccccoeeiiiniin eerenes 42,74,429
To Bankers and others ... ....c.coivviiveeeeeeenss . 1,50,000
For the Babi Mahals ....ccccooviiviiiiins ovniiinnnins 1,25,000

Grand total due after deductions ............... Rs. 4,02,61,984
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The following sums were paid in

Ra.
About A.D. 1770 by D4dm4ji ......... 86,95,186
. e 10,50,000
s » » by Govind Rav ... 18,00,000
w1771 » . 25,00,000
’ 5 1772 » ceevennee 14,00,000
w s 1773 by Sayaji Rév ... .. 14,865,884
» » 1778 by Fate Sing ......  6,00,00L
o ow 1779, 5 e . 10,50,000
. 1782 p e 4,00,001
w  » 1788 , b e . 28,79,000
» » 1791 by Ménéji.......... .. 5,00,001

. » 1795-8 by Govind Rév... 78,33,212
Including some other small sums, there had been paid a total
of Rs. 2,96,98,044.

The tollowing remissions had been made by the Peshv4 :—

Rs.
To Fate Sing ..v... voviveveriniiinnnnns 5,70,500
To Govind Bav ..e.ccoevvvvvenn weneeeee 60,00,000
Total... .. 65,70,500

The balance therefore due by Govind Riv to the Peshvé after
the Settlement of A.D. 1798 was Rs. 39,82,789. After this time
the G4ikvdd paid the Peshvad little or mnothing; attempts were
masde to bring about a fresh Settlement, but these proved in-
effectual; and finally, the Peshv#, soon after agreeing to take
a yearly sum in heu of all claims, was deposed, when naturally
all relations between him and the Gdikvad came to an end.

no
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Appendix VII.

CLAIMS OF THE PESIVA UPON THE GAIKVAD,

Schedule of the sums due to the Poona State from the

Guikvdd’s Government

Balance of an account settled in 1798...... ..... .. ..
(Vade Appendix V1) Rs
On account of presents...... ..... . ... 7,79,000

On account of troops (3000) not main-
tained ...ooviiiiees v e e ww 6,75,000

14,54,000
N B —These sums have been accumulating for ton
FOATS.. tov vvriiiieer ot s e e e
Dim4ji Gaikvad conquered the country of the
B4bi upon condition of assuming half and deliver-
ing the other half to the Peshvi; and that a
karkoon on part of tho Government should settle
this and a memorandum be given in of the divi-
sion, and tho places were to be given up in the
vear 1740, and whatsoover was duce before this
period was to be remitted. This was never
carried into effect (vide Appendix IV., p. 309). In
the year 1771, the Gaikvad paid one lakh of rupees
and 1 the next agreed so pay 25,000 ; and, when
Fateh Sing Gaikvad should come then it should
be executed. This was sottled in 1763, but has
never been carried into effect ; therefore a ldkh
of Rupees per year is due for 87 years
In the year 1794, the dignity of Senfkhiskhel
Shamsher Bahddur was granted to Govindrav
Gaikvad, besides lands, for which 56,38,001
rupees were given. He died, and the same
honours and lands were granted to his som, for
which he is to pay

The whole amounting to Rs

Rs.
39,82,789

1,45,40,000

37,00,000

56,38,001

e e

2,78,60,790

—— ——
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In the year 1790, it was agreed that 8,000 horsemen should be
furnished, and upon a requsition 4,000; and that one of the
Gaikvad's relations shquld remain at Court; and that the troops
shonld at all periods be in rcadiness, and, if not necessury, that a
sum of money should be given in lieu.

Ahmad4dbdd is under two authorities, but the same arrange-
ments continue as under M4dhavrav, and if any deviation should
have been admitted, let it be abolished.

You agreed, in tho year 1792, to give the Sircir 8 of your best
elephants and 5 horses, but it has not been done; therefore fail
not to do it now. In the year 1793, you borrowed, through our
intervention, tho sum of one l&kh of rupees, for which we were
securities, and agrecd to pay the bills drawn upon you, -but thig
has not becn done ; therefore do so now, and pay the interest.

You were also bound to present a lakh of Rupees’ worth of
jewels, but this has not been done; do so now, and adhere to
the engagements which wore concluded 1n the timo of Madhavray.

You owe BilajiNaik Bhord Savkir a sum of money, for which
Government became security, Liquidate this at the rate of one
likh of Rupees per annum, and so treat Malhirrav and his famly
as to prevent his complaints reaching Government.

In addition to this, engagements were also made in Rs.
which you admitted the sumof ... ......... 7833212

But only paid ..... .. P2 8 &: 2% 113

So that there is still a balance of .. .. . ........ .....  50,19,887

Let this be settled.
You have Leld the village of Rini, in the Perganna
of Sandi, for these thirteen years, which was worth
2,000 rupees per annum, Pay this money, and
deliver up the village to the Kamdvisddr ... .... . 26,000

50,45,887

And wherever the villages have been assessed let the money
be returned.

Several of the papers having been dostroyed or laid aside
during the irruption of Holkar, accounts cannot be completely
made out; but, as the records are found, othor items shall be
mserteds

EY
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In the year 1796 bills were drawn upon you: let an account
be furnished.

Fate Sing, Regent of Baroda, put forward certain claims he had
on the Peshva,

1. He had been unjustly deprived of Broach. If the revenues
of Broach were computed at between 8% and 9 lakhs, and the
Giikvid 'was entitled to two-thirds of this sum, the claim would
amount to two crores aud a half,

2. He had waged war against Aba Shelukar at the Peshva’s
request. Tho cost of tho war was 1,65,000 Rs.

There were other lesser claims, of which no mention need be
made.
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Appendix X.

KODINAR.

Extracts from Translation of the Kalambandi of 1818,
Memo. of arrangements regarding Bahédur Khan Babi, Navéb
* of Sansthan Junigad, made through Vithal Ré4v Devanji, and

Captain MacMurdo on behalf of the Honourable Company

Bihédur, dated Magsar Vad 13th, 8. 1869.

1st. (The temple of Sommnith ceded to the GaikvAd).—The
fort of Prabhas Pattan is a seat of Hindu religion. Therefore in
this place, from this time, no sacrilege shall take place. No
animal shall be killed. The tax (on Hindu pilgrims) shall be
abolished. A mehtd of the (Giikvid) Sarkir shall remain at
Pattan to enquire whether the sanctity of the devasthin (temple)
and of the tirth (sacred stream) is preserved.

2nd. (Cession by Junégad of his share of Kodinir).—Owing
to double government in the pargani of Kodinir, viz. the
(Gdikvad’s) Sarkfr Amal and your (Junidgad’s) bhig or share, the
rayats would not settle and the morchants could not carry on
trade. The port was ruined. For these reasons, your (Junigad’s)
share of Kodindr . . . should be made over to the GiikvAd Sarkér
Out of the ghanim ver4 paid by hundi on Ahmadabid . . . credit
will be given in the Jamébandi deed from year to year continuous-
1y for Rupees cight thousand on account of the same pargani of
Kodinér.

BOMBAY: PRINTED AT THE EDUCATION SOCIETY’S PRESS, BYCULLA.
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Holkar Yeshvant Rdwv, 101, 107,
110, 112.
Major Holmes, 105-7.
Governor Hornby, 73.
Humdyun, 12,

I

Idar, 53, 56.
Izdérddr v. Vahivatdar.

J

Jiédhava Rdv Bhdsker, 87, 93,
108, 110.

Jedytrddrs, 14.

Jamd Bi, 220.

Mahdrdini Jamnd Bdii, 339, 352,
354-5,

Joite Bdi, 224, 237-8.

Justice, administration of,
284-300.

K .

Kadi, 82 ; the war, 93-5 ; cession
of tappa of, 131.

Kdkdyji, 87,105,

Kamdorna, capture of, 126,

Kdnop Qdikvdd, 82, 83, 90-1,
104-7, 142-3.

Kapadvanj, 31, 51, 65, 82.

Kathidedd, 114-129 ; seitlement’
of, 125, 205

Colonel Keatinge, 65-71.

Kedanp Gdikvdd, 47,

Khandds, Patel of Daropura,
220.

Khande Rdv Ddbhdde, 25-8.

Khande Riv Gdikvdid Jigirdér,
86; intrigues against his
brother, 48; against his
nephew, 60-2 ; death of, 82,

Khande Rév Gdkbid Mahdrdj,
233, 240 ; character, 248-50;
death, 333,

Khdndhddar, capture of, 126.
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.Kheda, 65, 97.
-Khiwhdlehand Ambddds, 220.
Kichedu, 331,
Kodinar, 116, App. X., 384.
Kolis, 4,8,9, 16, 35, 38, 39,
51, 106, 143.
FKomdvisddr v, Vahivitdar.
Koral, 68, 72.
Krshnd Rdv, son of Vithal Riv
Dednyi, 193.
Kurdla, battle of, 83.

L

Land-taz, 308-10.

Laxms Bdi, 349.

Lease of Ahmaddbdd Farm, 85,
130, 144, 149.50, 152, 150,
164.

Leases, Septennial, 186-7,190-1,
200.

Mr. Lovibond, (8-9.

M

Sir T. Mddhava Rdv, 352, 855,
857.

Mddhava Riv Peshod, 53, death,
G2, 81,

Mahdddyi Gdikvdd, 39,

Mahmd Begadd, 10, 115, 252.

Sir John Malcolm, 189-90, 196-7

Mr. Malet, 228.

Malhdr Rdv Qdikuvdd Jagirdar,
82; fights against Govind
Rév, “83; und A'nand Rév,
91.2 ; in the Kadi war, 94.5;
in Kathiavid, 122 ; is exiled,
123, 215.

-

Malhdr Riv Gdikedd Maharaj,
233, 249.50 ; early history,
8306.8 ; accession, 338+@ ; mis-
{{ovemment, 347-8 ;"deposi-

ion, 352-3.

Maluws, capture of, 126,

Mdld war, 159, 168, 166-7.

Mamtdz-ud-dawldh, 347,

Mangal Pdrekh, 89, 221,

Méndji Gdikvdd, 74 ; succeeds,
77.

The Mdneks, 255-6.

Colonel Sir R. Meade, 847,351,

Mr, P. Melwall, 851.

Merdsy Mahdls, 286-7.

Munt, 323.

Mir Kamdl-ud-dun,
death, 159.

Momin  Khdn, 32, 35, 40;
Viceroy, 41, 44 ; death, 43;
at Ahmadébéd, 51-2.

Mordr Riv Gdikedd, 358.

Moti Ldl, 229, 231,

Mozwmddr, famly of, 80, 100,
223 ; duties of district M., 315

Mrftakhwr Khdn Viceroy, 43.

Mukund Rdv Gdikvid, 92, 221,

Mula Ruyd, 2, 3, 6,

Mulikgiri system, 114-129, 145.

Murdr Rdv Gdikedd, 96, 106,
221,

Mutiny, 250-1,

90, 104 ;

N

Nadidd, 65-6, 82, 95, 181,

Ndgar Brdahmans, 227-9, 245-6.

Niind Phadnonss, 62, 78, 78, 81,
83-4.

P
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Nind Séheb Khdnvelkar, 845,
348,

Ndrdydnbhds Ldlibai, 345,

Ndrdyan Riv Peshud, 62,

Narso Pant, 224.

Narso Pant Agent, 231, 237-40.

Nimbdji Riv Dhaule, 333, 345.

o

Mr. Ogilvie, 207, 216, 230, 233.

Okhdmandal 116, 126 ; cession
of, 158, 205, 251-6.

Sir J. Outram, 193 ; on gua-
rantces, 219, 227, 228, 230-1;
Resident, 282, 238-11, 244.6.

Oze (Ganesh Sadishiva), 243,
332.

P

Pddrd, 32, 142.3.

Pdanhlanpur, 184,

Panchdyat System, 290-1.

DPdnipat, battle of, 52.

Parbhas, 80, 329,

Partition of CGujurat, 49, 55,
App. 1vV,,8065-70; App. V.,
371,

Pattan, 2, 3, 4, 5, 8, 11 ; taken
by Démiji, 53.

Pavagad, 74, 110,113, 184,

8ir Lewis Pelly, 849-50.

Petldd, 84.

Phadndvis, family of, 80.

Colonel Phayre, 346, 349, 350.

Puldji Gdikvdd succeeds, 28, 31 ;
invades Gujardt, 32; fights
at A’rds, 33; gets share of
Chauth, 83; mecets with
reverses, 34, 86; becomes

mutflik, 37 ; fights Abhi Sing
38 ; is murdered, 38, 45..

Pildji, son of Takhat Bds, 168,

Police, 205-6, 316-17.

Dositrd, 258, t

Potaddri Systom, 171-2, 8035

The Povars 27, 381, 34, 3
A'nand R4v wounded, 5.
40 ; thoey settle at Dhar, 4
A'nand Rév I1., 96, 108; t}
Povir House, 135, 141.

Mr Drice, 6O.

Punyd ) Zoraji, 205,

R

Rddhd Bdi, 165, 167-9, 221

Rag hojp Bhonsla, 42.

Rdayhundth Riv Peshvd, 47, tn
at Ahmadib4d, 50-1; a.
ance with Damiji, 53; flees
from Poona, 62.

Railiways, 235-7.

Rijpipld, 11, 16, 25, 31, 32,
184-5.

Rimchandra Basvant, 47-8.

Rist: Mohdls, 28G-7.

My. Raveuscraoft, 347.

Rdryi A'ppiye, 80, 84, 90-1, 94.
100; death and character
109; family grant, 113;
guarantee to, 215-6.

Ridvji Master, 340.

Mr. Remington, 230-1.

Restidents, lust of, App. II., 360-1

Revenue system, 311.

Rode Sokhfirim Pindurang,
243 ; Govind Rav P. 244, 332.

Rungogi, 39, 40-1, 43-4.

Rustam Ali Khdn, 82-3.

f,

.
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S
-

Sabarmati, battle on, 65,
wddshivd Riv Gaikvoid, 353.
hhdrdm, 105,113,135.
aptam Salmon, 333.

1 vmal Bechar, 89, 178, 221.

1 vnbdp, 23.

+ (nad to collect dues in Gujarat,

26, 31.

sankhedn, capture of, 96, 185.

" irdbhdi, 187, 196,208, 227.8.
buland Khdn, 32-5.

¢ Sarddrs, 260-3.

La i, 213.

La i, 39, 77 ; battle of S or

Lea thampfr, 106, 157-8, 158,
- 5.

wiji Rdv  Gidwdd 1., 47;
claims the gddi, 59.

Sayd Rdv Gdihvdd I, asconds
the gadi, 165 ; character, 1606,
232.3, 354-5.

Send Khds Khel, 37 ; given to
Dimaji, 54

Sendpati, 26, 37.

Sequestration by Sir J. Malcolm,
190-2, 199-200; of Nausiri,
203, 207, 211; of DPetlid,
209-11.

" Mr. Seton Kerr, 240.

Settlements and  agreements
between Peshvd and Gddkvdd,
37, 49-55, 60, 68; timo of
Fato Sing, 71; of Govind
Riv, 77, 80 ; of Mansji, 77.

Shdl Jahdn, 16.

Shdlt Ry, 23-5; death, 44.

8ir R, Shakespeare, 223,

Shamsher Bdhddir, 28.
Shankarji Desdi of Balsid, 220-1
Suddhpura, 3, 4, 53.

8iddh Rdja, 4, 5.

Sindaa, 74-5, 77, 81, 86, 107-8,
110, 112,

Sitdrdm, 105, 106, 109, 112,
132 ; fall of, 134-5, 143 ; con-
spires against the Shastri,
145-6, 151 ; is exiled, 153;
returns to Baroda, 178-9.

Sivdyi, 22, 23.

Sivrdm, 118-19.

Slavery, 213.

Solunki, line of kings, 2.

Somandtha, 3.

Sonqad, 28-9, 33, 36, 38-9.

Subhdnjr Pol, 206,

Subsidwary  Force,
157, 192.

Surat, 8,10, 11, 16-7, 24, 33,
35 ; ducs of, 47, 69.

Survey, 321,

Mr. Sutherland, 210, 212, 228,
230, 246.

967, 130,

T

Takhat Bdi, 111, 112, 142-4;
conspires against Shdstri,
1456, 165, 167-8.

Devaye Takpor, 40, 43.

Tdluks, App. IX., 380-83.

Tandulza, battlo of, 54.

Rdni Tdrd Bii, 45, 46.

Tenures, 810-11, 321.

Rdji Todarmal, 15.

Treaties with British, Fate
Sing, 61; of Surat, 63;
Fate Smg with Colonel
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' Koatinge, 67-8 ; of Khandila,
73; of Balbai, 75, 78; of
Purandhar, 72, 76 ; of 1808,
96, 97, 100; of Bassein,
101-2, 110, 149; of 1805,
129, 130; of 1817 with
Peshvi, 156 ; supplementary
treaty, 157.

Tributes, App. VIIL., 877-79;
tribute paid to Peshva, App.
VI, 37273,

Trimbak Rdv Ddbhdde, 28, 36-7.

Trimbakji Danglia, 147, 151-2,
155.

U

Umd Bdi, 39.
v

Vidgheld lino of kings, 6.

Vighers, 127, 205, 252-6.

Validvdtddrs, 312-13, 342 ; as
judges, 288-9, 298 ; as collec-
tors, 8307-8.

Valabldas Mdnikchand, 204.

Vana Rdja, 2.

Vasad, battle of, G1.

Vasantrdm Bhdi, 343.

Vasdi, 254,

Varamgauwm, 40, 41, 43.

Visalnagar, 4, 6.

Ventrdm A'ditrdm, 168, 179 ;‘
minister, 188, 202, 204.5,
280; notice of, 208.

Vithal Rdiv Bhdw, 136, 165, 179.

Vithal Rdv Devinji in Kéthi-
vid, 124, 127, 129, 136 ; mi-
nister, 179; disgrace of, 180,
187 ; guarantee to, 192, 1983,.
222.

w

Major A. Walker deputed to
Gujarit, 92, 94; Resident,
103 ; date of sotvice, 141 ; on
justice, 286, 288, 291.

Mayor Wallace, 212,

Warien Hastungs, 70, 73,

Mr. Willioans, 193, 196.7, 201,
210.

My, Willoughby, 187, 229.

Colonel Waodington, 104.

Y

Yeshwant Rdv Ddbhdde, 37, 41,
45.

VA

Zdfir Khedn, 9, 10,

Zawandar, 14,
Zanun system, 290.


















